














































































































































































www.jdbarnes.com

50 FLEMING DRIVE, UNIT 2, CAMBRIDGE, ON N1T 2B1

T: (519) 621-9600 F: (519) 621-6480

O n t a r i o  L a n d  S u r v e y o r s

A  w h o l l y  o w n e d  s u b s i d i a r y  o f  J . D .  B a r n e s  L i m i t e d
LIMITED















































































1 
 

 

REPORT FIN-2015-022 
 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM:  Mary Hasan, Director of Finance/Treasurer 

MEETING DATE: May 20, 2015 

SUBJECT: 2015 Final Tax Levy and Rates  
 File No. F02 TAX 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report FIN-2015-022 regarding the 2015 Final Tax Levy and Rates be received; 
and 

That the final property tax rates as identified in Schedule A and Schedule B to Report 
FIN-2015-022 be approved; and 

That the final property tax due dates be established as Monday August 31, 2015 and 
Friday October 30, 2015; and 

That a by-law be enacted for the levy and collection of property taxes for the 2015 
taxation year as outlined in Schedule D to Report FIN-2015-022. 

DISCUSSION 

Purpose  
 
The Municipal Act, 2001 requires a municipality to adopt its final tax levy, due dates and 
tax rates annually through the passing of a by-law. 

Background 
 
To enable the billing of final taxes for 2015, a by-law is required to establish the levy, 
due dates and other administrative needs regarding the final property tax amounts. The 
tax rates set out in the attached schedules for the Township and the County are based 
on 2015 budget requirements. The Education rates are set by the Province through 



2 
 

Regulation 400/98, as amended by Ontario Regulation 75/15 made under the Education 
Act. 
 
Due Dates  
 
The 2015 final tax levy will be payable in two (2) installments due August 31, 2015 and 
October 30, 2015. This bill will reflect the new assessed value of the property for 2015 
as well as the 2015 tax rates. The amount of the 2015 interim tax bill will be deducted 
from the total levied with the balance being the 2015 final tax bill.  
 
The properties enrolled in the Township’s 11-month pre-authorized tax payment plan 
have their property tax payments withdrawn from their bank accounts in eleven (11) 
installments on the fifteenth (15th) (or next business day) of each month.  
 
The 2015 Final tax bills will be produced and mailed by August 4, 2015.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The tax rates indicated in Schedule A will generate a total 2015 levy of $22,382,656 
from all the various property classes, allocated as follows: 
 
Township $3,366,369  
County $12,894,438 
Education $6,121,849 
Total  $22,382,656 
 
The County of Wellington and School Board’s final payment due dates by the Township 
are September 30, 2015 and December 15, 2015.   
 
The tax rates indicated in Schedule B for the Special Area rates will generate the 
following levies: 
 
Barber's Beach Street Lights $5,363 
Cambridge Fire   $108,156 
Total     $113,519 
 
The calculations for the above figures have been outlined in Schedule C to Report FIN-
2015-022. 
 
The overall final tax billing will be approximately $11,537,029. 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND REQUIREMENTS  
 
Section 290 of the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended, states that a local municipality 
shall in each year prepare and adopt a budget including estimates of all sums required 
during the year for the purposes of the municipality. On February 18, 2015 Council 



3 
 

approved the Township’s 2015 Budget in accordance with By-law No. 017/15. Ontario 
Regulation 400/98, as amended by Ontario Regulation 75/15 under the Education Act 
established the education tax rates for all property classes in 2015. 
 
The County of Wellington established upper and lower-tier property tax ratios and tax 
reductions for prescribed subclasses for the year 2015 as per the County By-law 
number 5428-15 dated April 30, 2015. The County of Wellington adopted a by-law to 
establish and levy tax rates for upper tier purposes as per the County By-law number 
5429-15 dated April 30, 2015.  
 
The County of Wellington has adopted estimates of all sums required by the County 
during the year 2015 for all purposes of the County and has provided a general levy on 
area municipalities as per By-law Number 5419-15 dated January 29, 2015.  
 
Once all required by-laws and regulations have been passed, the municipal Council 
may levy its taxes. The Township, as a lower-tier municipality, is required to collect the 
County and Education tax levies and forward it on to them regardless of a resident’s 
payment of property taxes.   
 
Section 342 of the Municipal Act, 2001 allows the ability to collect taxes in one payment 
or by installments. The Township has elected to collect its property taxes in four 
installments: February 27, April 30, August 31, and October 30, 2015.  

ATTACHMENTS 
 

Schedule A: 2015 Property Tax Rates 
 
Schedule B: 2015 Barber’s Beach Street Lights and Cambridge Fire Special Area Tax 
Rates 
 
Schedule C: 2015 Special Area Tax Levy Calculation 
 
Schedule D: A by-law to Provide for the Levy and Collection of Property Taxes for the 
2015 Taxation Year 
 



Schedule A to Report FIN-2015-022
2015 Property Tax Rates

Description
2015 
Assessment Tax Ratio  Township   County  Education  Total Township County Education Total

res/farm (RT) 1,464,744,748 1.000000 0.00169434   0.00648995  0.00195000  0.01013429   2,481,776 9,506,119 2,856,252 14,844,147
multi-res (MT) 1,512,250 1.890000 0.00320230   0.01226600  0.00195000  0.01741831   4,843 18,549 2,949 26,341
farmlands  (FT) 124,700,280 0.250000 0.00042359   0.00162249  0.00048750  0.00253357   52,821 202,325 60,791 315,937
commercial  (CT) 77,415,482 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   191,506 733,537 794,781 1,719,824
industrial  (IT) 80,531,303 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   327,474 1,254,346 1,232,129 2,813,949
large industrial (LT) 16,694,000 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   67,885 260,024 255,418 583,327
pipeline (PT) 4,967,184 2.210000 0.00374449   0.01434279  0.01530000  0.03338728   18,600 71,243 75,998 165,841
shopping centre (ST) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
managed forests  (TT) 9,320,137 0.250000 0.00042359   0.00162249  0.00048750  0.00253357   3,948 15,122 4,544 23,613
res/farm farmland class I (R1) 576,000 0.750000 0.00127076   0.00486746  0.00146250  0.00760072   732 2,804 842 4,378
residential taxable shared (RH) 0 1.000000 0.00169434   0.00648995  0.00195000  0.01013429   0 0 0 0
commercial excess/vacant unit  (CU) 4,607,626 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   7,979 30,561 33,113 71,653
commercial vacant land  (CX) 462,533 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   801 3,068 3,324 7,193
commercial  farmland class I (C1) 0 0.750000 0.00127076   0.00486746  0.00146250  0.00760072   0 0 0 0
commercial taxable shared (CH) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
commercial vacant land taxable shared (CJ) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0
parking lot (GT) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
industrial-hydro (IH) 510,250 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   2,075 7,948 7,807 17,829
industrial excess land shared (IJ) 0 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   0 0 0 0
industrial excess/vacant unit (IU) 2,159,479 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   5,708 21,863 21,476 49,047
large ind excess land (LU) 0 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   0 0 0 0
industrial vacant land (IX) 4,833,265 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   12,775 48,934 48,067 109,775
industrial  farmland class I (I1) 0 0.750000 0.00127076   0.00486746  0.00146250  0.00760072   0 0 0 0
industrial farmland class II (I4) 0 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   0 0 0 0
shopping centre excess land (SU) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0
new construction industrial (JT) 10,489,325 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01190000  0.03154229   42,654 163,380 124,823 330,857
new construction ind vacant land (JU) 429,000 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00773500  0.02050249   1,134 4,343 3,318 8,796
new construction large industrial (KT) 0 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01190000  0.03154229   0 0 0 0
new constr large ind vacant land (KU) 0 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00773500  0.02050249   0 0 0 0
new construction commercial (XT) 56,333,364 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   139,354 533,777 578,343 1,251,474
new constr comm vacant land (XU) 1,702,732 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   2,948 11,294 12,237 26,479
new construction office bldg (YT) 549,000 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   1,358 5,202 5,636 12,196
new constr office vacant land (YU) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0
new constr shopping centre (ZT) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
new constr shop ctr vacant land (ZU) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0

Total 1,862,537,958 $3,366,369 $12,894,438 $6,121,849 $22,382,656

Tax Rate Levy



Schedule B to Report FIN-2015-022
2015 Barber's Beach Street Lights Special Area Tax Rates 2015 Cambridge Fire Special Area Tax Rates

Description
2015 
Assessment Tax Ratio  Tax Rate  Levy Description

2015 
Assessment Tax Ratio  Tax Rate  Levy 

res/farm (RT) 17,254,346 1.000000 0.00031081   5,363   res/farm (RT) 183,790,667 1.000000 0.00057688  106,025  
multi-res (MT) 0 1.890000 0.00058743   0 multi-res (MT) 0 1.890000 0.00109030  0
farmlands  (FT) 0 0.250000 0.00007770   0 farmlands  (FT) 4,220,892 0.250000 0.00014422  609
commercial  (CT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 commercial  (CT) 1,277,735 1.460000 0.00084225  1,076
industrial  (IT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 industrial  (IT) 139,000 2.400000 0.00138451  192
large industrial (LT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 large industrial (LT) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
pipeline (PT) 0 2.210000 0.00068689   0 pipeline (PT) 0 2.210000 0.00127491  0
shopping centre (ST) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 shopping centre (ST) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
managed forests  (TT) 0 0.250000 0.00007770   0 managed forests  (TT) 1,755,794 0.250000 0.00014422  253
res/farm farmland class I (R1) 0 0.750000 0.00023311   0 res/farm farmland class I (R1) 0 0.750000 0.00043266  0
residential taxable shared (RH) 0 1.000000 0.00031081   0 residential taxable shared (RH) 0 1.000000 0.00057688  0
commercial excess/vacant unit  (CU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 commercial excess/vacant unit  (CU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
commercial vacant land  (CX) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 commercial vacant land  (CX) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
commercial  farmland class I (C1) 0 0.750000 0.00023311   0 commercial  farmland class I (C1) 0 0.750000 0.00043266  0
commercial taxable shared (CH) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 commercial taxable shared (CH) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
commercial vacant land taxable shared (CJ) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 commercial vacant land taxable shared (CJ) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
parking lot (GT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 parking lot (GT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
industrial-hydro (IH) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 industrial-hydro (IH) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
industrial excess land shared (IJ) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 industrial excess land shared (IJ) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
industrial excess/vacant unit (IU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 industrial excess/vacant unit (IU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
large ind excess land (LU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 large ind excess land (LU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
industrial vacant land (IX) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 industrial vacant land (IX) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
industrial  farmland class I (I1) 0 0.750000 0.00023311   0 industrial  farmland class I (I1) 0 0.750000 0.00043266  0
industrial farmland class II (I4) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 industrial farmland class II (I4) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
shopping centre excess land (SU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 shopping centre excess land (SU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
new construction industrial (JT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 new construction industrial (JT) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
new construction ind vacant land (JU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 new construction ind vacant land (JU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
new construction large industrial (KT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 new construction large industrial (KT) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
new constr large ind vacant land (KU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 new constr large ind vacant land (KU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
new construction commercial (XT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 new construction commercial (XT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
new constr comm vacant land (XU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 new constr comm vacant land (XU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
new construction office bldg (YT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 new construction office bldg (YT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
new constr office vacant land (YU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 new constr office vacant land (YU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
new constr shopping centre (ZT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 new constr shopping centre (ZT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
new constr shop ctr vacant land (ZU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 new constr shop ctr vacant land (ZU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0

Total 17,254,346 5,363$ Total 191,184,088 108,156



Schedule C to Report FIN-2015-022
2015 Special Area Tax Levy Calculation

Barber's Beach Street Lights Cambridge Fire 

2014 Deficit 1,554    2014 Surplus (4,153)     
2015 Hydro One Networks 1,300    2015 Standby/Calls 115,100  

2014 Actual 1,340  2015 Payment in Lieu
2015 1st Qtr 253     of Taxes Estimate (3,300)     
2015 Total Est. 1,300  

2015 Street Light Repairs 2,000    
2014 Actual 2,417  
2015 1st Qtr 347     
2015 Total Est. 1,000  

2014 Audit 509       2014 Audit 509         
2015 Total Levy 5,363$  2015 Total Levy 108,156  



Schedule D to Report FIN-2015-022 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
 
      BY-LAW NO   XX/15 
 

A by-law to provide for the levy and collection 
of property taxes for the 2015 taxation year.  
 

WHEREAS Section 312 of the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001, c. 25 provides that for 
purposes of raising the general local municipality levy, a local municipality shall, each 
year, pass a by-law levying a separate tax rate, as specified in the by-law, on the 
assessment in each property class in the local municipality rateable for local 
municipality purposes; and 
 
WHEREAS Section 3 of the Assessment Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. A.31 as amended, 
provides that all real property, with specific exceptions, is subject to assessment and 
taxation; and  
 
WHEREAS the property classes have been prescribed by the Minister of Finance under 
the Assessment Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. A.31 as amended, and the Regulations thereto; 
and 
 
WHEREAS Ontario Regulation 400/98, as amended by Ontario Regulation 75/15 under 
the Education Act prescribes the tax rates for school purposes for all property classes ; 
and 
 
WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Puslinch (“Township”) 
adopted By-law Number 017/15 which established the Budget for the Township for the 
year 2015; and 
 
WHEREAS pursuant to the County of Wellington (“County”) By-law Number 5428-15, 
the County has established upper and lower-tier property tax ratios and tax reductions 
for prescribed subclasses for the year 2015 and By-law Number 5429-15, being a by-
law to establish and levy tax rates for upper tier purposes; and 
 
WHEREAS pursuant to the County By-law Number 5419-15, the County has adopted 
estimates of all sums required by the County during the year 2015 for all purposes of 
the County and has provided a general levy on area municipalities; and 
 
WHEREAS it is required that the Council of the Township, pursuant to the Municipal 
Act, 2001, to levy upon the whole of the assessment for real property for the property 
classes according to the last revised assessment roll for the Township the sums set 
forth for various purposes in Schedule “A” attached hereto for the current year; and 
 
WHEREAS the County’s Tax Ratio by-law established the relative amount of taxation to 
be borne by each property class; and  
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001 authorizes a Council to pass by-laws for the 
payment of taxes by installments and the date or dates in the year for which the taxes 
are imposed on which the taxes or installments are due; and  
 
WHEREAS the Municipal Act, 2001 authorizes a local municipality to pass by-laws to 
impose late payment charges for the non-payment of taxes or any installment by the 
due date; and 
 
WHEREAS an interim levy was made by the Township before the adoption of the 
estimates for the current year as per By-law Number 01/15. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Puslinch 
HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

 
1. For the year 2015, the Township shall levy upon all property assessments the 

rates of taxation per current value assessments for general purposes as set out 
in Schedule “A” attached to this by-law.   



 
2. The levy provided for in Schedule “A” and Schedule “B” attached to this by-law 

shall be reduced by the amount raised by the 2015 interim levy imposed 
pursuant to By-law Number 01/15, where billed. 
 

3. For the year 2015, pursuant to Section 312 (4) of the Municipal Act, 2001, the 
Township shall levy a special tax rate against rateable property in the Barber’s 
Beach Street Lights and Cambridge Fire areas as set out in Schedule “B” 
attached to this by-law.  
 

4. For payments-in-lieu of taxes, the actual amount due to the Township shall be 
based on the assessment roll and the tax rates for the applicable classes for the 
year 2015. 
 

5. That all taxes levied according to the provisions of this by-law shall be collected 
and paid over to the Treasurer of the Township. 
 

6. That the amounts imposed by the rates for Commercial, Industrial, and Multi-
Residential classes become adjusted according to the provisions of Section 
329.1 of the Municipal Act, 2001.  
 

7. The final levy shall be due and payable in two installments as follows: 
 
(1) The 31st day of August, 2015; and 

 
(2)  The 30th day of October, 2015. 
 

8. The final levy for those properties subject to the Township’s Pre-Authorized Tax 
Payment Plan shall be due and payable to the Township in 11 monthly 
installments, February through to December. 
 

9. That realty taxes to be levied as a result of additions to the tax roll pursuant to 
the Assessment Act shall be due and payable in one installment not earlier than 
21 days from the date of the mailing of the tax notice.  

 
10.  

(1) The Treasurer shall add a percentage as a penalty for default of payment 
of the installments in accordance with By-law No. 001/14, as amended;   

 
(2)  The Treasurer shall also add a percentage charge as interest for default of 

payment of the installments in accordance with By-law No. 001/14, as 
amended.  

 
11.  The Treasurer is hereby authorized to accept part payment from time to time on 

account of any taxes due and to give a receipt for such part payment, provided 
that acceptance of any such part payment does not affect the collection of any 
percentage charge imposed and collectable under the provision of By-law No. 
001/14, as amended, in respect of non-payment of any taxes or any classes of 
taxes or of any installment thereof. 
 

12. That the Treasurer is hereby authorized to mail every tax notice or cause the 
same to be mailed to the address of the residence or place of business of each 
person taxed unless the taxpayer directs the Treasurer in writing to send the bill 
to another address, in which case it shall be sent to that address, as provided by 
the Municipal Act, 2001, as amended. 
 

13. There may be added to the tax roll all or any arrears of charges, fees, costs or 
other expenses as may be permitted by Provincial legislation and such arrears of 
charges, fees, costs or other expenses shall be deemed to be taxes, collected as 
taxes, or collected in the same manner as municipal taxes, or dealt with in such 
fashion as may be specifically authorized by the applicable statute.  

 
 
 
 



 
14. Nothing in this by-law shall prevent the Treasurer from proceeding at any time 

with the collection of any tax, or any part thereof, in accordance with the 
provisions of the applicable statutes and by-laws governing the collection of 
taxes. 
 

15. If any section or portion of this by-law is found by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to be invalid, it is the intent of the Council for the Township that all 
remaining sections and portions of this by-law continue in force and effect. 

 
READ A FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD TIME AND FINALLY PASSED THIS 20th DAY 
OF MAY, 2015.      
 
 
       _____________________________________ 

        Dennis Lever, Mayor  
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
   Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk 



Schedule A
2015 Property Tax Rates

Description
2015 
Assessment Tax Ratio  Township   County  Education  Total Township County Education Total

res/farm (RT) 1,464,744,748 1.000000 0.00169434   0.00648995  0.00195000  0.01013429   2,481,776 9,506,119 2,856,252 14,844,147
multi-res (MT) 1,512,250 1.890000 0.00320230   0.01226600  0.00195000  0.01741831   4,843 18,549 2,949 26,341
farmlands  (FT) 124,700,280 0.250000 0.00042359   0.00162249  0.00048750  0.00253357   52,821 202,325 60,791 315,937
commercial  (CT) 77,415,482 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   191,506 733,537 794,781 1,719,824
industrial  (IT) 80,531,303 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   327,474 1,254,346 1,232,129 2,813,949
large industrial (LT) 16,694,000 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   67,885 260,024 255,418 583,327
pipeline (PT) 4,967,184 2.210000 0.00374449   0.01434279  0.01530000  0.03338728   18,600 71,243 75,998 165,841
shopping centre (ST) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
managed forests  (TT) 9,320,137 0.250000 0.00042359   0.00162249  0.00048750  0.00253357   3,948 15,122 4,544 23,613
res/farm farmland class I (R1) 576,000 0.750000 0.00127076   0.00486746  0.00146250  0.00760072   732 2,804 842 4,378
residential taxable shared (RH) 0 1.000000 0.00169434   0.00648995  0.00195000  0.01013429   0 0 0 0
commercial excess/vacant unit  (CU) 4,607,626 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   7,979 30,561 33,113 71,653
commercial vacant land  (CX) 462,533 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   801 3,068 3,324 7,193
commercial  farmland class I (C1) 0 0.750000 0.00127076   0.00486746  0.00146250  0.00760072   0 0 0 0
commercial taxable shared (CH) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
commercial vacant land taxable shared (CJ) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0
parking lot (GT) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
industrial-hydro (IH) 510,250 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   2,075 7,948 7,807 17,829
industrial excess land shared (IJ) 0 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   0 0 0 0
industrial excess/vacant unit (IU) 2,159,479 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   5,708 21,863 21,476 49,047
large ind excess land (LU) 0 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   0 0 0 0
industrial vacant land (IX) 4,833,265 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00994500  0.02271249   12,775 48,934 48,067 109,775
industrial  farmland class I (I1) 0 0.750000 0.00127076   0.00486746  0.00146250  0.00760072   0 0 0 0
industrial farmland class II (I4) 0 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01530000  0.03494229   0 0 0 0
shopping centre excess land (SU) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0
new construction industrial (JT) 10,489,325 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01190000  0.03154229   42,654 163,380 124,823 330,857
new construction ind vacant land (JU) 429,000 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00773500  0.02050249   1,134 4,343 3,318 8,796
new construction large industrial (KT) 0 2.400000 0.00406642   0.01557588  0.01190000  0.03154229   0 0 0 0
new constr large ind vacant land (KU) 0 1.560000 0.00264317   0.01012432  0.00773500  0.02050249   0 0 0 0
new construction commercial (XT) 56,333,364 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   139,354 533,777 578,343 1,251,474
new constr comm vacant land (XU) 1,702,732 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   2,948 11,294 12,237 26,479
new construction office bldg (YT) 549,000 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   1,358 5,202 5,636 12,196
new constr office vacant land (YU) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0
new constr shopping centre (ZT) 0 1.460000 0.00247374   0.00947533  0.01026644  0.02221550   0 0 0 0
new constr shop ctr vacant land (ZU) 0 1.022000 0.00173162   0.00663273  0.00718651  0.01555085   0 0 0 0

Total 1,862,537,958 $3,366,369 $12,894,438 $6,121,849 $22,382,656

Tax Rate Levy



Schedule B 
2015 Barber's Beach Street Lights Special Area Tax Rates 2015 Cambridge Fire Special Area Tax Rates

Description
2015 
Assessment Tax Ratio  Tax Rate  Levy Description

2015 
Assessment Tax Ratio  Tax Rate  Levy 

res/farm (RT) 17,254,346 1.000000 0.00031081   5,363   res/farm (RT) 183,790,667 1.000000 0.00057688  106,025  
multi-res (MT) 0 1.890000 0.00058743   0 multi-res (MT) 0 1.890000 0.00109030  0
farmlands  (FT) 0 0.250000 0.00007770   0 farmlands  (FT) 4,220,892 0.250000 0.00014422  609
commercial  (CT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 commercial  (CT) 1,277,735 1.460000 0.00084225  1,076
industrial  (IT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 industrial  (IT) 139,000 2.400000 0.00138451  192
large industrial (LT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 large industrial (LT) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
pipeline (PT) 0 2.210000 0.00068689   0 pipeline (PT) 0 2.210000 0.00127491  0
shopping centre (ST) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 shopping centre (ST) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
managed forests  (TT) 0 0.250000 0.00007770   0 managed forests  (TT) 1,755,794 0.250000 0.00014422  253
res/farm farmland class I (R1) 0 0.750000 0.00023311   0 res/farm farmland class I (R1) 0 0.750000 0.00043266  0
residential taxable shared (RH) 0 1.000000 0.00031081   0 residential taxable shared (RH) 0 1.000000 0.00057688  0
commercial excess/vacant unit  (CU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 commercial excess/vacant unit  (CU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
commercial vacant land  (CX) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 commercial vacant land  (CX) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
commercial  farmland class I (C1) 0 0.750000 0.00023311   0 commercial  farmland class I (C1) 0 0.750000 0.00043266  0
commercial taxable shared (CH) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 commercial taxable shared (CH) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
commercial vacant land taxable shared (CJ) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 commercial vacant land taxable shared (CJ) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
parking lot (GT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 parking lot (GT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
industrial-hydro (IH) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 industrial-hydro (IH) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
industrial excess land shared (IJ) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 industrial excess land shared (IJ) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
industrial excess/vacant unit (IU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 industrial excess/vacant unit (IU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
large ind excess land (LU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 large ind excess land (LU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
industrial vacant land (IX) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 industrial vacant land (IX) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
industrial  farmland class I (I1) 0 0.750000 0.00023311   0 industrial  farmland class I (I1) 0 0.750000 0.00043266  0
industrial farmland class II (I4) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 industrial farmland class II (I4) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
shopping centre excess land (SU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 shopping centre excess land (SU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
new construction industrial (JT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 new construction industrial (JT) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
new construction ind vacant land (JU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 new construction ind vacant land (JU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
new construction large industrial (KT) 0 2.400000 0.00074594   0 new construction large industrial (KT) 0 2.400000 0.00138451  0
new constr large ind vacant land (KU) 0 1.560000 0.00048486   0 new constr large ind vacant land (KU) 0 1.560000 0.00089993  0
new construction commercial (XT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 new construction commercial (XT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
new constr comm vacant land (XU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 new constr comm vacant land (XU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
new construction office bldg (YT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 new construction office bldg (YT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
new constr office vacant land (YU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 new constr office vacant land (YU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0
new constr shopping centre (ZT) 0 1.460000 0.00045378   0 new constr shopping centre (ZT) 0 1.460000 0.00084225  0
new constr shop ctr vacant land (ZU) 0 1.022000 0.00031765   0 new constr shop ctr vacant land (ZU) 0 1.022000 0.00058957  0

Total 17,254,346 5,363$ Total 191,184,088 108,156



































































1 
 

REPORT FIN-2015-021 
 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM:  Mary Hasan, Director of Finance/Treasurer 

MEETING DATE: May 6, 2015 

SUBJECT: 2015 Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy 
 File No. A09 GRA and A09 FEE 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report FIN-2015-021 regarding the 2015 Grant Application Policy and Fee 
Reduction/Waiver Policy, be received; and 

That Council directs staff to proceed with holding a Public Meeting on June 18, 2015 at 
7:00 pm in the Council Chambers, Municipal Complex to obtain public input on the 
proposed Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy as outlined in 
Schedule C and Schedule D respectively to Report FIN-2015-021; and 

That staff publish notice in the Puslinch Pioneer, Township website, and provide notice 
to previous funding recipients to advise of the Public Meeting; and 

That staff report back on the results of the Public Meeting; and     

That staff report back in 2016/2017 with regard to organizations under separate 
agreement. 

DISCUSSION 

Purpose  
 

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with a proposed Grant Application Policy 
and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy as outlined in Schedule C and Schedule D to Report 
FIN-2015-021 respectively and to obtain direction from Council to proceed with holding 
a public meeting to solicit input on the proposed policies. 
  



2 
 

Background 
 
For grant requests, the Township of Puslinch currently sends letters to community 
organizations in advance of operating budget deliberations requesting certain financial 
information for consideration. This information is brought to Council for review and 
approved by Council through the budgeting process (Schedule F). 
 
For in-kind bookings, through Council Resolution Number 2015-043 which indicates  
“That Report FIN-2015-06 regarding In-Kind Bookings and Contributions be received; 
and that the community groups identified in Report FIN-2015-06 be provided gratuitous 
use of the rooms in 2015 based on 2014 usage of the Puslinch Community Centre and 
Optimist Recreation Centre; and that staff report back to Council on the development of 
a policy regarding the use of Township facilities by community groups and the 
associated fees prior to consideration of the 2016 Budget.” See Schedule E to Report 
FIN-2015-021 for the analysis performed on in-kind bookings and contributions in 2014.  
 
Council at its special meeting held on December 22, 2014 for the purpose of setting 
goals and objectives for the 2014 to 2018 Council term included the following items as 
goals/objectives for their term: 
 

• Development of a Grant Policy for the Spring of 2015 prior to consideration of the 
2016 budget; and 

• Development of a policy regarding the Use of Township Facilities by community 
groups for the Spring of 2015 prior to consideration of the 2016 budget. 

 
The draft Recreation and Parks Master Plan includes the following recommendations:  
 

• To adopt a community grant system policy (with an annual intake from a set pool 
of money within the Township’s budget) through which community organizations 
can apply for funds.  

• To adopt a policy relating to special requests for fee waivers for the purposes of 
equity and transparency.  

 
Considering that a fee reduction/waiver is essentially an informal grant program, it is 
important to view the Grant Application Policy in conjunction with the Fee 
Reduction/Waiver Policy.  

Benefits 
 
In the interest of consistency and clarity, there is merit in establishing a common 
approach to dealing with grant funding and in-kind contribution requests in the 
Township. The creation of these policies allows for Council to approve a series of policy 
guidelines from which all applications will be evaluated against.  
 
The newly proposed policies enhance accountability and transparency and provide a 
streamlined and consistent process in reviewing applications. This is in keeping with the 



3 
 

Township’s Accountability and Transparency Policy passed through By-law No. 60/08.  
Grant recipients will be accountable to the Township once funding is utilized through 
submission of post-event/year-end/project completion reports. These policies are 
included in Schedule C and D to Report FIN-2015-021. The Grant Application Form is 
detailed in Schedule G to Report FIN-2015-021. The Fee Reduction/Waiver Application 
Form is detailed in Schedule H to Report FIN-2015-021.  
 
Annual in-kind bookings and contributions amounted to $49,355 in 2014 as outlined in 
Report FIN-2015-06. The proposed Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy provides Council with 
numerous benefits to effectively administer fee reduction/waiver requests to eligible 
groups within the community utilizing a consistent and transparent framework. Groups 
who have not traditionally been aware of the opportunity for fee reductions/waivers will 
receive clear and concise information to determine their eligibility.  By allocating specific 
funds as part of the Township annual budget process, Council will have a clear 
understanding of the cost to provide this level of support to the invaluable network of 
groups and organizations in the community.  
 
Recovering expenses associated with the daily cost of operating recreation facilities is a 
fundamental component of an overall strategy to manage and maintain community 
assets for future use and enjoyment. The fee reduction/waiver policy establishes a 
framework for consistent application and evaluation criteria.   

Research 

Grant Application Policy: 
 
Township staff obtained policies and application forms from municipalities that have an 
established program including the County of Wellington, Town of Caledon, Town of 
Halton Hills, Town of Oakville and Township of Centre Wellington in order to 
appropriately define the framework going forward for applicants requesting funding from 
the Township. The summarized results of the review of these municipalities are outlined 
in Schedule A to Report FIN-2015-021. 

Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy: 
 
Township staff obtained fee reduction/waiver policies and application forms from 
municipalities that have an established program including the Town of Caledon, Town of 
Halton Hills, Municipality of Thames Centre and Municipality of Central Huron. The 
summarized results of the review of these municipalities are outlined in Schedule B to 
Report FIN-2015-021. 
 
The following municipalities were not reviewed for the fee reduction/waiver policy for the 
following reasons: 

• The County of Wellington does not have a policy for waiving or providing 
favourable fees for community groups and charitable organizations as they do 
not provide special rates to these organizations.  

• The Town of Oakville does not have a separate policy for fee reduction/waivers. 



4 
 

• Organizations in Centre Wellington requesting a reduction in the Township's fees 
for the purpose of Parks and Recreation facility rental/service are required to 
submit a written request directly to Council. 

Grant Funding and In-Kind Bookings and Contributions as a Percentage of Taxes 
Levied 
 
Table 1 below provides an analysis of grant funding and in-kind bookings and 
contributions as a percentage of taxes levied: 
 
Table 1: 
 

2015 
Figures 

Puslinch Wellington 
County 

Caledon Halton 
Hills 

Oakville Centre 
Wellington 

Thames 
Centre  

Central 
Huron 

Grant 
Budget 

$33.6K $52.9K $54.5K $16.5K $843.8K $52K $22K $40K 

In-Kind 
Budget 

$49.4K N/A  $25K $56K Note A Note A Note B Note A 

Tax 
Base 

$3.4M $84.5M $49.8M $40.8M  $165.1M $11M  $8.2M 5.8M 

% 2.46% 0.06% 0.16% 0.18% 0.51% 0.47% 0.27% 0.69% 
Avg. %        0.33% 

 
Note A – the 2015 in-kind bookings and contributions budget is included in the total 
2015 grant budget. 
 
Note B – An amount is not budgeted for in-kind bookings and contributions. 
 
Note: Based on discussions with the Director of Financial Services/Treasurer of 
the Municipality of Thames Centre, Council is in the process of potentially 
disbanding the Community Partnership Fund and the Waiver of Fees program 
due to significant budget restraints.  
 
Note: Based on discussions with the Director of Finance of the Municipality of 
Central Huron, the funds granted for the Central Huron Donation Fund are 
revenues obtained from the OLG Casino. 
 
The Township’s 2015 approved taxation levy based on 2015 Budget By-law No. 017/15 
is $3,366,369. The 2015 budgeted grants (excluding in-kind bookings and contributions) 
amounts to $33,575 as outlined in Schedule F to Report FIN-2015-021. The 2014 actual 
in-kind bookings and contributions amounted to $49,355 as outlined in Schedule E to 
Report FIN-2015-021. Therefore, the Township is currently providing grant and in-kind 
contribution funding of 2.5% of taxes levied.  
  



5 
 

Total Upset Limit of Funds 
 
It is recommended that a grant application policy and fee reduction/waiver policy include 
a combined upset limit of funding per organization per calendar year.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, where an organization is hosting a community event 
(excluding fundraising activities and events), funds available to the organization are 
limited to a maximum of $XXX per event capped at three (3) events per calendar year. 
 
Table 2 below includes the upset limits per calendar year for the municipal policies 
reviewed: 
 
Table 2: 
 

Upset Limit Wellington 
County 

Caledon Halton 
Hills 

Oakville Centre 
Wellington 

Thames 
Centre 

Central 
Huron 

Grants $2,000 No limit $5,000 No limit $5,000 No limit No limit 
In-Kind  N/A $2,500 No limit No limit Included above No limit $500 
Total $2,000 $2,500 $5,000 No limit $5,000 No limit $500 

Recommendations 

Combined Upset Limit Analysis 
 
Table 3 below includes a summary of combined upset limit amounts ranging from $750 
to $1,250 and their impact as a percentage of the Township’s 2015 tax base. The table 
also includes estimates of the amount of 2016 funding eligible to organizations that 
received previous grant funding and/or in-kind bookings based on the proposed Grant 
Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy.  
 
As noted in Table 1 above, the average of grant and in-kind contribution funding as a 
percentage of taxes levied is 0.33%. Establishing a combined upset limit of $750 would 
result in 1.09% of grant and in-kind contribution funding as a percentage of taxes levied 
as noted in Table 3 below. This is 0.75% higher than the average of the sample 
municipalities.  To be in line with the 0.33% indicated in Table 1 above, the Township 
would need to limit grant and in-kind contribution funding (including organizations under 
separate agreement) to $11,109 per year. 
  



6 
 

Table 3: 
 

 $ $ Combined Upset Limit $ 
- 2016 Proposed Policy Linkages 

Organizations 2014 In-
Kind 

2015  
Grant  $750 $1,000 $1,250  

Aberfoyle Agricultural  
Society 3,490 3,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 

Assumption of one (1) community 
event (excluding fundraising 
activities/events) based on past 
events, ie. Fall Fair. 

Aberfoyle Public 
School 1,927 Nil Nil Nil Nil 

It is proposed that educational 
institutions are not eligible for 
funding. See recommendation for 
Aberfoyle Public School below. 

Community Oriented 
Policing Centre 311 500 1,500 2,000 2,500 Assumption of one (1) community 

event based on past events.  
Crime Stoppers 
Guelph Wellington Nil Nil 750 1,000 1,250  

Friends of Mill Creek 1,260 1,250 750 1,000 1,250 In-kind bookings for facility space  
Guelph Community 
Health Centre 
(Playgroup) 

4,520 Nil 4,520 4,520 4,520 Organization under separate 
agreement – see below. 

Junior Garden Club 497 Nil 750 1,000 1,250 In-kind bookings for facility space 
Kiwanis Music 
Festival Nil 100 750 1,000 1,250  

Mill Creek 848 Nil 750 1,000 1,250 In-kind bookings for facility space 
Mindful RemedEase Nil Nil 750 1,000 1,250  

Morriston United 
Church 1,650 Nil Nil Nil Nil 

It is proposed that groups or 
organizations of a religious nature 
are not eligible for funding. 

Optimist Club of 
Puslinch 15,739 Nil 3,000 4,000 5,000 

Assumption of three (3) community 
events (excluding fundraising 
activities/events) based on past 
events, ie. Winter Classic 
Tournament, Santa Claus Parade, 
Canada Day Pancake Breakfast. 

Puslinch Historical 
Society – Library 
Rental 

5,000 Nil 5,000 5,000 5,000 Organization under separate 
agreement – see below. 

Puslinch Lake 
Conservation 
Association 

Nil 25,000 750 1,000 1,250  

Puslinch Minor 
Soccer Club 1,034 Nil 750 1,000 1,250 In-kind bookings for facility space 



7 
 

 $ $ Combined Upset Limit $ 
- 2016 Proposed Policy Linkages 

Organizations 2014 In-
Kind 

2015  
Grant  $750 $1,000 $1,250  

Senior’s Community 
Event (Euchre) 1,243 Nil Nil Nil Nil Note C 

Sunrise Therapeutic 
Riding & Learning 
Centre 

Nil 2,500 750 1,000 1,250  

Wellington County 
Farm and Home 
Safety Association 

Nil 125 750 1,000 1,250  

Wellington County 
Plowmen’s 
Association 

Nil 100 750 1,000 1,250  

Whistle Stop Daycare 11,838 Nil 11,838 11,838 11,838 Organization under separate 
agreement – see below. 

Badenoch 
Community Centre Nil 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 Organization under separate 

agreement – see below. 
Grand Total 82,930 36,608 41,358 46,108  
% of 2015 Tax Base  2.46% 1.09% 1.23% 1.37%  

 
Note C: Note that the estimates of 2016 funding in Table 3 above are preliminary. 
There are specific applicant qualification criteria that must be met for an organization to 
be eligible for funding and requires a detailed review of pertinent documentation 
submitted by the applicant.  

Organizations under Separate Agreement 
 
The following organizations have a separate agreement with the Township for the use 
of facilities for nominal consideration: 
 

• Badenoch (term of lease agreement is to December 31, 2026) 
• Whistle Stop Daycare (facility use agreement expires June 19, 2015 and is 

renewed annually) 
• Guelph Community Health Centre (Playgroup) (facility use agreement expires 

June 23, 2015 and is renewed annually) 
• Puslinch Historical Society (term of lease agreement is to September 15, 2015) 

 
It is proposed that those organizations that have entered into an agreement for the use 
of a Township facility at a nominal rate are not eligible to receive funding under the 
Grant Application Policy and the Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy.  
 
The following organizations have a separate agreement with the Township for the use 
of facilities at negotiated rates. 



8 
 

 
• YMCA-YWCA – Puslinch Power Camp Agreement (agreement expires August 

21, 2014 and is renewed annually) 
• Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market (agreement expires on February 1, 2017) 

 
It is recommended that a separate review be conducted for organizations that are 
currently under separate agreement to establish fair and consistent evaluation criteria 
and fees in 2016/2017. Further, it is recommended that no additional organizations be 
eligible for entering into a separate agreement for gratuitous use of Township owned 
facilities until such a review is completed. 

 Aberfoyle Public School 
 
Aberfoyle Public School utilized the Township’s facilities at a nominal consideration in 
2014 as per Schedule E to Report FIN-2015-021. The Township ’s agreement with the 
Wellington County Board of Education (now known as the Upper Grand District School 
Board) dated the 2nd day of December 1996 expired. It is recommended by the 
Township’s insurers that Township staff work with the Upper Grand District School 
Board to develop a new agreement for the use of Township facilities.  

Other Contributions 
 
The practice in the past has been to provide photocopies and mailings free of charge on 
behalf of certain community organizations. It is recommended that the costs to the 
Township of providing free photocopies and mailings on behalf of certain community 
organizations be encompassed in the organization’s total upset limit of funding per 
calendar year. See costs below: 
 
Photocopies - $0.25 per page as per the Township’s User Fee By-law No. 076/14 
Per Mailing - postage - $0.77; envelope - $0.06 
 
The practice in the past has been for the Township to pay for the advertising costs 
associated with the Santa Claus Parade and Aberfoyle Fall Fair. There have also been 
requests by community groups to waive fees associated with ball diamond and rink 
board advertising as well as sign rentals at the Puslinch Community Centre (electronic 
sign). It is recommended that the fees associated with these be encompassed in the 
organization’s total upset limit of funding per calendar year. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The 2014 actual in-kind bookings and contributions amounted to $49,355 as outlined in 
Report FIN-2015-06.  
 
The Township of Puslinch maintains a budget for grants in account number 01-0100-
4600 and in the Badenoch Cost Centre in account number 01-0150-4325. See below for 
further details.  



9 
 

 
Account 
Number Description 

2014 
Budget 

2014 
Actual 

2015 
Budget 

01-0100-4600 Grants $32,800 $32,925 $32,575 
01-0150-4325 Badenoch Comm Ctr Grant $1,000 $1,000 $1,000 
Total  $33,800 $33,925 $33,575 

 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND REQUIREMENTS  
 
Accountability and Transparency Policy passed through By-law No. 60/08 
 
Municipal Act, 2001  
 
Directly from the Municipal Act, 2001 regarding Grants: 
 
Assistance prohibited 
Despite any Act, a municipality shall not assist directly or indirectly any manufacturing 
business or other industrial or commercial enterprise through the granting of bonuses 
for that purpose. 2001, c. 25, s. 106 (1). 
 
General power to make grants 
Despite any provision of this or any other Act relating to the giving of grants or aid by a 
municipality, subject to section 106, a municipality may make grants, on such terms as 
to security and otherwise as the council considers appropriate, to any person, group or 
body, including a fund, within or outside the boundaries of the municipality for any 
purpose that council considers to be in the interests of the municipality. 2001, c. 25, 
s. 107 (1) 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
Schedule A: Other Municipal Grant Application Policies 
 
Schedule B: Other Municipal Fee Reduction/Waiver Policies 
 
Schedule C: Proposed Grant Application Policy  
 
Schedule D: Proposed Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy   

 
Schedule E: Report FIN-2015-06 – In-Kind Bookings and Contributions 

Schedule F: 2015 Approved Grant Allocations 

Schedule G: Grant Application Form  

Schedule H: Fee Reduction/Waiver Application Form  



Schedule A to Report FIN-2015-021
Other Municipal Grant Application Policies

County of Wellington Town of Caledon Town of Halton Hills
Purpose Establish a set of guidelines to provide 

financial assistance to not-for-profit 
organizations by means of a grant.

Support organizations with goals and objectives that support the Town's Community 
Based Strategic Plan and Vision. 

Provide support to individuals, community organizations, groups and businesses 
that maintain and improve the quality of life for residents by providing facilities 
and services.

Applicant 
Qualification/
Criteria

1.) The applicant must be operating as a not-
for-profit organization.
2.) The applicant must have a formal 
organizational structure (ie. a Board of 
Directors, Committee Structure, or a 
structure similar in nature).
3.) The applicant must be providing services, 
products, etc. that are benefiting the County 
and its residents.

Priority will be given to groups or organizations that are aligned with the following 
criteria:
1.) Community-based and fairly represent their own interest and those of the 
communities which they serve.
2.) Maintain a historical and community link between our agricultural, rural and 
urban communities.
3.) Must be in adherence with the requirements of the Ontario Government, 
including the Ontario Human Rights Code

1.) Demonstrate the aims, objectives and activities are of benefit to the 
community and support the strategic priorities of Council.
2.) Criteria to evaluate proposals: benefits the majority of residents; affordable, 
accessible, inclusive and diverse; demonstrates collaboration, positive 
community engagement and civic pride; promotes volunteerism, participation and 
leadership development; new or complimentary to existing services; facilitates 
self-sufficiency and/or sustainability; promotes efficient/effective use of municipal 
resources; fosters a healthy, safe and active community.
3.) Must be in good standing with the Town.

Applicants Not 
Eligible

See eligibility discussion above. For profit organizations; foundations that raise funds for another organization and 
their associated groups or agencies; groups or organizations of a religious nature; 
groups or organizations affiliated with any political party or event; hospitals, hospital 
foundations and hospital auxiliary groups or agencies; educational institutions 
including universities, colleges, schools and associated auxiliary groups; 
organizations not in good financial standing with the Town or in litigation with the 
Town.

1.) faith organizations; political affiliations; service clubs; hospitals, clinic based or 
medical treatment services; educational institutions; government (federal, 
provincial, regional, municipal). 
2.) Consideration may be given to the organizations noted above for 
activities/events that support the strategic priorities of Council as contained in the 
Town's strategic plan and municipal assistance policy.
3.) Fundraising activities/events are only eligible when 100% of the net funds 
raised are directed back to a Town facility, program and/or service.

Application 
Requirements

1.) Must be submitted to the Clerk by the 
specified date and time as printed in the 
application page (November 30th).
2.) Must be completed in full, with all 
requested information attached 
3.) A copy of operating budget and recent 
financial statements for the 
organization/project.
4.) A letter of reference upon request.

1.) An operating budget for the organization's operating year in which the funds 
would be utilized; if not available, most recent operating budget is required.
2.) Previous years' financial statements (reviewed or audited); if not available, most 
recent financial statements are required.
3.) Complete and submit an official application form in accordance with guidelines 
and deadlines
4.) An organization applying for multiple grants must complete an application form 
for each separate funding request.
5.) Not mandatory but invited to present grant requests to Council at a future 
announced date after all of the above information is provided (maximum 10 minute 
presentation to Council)
6.) Deadline - October 31st of a given year

1.) Projects must present a detailed budget including actual and projected 
revenue and expenses; copies of invoices are required with submission for 
funding; proposals for major initiatives must be received 6 months in advance of 
the proposed initiative to facilitate the review process; initiatives must take place 
in the Town and serve Town residents; initiatives must have community-wide 
benefit and not duplicate the efforts of existing initiatives/events.
2.) Proposals will be reviewed by staff for accuracy, completeness and 
compliance with the Municipal Assistance Policy and Procedures; only complete 
proposals will be forwarded under a staff report to the Community Affairs 
Committee of Council for consideration at the designated meetings (see 
Deadlines for Applications.);  community affairs committee of Council may 
request a presentation of the applicant's proposal.

Grant 
Categories and 
Funding 
Allocation

None 1.) Sustaining/Continuing Support - grants for organizations that are community 
based and fairly represent both their own interest and those of the communities in 
which they serve. Priority will be given to organizations that maintain a historical and 
community link between our agricultural, rural and urban communities. No 
guarantee on future funding regardless of past funding received.
2.) Project-Based Support/One-Time - Grants are to be given only to organizations 
for the purpose of a specific and measurable project or program.  Priority will be 
given to organizations that maintain a historical and community link between our 
agricultural, rural and urban communities.
3.) Special Event Activity Support - Grants are to be given as "seed" money. Funds 
are allocated to provide start-up funding for a new organization, or a new program 
within an already existing organization, for activity deemed to be of significant value 
to the community at a large.

all proposals are subject to available funds
1.) Marketing/Promotion 
2.) Special Purposes, Projects or Start-up Costs 

 10



Schedule A to Report FIN-2015-021
Other Municipal Grant Application Policies

County of Wellington Town of Caledon Town of Halton Hills
Requirements 
after Approval of 
Grant Request

No requirements. 1.) Recognizing the Town's grant contribution at the organization's event or activity 
and acknowledging funding on all promotional material (if the Town logo is used, 
approval must be obtained from the Communication Department prior to printing of 
the promotional material).
2.) Recipients awarded a grant for a specific project or event are required to submit 
a final report within 3 months of project/event completion. The report must evaluate 
the outcomes of the events, as well as identify how the project/event met its goals 
and objectives. Such reports may be used in awarding grants in subsequent years. 
Must identify and advise of any surplus funds. Surplus funds may be required to be 
returned to the Town and/or deducted from future grant considerations.
3.) Recipients awarded a grant for sustaining/continuing support are required to 
submit a year-end report which evaluates how the funding was utilized and how it 
contributed to overall goals and objectives of the organization.
4.) Any grant recipient that does not comply with the requirements may not receive 
future grant funding.

1.) Successful proposals will acknowledge the Town's support in all 
communications and promotions.
2.) Funds received are to be used as specified by the Community Affairs 
Committee of Council
3.) All unused funds will be returned
4.) Adherence to all applicable municipal by-laws, policies and procedures is 
required

Threshold Community Programmes and Community 
Events that apply for a grant will be allotted a 
maximum of $2,000 per application. All 
requests over $2,000 will be considered by 
the Administration, Finance and Personnel 
Committee as a special grant request.

No limit – based on request and past history Special Purposes, Projects or Start-up Costs - a one-time start up grant is 
available for new initiatives/events which have community-wide benefit. The 
Town may provide a grant up to 25% of project costs, to a maximum of $5,000. 
Request over $5,000 will be referred to Council by the Community Affairs 
Committee of Council.

Special 
Exemptions

1.) Exempt from the formal application 
process: All Agricultural Societies within 
Wellington County; Wellington 4H; 
Wellington Farm and Home Safety; 
Wellington County Plowmens Association; 
Wellington Soil and Crop Improvement; 
Wellington County Cattlemen's Association 
(these organizations are included in the 
County's 2015 budget figure of $52,900 for 
the grant application program).
2.) In order to apply for a grant, a letter must 
be sent to the County from the exempted 
organization(s). The letter must identify the 
need for a grant for the year in question and 
the general intent of use of the funds. These 
letters must be received by November 30th 
annually before any grant funds are to be 
forwarded to the organization(s).
3.) The Committee will review the 
Organizations listed every year. Any 
changes (additions or deletions) to this 
section will be communicated to the affected 
Organizations in writing. 

None None 

 11



Schedule A to Report FIN-2015-021
Other Municipal Grant Application Policies

Town of Oakville Township of Centre Wellington
Purpose Acknowledges and supports the enhancement and preservation of a positive quality of life for its 

citizens. One means of achieving this goal is the provision of financial assistance through grants, 
donations, loans, fee assistance or in-kind services to organizations, community groups and individuals 
for purposes which support the town’s corporate goals and strategy. 

Provide financial assistance to not-for-profit organizations by means of a grant to enhance the overall 
well-being of the community.

Applicant 
Qualification/
Criteria

1.) Community assistance funding is available only to Oakville-based, non-profit volunteer community 
groups which exist for the purpose of providing municipally-related programs, services or projects 
specifically to the residents of Oakville subject to criteria and limitations contained herein.
2.) Organizations requesting funding for a purpose which meets the criteria of a funding opportunity 
offered by another level of government will be referred to that funding source. Assistance received 
should not be considered as the primary source of funding. The applicant must show that there has 
been exploration of other financial support mechanisms (i.e. fundraising) prior to making the request 
and adequate volunteer support.
3.Not-for-profit community group or organization (registered as a charitable organization by Revenue 
Canada) initiating or delivering programs and services to the municipality. 
4. Formal organizational structure with an active Board of Directors and/or Executive 
committee/Officers.
5. Based in Oakville, with a majority of members being Oakville residents.
6. Services, programs and activities that primarily benefit Oakville citizens.
7. Demonstrate the fiscal viability and accountability of the organization.

1.) Not-for-profit organization; independent volunteer board of directors, meet regularly, maintain 
appropriate minutes and recordings of proceedings; based in the Township, majority of members 
residents; membership and programs open to all Township citizens, and services, programs and 
activities benefit primarily to Township citizens; programs or services serve clearly identified community 
needs not already adequately addressed by another organization, be it government, corporate or 
another not-for-profit organization; existence for one or more years; community commitment to 
programs through participation in organization/attendance at functions sponsored by organization; 
support from other sources than public funds (ie. through ticket sponsorships or membership sales); not 
in arrears with Township.
2.) Council may grant special consideration to entities that do not meet the eligibility requirements but 
are unique in nature and fulfill a specific need in the community.
3.) Criteria: merit and achievement; professional standards; community service and participation; fiscal 
and overall accountability of the applicant; administrative accountability; responsiveness to existing 
community need; degree of accessibility; economic impact. 

Applicants Not 
Eligible

Religious organizations for sacred or sectarian purposes; political parties, ridings, associations and 
candidates; individuals; donations to charitable causes; debt retirement; as replacement for other 
funding sources; commercial and/or third-party fundraising individuals; coalitions such as ratepayer or 
tenant/landlord associations, or to support programs or services geared specifically to these groups; on 
a retroactive basis for purposes which have already occurred; travel

Profit oriented organizations; individuals; marketing, travel or accommodation, uniforms, personal 
equipment, banquets, trophies or entertainment; rent (excluding Township facilities), utilities or debt 
repayment; attendance at conferences, workshops or seminars; request for funding prior year deficits; 
failed to provide satisfactory reports, including financial statements, as to the success of the previous 
year and specifically with respect to the allocation of grant funds; requests for grants to an individual, or 
an individual group that is controlled by a parent organization (parent organization should apply 
instead); organizations that receive other subsidies from the Township; service clubs, except under the 
Specific Annual Grants category.

Application 
Requirements

All requests for community assistance funding shall be by application, directed to the Commissioner of 
Corporate Services and Treasurer or his/her delegate, and contain:
Proof of registration as a charitable organization with Revenue Canada or status as a Not for Profit 
organization (NPO); Organization structure with Board of Director’s names, positions, and phone 
numbers; Information about the organization and how its programs or services benefit the community; 
A statement of the organization’s goals and objectives, constitution and by-laws or, operating 
guidelines; amount financial assistance requested, including where the funds will be used; a current 
business plan/budget as well as audited financial statements for the immediately preceding year; 
completed application form

Preparation and submission of operating budgets and complete financial statements (both balance 
sheet and income statement including comparative information from previous year); verification of non-
profit/charitable status (ie. incorporating documents, constitution, by-laws,etc.); listing of executive 
officers of the organization; two letters of reference at arm's length to applicant. 

Requirements 
after Approval of 
Grant Request

Community funding assistance may not be used for purposes other than the purposes approved by 
Council. If such assistance is used for a purpose other than that approved by Council, it must be repaid. 
An organization receiving other than in-kind contributions will be required to provide verification through 
financial statements or receipts that the financial assistance provided was expended according to the 
resolution of support approved by Council. Community assistance recipients will be required to 
acknowledge the support of the Town in all advertising, publicity, programs, signage and plaques 
relating to the project for which funds were provided. The recipient may not represent the town as a 
partner, or hold the town responsible for any obligations relating to the project.

Acknowledge the support of the Township of Centre Wellington in all printed materials; provide a written 
statement of use of funds within two months of the event/program/service. Organizations will not be 
considered for future grant funding until all required reports are received by the Township. Grant 
Application Exempt Organizations awarded Specific Annual Grants are exempt from this requirement. 
Funds to be used for the purposes described in the application. Council must be informed if the project 
is delayed or changed substantially for any reason. In the event the project does not go forward, the 
applicant will return those funds granted for the proposed project.

 12



Schedule A to Report FIN-2015-021
Other Municipal Grant Application Policies

Town of Oakville Township of Centre Wellington
Threshold Budget of $964,300 in grants in 2015.  This includes recreation subsidies, heritage grants, sports 

grants, cultural grants as well as BIA support for community events.  $120,500 of the amount relates to 
Seniors Tax Reductions and Registered Charity Rebates.

Grant funds available to an organization in a budget year are limited to a maximum of $5,000 which 
includes requests for subsidized Township parks and recreation facility rentals.

Special 
Exemptions

None The following organizations have been approved by Council for annual funding without application 
($20.1K total)- Fergus and District Horticultural Society - $1,650; Elora and Salem Horticultural Society - 
$1,950; Elora Lions Club (Elora Santa Claus Parade) - $1,600; Elora Cataract Trailway Association - 
$5,000; Fergus Lions Club (Fergus Santa Claus Parade) - $1,700; Royal Canadian Legion Wreaths - 
$450; Wellington County Farm and Home Safety Association - $500; Senior Summer Games - $750; 
Ponsonby Recreation Club - $1,500; Centre Wellington Food Bank - $5,000
In order to be eligible, a letter must be received by the Township annually prior to August 31st before 
any grant funds are to be considered from the exempt organization identifying the need for the grant 
and the general intent of use of the funds. If the organization wants to submit a request for increased 
funding, must identify the need and the amount of increase within the required letter noted above. The 
budget committee will review the grant application exempt organizations listed above annually in 
September during preliminary annual budget process. Any changes will be communicated to the 
affected organizations in writing prior to the grant application process advertisement.

Grant 
Categories and 
Funding 
Allocation

None 1.) Performing/Visual Arts ($20K budget) - enhance quality of life for residents by fostering and 
strengthening the arts and culture, supporting artistic excellence and stimulating wider community 
appreciation and participation.
2.) Special Events ($5K budget) - enhance the quality of life for residents by fostering and strengthening 
special events and stimulating wider community appreciation and participation.
3.) Social/Environmental Organizations ($6K budget) - enhance the quality of life by fostering, 
strengthening and stimulating wider community appreciation and participation in social and/or 
environmental activities.
4.) Specific Annual Grants ($20.1K budget) - enhance the quality of life by fostering, strengthening and 
stimulating wider community appreciation and participation in the community. 

 13



Schedule B to Report FIN-2015-021
Other Municipal Fee Reduction/Waiver Policies

Town of Caledon Town of Halton Hills Municipality of Thames Centre Municipality of Central Huron
Purpose The Town supports special events planned by community groups 

based in Caledon and acknowledges that local events celebrate and 
strengthen communities, fostering a spirit of involvement, learning, 
sharing and giving.

Provide the process, categories of 
eligibility and support documents related 
to submitting a proposal for waiver of 
municipal fees. 

Guide employees, Council, Not-for-
Profit organizations and the public 
on how the municipality will handle 
special requests to waive or 
reduce fees at Municipal Facilities.

Create consistency and parameters around the waiving or 
reduction of fees to such parties. To streamline the fee waiver 
process and provide a consistent approach in the information that 
is provided for consideration. To consistently record the revenue 
for the parks and facilities as they are utilized.

Applicant 
Qualification/
Eligibility

1.) Groups must exist for the benefit of Caledon and provide 
services that are available to residents of Caledon. Groups eligible 
are Caledon-based groups that are not-for-profit, volunteer-based 
organizations. 
2.) Financial Reponsibility - must demonstrate capability of carrying 
out its objectives and meeting its financial obligations
3.) Constitution and By-laws - must operate in an open and 
democratic manner through the holding of annual membership 
meetings and the election of an executive from the general 
membership; annual general meetings must be advertised to the 
group's membership no less than 30 days prior to the meeting; all 
members must be eligible to vote; groups must adhere to the 
Human Rights Code.
4.) Majority of voting members of executive/board must be residents 
or ratepayers of the Town.
5.) Consideration for event funding will be given if the event meets 
the following: the event has a broad appeal, the event is free or a 
low cost to participants and attendees, the event is organized with 
community partners. 

1.) For fundraising activities/events 
facility fee waivers are only eligible when 
100% of the net funds raised are 
directed back to a Town facility, program 
or service. 
2.) Events should be approved 
community-wide events where 
admissions are free. 
3.) This application is for rental fees for 
municipally owned or controlled facilities.
4.) Groups registered with the Town who 
conduct an Annual General Meeting 
where the election of officers takes 
place. Some restrictions may apply.
5.) Community events where an 
admission charge is levied, fees may be 
waived when costs are not recovered 
due to extenuating circumstances.

1.) Not for profit organizations
2.) Thames Centre Council will 
make a decision to approve or 
deny a request utilizing the 
following criteria: availability of the 
venue; the potential for 
detrimental noise impacts of the 
event on nearby residents and 
businesses; other events 
scheduled; adherence to all 
relevant municipal policies. 

Operate as non-for-profit; based in the Municipality of Central 
Huron; School Groups; activity does not duplicate an existing 
program or activity; activity will provide benefit to the 
community/public; Event/activity/function will occur within the 
Municipal boundaries at a designated Municipal facility or park; 
Organizations must demonstrate financial need.

Applicants Not 
Eligible

Fundraising events Fundraising activites/events; costs for 
personnel services are ineligible for 
Municipal Assistance; third party fees; 
request for relief from licences, 
development charges, building permits; 
requests for relief from fees not 
controlled by the municipality.

On occasion, Thames Centre 
Council or staff receives requests 
to raise money for a cause, to 
sponsor a particular organization, 
or to help underwrite the cost of a 
trip by a class, a club or a sports 
organization by making a financial 
contribution to the organization. 
The municipality shall not make 
financial contributions to support 
organizations or clubs.

Private events such as weddings, birthdays, anniversary parties, 
engagement parties, etc.; for-profit organizations, individuals or 
groups; events or activities that are not open to the general public; 
organizations based outside the Municipality of Central Huron 
(unless the demonstrated benefits are primarily to the residents of 
the Municipality of Central Huron); projects or organizations that 
did not fulfill their obligation during previous events or activities for 
which park or facility fees were waived or reduced; Any activity, 
event or program that contravenes the Municipality’s existing 
policies.

Requirements 
after Approval of 
Grant Request

All approved events must acknowledge the Town in all advertising 
pieces (must be provided to and approved by Parks and Recreation 
prior to event date). Must provide a post event report to the Parks 
and Recreation Department designate within 90 days of event date. 
This will include a detailed financial report and attendance numbers. 

Post event financial statement must be 
submitted to secure the fee waiver(s).

Acknowledge municipality in all 
materials and announcements 
about the event.

Advertisement of events must include acknowledgement of the 
Municipality's contribution.

 14



Schedule B to Report FIN-2015-021
Other Municipal Fee Reduction/Waiver Policies

Town of Caledon Town of Halton Hills Municipality of Thames Centre Municipality of Central Huron
Application 
Requirements

1.) The event must utilize the Town's facilities or services. The 
event must comply with Town requirements for events and facility 
rentals including necessary insurance, permits and approvals in 
place within the required timelines. All rentals are subject to facility 
service/availability. Community groups will be required to apply for 
funding on an annual basis. 
2.) Annual financial statements must be included with the 
application.
3.) A constitution must be submitted with the application.
4.) All applicants must be received a minimum of 6 months prior to 
the event date. 

1.) Proposals reviewed by staff for 
accuracy, completeness and compliance 
2.) Only complete proposals will be 
forwarded under a staff report to the 
Community Affairs Committee of Council 
for consideration at the designated 
meetings. 
3.) Request for waiver of municipal fees 
must be received prior to activity/event 
4.) Community Affairs Committee of 
Council may request a presentation of 
the applicant's proposal.
5.) Special consideration may be granted 
to proposals at the discretion of the 
Community Affairs Committee of 
Council.

1.) Consider providing grants to 
not-for-profit organizations to 
support services they provide to 
Thames Centre community 
through the Community 
Partnership Fund provided the 
application is submitted by the last 
Friday in October annually. 
2.) Organization is required to 
indemnify the municipality from 
and against any and all injuries 
and claims for damages incurred 
as a result of their use of the 
Municipal facility. 

1.) Any approval given for the reduction or waiver of fees will only 
be applied to a single event. Any future or ongoing (annual) events 
will require further applications to be submitted.
2.) Community groups, individuals or organizations that wish to be 
considered for waiving or reduction of rental fees for parks and 
facilities must apply in writing to the Clerk’s Department using the 
detailed application form. Applications must be submitted to the 
Clerk’s Department a minimum of 60 days prior to the event for 
consideration.
3.) The application will be reviewed by the Clerk and Facilities 
Manager for eligibility and assessed based on the application 
provided. If the Clerk and Facilities Manager are unable to approve 
the application because the request falls outside eligibility criteria, 
the applicant has the option to make a formal request to Council 
for consideration. Council will then, through resolution at a Regular 
Council meeting, make the final decision with regard to approval, 
partial approval or denial of the waiver or reduction of fees 
request.

Threshold 1.) Events hosted by community groups up to a maximum of $2,500 
per calendar year regardless of the number of events hosted. 
Required to apply on a per event basis. 
2.) Requests exceeding $2,500 require the host group to delegate 
to Council. Written requests shall be received by the Parks and 
Recreation Department staff and be administered on a first-come-
first served basis subject to approved annual budget. The program 
and its funding shall be reviewed annually as part of the Town's 
budget process. The amount of funding awarded will be subject to 
availability within the annual budget.

All proposals are subject to available 
funds.

No limit The maximum allotment of fees to be waived will be $500 per 
group, per annum and will be determined after review of the 
completed application form by the Clerk and Facilities Manager.

 15



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 
  Schedule C to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

1 
 

 

 
 
TITLE:  GRANT APPLICATION POLICY  
 
DATE:   May 6, 2015  
 
SUBJECT:  GRANT APPLICATION POLICY  

File No. A09 GRA 
 
 
1.0 Purpose 
 
To establish a set of guidelines for providing support to not-for-profit organizations that 
maintain and improve the quality of life for residents of the Township of Puslinch 
(“Township”). 
 
2.0 Applicant Qualifications 
 
Organizations applying for funding must meet the following qualifications:   
 

• The organization must be operating as a not-for-profit organization. 
• The applicant must have a formal organizational structure (ie. a Board of 

Directors, Committee Structure, or a structure similar in nature) and hold regular 
meetings. 

• The agency or group is a Puslinch-based organization or an organization that 
benefits Township residents.  The service or project provided by the group 
provides a unique benefit to the residents of the Township. 

• The organization must be able to demonstrate that the funding assistance 
requested from the Township supplements funding the organization has received 
through other sources and its own fundraising efforts.  

• The applicant must be able to demonstrate that there is volunteer involvement in 
the day to day provision of its services. 

• The applicant must show that the service or project is needed and not in conflict 
with a similar service provided by another organization in the community.  

• The applicant must demonstrate financial need and should indicate the impact on 
the activity that will take place if the funding is not received. 

 
The following organizations are not eligible for funding: 
 

• Groups or organizations of a religious nature. 
• Groups or organizations affiliated with any political party or event. 
• Individuals, commercial organizations, and coalitions such as ratepayer 

associations.  



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 
  Schedule C to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

2 
 

• Hospitals, hospital foundations and hospital auxiliary groups or agencies. 
• Educational institutions including universities, colleges, schools and associated 

auxiliary groups. 
• Organizations not in good financial standing with the Township or in litigation with 

the Township. 
• Organizations who did not meet the requirements or fulfill their obligations of a 

previous grant application or fee reduction/waiver application. 
• Organizations that have entered into an agreement for the use of a municipally 

owned or controlled facility at a nominal rate. 
 
3.0 Funding Criteria 
 
The following requests are not eligible for funding: 
 

• Fundraising activities and events. 
• Donations to charitable causes. 
• Travel or accommodations, uniforms, personal equipment, banquets, 

entertainment. 
• Attendance at conferences, workshops or seminars. 
• Personnel costs. 
• Retroactive costs for purposes which have already occurred.  
• Funding of prior year deficits. 
• Political campaigns, parties or events. 

 
4.0 Criteria  
 
The following criteria will be used to evaluate grant applications submitted to the 
Township: 
 

• Demonstrates collaboration, positive community engagement and civic pride 
• Promotes volunteerism, participation and leadership development 
• Fosters a healthy, safe and active community  
• Fiscal and overall accountability 
• Responsiveness to existing community need 

 
5.0 Categories of Funding 
 
Category 1 – Sustaining/Continuing Support 
 
Grants for organizations that are community-based and fairly represent both their own 
interest and those of the community in which they serve. There is no guarantee on 
future funding regardless of past funding received. Services, programs and activities 
must demonstrate a benefit to the majority of residents.  
 



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 
  Schedule C to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

3 
 

The following costs are eligible for funding: 
 

• Marketing or advertising costs including fees associated with ball diamond, rink 
board and sign rental advertising. 

• Photocopy costs 
• Mailing costs including postage and envelopes 

 
Category 2 – Project-Based/One Time/Start-Up Support 
 
Grants are to be given as “seed” money. Funds are allocated to provide start-up funding 
for a new not-for-profit organization, or a new program within an already existing not-for-
profit organization, for an activity deemed to be of significant value to the community at 
large.  
 
Category 3 – Community Event Support  
 
Grants are to be given to organizations for the purpose of a community event that 
benefits the majority of residents. Examples include the Santa Claus Parade, Fall Fair, 
and the Canada Day Pancake Breakfast and Fireworks. Note, for the use of a Township 
owned facility at a reduced or waived fee, refer to the Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy. 
 
6.0 Application Requirements  
 
The following items are required as part of the grant application process: 
 

• The grant application must be submitted to the attention of the Finance 
Department by 2:00 pm on the last business day of September. 

The Corporation of the Township of Puslinch 
7404 Wellington Road 34 
Guelph, ON, N1H 6H9 
Attention: Grant Application Program 

• The grant application form must be completed in full with all requested 
information attached. Only complete and accurate proposals will be forwarded 
under a staff report to Council for consideration at the Operating Budget meeting.  

• Verification of not-profit/charitable status (ie. incorporating documents, 
constitution, by-laws, etc.). This is a requirement for the initial application only. 

• Organization structure with Board of Directors’ or Executive Officers’ names and 
positions. 

• An operating budget for the organization’s operating year in which the funds 
would be utilized; if not available, most recent operating budget is required. 

• Previous years’ financial statements (reviewed or audited); if not available, most 
recent financial statements are required.  

• An organization applying for multiple grants must complete an application form 
for each separate funding request. 



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 
  Schedule C to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

4 
 

• Invited to present grant requests to Council at a future announced date. This is 
not mandatory. 

 
7.0 Conditions of Funding 

 
• Grant funding assistance may not be used for purposes other than the purposes 

described in the application.  
• Recipients awarded a grant for a specific project or event are required to submit 

a final report within three (3) months of project/event completion. The report must 
include a financial statement and/or receipts.   

• Recipients awarded a grant for sustaining/continuing support are required to 
submit a year-end report within three (3) months of the end of the fiscal period 
(December 31st of a given year) which outlines how the funding was utilized and 
how it contributed to the overall goals and objectives of the organization. 

• Adherence to all applicable municipal by-laws, policies and procedures is 
required. 

• Organizations will not be considered for future grant funding until all required 
reports are received by the Township’s Finance Department. Any grant recipient 
that does not comply with the requirements may not receive future grant funding.  
 

8.0 Maximum of Funds Available 
 

Funds available to an organization are limited to a maximum of $XXX per organization 
per calendar year which includes requests for fee reductions/waivers. The granting of 
financial assistance in any year is not to be regarded as a commitment by the Township 
to continue such assistance in future years. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, where an organization is hosting a community event 
(excluding fundraising activities and events), funds available to the organization are 
limited to a maximum of $XXX per event capped at three (3) events per calendar year. 
 
9.0 Attachments 
 

• Grant Application Form 
 



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 

Schedule D to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

1 
 

 

 
 
TITLE:  FEE REDUCTION/WAIVER POLICY 
 
DATE:   May 6, 2015  
 
SUBJECT:  FEE REDUCTION/WAIVER POLICY  

File No. A09 FEE 
 
 
1.0 Purpose 
 
To establish a set of guidelines for providing financial assistance, in the form of a fee 
reduction or waiver for municipally owned or controlled facilities including the Optimist 
Recreation Centre, Puslinch Community Centre, and playing fields and surfaces to not-
for-profit organizations that maintain and improve the quality of life for residents of the 
Township of Puslinch (“Township”). 
 
2.0 Applicant Qualifications  
 
Organizations applying for funding must meet the following qualifications:   
 

• The organization must be operating as a not-for-profit organization. 
• The applicant must have a formal organizational structure (ie. a Board of 

Directors, Committee Structure, or a structure similar in nature) and hold regular 
meetings. 

• The agency or group is a Puslinch-based organization or an organization that 
benefits Township residents.  

• The organization must be able to demonstrate that the fee reduction/waiver 
assistance requested from the Township supplements funding the organization 
has received through other sources and its own fundraising efforts.  

• The applicant must be able to demonstrate that there is volunteer involvement in 
the community event. 

• The applicant must show that the service or event is needed and not in conflict 
with a similar service or event provided by another organization in the 
community.  

• The applicant must demonstrate financial need and should indicate the impact on 
the activity that will take place if the funding is not received. 

 
The following organizations are not eligible for funding: 
 

• Groups or organizations of a religious nature. 
• Groups or organizations affiliated with any political party or event. 



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 

Schedule D to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

2 
 

• Individuals, commercial organizations, and coalitions such as ratepayer 
associations.  

• Hospitals, hospital foundations and hospital auxiliary groups or agencies. 
• Educational institutions including universities, colleges, schools and associated 

auxiliary groups. 
• Organizations not in good financial standing with the Township or in litigation with 

the Township. 
• Organizations who did not meet the requirements or fulfill their obligations of a 

previous grant application or fee reduction/waiver application. 
• Organizations that have entered into an agreement for the use of a municipally 

owned or controlled facility at a nominal rate. 
 
3.0 Funding Criteria 
 
The following requests are not eligible for funding: 
 

• Fundraising activities and events 
• Requests for relief from licences, development charges, building permits, 

inspections, insurance. 
• Requests for relief from fees not controlled by the Township. 
• Township staff labour. 
• Political campaigns, parties or events. 

 
4.0 Criteria  
 
The following criteria will be used to evaluate fee reduction/waiver requests for events:   
 

• Demonstrates collaboration, positive community engagement and civic pride 
• Promotes volunteerism, participation and leadership development 
• Fosters a healthy, safe and active community  
• Fiscal and overall accountability 
• Responsiveness to existing community need 

 
5.0 Application Requirements  
 
The following items are required as part of the fee reduction/waiver application process: 
 

• All applications must be received a minimum of sixty days prior to the facility 
usage date(s) to the Finance Department in order to ensure timely processing. 

The Corporation of the Township of Puslinch 
7404 Wellington Road 34 
Guelph, ON, N1H 6H9 
Attention: Fee Reduction/Waiver Program 



  Township of Puslinch 
  Corporate Policy 

Schedule D to Report FIN-2015-021 
   

3 
 

• Application forms received after this time will be processed, however, groups 
must assume responsibility for any consequences associated with delays in the 
confirmation/administration process. All applications are subject to facility 
service/availability. 

• The fee reduction/waiver application form must be completed in full with all 
requested information attached.  

• Verification of not-profit/charitable status (ie. incorporating documents, 
constitution, by-laws, etc.). This is a requirement for the initial application only. 

• Organization structure with Board of Directors’ or Executive Officers’ names and 
positions. 

• An operating budget for the organization’s operating year in which the fee 
reduction/waiver is being requested; if not available, most recent operating 
budget is required. 

• Previous years’ financial statements (reviewed or audited); if not available, most 
recent financial statements are required.  

• Organizations will be required to apply for funding on a per event basis or 
annually depending on the nature of the application. 
 

6.0 Conditions of Funding 
 

• The facility usage must comply with Township requirements for events and 
facility rentals including necessary insurance, permits, and approvals in place 
within the required timelines.   

• Adherence to all applicable municipal by-laws, policies and procedures is 
required. 
 

7.0 Maximum of Funds Available 
 

Funds available to an organization are limited to a maximum of $XXX per organization 
per calendar year which includes requests for grants. The granting of fee 
reductions/waivers in any year is not to be regarded as a commitment by the Township 
to continue such assistance in future years. 
 
8.0 Attachments 
 

• Fee Reduction/Waiver Application Form  
 





2 
 

Group 2013 In-
Kind 

2014 
Photocopying 

2014 
Advertising 

2014 In-
Kind 

2014 
Total 

Optimist Club $5,600 Photocopies  
Note A 

Santa Claus 
Parade –  
$94 

$15,645 $15,739 

Senior’s 
Community Event 
(Euchre) 

Nil Nil Nil $1,243 $1,243 

Mill Creek 
Subwatershed 
Community 
Liaison Team 

$660  
 

Nil Nil $848 $848 

Friends of Mill 
Creek 

$650  
 

Photocopies 
and mailings  
Note A 

Nil $1,260 $1,260 

COPS Nil  
 

Nil Nil $311 $311 

Morriston United 
Church – Mount 
Carmel-Zion 
United Church 

$1,460  
 

Nil Nil $1,650 $1,650 

Junior Garden 
Club 

Nil Nil Nil $497 $497 

Agriculture Society  
 

$2,800  
 

Nil Aberfoyle 
Fall Fair - 
$116 

$3,374 $3,490 

Aberfoyle Public 
School  
 

$780  
 

Nil Nil $1,927 $1,927 

Puslinch Minor 
Soccer Club  
 

$825  
 

Nil Nil $1,034 $1,034 

Whistle Stop 
Daycare  
 

$6,015  
 

Nil Nil $11,838 $11,838 

Guelph 
Community Health 
Centre 
(Playgroup)  
 

$2,035  
 

Nil Nil $4,520 $4,520 

Puslinch Historical 
Society – Library 
Rental 

$5,000 Nil Nil $5,000 $5,000 

Total $25,825 Note A $210 $49,145 $49,355 



3 
 

Note A - Amounts have not been quantified at this time. 

APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND REQUIREMENTS  
 
Township User Fee By-law No. 076/14 
 
Municipal Act, 2001  
 
Directly from the Municipal Act, 2001 regarding Grants: 

Assistance prohibited 

Despite any Act, a municipality shall not assist directly or indirectly any manufacturing 
business or other industrial or commercial enterprise through the granting of bonuses 
for that purpose. 2001, c. 25, s. 106 (1). 

General power to make grants 

Despite any provision of this or any other Act relating to the giving of grants or aid by a 
municipality, subject to section 106, a municipality may make grants, on such terms as 
to security and otherwise as the council considers appropriate, to any person, group or 
body, including a fund, within or outside the boundaries of the municipality for any 
purpose that council considers to be in the interests of the municipality. 2001, c. 25, 
s. 107 (1) 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
Schedule A – In-Kind Bookings - Service Community Groups and Clubs 
 
Schedule B – In-Kind Bookings - Daycares/Playgroups 
 



1 | P a g e  
 

Schedule “A” 

Service Community Groups and Clubs 

User Group Event Facility Used  Details Revenues  

Optimist Club  Euchre 
 

Community Centre - 
Archie MacRobbie  

Jan – May, Oct, Nov, 2014  
1st Friday of Jan – May & 
2nd Tues of Oct & Nov 
 
Jan – May (3 hrs/booking) 
Oct & Nov (4 hrs/booking) 
 
7 bookings total 
Friday bookings: $479.00 + 
HST x 5 = $2,706 
 
Tuesday bookings: $215.00 
+ HST x 2 = $485.90 
 
Total: 3191.90 

$3,191.90 
 

Regular 
Meetings 

Community Centre - 
Alf Hales 

Jan – Feb, March 4 & 11, 
April – May, Sept 2 & 9   
 
1st or 2nd Tuesday  
1.5 hours/bookings 
 
8 bookings total 
1.5 x $25.00 + HST = 
$42.38 
8 x $42.38 = 339.04 
 
Total: $339.04 

$339.04 
 
 

Dinner 
Meetings 

Community Centre - 
Archie MacRobbie 

Jan – June, Sept – Dec, 
2014 
 
Tuesday Evenings 
4 hrs/booking 
 
10 bookings total 
 
$215.00 + HST  
= $242.95 
 
$242.95 x 10 = 2,429.50 
 
Total: $2,429.50 

$2,429.50 



2 | P a g e  
 

Winter 
Classic 
Tournament 

Optimist Recreation 
Centre – Rink Pad 

Feb 15 -17, 2014 
Feb 15 (9:00 a.m. – 10:00 
p.m. 
Feb 16 -17 (9:00 a.m. – 
7:00 p.m.) 
Feb 15 – 16: $155.00 
+HST = $175.15 
$175.15 x 23 hrs = 
$2,101.80 
Feb 17: 8 hrs @ $78.00 + 
HST + 2 hrs @ $155.00 + 
HST = $1055.42 
 
Total: $3,157.22 

$3,157.22 

Santa Clause 
Parade 

Optimist Recreation 
Centre – Rink Pad 
 
Community Centre – 
Kitchen 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign Rental 
 
 
 

Nov. 23, 2014 
Rink: 8:00 a.m. – 4:30 p.m.  
8.5 hrs 
$65.00 + HST = $73.45 
$73.45 x 8.5 = $625.32 
 
Kitchen:  
5.5 hrs 
First 4 hours = $105.00 + 
HST = $118.65 
Additional hours =  
$25.00/hr x 1.5 hrs + HST = 
$42.58 
 
Parade advertisement: 
(Nov. 13 – 24, 2014) 
1 week 
4 lines 
= $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
Thank-you sign: 
(Dec. 8 – 14, 2014) 
1 week 
4 lines 
1 week 
4 lines 
= $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
Total: 929.63 

$929.63 



3 | P a g e  
 

Breakfast 
with Santa 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie & 
Alf Hales 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Sign Rental 

Nov 22, 2014 
 
Large hall: 
6 hrs (7:00 a.m. – 1:00 
p.m.) 
Archie MacRobbie (rented 
on a 4 hours basis on Sun. 
6 hours of use would be 
charged for 8 hours of use) 
 
4 hrs = $215.00 + HST 
= $242.95 
 
8 hrs =  $242.95 x 2  
= $485.90 
 
Small hall: 
6 hrs (7:00 a.m. – 1:00 
p.m.) 
 
1 hr = $25.00 + HST 
= $28.25 
 
6 hrs = $28.25 x 6  
= $169.50 
 
 
Breakfast Advertisement: 
(Nov. 15 – 23, 2014) 
1 week 
5 lines 
= $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
Total: $726.59 

$726.59 

Fish Fry Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie & 
Alf Hales 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign 

May 7, 2014 
Thursday all day event 
 
Large hall (all day): 
$365.00 + HST 
= $412.45 
 
Small hall  
18 hrs (8:00 a.m. – 2:00 
a.m.)  
1 hr = $25.00 + HST 
= $28.25 
 
18 hrs = $28.25 x 6 
= $508.50 
 
Fish Fry Advertisement: 
May 1 – 8, 2014 
1 week 
5 lines 
= $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
Total: $992.14 

$992.14 



4 | P a g e  
 

Spring 
Classic Steak 
Night 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie & 
Alf Hales 

March 28, 2014 
Friday all day event 
 
Large hall (all day): 
$479.00 + HST 
= $541.27 
 
Small hall: 
18 hrs (8:00 a.m. – 2:00 
a.m.)  
1 hr = $25.00 + HST 
= $28.25 
 
18 hrs = $28.25 x 6 
= $508.50 
 
Total: $1,049.77 

$1,049.77 

Canada Day 
Pancake 
Breakfast 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign 

July 1, 2014 
Sunday 
 
Large room 
5 hrs: 7:00 a.m. – 12:00 
p.m. 
 
Archie MacRobbie (rented 
on a 4 hours basis on Sun. 
6 hours of use would be 
charged for 8 hours of use) 
 
4 hrs = $215.00 + HST 
= $242.95 
 
8 hrs =  $242.95 x 2  
= $485.90 
 
Pancake Breakfast 
Advertisement: 
June 17 – July 1, 2014 
2 weeks 
5 lines 
 
1 week = $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
2 weeks = $71.19 x 2 
= $142.38 
 
Firework Sale 
Advertisement: 
June 24 – July 1, 2014 
 
1 week  
5 lines 
 
1 week = $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
Total: $699.47 

$699.47 



5 | P a g e  
 

Spring 
Classic Steak 
Night 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie & 
Alf Hales 

Oct. 24, 2014 
Friday all day event 
 
Large hall (all day): 
$479.00 + HST 
= $541.27 
 
Small hall  
18 hrs (8:00 a.m. – 2:00 
a.m.)  
1 hr = $25.00 + HST 
= $28.25 
 
18 hrs = $28.25 x 6 
= $508.50 
 
Total: $1,049.77 

$1,049.77 

Cribbage 
Tournament 

Community Centre –  
Archie MacRobbie & 
Alf Hales 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sign Rental 

Jan. 25, 2014 
Saturday all day event 
 
Large hall (all day): 
$479.00 + HST 
= $541.27 
 
Small hall  
14 hrs (8:00 a.m. – 10:00 
p.m.)  
1 hr = $25.00 + HST 
= $28.25 
 
14 hrs = $28.25 x 6 
= 395.50 
 
Cribbage Advertisement: 
(Jan. 10 – 25, 2014) 
2 weeks 
6 lines 
 
1 week = $63.00 + HST 
= $71.19 
 
2 weeks = $71.19 x 2 
= $142.38 
 
Total: $1,079.50 

$1,079.50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Usage Total: 
$15,644.53 
 

Senior’s  
Community 
Event  

Euchre Community Centre 
Alf Hales 
 

Jan. 14 & 27, Feb. 11 & 25, 
Mar. 11 & 25, Apr. 8 & 22, 
Oct – Dec 
Small room 
12:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 
11 bookings 
 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 4 hrs 
= $113.00 
 
$113.00 x 11 
= $1,243.00 

$1,243 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$1,243 

 



6 | P a g e  
 

Mill Creek Meeting Community Centre 
Alf Hales 
 

Jan – Sept & Nov 
Small room 
1:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 
10 bookings 
 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 3 hrs/meeting 
= $84.75 
 
$84.75 x 10 
= $847.50 
 

$847.50 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$847.50 

 

Friends of Mill 
Creek  

Meetings  Community Centre 
Alf Hales Room 

Jan – Dec, 2014 
Monthly Meetings 
3:30 p.m. – 5:00 p.m.  
18 hrs 
 
Small room: 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 18 
= $508.50 

$508.50 

BBQ Archie MacRobbie Aug. 21, 2014 
Thursday 
4:00 p.m. – 7:00 p.m. 
 
Large hall: 
4 hrs = $215.00 + HST 
= $242.95 
 
Total: 751.45 
 

$751.45 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$1,259.95 

 

COPS Meeting  Community Centre 
Alf Hales Room 

Jan – Dec, 2014 
Monthly Meetings 
7:00 p.m. – 8:30 p.m. 
11 hours 
 
Small room: 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 11  
= $310.75 
 
Total: $310.75 

$310.75 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$310.75 

 



7 | P a g e  
 

Morriston 
United 
Church 

Senior 
Luncheon 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie 

Wednesday, April ,June, 
Oct, Dec, 2014 
8:30 a.m. – 3:00 p.m. 
* Charging full day rate, as 
it is less expensive than 
two 4 hour rental rates* 
 
Large room:  
$365.00 + HST 
= $412.45 
 
$412.45 x 4 
= $1,649.80 
 
Total:  1,649.80 

$1,649.80 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$1,649.80 

Junior 
Garden Club 

Registration Foyer/ Alf Hales April 2, 2014 
6:00 p.m. - 9:00 pm  
3 hrs 
 
Small room: 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 3  
= $84.75 
 
Total: $84.75 

$84.78 

Banquet Archie MacRobbie Sept. 9, 2014 
8:00 a.m. – 10:00 p.m. 
Large room 
 
$365.00 + HST 
= $412.45 
 
Total: $412.45 

$412.45 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$497.23 



8 | P a g e  
 

Agriculture 
Society 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chicken BBQ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Fall Fair 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie  
Alf Hales 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Community Centre 
Alf Hales  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Community Centre 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Soccer pitches 
Green shed storage 
Horse paddock  

June 5, 2014 
Large hall (all day) & small 
hall (7:30 a.m. – 10:00 
p.m.) 
 
Large room: 
$365.00 + HST 
= $412.45 
 
Small room:  
14.5 hrs 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 14.5 hrs 
= $409.62 
 
Total = $822.07 
Jan, May, June, Aug, Oct -- 
Nov 
Small room 
7:00 p.m. – 10:00 p.m. 
 
Small room:  
18 hrs 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 18 hrs 
= $508.50 
 
Total = 508.50 

Sept 5 & 6, 2014 

Sept 5: Large & small room  
Sept 6: Large & small room  
 
Large room: 
$479.00 + HST 
= $541.27 
 
$541.27 x 2 days 
= $1,082.54 
 
Small room: 
7:00 a.m. – 10:00 p.m. 
18 hrs 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 18 hrs 
 
=$508.50 
 
N/A 
N/A 
Sept. 5 & 6, 2014 
$200.00 + HST per day 
= $226.00 
$226.00 x 2  
= $452.00 
 
Total: $2,043.04 

$822.07 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
$508.50 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
$2,043.04 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$3,373.61 

 



9 | P a g e  
 

Aberfoyle 
Public School 

Graduation Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie 
Alf Hales 

June 26, 2014 
Large & small room 
 
Large room (all day) 
$365 + HST 
= $412.45 
 
Small room (6:00 p.m. – 
10:00 p.m.) - 4 hours 
 
$25.00/hr + HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 4 hrs 
= $113.00 
 
Total: $525.45 

$525.45 

Cross 
Country 
Event 

Community Centre 
Grounds 

N/A – No charge N/A 

Kids Skate Optimist Recreation 
Centre – Rink  

Jan – March, 2014 
Based on invoices issued 
and paid  
 
Total: $745.80 

$745.80 
 
 

 Chess 
Tournament 

Archie MacRobbie April 9 & 10, 2014 
Large room 
 
April 9, 2014 (Set-up): 
1:30 p.m. – 3:30 p.m. – 2 
hrs 
 
*Archie MacRobbie (rented 
on a 4 hours basis on Wed. 
2 hours of use would be 
charged for 4 hours)* 
 
$215.00 + HST 
= $242.95 
 
April 10, 2014: 
All day 
 
$365.00 + HST 
= $412.45 
 
Total: $655.40 

$655.40 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$1,926.65 



10 | P a g e  
 

Puslinch 
Minor Soccer 
Club 

Meetings Alf Hales Monthly  
 
January 16, 2014 – Annual 
general meeting 
Large room (Thursday) 
4 hours/booking = $215.00 
+ HST 
= $242.95 
 
Jan – March, May, Aug - 
Sept, Nov. 6 & 27 
Small room (7:00 p.m. – 
10:00 p.m.) 
8 bookings 
3 hrs/booking = 75.00 + 
HST  
= $84.75 
 
84.75 x 8 
= $678.00  
 
Total: $920.95 
 

$977.45 

 Registration Alf Hales Jan. 23, 2014 
Small room 
6:30 p.m. – 8:30 p.m. 
1 hr = $25.00 x HST 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 2  
= $56.50 
 
Total: $56.50 

$56.50 

 BBQ Grounds N/A – No charge  N/A 
Usage Total: 

$1,033.95 
 

Total:    27,786.97  
 

  



11 | P a g e  
 

Schedule “B” 

Daycare /Playgroup  

Daycare/Playgroup  Details  
Whistle Stop Daycare Community Centre 

Foye/Alf Hales 
Daycare 

Daycare 
Monday, Wednesday, 
Friday  
8:30 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. – 
3.5 hrs/booking 
 
Jan (beginning Jan 6), Feb 
(except Feb. 17), March 
(except Mar. 10, 12, 14), 
April (except April 18 & 21), 
May (except May 19), June 
(until week of June 23), 
Sept. (beginning Sept. 8), 
Oct (except Oct. 13), Nov, 
Dec (except Dec. 3, ending 
Dec. 12) 
 
Small room 
 
$25.00 + HST per hour 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 + 3.5 hrs/booking 
= $98.87 
 
Total of 95 bookings at 
$98.87/booking 
 
$98.87 x 95  
= $9,392.65 
 
Total: $9,382.65 

$9,382.65 

Community Centre 
Alf Hales 
Toy Clean 

Jan. 8, 2014 
7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
 
April 16, 2014 
6:30 p.m. – 9:30 p.m. 
 
June 18, 2014 
6:30 p.m. – 9:30 p.m. 
 
Dec. 17, 2014 
7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
 
Small Room 
$25.00 + HST per hour  
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 10 hrs 
= $197.75 
 
Total: $282.50 

$282.50 

Community Centre 
Archie MacRobbie 
Christmas Party 
 

Dec. 15, 2014 
Large room (all day) 
 
$365.00 + HST 
= $412.45 

$412.45 



12 | P a g e  
 

 
Total: $412.45 

Community Centre 
Alf Hales 
Pre-School Meeting 

Nov. 17, 2014 
7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
 
Small Room 
$25.00 + HST per hour  
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 2 hrs 
= $56.50 
 
Total: $56.50 

$56.50 

 Community Centre 
Alf Hales 
Parent Meeting 

Sept. 15, 2014 
7:00 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
 
Small Room 
$25.00 + HST per hour  
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 2 hrs 
= $56.50 
 
Total: $56.50 

$56.50 

Community Centre 
Alf Hales 
Teacher Interviews 

Aug. 8, 2014 
9:00 a.m. – 10:30 a.m. & 
6:00 p.m. – 8:00 p.m. 
 
3.5 hours  
 
Small Room 
$25.00 + HST per hour  
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 3.5 
= $98.87 
 
Total: 98.87 

$98.87 

Graduation June 20, 2014 
9:00 a.m. – 1:00 p.m. 
Large room 
 
$479.00 + HST 
= $541.27 
 
Total: $541.27 

$541.27 

Workshop June  2, 2014 
6:30 p.m. – 9:00 p.m. 
Small room  
 
$25.00 + HST per hour  
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 2.5 hrs 
= $70.62 
 
Total: $70.62 

$70.62 

Valentine’s Day 
Dance 

February 23, 2014 
Large & small room 
 
Large room (all day): 
$479 + HST  
= 541.27 

$936.77 
 
 
 
 



13 | P a g e  
 

Small room (all day) 
8:00 a.m. – 10:00 p.m. 
 
$25.00 + HST per hour  
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 x 14 hrs 
= $395.50 
 
Total: $936.77 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$11,838.13 

Guelph Community Health 
Centre (Playgroup) 

Community Centre 
Foye/Alf Hales 
room 
Playgroup 

Tuesdays  
8:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m. - 
4 hrs/booking 
 
(Jan, Feb, March, April, 
May, June, Sept (beginning 
Sept. 9), Oct, Nov, Dec 
(with the exception of Dec. 
30) 
 
Small room 
 
$25.00 + HST per hour 
= $28.25 
 
$28.25 + 4 hrs/booking 
= $113.00 
 
Total of 40 bookings at 
$113.00/booking 
= $4,520 
 
Total: $4,520 

$4,520 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Usage Total: 
$4,520 

Total:    $16,358.13 
Total for all:   44,145.10 
 

 

 





 
Township of Puslinch 

7404 Wellington Road #34 
Guelph, ON, N1H 6H9 

T: (519) 763 – 1226 
F: (519) 763 – 5846 

www.puslinch.ca 

1 
 

Schedule G - Grant Application Form 

Applicant Information: 

Organization Name:   

Contact Name and Position:    

Current Mailing Address:   

Town/City/Province:   

Postal Code:    

Email Address:   

Website:    

Telephone Number:    

Fax Number:   

Questionnaire:  
Grant amount applied for:            

Organization’s Mandate: 

a) Purpose/Mission:                

    

    

    

b) Goals and Objectives:                



 
 
 

2 
 

   

    

    

Briefly describe the proposed event, project or service that will be funded by this 
grant. Please ensure that items identified as Ineligible for Funding under Section 
3.0 of the Grant Application Policy are not listed.  

    

    

    

    

Have funds been requested from other levels of government or organizations? If 
yes, please indicate which organizations, or to which level of government, and 
the current status of the request.  

    

    

    

    

Please provide a narrative description explaining how the Township’s approval of 
grant funding would enable your organization to sustain or provide additional 
support to the community.  

   

    

    

    

    



 
 
 

3 
 

Is there a local organization that provides similar services to those provided by 
your organization? If yes, how are your services different from this other 
organization?  

   

    

    

    

Do volunteers participate in your organization? If yes, please indicate the number 
of volunteers and type of involvement.  

   

    

    

    

The proposed event, project or service will involve the following demographics 
(check all that apply): 

 Children  Youth   Seniors  Volunteers 

 Persons with Disabilities  Low income individuals 

 Other (describe)        

Describe how the community has supported your organization in previous years 
(check all that apply):  

 Participation   Attendance   Sponsorship   

 Other (describe)         

Please describe the nature of the support. 

   

    

    



 
 
 

4 
 

What steps is your organization taking to reduce dependence on grants such as 
the Township Grant Application Program or the Fee Reduction/Waiver Program?  

   

    

    

    

If your organization is unsuccessful in receiving a Township grant, what will be 
the effect on the proposed event, service, or project?  

   

    

    

    

Please provide a list of board of directors and/or executive officers:  

Name:   Position:  

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       



 
 
 

5 
 

Description of Categories of Funding 

Category 1: Sustaining/Continuing Support     
Grants for organizations that are community-based and fairly represent both their own 
interest and those of the community in which they serve. There is no guarantee on 
future funding regardless of past funding received. Services, programs and activities 
must demonstrate a benefit to the majority of residents. The following costs are eligible 
for funding: marketing or advertising costs including fees associated with ball diamond, 
rink board and sign rental advertising; photocopy costs; and mailing costs including 
postage and envelopes. 

Category 2: Project-Based/One Time/Start-Up Support   
Grants are to be given as “seed” money. Funds are allocated to provide start-up funding 
for a new not-for-profit organization, or a new program within an already existing not-for-
profit organization, for an activity deemed to be of significant value to the community at 
large.  

Category 3: Community Event Support    
Grants are to be given to organizations for the purpose of a community event that 
benefits the majority of residents. Examples include the Santa Claus Parade, Fall Fair, 
and the Canada Day Pancake Breakfast and Fireworks.  

Please Check Appropriate Boxes:  
Category 1: Sustaining/Continuing (choose one category only) 

Category 2: Project-Based/One Time/Start-Up (choose one category only) 

Category 3: Community Event (choose one category only) 

Most recent financial statements (mandatory) 

Current year budget for the proposed event, service, or project (mandatory) 

Verification of non-profit/charitable status attached (ie. incorporating documents, 
constitution, by-laws, etc.). This is a requirement for the initial application only 
(mandatory). 

Time slot request for a short presentation to Council (not mandatory) 

If your organization was a successful applicant in a previous year, the final 
reporting requirements have been submitted in accordance with Section 7 of the 
Township of Puslinch Grant Application Policy. (mandatory) 

The applicant has reviewed the Grant Application Policy, the Terms and 
Conditions, and has signed the application. (mandatory) 



 
 
 

6 
 

Terms and Conditions:  

• The above application and supporting documents attached will be used for the 
assessment of eligibility and for Township reporting purposes. 

• The applicant will inform Council if the project is delayed or changed substantially 
for any reason. 

• Funds received are to be used as described in this application. 
• All applicable municipal by-laws, policies and procedures will be adhered to. 

I agree to the terms and conditions outlined above. The information given in support of 
this application is true, correct and complete in every respect. I acknowledge that the 
contents of this application will be discussed in an open Council forum. 

______________________________ ________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant  Date of Application 

______________________________  
Position on Executive   

 
The last day for filing an application is by 2:00 pm on the last business day of 
September. 

For Office use only: 
Date received:             

Received by:   

Grant Status:   

Amount $:   

______________________________ ________________________________ 
Manager Approval  Date of Approval 

Personal information on this form is collected under the authority of the Municipal Act and will be 
used for the purpose of determining the eligibility of a grant. The information is used for the 
purpose of processing this application and administering the Grant Application Program and is 
maintained in accordance with the Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy 
Act. Questions regarding the collection of this information may be directed to the Township 
Clerk’s office.  

The Township of Puslinch is committed to providing accessible formats and communication 
supports for people with a disability. If another format would work better for you, please contact 
the Township Clerk’s office for assistance. 



 
Township of Puslinch 

7404 Wellington Road #34 
Guelph, ON, N1H 6H9 

T: (519) 763 – 1226 
F: (519) 763 – 5846 

www.puslinch.ca 
 

1 
 

Schedule H - Fee Reduction/Waiver Application Form 

Applicant Information: 

Organization Name:   

Contact Name and Position:    

Current Mailing Address:   

Town/City/Province:   

Postal Code:    

Email Address:   

Website:    

Telephone Number:    

Fax Number:   

Questionnaire:  
Facility Requested:          

Date(s)/Time(s):          

Number of People:          

Admission/Participation Fee:          

Reduction/Waiver Amount:          

 



 
 
 

2 
 

Will the event include: (check all that apply) 

 Food   Alcohol   Music 

Organization’s Mandate: 

a) Purpose/Mission:                

    

    

    

b) Goals and Objectives:                

   

    

    

Briefly describe the proposed event and/or service that will be funded by this fee 
reduction/waiver request. Please ensure that items identified as Ineligible for 
Funding under Section 3 of the Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy are not listed.  

    

    

    

    

Have funds been requested from other levels of government or organizations? If 
yes, please indicate which organizations, or to which level of government, and 
the current status of the request.  

    

    

    

    



 
 
 

3 
 

Please provide a narrative description explaining how the Township’s approval of 
this fee reduction/waiver would enable your organization to sustain or provide 
additional support to the community.  

   

    

    

    

    

Is there a local organization that provides a similar event/service to the 
community? If yes, how is your event/service different from this other 
organization?  

   

    

    

    

Do volunteers participate in your event/service? If yes, please indicate the 
number of volunteers and type of involvement.  

   

    

    

    

The proposed event/service will involve the following demographics (check all 
that apply): 

 Children  Youth   Seniors  Volunteers 

 Persons with Disabilities  Low income individuals 

 Other (describe)        



 
 
 

4 
 

Describe how the community has supported your event/service in previous years 
(check all that apply):  

 Participation   Attendance   Sponsorship   

 Other (describe)         

Please describe the nature of the support. 

   

    

    

What steps is your organization taking to reduce dependence on grants such as 
the Township Grant Application Program or the Fee Reduction/Waiver Program?  

   

    

    

    

If your organization is unsuccessful in receiving a fee reduction/waiver approval, 
what will be the effect on the proposed event/service? 

   

    

    

    

Please provide a list of board of directors and/or executive officers:  

Name:   Position:  

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       



 
 
 

5 
 

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Name:  Position:       

Please Check Appropriate Boxes:  

Most recent financial statements (mandatory) 

Current year budget for the proposed event (mandatory) 

Verification of non-profit/charitable status attached (ie. incorporating documents, 
constitution, by-laws, etc.). This is a requirement for the initial application only 
(mandatory). 

If your organization was a successful applicant in a previous year, the final 
reporting requirements have been submitted in accordance with Section 7 of the 
Township of Puslinch Grant Application Policy. (mandatory) 

The applicant has reviewed the Fee Reduction Waiver Policy, the Terms and 
Conditions, and has signed the application. (mandatory) 

Terms and Conditions:  

• The above application and supporting documents attached will be used for the 
assessment of eligibility and for Township reporting purposes. 

• Organizations will be required to apply for funding on a per event basis or 
annually depending on the nature of the application. 

• The facility usage must comply with Township requirements for events and 
facility rentals including necessary insurance, permits, and approvals in place 
within the required timelines.   

• All applicable municipal by-laws, policies and procedures will be adhered to. 
 
 
 



 
 
 

6 
 

I agree to the terms and conditions outlined above. The information given in support of 
this application is true, correct and complete in every respect. I acknowledge that the 
contents of this application will be discussed in an open Council forum. 

______________________________ ________________________________ 
Signature of Applicant  Date of Application 

______________________________  
Position on Executive   

 
The last day for filing an application is sixty days prior to the facility usage 
date(s). Application forms received after this time will be processed, however, 
groups must assume responsibility for any consequences associated with delays 
in the confirmation/administration process. All applications are subject to facility 
service/availability. 

For Office use only: 
Date received:             

Received by:   

Fee Reduction/Waiver Status:   

Amount of Fees Waived/Reduced $:  

______________________________ ________________________________ 
Manager Approval  Date of Approval 

Personal information on this form is collected under the authority of the Municipal Act and will be 
used for the purpose of determining the eligibility of a fee reduction/waiver. The information is 
used for the purpose of processing this application and administering the Fee Reduction/Waiver 
Program and is maintained in accordance with the Municipal Freedom of Information and 
Protection of Privacy Act. Questions regarding the collection of this information may be directed 
to the Township Clerk’s office.  

 
The Township of Puslinch is committed to providing accessible formats and communication 
supports for people with a disability. If another format would work better for you, please contact 
the Township Clerk’s office for assistance. 











 
 

        COMMITTEE REPORT  
  
  
To:  Chair and Members of the Planning Committee 
From:  Mark Paoli, Manager of Policy Planning 
Date:            May 14, 2015 
Subject:  COMMENTS ON PROVINCIAL PLANNING INITIATIVES (PD2015-16) 
 

1.0 Background: 
In recent months, the province has circulated a number of proposals to improve the planning process: 
 

- an initial discussion document on the coordinated review of: the Growth Plan for the Greater Golden 
Horseshoe (the Growth Plan); the Greenbelt Plan; the Niagara Escarpment Plan; and the Oak Ridges 
Moraine Conservation Plan; 

- Bill 73 the proposed Smart Growth for Our Communities Act; 
- Draft Guidelines on permitted uses in Prime Agricultural Areas; and 
- Draft changes to the Minimum Distance Separation (MDS) Guidelines. 

  
This report is to provide staff comments on these initiatives. 

2.0 Provincial Plan Review:  
The provincial plans that apply to Wellington County are the Growth Plan and the Greenbelt Plan.  The review 
will have two phases. The current phase is to gather input on how to strengthen the plans and make them work 
together better, and on what parts are working well and should not change. The second phase will involve 
comments on draft amendments that the province will prepare and circulate. Staff reviewed the discussion 
paper and raise the following points: 
 

2.1  The discussion paper asks:  
 
- “How can the plans be strengthened to ensure our communities make best use of key infrastructure 

such as transit, roads, sewers and water?” and  
 

- “How can the plans better support the development of communities that attract workers and the 
businesses that employ them?” 

 
Wellington County is diverse, with a number of different market areas that have different kinds of 
economic opportunities and different levels of provincial and municipal infrastructure investment 
planned and in the ground. Under the current Plans, due to an apparent surplus of employment lands 
when budgeted on a County-wide basis, the County and local municipalities are unable to respond to 
local growth pressures by designating new employment lands.  
 
The County has an employment lands surplus that is largely a product of Official Plans approved by the 
province decades ago under a much different policy regime. It is widely recognized that employment 
lands are not easily replaced as they have more specialized location requirements than residential lands.  
The current 20-year maximum on employment land use designations does not reflect the need to 
identify and protect these lands on a longer term basis as a strategic resource.   
 



The Growth Plan should be strengthened by providing a longer time frame for assessing the need for 
employment land designations, and by recognizing well located employment lands as a community 
resource requiring protection. 
 

2.2 The discussion paper asks “How can the plans better support the long term protection of agricultural 
lands, water and natural areas?”  A further question posed under this heading is: 
 
- “Where are the opportunities to expand the Greenbelt both within urban areas, such as urban river 

valleys, and in rural areas beyond the Greater Toronto Area?” 
 
The question should be: Is expansion of the Greenbelt necessary and appropriate? The Greenbelt Plan 
was established primarily to contain growth pressures from the Greater Toronto Area and Hamilton, and 
this is why the outer boundary was based on Lake Ontario watersheds.   
 
The Greenbelt Plan is doing its intended job reasonably well, and we see no rationale for expanding 
beyond its current boundary in Wellington County.   
 

2.3 The discussion paper asks “How can the implementation of the plans be improved?” Further questions 
posed under this heading are: 
 
- “Are there opportunities to better align key components of the plans with each other, and with 

other provincial initiatives? Are there ways to reduce overlap and duplication?” and 
 

- “Do the plans appropriately distinguish between urban and rural communities? “ 
 
The Greenbelt Plan and Growth Plan overlap with the 2014 Provincial Policy Statement (PPS) in policy 
areas that in our view are beyond the core purposes of these plans. Examples include the Mineral 
Aggregate Resources and ‘Culture of Conservation’ policies in the Growth Plan, and the Parkland, Open 
Space and Trails policies in the Greenbelt Plan.  
 
The Plans should narrow their focus to reduce overlap with the 2014 PPS and, by extension, with Official 
Plans that will be amended to be consistent with the 2014 PPS. 
 
In terms of overlap between the Plans, we note that both Plans deal with settlement expansions. 
Settlement expansions in the Growth Plan involve a municipal comprehensive review that is required to 
consider servicing matters along with broader planning considerations.  Settlement boundaries in the 
Greenbelt Plan (referred to as Towns/Villages) were essentially frozen with two exceptions. One of the 
exceptions is the current 10 year review policy which provides for modest expansion, but only on 
municipal sewage and water systems. 
 
This limiting of expansion in the Greenbelt: 
 
- is inconsistent with the comprehensive approach in the Growth Plan, and takes a key growth 

management tool out of the hands of municipal Councils where it belongs, and  
 

- fails to recognize that in certain rural settlements like Morriston, private sewage and water systems 
are the only option for development, and that such settlements should have the flexibility to serve 
as growth nodes when needed. 

  
  

 



Therefore, the Growth Plan and the Greenbelt Plan settlement expansion components are not aligned 
and the Greenbelt Plan does not appropriately distinguish between the different challenges of managing 
growth in urban and rural communities.  Settlement expansion should be governed by the Growth Plan 
and implemented by the Official Plan; this is already the case with other key growth management 
policies such as forecasts, intensification, and greenfield densities. 

 

3.0   Bill 73 – Smart Growth for Our Communities Act: 
The overall purposes of Bill 73 are to:  
 

- enhance municipal transparency and accountability; 
- provide certainty and stability while reducing costs; and 
- support investment in growth related infrastructure. 

 
The Bill introduces a number of changes to both the Planning Act and the Development Charges Act. 
 
3.1 Planning Act changes 
While there are a number of provisions that would result in administrative changes, and others that may be 
convenient as they would reduce appeals on provincial issues (which we note is questionable in terms of 
enhancing transparency), our comments focus on two main areas: planning advisory committees; and notices.  
 
Planning Advisory Committee  
A planning advisory committee is optional for municipalities in the current Planning Act. This would continue to 
be the case for lower-tier municipalities.  An upper-tier council on the other hand, shall appoint a Planning 
Advisory Committee, which shall include a minimum of one resident of the municipality who is not a member of 
Council or an employee of the municipality. This is an unnecessary intrusion into municipal governance. 
 
The planning process has a number of mandatory as well as informal opportunities for public input.  Public input 
often reflects competing and/or private interests, and it is the elected Council’s job to weigh the input against 
the broader community interest.  Although there may be benefits of an advisory committee with public 
members in some communities, the existing County Planning Committee structure appears to be working.   
 
The mandatory addition of unelected individuals is a concern in principle, and we do not see how this would 
make the decisions more transparent in practice.  The current optional provisions in the Planning Act should be 
retained. 
 
Notices of Decision or Adoption  
A number of new sections would require Notices to contain a brief explanation of the effect, if any, that the 
written and oral submissions made at the public meeting or before Council made its decision, had on the 
decision.  This will pose major difficulties for applications with multiple issues and trade-offs as it is often 
impossible to document what weight was given to the various submissions. Further, it is not clear who gets to 
decide what input had an effect, and what that effect was. 
 
The notion that the effect of submissions can be captured in a brief statement actually discounts the role of 
public input, and ignores the practical reality that deliberations at Council on planning issues can be quite 
complex.  Moreover, we do not see how an oversimplified statement about public input contributes to greater 
transparency. 
 
The provisions requiring Notices to contain a brief explanation of the effect, if any, that written and oral 
submissions made at the public meeting or before Council made its decision, had on the decision,  
should be removed. 
 

 



3.2 Development Charges Act changes: 
Treasury staff reviewed Bill 73 and offered the following comments: 
 
- Beyond removing the 10% mandatory deduction for transit (which doesn’t impact Wellington County) the 

list of eligible expense categories should have been expanded to include more categories, including hospital 
expansion.  This is not consistent with the purpose to support investment in growth related infrastructure 
and doesn’t appear to assist rural municipalities in particular. 
 

- New requirements to explore and/or develop “area specific charges” (or area rating) are not clear and the 
potential implications of these requirements are unknown. 

 
- Additional requirements for: enhanced Asset Management reporting and an enhanced Annual Report from 

the Treasurer appear to be administratively burdensome and could increase costs, rather than create an 
opportunity to recover more growth related costs as intended. 

4.0   Guidelines on Permitted Uses in Prime Agricultural Areas: 
There are a number of changes and new terminology in the 2014 PPS sections on permitted uses in prime 
agricultural areas. The guidelines, according to the introduction, “are meant to complement, be consistent with, 
and explain the intent of the PPS policies and definitions.”  We hope that this purpose is maintained, as our 
overall concern with these guidelines is that they should not have the same force as the PPS.   
 
In terms of the technical content of the guidelines, we have two main concerns: 
 
Agriculture-related Uses 
In the explanation and examples of “agriculture-related uses”, the guidelines state that “Commercial and 
Industrial operations must, as a primary activity, sell their products and/or services to farm operations to meet 
this criterion” and provide a number of examples, including:   

- Local farm product retailers (selling products like wine, cider, fruits, vegetables and meat) 
- Farmers’ market selling local produce 
- Winery using local grapes 
- Abattoir processing and selling local meat 
- Auction for local produce 

 
We understand that the businesses cited above are providing services to farm operations by processing farm 
products and/or making them available for sale, and we support this interpretation; however, we see potential 
confusion as some users of the guidelines may question this as the people buying the goods are unlikely to be 
farmers.   
 
The guidelines should elaborate upon and clarify the relationship between these kinds of businesses and farms in 
the community. 
 
On-Farm Diversified Uses – ‘limited in area’ criterion 
The PPS allows on-farm diversified uses and the policy and definitions set out certain criteria; one of 
these is that the use is ‘limited in area’.  The guidelines set out 2% of the farm parcel, up to a maximum 
coverage of 1 ha, as the basis to determine whether a use would meet the ‘limited in area’ criterion.  
Aside from the fact that we question the approach, the larger point is that this part of the guidelines is 
overly detailed and prescriptive.  
 
The determination of ‘limited in area’ does not lend itself to a province-wide standard, and should be based on 
local context and implemented through Zoning By-laws.  
 

 



5.0   Draft Revised Minimum Distance Separation (MDS) Guidelines: 
The province has proposed changes and updates to the MDS Guidelines.  Staff reviewed the changes and found 
that most of the changes clarify the guidelines in ways that are in line with how our office has been interpreting 
and applying them, or result in changes that would be supported.   There are a few exceptions to this; however, 
where we are working with provincial staff to understand the implications of the revisions in the areas of: non-
application of MDS to accessory buildings; lot size vs tillable hectares in determining expansion factors; and rural 
residential clusters.  When we have completed those discussions, we will be providing a comment letter to the 
province. 

Recommendation:  
 
That report PD2015-16 Comments on Provincial Planning Initiatives be forwarded to the appropriate 
provincial agencies. 
 
 
  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 

Mark Paoli 
Manager of Policy Planning 
 

 

 







REPORT PD-2015-009 

TO:  Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM: Kelly Patzer, Development Coordinator 

DATE:  May 20, 2015 

SUBJECT: Public Meeting – Rezoning Application File D14/DEM – Adriaan & Brenda  
  Demmers, Concession 5, Rear Part Lot 13, municipally known as 4855  
  Pioneer Trail 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Report PD-2015-009 regarding Notice of Public Meeting – Rezoning Application 
File D14/DEM – Adriaan & Brenda Demmers, Concession 5, Rear Part Lot 13, 
municipally known as 4855 Pioneer Trail be received; and 

That Council authorize the holding of a Statutory Public Meeting on Wednesday June 
17, 2015, at 7:00 pm in the Council Chambers, Municipal Complex. 

DISCUSSION 

Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to obtain direction from Council to schedule the Statutory 
Public Meeting for Adriaan & Brenda Demmers – Rezoning Application D14/DEM. 

Application  

The Township, in consultation with County Planners, has deemed the application 
complete and has circulated it to the required agencies for comments, including the 
Planning and Development Advisory Committee.  

Notice 

Notice regarding the Public Meeting will be given in accordance with the Planning Act. 

Financial Implications 

None 

Applicable Legislation and Requirements 

Planning Act 



REPORT PD-2015-010 

TO: Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM: Kelly Patzer, Development Coordinator 

DATE:  May 20, 2015 

SUBJECT: Public Meeting – Rezoning Application File D14/DRS and County of 
Wellington Draft Plan of Subdivision File 23T-10004 (Township file 
D12/DRS) – DRS Developments Inc. - Concession 7, Part Lot 31, Plan 
135, municipally known as 66 Queen Street, Morriston. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Report PD-2015-010 regarding Notice of Public Meeting – Rezoning Application 
File D14/DRS and County of Wellington Draft Plan of Subdivision  File 23T-10004 
(Township file D12/DRS)  – DRS Developments Inc. - Concession 7, Part Lot 31, Plan 
135, municipally known as 66 Queen Street, Morriston, be received; and 

That Council authorize the holding of a Statutory Public Meeting on Monday June 22, 
2015, at 7:00 pm in the Council Chambers, Municipal Complex. 

DISCUSSION 

Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to obtain direction from Council to schedule the Statutory 
Public Meeting for DRS Developments Inc. – Rezoning Application D14/DRS and 
related County of Wellington Draft Plan of Subdivision File 23T-10004 (Township file 
D12/DRS). 

Application 

The Township, in consultation with County Planners, has deemed the rezoning 
application complete and has circulated it to the required agencies for comments, 
including the Planning and Development Advisory Committee. 

The proposed draft plan of subdivision, formerly known as Stewart Farms/Meran 
Holdings/Bouck is currently under review. County of Wellington Official Plan 
Amendment 81 identified Greenalnds on the subject lands which are proposed to be 
rezoned to Natural Environment Zone. A joint Public Meeting will be held for the 
proposed rezoning and draft plan of subdivision applications.  



Notice 

Notice regarding the Public Meeting will be given in accordance with the Planning Act. 

Financial Implications 

None 

Applicable Legislation and Requirements 

Planning Act 



1 
 

REPORT PW-2015-001 
 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM:  Don Creed, Director of Public Works and Parks 

MEETING DATE: May 20, 2015 

SUBJECT: Tender Results for the 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation and 
Culvert Upgrades 

 File No. L04 COX 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report PW-2015-001 regarding the Tender Results for the 2015 Annual Road 
Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades be received; and 
 
That the tender for the 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades be 
awarded to Cox Construction  at their tendered amount of $621,196 inclusive of the 
non-refundable portion of HST; and  
 
That Council authorize the Mayor and Clerk to sign the required contract documents.   

DISCUSSION 

Purpose  
 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s approval to award the tender for the 2015 
Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades to Cox Construction. As the tender 
amount exceeds $500,000, Council authorization is required in accordance with the 
Purchasing & Procurement of Goods and Services By-law 60/08. 

Background 
 
The 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades include the following, 
 
Replacement of Gore Road Culvert # 2017 
Replacement of Gore Road Culvert # 2018 
Pulverize and pave Gore Road between Cooper Road and Village Road 
Pulverize and pave all roads in the Morriston Meadows Sub-Division 
Rehabilitation of Leslie Road Culvert # 2014 
 



2 
 

A public tender for the 2015 Capital Projects was advertised on the Township of 
Puslinch website for two weeks and local contractors were made aware that the tender 
was available. The tender closed on April 29, 2015.  

As the result of a call for tenders, three (3) bids were received as follows: 
 
Cox Construction  
Capital Paving Inc. 
Steed and Evans 

After a review of the submitted bids, Staff are recommending the contract for the 2015 
Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades be awarded to Cox Construction, the 
lowest compliant bid submitted. The successful bid conforms to the specifications as 
requested in the tender document. 

Attached as Schedule “A” to this report is a summary of the bids submitted. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The 2015 Capital Budget includes $872,864 for the 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation 
and Culvert Upgrades. This amount is funded as follows: 
 
Taxation Levy   $430,606 
Gas Tax    $253,706 
Development Charges  $134,410 
OCIF Formula Based Grant $42,878 
Capital Carry forward  $11,264 
Total     $872,864    
 
There are sufficient funds to proceed with the work based on the breakdown of costs as 
detailed below: 
 
Contract Tender Price (excluding taxes)  $609,016  
Add: Non-refundable portion of HST $12,180  
Add: Engineering    $70,000 (estimated) 
Total Cost     $691,196 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND REQUIREMENTS  
 
The works for the above projects have been procured in accordance with the 
Township’s Purchasing and Procurement of Goods and Services By-law 60/08. 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

Schedule A: Public Tender Opening Results 



3 
 

Schedule “A” 

 

  

Public Tender Opening Results 
 

 

These results are unofficial and no determination of award should be determined 
from this information. 

Project Name: Tender for the 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert 
Upgrades 

Closing Date: April 29, 2015, 12:00 P.M. Council Chambers 

 

No. Bidder Date Tender 
Received 

Amount of Tender 
including all taxes 

1 Cox Construction April 29, 2015 $688,187.67 
2 Capital Paving Inc. April 29, 2015 $796,267.50 
3 Steed and Evans April 29, 2015 $857,059.68 

 

 



1 
 

REPORT PW-2015-002 
 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council 

FROM:  Don Creed, Director of Public Works and Parks 

MEETING DATE: May 20, 2015 

SUBJECT: 2015 Capital Budget – Funding for Additional Projects 
 File No. F26 CAP 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Report PW-2015-002 regarding 2015 Capital Budget – Funding for Additional 
Projects be received; and 

That Council approve funding in the estimated amount of $82,000 for the signalization 
of the railway crossing on Watson Road; and 

That Council approve funding in the estimated amount of $12,500 for repairs for a 
portion of Sideroad 10 North between Niska Road and the deadend; and 

That Council approve funding in the estimated amount of $23,484 for a culvert 
replacement at 4820 Nassagaweya-Puslinch Townline; and 

That Council approve funding in the estimated amount of $37,100 inclusive of benefits 
for an extended contract position from 12 months to 18 months to temporarily replace 
the Director of Finance/Treasurer; and 

That the remaining two months of the contract position be included in the 2016 
operating budget; and 

That these four items be funded from the surplus funds derived from the 2015 Capital 
Projects as outlined in Report PW-2015-002.   

  



2 
 

DISCUSSION 

Purpose  
 
The purpose of this Report is to obtain Council approval to reallocate surplus funds from 
the 2015 Capital Budget projects identified under the Financial Implications section of 
this Report to the following projects:  

Signalization of the Railway Crossing on Watson Road 

Currently the railway crossing located on Watson Road is not signalized. During 
discussions with Guelph Junction Rail it has been determined that this crossing requires 
signalized protection and Guelph Junction Rail indicated they would be able to supply 
the hardware from an existing crossing in the City of Guelph. Since this commitment, 
the Canada Transportation Regulations for rail crossings have changed and this 
hardware no longer meets the new Regulation that came into effect on January 1, 2015. 
The Township and Guelph Junction Rail have come to an agreement regarding cost 
sharing for the installation of new signals at the crossing on Watson Road and 
installation could occur early fall of 2015. This work was budgeted as part of the 2015 
Operating Budget in Public Works, account number 01-0030-4210 at an amount of 
$80,000 funded from the Public Works Replacement and Restoration of Aging 
Infrastructure Working Reserve. Additional funds in the amount of $82,000 are required. 

Repairs Sideroad 10 North between Niska Road and deadend  

Currently there is 150 metres of road between Niska Road and the deadend that has 
deteriorated to a state that inhibits the ability of staff to facilitate maintenance in a timely 
and efficient manner. Township staff recommend completing this in order to mitigate 
any potential risk. This section of the road is currently scheduled for repaving in 2019 as 
per the 10 year Capital forecast at a budgeted cost of $31,000. This location was added 
to the 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades Tender as optional work 
to seize the opportunity of lower pricing for a smaller area.  

Culvert Replacement at 4820 Nassagaweya-Puslinch Townline 

The Town of Milton has notified the Township that a road culvert located at 4820 
Nassagaweya-Puslinch Townline requires immediate replacement. Under the Joint 
Jurisdiction Highway Routine Maintenance and Repair Agreement dated January 1, 
2007 the Township is responsible for 50% of the replacement cost. This work was not 
budgeted as part of the 2015 budget process.  

  



3 
 

Director of Finance/Treasurer – Contract Position  

In accordance with Report ADM-2015-005, staff recommend that a replacement for the 
Director of Finance/Treasurer be retained as soon as possible to provide sufficient time 
to facilitate training, awareness of job related requirements, projects, expectations, 
legislative reporting requirements and introduction to the Township’s budget process. 
This additional amount was not budgeted as part of the 2015 budget process. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Funding will be provided through capital projects that have been awarded under budget. 
The financial details regarding the subject capital projects are as follows: 

Project 2014 
Capital 
Cfwd. 

2015 
Capital  

Tax Levy Gas Tax DC Grant  

Gore Rd. Culvert # 2017 $2,731 $100,000 $41,522  $15,600 $42,878 
Gore Rd. Culvert # 2018 $6,672 $100,000 $84,400  $15,600  
Gore Rd. between Cooper 
Rd. and Village Rd. 

 $300,600  $253,706 $46,894  

Morriston Meadows   $250,000 $211,000  $39,000  
Leslie Rd. Culvert # 2014 $1,861 $111,000 $93,684  $17,316  
Totals $11,264 $861,600 $430,606 $253,706 $134,410 $42,878 

 
The tender results for the 2015 annual road rehabilitation and culvert upgrades 
amounted to the following in accordance with Report PW-2015-001: 
 
Contract Tender Price (excluding taxes)  $609,016  
Add: Non-refundable portion of HST $12,180  
Add: Engineering    $70,000 (estimated) 
Total Cost     $691,196 
 
The total estimated surplus for 2015 Capital Roads Projects is $155,084. See below for 
further details on the proposed revised budget based on the tender results.   
 

Funding Sources Initial 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Surplus 

2014 Capital Cfwd. $11,264 $11,264 $0 
Tax Levy $430,606 $275,522 $155,084 
Gas Tax $253,706 $253,706 $0 
DC $134,410 $107,826 Less DC funding 

required. 
OCIF Formula Based Grant  $42,878 $42,878 $0 
Total $872,864 $691,196  

 



4 
 

The estimated costs for the works outlined in this report are approximately $155,084 
inclusive of the non-refundable portion of HST. See below for further details. 

Project Operating/ 
Capital 

Cost 2015 
Budget 

Additional 
Funds 
Required 

Description 

Railway Crossing Operating - 
2015 

$162,000 $80,000 $82,000 2015 Budget funded from Public 
Works Replacement and Restoration 
of Aging Infrastructure Working 
Reserve. 

Sideroad 10 North  Capital - 
2019 

$12,500 N/A $12,500 Budgeted in 2019 

Culvert 
Replacement  

N/A – not 
budgeted 

$23,484 N/A $23,484  

Director of 
Finance/Treasurer 
– Contract 
Position  

N/A – not 
budgeted 

$37,100 N/A $37,100  

Total  $235,084 $80,000 $155,084  

 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION AND REQUIREMENTS  
 
Purchasing and Procurement of Goods and Services By-law 60/08. 

ATTACHMENTS 
 
None  



 REPORT REC-2015-004 

 

TO:   Mayor and Members of Council  
 
FROM:  Donna Tremblay, Deputy Clerk  
 
MEETING DATE:    May 20, 2015 
 
SUBJECT:  2015 Township of Puslinch Recreation and Parks Master Plan  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Report REC-2015-004 regarding the 2015 Township of Puslinch Recreation and 
Parks Master Plan be received; and  

That Council adopt in principle the 2015 Township of Puslinch Recreation and Parks 
Master Plan prepared by Monteith Brown dated May 20, 2015 attached as Schedule “A” 
to report REC-2015-004; and  

That Council consider any recommendations made in the 2015 Township of Puslinch 
Recreation and Parks Master Plan which contain budget implications during the 2016 
Budget process.     

PURPOSE 

To provide Council with the 2015 Township of Puslinch Recreation and Parks Master 
Plan (“RPMP”) and to obtain Council’s approval, in principle, of the RPMP.  

DISCUSSION 

Background 

The Township retained the services of Monteith Brown Planning Consultants in August 
2014 in order to assist the Township in developing a RPMP.  

The purpose of the plan is to provide a clear action plan and strategy to guide the: 

• development of recreation and parks facilities and services  
• parks and open spaces, trails and environmental areas  
• special events services and facilities  
• opportunities for all residents  regardless of age and ability  
• 10 year time frame.   



2 
 

The development of the Master Plan was accomplished through three project phases 
including:  

Phase 1 - Research and Engagement  

• Background review and asset inventory 
• Demographic & Trends  
• Public Engagement  

The first phase involved analyzing existing background documents and studies, 
including the 1988 Study of the Leisure System in Puslinch Township, as well as 
understanding the Township’s demographic profile and its impact on relevant leisure 
trends.  

A public engagement strategy was undertaken to solicit input from the public, Township 
Officials, Council and community stakeholders.  

The Public Engagement Strategy included: 

1. Community Launch  
 

On Saturday, September 20, 2014, at the Puslinch Farmer’s Market, Recreation 
Committee members provided the Public with flyers detailing information regarding the 
launch date and information on completing the survey. 

Event held on October 4, 2014 at Optimist Recreation Centre Gymnasium with the 
consultant having a number of display boards wherein they sought input from the Public 
with respect to Community Values, Future of the Township, Improving Local Recreation 
Facilities, Improving Programs and Activities, Improving Local Parks, Improving Local 
Trails and Vision for Parkland addition behind the Puslinch Community Centre. Laptops 
were available for individuals to complete an on-line community survey.  Over 20 
participants were in attendance and the consultants were able to receive valuable 
feedback from those who attended. 

A full page advertisement regarding the launch was placed in October Puslinch Pioneer 
and write up regarding the launch of the Recreation and Parks Master Plan was 
inlcuded on Page 2.  Advertisements were also placed in the Community Events 
Section of the Wellington Advertiser.  

Participation in the community group survey was advertised on the Township’s website 
and a message regarding survey participation was posted on the Marquee sign at the 
Community Centre lands. Posters were prepared and placed at various locations 
throughout the Township.      



3 
 

Details of the Community Launch can be found in Section 4.1 of the Recreation and 
Parks Master Plan.   

2. On Line Community Surveys were completed during the months of September 
and October 2014. 98 completed surveys received.   
 

3. User Group Surveys were completed during the months October and mid-
November 2014 with approximately 7 groups completing the survey. 
 

Details of the on line and user group surveys can be found in Section 4.2 and 4.3 of the 
Recreation and Parks Master Plan.   

 
4. Staff, Council and Recreation Committee Workshops were held on the following 

dates:    
• August 12, 2014 - Recreation Committee/ Recreation and Parks Master Plan 

Project Team met with the consultant to provide input on items they would like to 
see included in the plan;  

• October 1, 2014 - workshop with various Township Staff to seek their input. 
• October 1, 2014 - presentation to Council to seek input on the items to be 

considered in the development of the plan. 
• November 18, 2014 - presentation to the Recreation Committee/Recreation and 

Parks Master Plan Project Team to provide completed community survey results. 
• February 17, 2015 – presentation to Recreation Committee/Recreation and 

Parks Master Plan Project Team regarding draft recommendations. 
• March 4, 2015 – presentation to Council regarding draft recommendations.  

 
5. Stakeholder Focus Groups and Interviews  

During the months of November and December, 2014 the Consultant conducted both in 
person and telephone interviews with a number of stakeholder groups. 

Details of the Focus Group and Key information interviews can be found in Section 4.4 
of the Recreation and Parks Master Plan. 

Phase 2 – Analysis 

The tasks completed in phase 1 formed the foundation for the second phase, which 
included:  

• An assessment of facility and park needs. Details can be found in Sections 5 – 
Existing Assets & Providers, Section 7 – Facility Needs Assessment and Section 



4 
 

8 – Parks and Open Space & Trails Assessment of the Recreation and Parks 
Master Plan.  

• A service and program delivery audit – undertaken to identify solutions to 
optimize management and operational roles for recreation and parks in the 
Township.  Details can be found in Section 6 – Service Delivery Assessment of 
the Recreation and Parks Master Plan. 

• Implementation – key recommendations were drawn and are supported by an 
implementation strategy which is contained in Section 9 of the Recreation and 
Parks Master Plan.    

Phase 3 - Master Plan Development  

Phases 1 and 2 culminated in the third and final phase, consisting of:  

• Draft Master Plan   
 
A copy of the draft Recreation and Parks Master Plan was provided to Council, 
Recreation Committee/Recreation and Parks Master Plan Project Team, 
stakeholders and public for review on April 2, 2015  
  

• Public Meeting   
 
A Public Open House was held on Saturday, April 11th and Public Information 
Meeting on Thursday, April 17, 2015 to review details of the plan and seek input.   
 
Details relating to date, time and location of the Public meetings were advertised 
on the township’s website, April edition of the Puslinch Pioneer, Marquee Sign on 
Community Centre lands and email invites were provided by staff to stakeholders 
who participated in meetings with the consultant.  
 
Written comments regarding the draft plan were welcomed from the Public until 
April 30, 2015.    
   

• Finalize Master Plan  
 

The Consultant has finalized the plan based on input received from the Open 
House, Public Information Meeting and written comments received. 
 
Based on the input received modest adjustments were made to the body of the 
Plan. However, no changes resulted in the recommendations contained in the 
draft RPMP. 

  



5 
 

 

Next Steps/Summary 

1.  Adoption by Council of the Recreation and Parks Master Plan.   
 
By approving the RPMP the Township is not bound to implement every 
recommendation or providing facilities/services in the order, amount, or timing indicated; 
rather the RPMP provides guidance on community priorities and sets a general course 
for meeting the needs as they are presently defined.    
 
2.   Implementation  
 
Section 9 of the Recreation and Parks Master Plan provides an implementation 
strategy.  
 
This implementation strategy provides guidance for ensuring that the most critical 
recommendations are implemented over time.   
 
The timing of the projects proposed in the RPMP recognizes the need for phased 
implementation as some recommendations are based upon what is needed and not 
necessarily what is financially achievable by the Township at present time.   
 
Staff recommend that as part of the annual budget process, the RPMP be reviewed to 
identify areas where the availability of resources may affect the timing of 
implementation.  
 
Staff will be working with the Recreation Committee to identify and implement those 
recommendations contained in the RPMP that are identified as High/Medium Priority, 
ongoing or short-term needs that can be achieved without financial implications and are 
achievable with monies allocated in the 2015 Budget.  
 
Staff will be also working with the members of the Recreation Committee to develop an 
Annual Work Plan as identified in recommendation 9 “development of an annual work 
plan identifying key projects as priorities” details of which will be approved by Council.  
 

Summary 

The primary goal of the project was to research, develop, design and produce a fiscally 
responsible Master Plan document for recreation, parks, open space and trails, 
including their respective services and facilities.  Staff believe that the primary goal of 
the project has been achieved and submit the Recreation and Parks Master Plan to 
Council for their adoption in principle.   

 



6 
 

Financial Implications   

Staff will incorporate the recommendations in the plan as part of the future operating 
budgets and the Capital budget and forecast of the Township.  

Applicable Legislation and Requirements 

Not applicable. 

ATTACHMENTS  

Schedule “A” – Recreation and Parks Master Plan (RPMP) Final dated May 20, 2015  



RecreationRecreation 
Master Plan

&
ParksParks
mbpc

Monteith  Brown
planning consultants

Township of Puslinch

May 2015

SCHEDULE "A" TO 
REPORT 
REC-2015-004



 

Township of Puslinch 

Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

May 2015 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page i 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

This Master Plan is a product of the vision and dedication of Township Council and 
Staff. We also extend our thanks to the many residents and community groups 
throughout the Township of Puslinch who provided valuable insights and opinions and 
whose feedback has made the Plan a document that is reflective of the needs of the 
community. 

Township Council  

Mayor Lever  
Councillor Matthew Bulmer  
Councillor Susan Fielding  
Councillor Ken Roth  
Councillor Wayne Stokley 

Recreation Committee  

Councillor Wayne Stokley  
Nichole Caswell 
Tom Jefferson  
Daina Makinson  
June Williams  
Councillor Jerry Schmidt (previous term)  

Township Staff 

Karen Landry, CAO/Clerk  
Don Creed, Director Public Works/Parks  
Donna Tremblay, Deputy Clerk (Project Manager) 
Marissa Herner, Communications Associate/Customer Service Representative 
Richard Hoover, Facility Operator 

Project Consultant 

Monteith Brown Planning Consultants  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page ii 

Table of Contents 

Section Page 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ................................................................................................ i 

1. INTRODUCTION ..................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 About the Master Plan .................................................................................. 1 

1.2 Master Plan Framework ............................................................................... 1 
1.3 Study Context ............................................................................................... 2 
1.4 Report Organization ..................................................................................... 3 

2. COMMUNITY PROFILE .......................................................................................... 5 

2.1 Population Growth ........................................................................................ 5 
2.2 Age Structure................................................................................................ 6 

2.3 Income & Occupation ................................................................................... 7 
2.4 Immigration & Ethnicity ................................................................................. 8 
2.5 Mobility ......................................................................................................... 8 

3. KEY TRENDS & BEST PRACTICES ..................................................................... 9 

3.1 Participation in Recreational Activities .......................................................... 9 

3.2 Trends in the Provision of Recreation and Parks Facilities ......................... 10 
3.3 Enhancing Service Delivery in Recreation and Parks ................................. 13 

4.  COMMUNITY INPUT ............................................................................................ 14 

4.1 Community Launch Event .......................................................................... 14 

4.2 Online Community Survey .......................................................................... 15 
4.3 Stakeholder Survey .................................................................................... 21 
4.4 Focus Groups and Key Informant Interviews .............................................. 23 

4.5 Public Open House ..................................................................................... 24 

5. EXISTING ASSETS & PROVIDERS..................................................................... 25 

5.1 Municipal Recreation Facilities ................................................................... 25 
5.2 Parks .......................................................................................................... 26 
5.3 Trails ........................................................................................................... 29 
5.4 Non-Municipal Facilities & Services ............................................................ 35 
5.5 Parks and Recreation Amenities in Adjacent Communities ........................ 37 

6. SERVICE DELIVERY ASSESSMENT .................................................................. 40 

6.1 Township Roles & Responsibilities ............................................................. 40 

6.2 Programming .............................................................................................. 41 
6.3 Community Development & Partnerships ................................................... 43 
6.4 Staffing & Volunteerism .............................................................................. 45 
6.5 Governance ................................................................................................ 47 
6.6 Communication & Awareness .................................................................... 48 
6.7 User Fees & Financial Assistance .............................................................. 50 
6.8 Policies & Procedures ................................................................................ 53 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page iii 

7. FACILITY NEEDS ASSESSMENT ....................................................................... 55 

7.1 Methodology ............................................................................................... 55 
7.2 Ice Rinks ..................................................................................................... 56 

7.3 Gymnasiums............................................................................................... 57 
7.4 Multi-Purpose Spaces ................................................................................ 59 
7.5 Older Adult Spaces ..................................................................................... 61 
7.6 Youth Spaces ............................................................................................. 63 
7.7 Fitness Centres .......................................................................................... 64 

7.8 Soccer Fields .............................................................................................. 65 
7.9 Ball Diamonds ............................................................................................ 68 
7.10 Hard Surface Courts (Tennis, Basketball) .................................................. 71 
7.11 Splash Pads ............................................................................................... 73 

7.12 Playgrounds ............................................................................................... 75 
7.13 Skateboard Parks ....................................................................................... 77 

7.14 Off-leash Dog Parks ................................................................................... 78 
7.15 Other Facilities............................................................................................ 79 

7.16 Puslinch Community Centre Park Expansion ............................................. 79 

8. PARKS, OPEN SPACE & TRAILS ASSESSMENT ............................................. 82 

8.1 Parkland Form & Function .......................................................................... 82 

8.2 Parkland Supply ......................................................................................... 83 
8.3 Parkland Needs & Acquisition Strategies ................................................... 85 

8.4 Parkland Design Considerations ................................................................ 87 
8.5 Trail Network .............................................................................................. 88 

9. IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY ......................................................................... 92 

9.1 Implementation Strategy ............................................................................. 92 
9.2 Monitoring and Updating the Master Plan .................................................. 99 

9.3 Estimated Recreation Facility Costs ......................................................... 105 

Appendix A – Background Document Review ........................................................ 106 

Appendix B – Community Launch Event ................................................................ 112 

Appendix C – Online Survey Summary ................................................................... 114 

Appendix D – Stakeholder Survey Summary .......................................................... 123 

Appendix E – Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities, 
and Services ...................................................................................... 127 

 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 1 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 About the Master Plan 

Ontarians are spoiled for choice when it comes to indulging in their favourite leisure 
activities. Yet, in today’s digital age, sedentary activities dominate, resulting in higher 
levels of physical inactivity. As a result, access to high quality and responsive recreation 
opportunities has never been more paramount. The Township of Puslinch has 
recognized this trend and has commissioned this Recreation & Parks Master Plan, 
which will serve as a guide for municipal decision-making over a ten year period. The 
scope of this Master Plan includes strategic direction for the following: 

 Recreation services and facilities 

 Provision of parks, open space, and trails,  

 Opportunities for children, youth, adults, older adults, families, and persons with 
disabilities. 

1.2 Master Plan Framework 

The primary goal of this project is to research, develop, design, and produce a fiscally 
responsible Master Plan document for recreation, parks, open space, and trails, 
including their respective services and facilities. This has been accomplished through 
three project phases.  
 

Figure 1: Master Plan Framework 

 

The first phase involved analyzing existing background documents and studies, 
including the 1988 Study of The Leisure System in Puslinch Township, as well as 
understanding the Township’s demographic profile and its impact on relevant leisure 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 2 

trends. A public engagement strategy was then undertaken to solicit input from the 
public, Township officials, Council, and community stakeholders. 

These tasks formed the foundation for the second phase, which included an 
assessment of facility and park needs. A service and program delivery audit was also 
undertaken to identify solutions to optimize management and operational roles for 
recreation and parks in the Township. Key recommendations were drawn and are 
supported by an implementation strategy.  

These two phases culminated in a third and final phase, which consisted of the draft 
and final Master Plan development, confirmed through public consultation and direction 
from Council. 

1.3 Study Context 

The Township of Puslinch is the smallest municipality in Wellington County in terms of 
both land mass and population. Largely rural with a strong agricultural heritage, the 
Township’s partial location in Ontario’s Greenbelt and lack of municipally serviced land 
will continue to limit its residential growth potential into the foreseeable future. 

Figure 2: Regional Location Map 

 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 3 

Nevertheless, the Township’s industrial and commercial sectors are robust, with Nestle 
Waters, Laidlaw Carriers, Royal Canin, and a host of other major employers that 
contribute to the local and regional economies. There remains considerable opportunity 
to expand the amount of unserviced industrial uses – such as warehousing, logistics, 
aggregate extraction, dry manufacturing, and small businesses – within the Township.  

Puslinch also benefits from its proximity to the City of Guelph, which offers a much 
wider range of recreation opportunities, many of which are available to Township 
residents. At the same time, growth pressures within the City of Guelph create 
challenges for the Township and other surrounding municipalities through the increased 
use of roads and community infrastructure. 

Due to its location, the Township is an attractive place to locate for many working in the 
Greater Toronto Area. New residents are attracted not only to the nearby employment 
opportunities, but also the rural lifestyle and outdoor recreation options. New residents 
also tend to bring higher expectations for urban quality services, creating a variety of 
challenges and opportunities for the Township. 

1.4 Report Organization 

The Recreation & Parks Master Plan is organized into nine sections described below.  

Section 1: Introduction  

This Section describes the purpose, methodology, and organization of the Master Plan. 

Section 2: Community Profile 

This Section examines the socio-demographic characteristics of the Township of 
Puslinch, including a look at population and age cohort figures, population projections, 
and other key demographic factors that may impact the provision of recreation and 
parks in Puslinch.  

Section 3: Key Trends & Best Practices 

This Section contains a review of emerging trends and best practices observed across 
Ontario, as well as potential impacts on recreation and parks facilities, programs, and 
services in the Township.  

Section 4: Community Input 

This Section provides a summary of the consultation strategy undertaken for the Master 
Plan, which includes the opinions, preferences, and priorities of the general public, 
stakeholders, Township staff, and Council.



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 4 

Section 5: Existing Assets & Providers 

This Section identifies existing parks and recreation facilities available within the 
Township. Details regarding facility condition, amenities, opportunities, and constraints 
are also discussed.  

Section 6: Service Delivery Assessment 

This Section assesses the effectiveness of the Township’s existing service and program 
delivery model to identify opportunities to improve Township processes and explore 
areas of improvement. 

Section 7: Facility Needs Assessment 

This Section evaluates the current supply of indoor and outdoor recreation facilities 
utilizing a combination of market driven targets and other Master Plan inputs to inform 
future facility needs. 

Section 8: Parks, Open Space & Trails Assessment 

This Section analyzes parks, open spaces, trail needs, and policy considerations. 

Section 9: Implementation Strategy 

This Section prioritizes the timing of all recommendations contained in this Master Plan 
with implications on Township resources, and processes for monitoring and updating 
the Master Plan.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 5 

2. COMMUNITY PROFILE 

This section provides an overview of the Township’s socio-demographic profile, 
including details regarding population growth trends that may have implications on the 
provision of recreation and parks facilities, programs, and services. 

2.1 Population Growth  

For 2011, Statistics Canada recorded a population of 7,029 for the Township of 
Puslinch, representing a modest growth of 5.1% from the 2006 Census. Since 2001, the 
Township has grown nearly 20%. As illustrated in Figure 3, population projections 
contained in the Wellington County Official Plan (2010) suggest that the Township will 
experience consistent growth over the foreseeable future. By 2031, it is expected that 
the Township of Puslinch will reach a population of 9,920 (nearly 2,900 new residents), 
representing a growth of 41% from 2011.  

Population projections by community are currently unavailable. It is difficult to predict 
exactly where population growth will occur given that the Township is generally 
unserviced and portions of the Township (south of Highway 401) are located within the 
Greenbelt, which restricts significant development. In accordance with forecasted 
demand and available land supply, the Development Charges Background Study 
allocated housing growth over a 20-year period and forecast Aberfoyle and Morriston to 
accommodate 6% and 4% of future housing growth, respectively, with the balance 
(90%) expected to occur throughout the Township’s smaller villages and rural areas.  

Figure 3: Historical and Projected Population by Census Year, 2001 – 2031  

 
Source: Statistics Canada, 2001 – 2011; Wellington County Official Plan  

The 2014 Development Charges Background Study identified a current population 
estimate of 7,240 persons, which will be used as the baseline for the Master Plan. 

5,885

6,689

7,0297,029

8,130
8,720

9,320 9,920

5,000

5,500

6,000

6,500

7,000

7,500

8,000

8,500

9,000

9,500

10,000

2001 2006 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031

Historical

Projected



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 6 

2.2 Age Structure 

Understanding the age structure of a community assists in determining what types of 
recreation facilities and activities are in demand. For example, a strong market of 
children and youth bolsters participation in organized minor sports such as soccer and 
hockey, whereas greater proportions of older adults and seniors may lead to increased 
participation in less physically active activities such as pickleball or walking.  

Between the 2006 and 2011 Census, the Township’s older adult and senior population 
(age 55+) experienced the most growth. This finding suggests that the Township’s 
population is aging overall. Evidence of Township-wide aging trends is further supported 
by the fact that during this period, the median age increased from 44.2 to 47.6 years, 
which is the highest median age in Wellington County. The Township’s median age is 
also substantially higher compared to the Provincial median (40.4 years) and the 
County median (39.5 years). Marginal growth was also observed among young adults 
(age 20 – 34), while all other age cohorts in the Township declined by 4% to 9%.  

Table 1: Population Growth by Age Group, 2006 – 2011  

Age Group 2006 2011 Change (%) 
Proportion of Population 

2006 2011 

0-9 650 590 -9% 10% 8% 

10-19 930 895 -4% 14% 13% 

20-34 845 875 4% 13% 12% 

35-54 2,195 2,160 -2% 33% 31% 

55-69 1,430 1,680 17% 21% 24% 

70+ 635 825 30% 9% 12% 

Total 6,685 7,025 5% 100% 100% 

Source: Statistics Canada, 2006 – 2011  

As national aging trends suggest, it is anticipated that the Township’s demographic 
profile will continue to age, particularly as the baby boomer generation moves through 
the age cohorts. Although age cohort forecasts exist for Wellington County, there are 
currently no age cohort forecasts specific to the Township. However, some broad 
comparisons can be made from the existing forecasts as the Township is likely to be 
impacted by similar population trends. The following table illustrates age-specific 
population forecasts by percentage for the County between 2014 and 2031. Most 
notable is the dramatic increase projected in the 70+ age group – an increase of 105% 
by 2031, despite only a 14% increase across all ages. Greater than average growth is 
also forecasted for the 55 to 69 age group. With a growing proportion of older adults, 
the Township can expect a greater demand for recreation and park opportunities 
oriented towards this age group, although recreation activities should continue to be 
advanced for all age groups to enhance available opportunities. 

Projections for the County suggest that the youth and adult age groups are expected to 
grow at a slower pace than the rest of the population. This is notable as many 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 7 

recreation and park services are traditionally oriented toward younger age groups; 
however, it is likely that the total number of youth will remain relatively stable in several 
communities throughout Wellington County. 

Table 2: Population by Age (2011 & 2036), Wellington County 

Age Group 

Percent of Total 
Population –  

2014 (estimate) 

Percent of Total 
Population – 

2031 (forecasted) 

Forecasted Change 
in Total Population – 

2014 to 2031 

0 to 4 years 6% 5% 15% 

5 to 19 years 18% 17% 8% 

20 to 34 years 21% 17% 1% 

35 to 54 years 28% 25% 7% 

55 to 69 years 18% 18% 21% 

70+ years 10% 18% 105% 

Total 100% 100% 14% 

Source: Ontario Ministry of Finance. Population Projections. Fall 2014. 
Totals may not add due to rounding. 

2.3 Income & Occupation 

Research has shown income can be an indicator of participation levels in recreational 
pursuits. Generally speaking, higher levels of participation are typically correlated with 
greater income levels. This correlation suggests that those with higher incomes 
participate to a greater degree than those with lower incomes, presumably due to 
greater disposable income. Research also suggests that persons with office-related 
occupations commonly seek recreational pursuits outside the workplace to remain 
physically-active.  

According to the National Household Survey (NHS)1, about 76% of the Township’s 
workforce is employed in an office setting where physical activity may be low, 
suggesting that residents may be more physically active during their leisure time outside 
of the workplace. This percentage is generally on par with the Province, but higher 
compared to Wellington County.  

The NHS also recorded income for individuals and households. For 2010, the NHS 
revealed that the median income of individuals in the Township was $38,013, which is 
considerably higher than the Provincial ($30,526) and County ($30,423) median. The 
median income for households in the Township ($89,261) was also significantly higher 
compared to the Provincial ($66,358) and County ($79,070) median. Based on income 
and occupation alone, these findings may suggest that Township residents are more 

                                            

1 The National Household Survey was a voluntary, self-administered survey conducted for the first time in 
2011 as a replacement for the long census questionnaire. Due to the survey methodology, the Township 
of Puslinch data has a non-response rate of 32.9%, which may affect data quality. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 8 

likely to participate in recreational pursuits compared to other communities in Wellington 
County and the Province as a whole. The provision of physical activity spaces 
accessible to all residents will ensure that these opportunities are inclusive to all groups.  

2.4 Immigration & Ethnicity 

Similar to income and occupation, immigrant and ethnicity levels may also impact 
participation in recreational pursuits. The NHS found that about 15% of the Township’s 
residents are immigrants, representing 1,065 persons. Half of the Township’s 
immigrants arrived prior to 1971 and less than 3% of immigrants (30 residents) arrived 
within the past 10 years, indicating that Township residents are generally well 
established in traditional Canadian sports and recreational pursuits.  

National trends suggest that communities are becoming more ethnically diverse due to 
increasing levels of immigration from non-European countries. This trend is yet to be felt 
in the Township as the NHS reported that approximately 22% of the Township’s 
residents are visible minorities from origins including Asia, South America, Africa, and 
Caribbean. As Canada continues to become more diverse, this trend may evolve at a 
local level over time and result in requests for non-traditional recreational activities. 

2.5 Mobility 

The NHS reported that 93% of the employed workforce commutes to work as a driver or 
passenger in a private vehicle, which is a higher rate than the Province (79%) and 
County (88%). The balance of the employed workforce walk, use public transit, or have 
other means to commute. This is expected given that the Township is generally a rural 
community and is adjacent to larger communities such as Guelph, resulting in a higher 
commuter base that is employed outside of the Township. Given the spatial distribution 
of the Township, that the local workforce is generally a car-oriented community, it is 
likely that a majority of residents drive and will continue to drive to access the 
recreational pursuits they do the most.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 9 

3. KEY TRENDS & BEST PRACTICES 

Regional, provincial, and national trends are commonly used to supplement local data 
and input to establish an understanding of what may occur in the Township over the 
planning period and beyond. This Section explores a broad range of trends that have 
been observed across the Province and its implications on the provision of recreation 
and parks opportunities in the Township of Puslinch.  

3.1 Participation in Recreational Activities 

Increasing Rates of Physical Activity 

Research shows increasing rates of physical inactivity in Canada. A lack of free time, 
largely due to busier lifestyles and a number of socio-economic circumstances (such as 
low income or lone-parent households) have traditionally been the primary barriers to 
participation for youth and adults. Heavier workloads together with competing interests 
and access to an array of sedentary activities have resulted in less time for physical 
activity. In a survey undertaken by ParticipACTION, teens identified that socializing 
(97%), entertainment (96%), and the internet (93%) were the most important aspects of 
their daily lives compared to physical activity.2 The online survey conducted for this 
Study found that at a local level, 57% of respondents who were not able to participate in 
recreation and parks activities as often as they would like expressed that lack of time or 
being too busy was the most common barrier. 

While the Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines recommends that teens achieve a 
minimum of 60 minutes of physical activity each day, a report by Active Healthy Kids 
Canada on physical activity among the Country’s younger population reports that only 
7% of children (between the ages of 5 and 11) and 4% of youth (between the ages of 15 
and 17) are meeting this target, resulting in a physical activity grade of “D-” for 2014. 
This grade is consistent with the previous year, which suggests that there has been little 
or no improvement in increasing physical activity.3  

Broadly speaking, a lack of free time has contributed to other notable trends such as 
increases in rates of obesity and chronic disease (resulting from less physical activity), 
decreasing levels of volunteerism, and a greater desire for more flexible and convenient 
program options.  

                                            

2 ParticipACTION. (2010). Coca-Cola and ParticipACTION survey results fact sheet. Retrieved from 
http://www.participaction.com/wpcontent/uploads/2013/04/sogoactivefactsheet-final.pdf 
3 Active Healthy Kids Canada. (2014). Is Canada in the running? Report card on physical activity for 
children and youth. Retrieved from: 
http://dvqdas9jty7g6.cloudfront.net/reportcard2014/AHKC_2014_ReportCard_ENG.pdf 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 10 

Aging Population 

Across Canada, the population of older adults age 55 and over is growing at a much 
faster rate than the rest of the population; in 1991, the 55+ age cohort represented only 
9% of the country’s population, but this figure had grown to 28% by 2011 and is poised 
for further growth. As previously identified, evidence of an increasingly aging population 
is observed in the Township of Puslinch, which has some of the oldest residents in 
Wellington County. In 2011, Statistics Canada reported a median age of 47.6 years, 
considerably higher compared to the County and Province (39.5 and 40.4 years, 
respectively). The local older adult and senior population also experienced a combined 
21% increase in population between the 2006 and 2011 Census. National aging trends 
suggest that the Township’s population will continue to age, driving the expectation for 
targeted and high quality older adult programs and services. 

Responding to Emerging Activities 

With the growing emphasis on non-programmed, unstructured activities, many new 
forms of recreational activities are emerging beyond the traditional spectrum of 
programs and facilities. Some of these emerging activities includes pickleball, off-leash 
dog parks, ultimate Frisbee, and countless other leisure pursuits. The popularity of 
these and other activities are driven by a number of factors including the shift in 
demographics and leisure preferences. One of the most notable activities requested in 
other communities is pickleball. While the sport originated in 1965, the activity has 
surged in popularity over the past few years due to the growing older adult community 
who desire to remain moderately active. Other communities have also experienced a 
renewed interest in tennis, which is driven in part by the baby boomer demographic. 

The Township has yet to experience strong demands for non-traditional activities. 
Nevertheless, the Township can proactively plan for future requests through 
repurposing underutilized facilities and providing flexible facility spaces that appeal to a 
broad range of uses as the preferences and profile of residents continue to evolve. 

3.2 Trends in the Provision of Recreation and Parks Facilities 

Aging Infrastructure 

In 2006, Parks and Recreation Ontario estimated that 30-50% of recreation facilities 
were nearing the end of their useful lifecycle.4 Many recreation facilities were built 
between 1956 and 1980, with a number of them constructed to celebrate Canada’s 
Centennial year in 1967. Since this period, infrastructure province-wide has been under-
funded, though these pressures have been somewhat alleviated through recent 
provincial and federal economic stimulus programs. Locally, the Township of Puslinch 
benefited from the Recreation Infrastructure Canada (RInC) program that secured 
nearly $21,000 in financial support towards the rehabilitation of the tennis courts located 

                                            

4 Parks and Recreation Ontario. (2006). Ontario sport and recreation infrastructure study. Retrieved from: 
http://216.13.76.142/PROntario/index.htm 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 11 

at the Puslinch Community Centre. The Building Canada Fund also contributed $1.4 
million towards the construction of the Optimist Recreation Centre in 2010.  

These infrastructure projects illustrate that the Township has recognized the need to 
continue to conduct regular maintenance and upgrades to its facilities in order to 
provide high quality venues to meet the expectations of its users. Most recently, the 
Township replaced the floors and renovated the washrooms at the Puslinch Community 
Centre. Looking towards 2018, the Township has identified several capital improvement 
projects through the Asset Management Plan and Capital Budget, totalling nearly $1 
million. A number of projects are related to improving the Puslinch Community Centre, 
including parking lot repaving, window replacement, kitchen upgrades, and HVAC. A 
new ice re-surfacer and floor scrubber are identified for the Optimist Recreation Centre.  

Barrier Free Facilities 

Municipalities are striving to remove physical barriers through the design of new 
facilities and adaption of existing facilities in order to promote inclusivity and to position 
themselves in advance of the requirements associated with the 2005 Accessibility for 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA), which strives to remove all barriers by 2025.  

It is estimated that nearly one-quarter of Ontarians are living with a disability.5 Applying 
this rate to the Township’s population could suggest that over 1,700 residents have 
some form of disability. The Township has demonstrated its commitment to removing 
barriers by adopting the County of Wellington Facility Accessibility Design Manual 
(FADM). The Manual addresses accessibility requirements for the design and 
construction of new facilities, as well as the retrofit, alteration, and addition to existing 
facilities. It incorporates the belief in universal design, which recognizes the broad 
diversity of people who use Township facilities. The Township will continue to ensure 
that all future construction and major renovation projects comply with the FADM and/or 
the AODA Accessible Built Environment Standard, whichever is more stringent. 

The Township has recently completed (or plans to complete) the following accessibility 
improvements to recreation buildings and open spaces: 

 Optimist Recreation Centre (2010) – Accessible features within new construction 

 Puslinch Community Centre building (2012/2013) – Accessible washrooms  

 Puslinch Community Centre grounds (2016) – Fully accessible play area  

 Puslinch Community Centre building (2018) – Kitchen and bar area renovation to 
include lowering of countertops for wheelchair access 

 Badenoch Community Centre (3-year phased project beginning in 2019) – 
Accessible washrooms and doorways, lowering of kitchen countertop for 
wheelchair access, ramp installed at front of building, front door widened and 
automatic door opener installed 

                                            

5 Statistics Canada. (2006). Canadians in context – People with disabilities. Retrieved from 
http://www4.hrsdc.gc.ca/.3ndic.1t.4r@-eng.jsp?iid=40 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 12 

Multi-Use and Multi-Generational Facilities 

There is a growing expectation that facilities contain something for everybody, rather 
than being designed solely for singular uses. Co-location of complementary facility 
components often creates convenient, centralized activity centres and generates 
operating efficiencies. The provision of high quality, multi-use facilities encourages 
physical and social activity among all age groups, while also supporting opportunities for 
sport tourism at a municipal or regional scale. 

Building on the aspect of convenience and consumer demand for high quality facilities, 
the traditional single sports field park is losing favour among sport groups who instead 
prefer multi-field parks that provide amenities such as parking, concession stands, and 
washrooms. Multi-field complexes are also gaining favour because they cater to the 
lucrative tournament market and provide opportunities for households to have 
participants at the same location at the same time.  

The Puslinch Community Centre is one of the many examples of a multi-use recreation 
facility in the Township. This facility is co-located with the Optimist Recreation Centre, 
Wellington County Library Branch, and associated parkland, providing a broad range of 
leisure opportunities at a single destination. One of the impetuses for this Study is also 
driven by the need to consider new recreation facility types for the newly acquired lands 
at the rear of the park. 

Community Use of Schools 

Through the Community Use of Schools Program, several partnerships exist throughout 
Ontario between municipalities and surrounding school boards to facilitate the sharing 
of community facilities. The success of this program varies across municipalities and 
school boards. For example, some municipalities have solidified long term reciprocal 
agreements to share or share or access facilities. As a result, some municipalities may 
not be required to provide certain recreation spaces, such as gymnasiums, if they have 
access to school counterparts through partnerships or joint-use agreements.  

At present, the Upper Grand District School Board and Wellington Catholic District 
School Board provide opportunities for municipalities and non-profit groups to access 
school facilities for use of gymnasiums. A verbal agreement is currently in place that 
allows the Aberfoyle Public School to utilize the Puslinch Community Centre and 
Optimist Recreation Centre for various track and field events, chess tournaments, 
graduation, and winter skating.  

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 13 

3.3 Enhancing Service Delivery in Recreation and Parks 

Partnerships 

Forming partnerships with school boards, community partners, and private entities can 
leverage resources of each party and can be a beneficial way to increase the amount of 
publicly accessible facilities. A successful outcome is realized when the public interest is 
maximized and that partnerships fulfill the desired objectives of each party. For 
example, many municipalities provide facility space while service responsibilities 
(operating and maintenance) are provided by a partnering community organization. 
Some of the partnership examples in the Township include the following: 

 The Optimist Club of Puslinch provides volunteers to assist with the maintenance 
of ice and supervision of skating, and uses the facilities for meetings and events 

 The Township maintains the soccer fields at the Calvary Baptist Church, which 
are used by the Puslinch Minor Soccer Club 

 YMCA/YWCA Guelph utilizes the Optimist Recreation Centre as the location for 
Puslinch Power Camp, a sports-based summer program. 

Volunteerism 

Volunteers are essential to the operation and delivery of recreation and park 
opportunities and many communities rely heavily on their assistance, particularly in 
smaller communities (such as the Township of Puslinch) where resources are limited. 
The National Survey of Giving, Volunteering and Participating (2010) indicated that 
volunteerism is rising slightly, but experiences in several other communities suggest 
that many groups still struggle in finding volunteers, particularly younger volunteers.  

Older adults currently represent the most active volunteer group; however, it is 
anticipated that this group will soon move on from the volunteer workforce, resulting in 
greater pressures on the delivery of services and impact programming capacity. This 
gap in the volunteer base opens opportunities to attract new volunteers, particularly 
among youth. Although volunteer hours for high school students are mandatory, youth 
ages 15 and under represent the smallest proportion of volunteers, representing a need 
to engage this age group early to improve the likelihood of retaining volunteers in the 
future. 

As previously mentioned, the Township relies heavily on local service clubs and 
community partners (such as the Optimist Club of Puslinch) whose memberships 
consists of dedicated volunteers to assist with delivering key recreation and parks 
services. Some of these groups have formed successful partnerships in operating and 
maintaining recreation and parks facilities while other groups are responsible for the 
success of local events such as the Aberfoyle Fall Fair and other community-run 
programs and services. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 14 

4.  COMMUNITY INPUT 

The Master Plan engaged the community, municipal representatives, and other 
stakeholders throughout the process to gain an understanding of a broad range of 
leisure interests and to raise awareness for the Master Plan and the recreation and park 
opportunities that are available within the Township. This section summarizes the key 
findings that emerged from each consultation tool.  

4.1 Community Launch Event 

A Community Launch Event was held at the Optimist Recreation Centre, concurrently 
with the Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market, on October 4, 2014 to introduce the Recreation & 
Parks Master Plan and to solicit input from the public. Over 20 participants attended the 
informal gathering, which had displays that included background information about the 
Township and the master planning process. Attendees were asked to respond to a 
series of questions, which are summarized below. A transcription of responses from the 
event can be found in Appendix B. 

Community Values and Future Vision 

Participants indicated that they value the Township’s sense of community and rural 
feeling, which is punctuated by a variety of open spaces. When participants were asked 
what they would like to see in 20 years, it was articulated that the Township should 
retain its independence from adjacent communities. 

Improving Local Recreation Facilities 

Participants provided a mix of ideas to improve local recreation facilities, which included 
providing new facilities or improving existing ones. Some attendees felt that there is a 
need for a splash pad, as well as an older adult centre and a greater variety of 
recreation activities at the Badenoch Community Centre. A suggestion was made to 
construct sidewalks to recreation facilities to ensure that they are easy to get to and are 
accessible. Other participants suggested that improvements could be made in 
promoting existing recreation facilities as some may not know what opportunities are 
available. It was also suggested that access to the Optimist Recreation Centre for local 
residents should be improved and given priority over non-resident users and 
organization. 

Improving Programs and Activities 

Several suggestions were received for improving recreation programs and activities in 
the Township that focused on opportunities for youth and older adults. Participants felt 
that more youth programs could be provided at the Optimist Recreation Centre such as 
drop-in hockey, power skating, basketball, and volleyball. Outdoor fitness programs 
were also suggested. Older adult program opportunities included board games, cards, 
movie nights, music, and discussion groups. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 15 

Improving Parks and Trails 

When participants were asked how the Township can improve parks and trails, 
attendees expressed that more promotion of parks and trails is needed to raise 
awareness of where they are located. Others felt that the Township should limit pit 
quarry growth to preserve existing open space lands and convert old quarries to parks 
and/or campgrounds. It was also suggested that hunting should be prohibited in 
conservation areas.  

Puslinch Community Centre Lands Expansion 

Participants were asked what outdoor amenities should be considered as a part of the 
Puslinch Community Centre Park expansion. Several amenities were advanced, with 
the most popular feature being trails for walking or cycling. Other potential amenities 
identified were splash pads, a running track, a community garden, naturalized open 
space, a leash free dog park, and soccer fields.  

4.2 Online Community Survey 

To assist with the preparation of the Master Plan, an online survey was available 
between the months of August and October 2014. The survey collected information 
regarding the attitudes, opinions, usage, and priorities related to various recreation and 
parks opportunities. A total of 98 surveys were completed and analyzed. This section 
provides a summary of the main findings of the survey. A complete listing of survey 
responses is contained in Appendix C. 

Of note, this was a self-administered survey and the results cannot be considered to be 
statistically significant or representative of the opinions of all residents in the absence of 
random sampling. As with other consultation tools, the survey findings should not be 
considered in isolation, but instead factored in the context of other community input and 
assessment methodologies.  

Household Participation in Recreation and Parks Activities 

Over the past 12 months, 81% of respondents reported participation in walking or hiking 
for leisure, making it the most popular activity of those listed. Rounding out the most 
popular activities were swimming (63%), aerobics/fitness/weight-training (56%), 
hockey/figure skating/ice skating (45%), dog walking (45%), cycling/mountain biking 
(41%), and use of playground equipment (41%). These top activities are indicative of 
current recreation trends where most are unstructured pursuits that can be flexibly 
scheduled or done at one’s own pace. A summary of results is illustrated in the following 
figure. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 16 

Figure 4: Participation in Recreation and Parks Activities, Past 12 months (n=95) 

 

When survey respondents were asked where they primarily participate in these 
recreation and park activities, the most common response was at home (46%), followed 
by at a municipal park or facility within the Township of Puslinch (40%), and outside of 
the Township (39%).  

Barriers to Participation in Recreation and Parks Activities 

Respondents were generally divided when asked if they or members of their household 
are able to participate in recreation and parks activities as often as they would like. 47% 
of survey respondents identified that they were able to participate in recreation and 
parks activities as often as they would like, while 48% of respondents indicated that they 
were not (5% were unsure). Over half of survey respondents who were unable to 
participate in recreation and parks activities as often as they would like indicated that 
this was due to a lack of personal time/too busy (57% of those unable to participate), 

81%

63%

56%

45%

45%

41%

41%

29%

26%

26%

21%

13%

13%

11%

9%

9%

7%

7%

3%

Walking or Hiking for Leisure

Swimming

Aerobics, Fitness or Weight-training

Hockey, Figure Skating, or Ice Skating

Dog Walking (on and off leash)

Cycling or Mountain Biking

Use of Playground Equipment

Soccer

Running or Jogging

Baseball or Softball

Pre-School or Children Programs

Gymnastics

Organized Seniors Programs

Curling

Volleyball

Organized Teen Programs

Basketball

Tennis

Skateboarding



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 17 

followed closely by the lack of desired facilities or programs (54%). A summary of 
responses are contained in the following figure. 

Figure 5: Barriers to Participation (n=46) 

 

Our experience in other communities suggests that lack of time is often the primary 
barrier to participation. Although there is little that the Township (and its community 
partners) can do to alleviate the time constraints of local residents, ensuring that 
recreation and parks facilities, services, and programs are accessible (via appropriate 
operating hours, flexible times, etc.) could assist with facilitating a greater level of 
participation in local leisure opportunities. 

The fact that a lack of desired facilities or programs was also reported as a significant 
barrier to participation suggests that current recreation and parks opportunities are not 
meeting expectations. Specific gaps are explored in a subsequent section.  

Participation in Recreation and Parks Activities within Puslinch 

The survey asked where households typically participate in parks and recreation 
activities. Only 5% of survey respondents reported that ‘All’ of their recreation and parks 
needs are met within the Township of Puslinch. A majority of respondents indicated that 
‘Some’ (45%) or ‘About Half’ (32%) of their recreation needs are met within the 
Township. As a follow-up question, respondents were asked what recreation and parks 
activities they participate in outside of the Township.  

A broad range of leisure pursuits were articulated including swimming (38% of those 
who participate outside of the Township), fitness/aerobics/weight-training (25%), 
walking/running/hiking (23%), hockey/ringette (16%), and baseball/softball (11%).  

Survey respondents were then asked why they choose to travel outside of the Township 
to participate in these activities. An overwhelming majority of respondents identified that 
it was because the facility or program is not available in the Township (84%). The 
second most common response was that the quality of the facility or program in the 
other community is superior (17%).  

57%

54%

17%

15%

15%

13%

7%

2%

Lack of personal time / Too busy

Lack of desired facilities or programs

Lack of information / Unaware of opportunities

Program not offered at a convenient time

Lack of transportation / Facility too far away

Lack of money / Too expensive

Health problems / Disability / Age

Lack of Child Care



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 18 

Through an open-ended question, survey respondents were asked if there were any 
recreation and parks activities they would like to see offered that are not currently 
available. 63% of respondents identified that there were activities they would like to see 
offered. The most common activities respondents would like to see offered within the 
Township were swimming (38%), hockey and recreational skating programs (23%), 
hiking trails (18%), aerobics/fitness/weight-training (13%), and a splash pad (11%). 
When asked which organization should be providing these new opportunities, 67% of 
respondents felt that these activities should be provided as a partnership between the 
Township of Puslinch, community/volunteer organizations, and the private sector, while 
43% indicated that they should be provided solely by the Township and 17% supported 
sole provision through community/volunteer organizations. 

Importance and Satisfaction of Recreation and Parks Facilities 

To gauge the level of importance of and satisfaction with various recreation and parks 
facilities in the Township, respondents were asked to rate select facility types. Overall, 
respondents generally reported higher levels of importance for each facility type 
compared to their level of satisfaction. Lower levels of satisfaction typically indicates 
that the Township’s facilities are not meeting respondents’ expectations and that there 
may be opportunities for improvement. The greatest gap in importance and satisfaction 
levels exists among trails and pathways in the Township; respondents indicated that this 
facility type was most important to their household (89%); however, only 31% of 
households were satisfied with them. A notable gap in importance and satisfaction is 
also observed in passive parks such as natural areas and open space; 79% of 
households expressed that this facility type is important to their household, although 
37% of households were satisfied with them. A summary of results is illustrated in the 
following figure.  

Figure 6: Importance and Satisfaction on Select Facility Types (n=88 – 92)  

 

When respondents were asked to rate their level of satisfaction with the recreation and 
parks opportunities in the Township available to specific age groups, respondents were 
most satisfied with opportunities for children (34%), followed by teens (29%), older 
adults and seniors (16%), and adults (14%). Most respondents were neither satisfied 

31%

60%

37%

55%

89%

86%

79%

73%

Trails and Pathways

Outdoor Recreation facilities such as
sports fields and playgrounds

Passive Parks that preserve natural areas
and open space

Indoor Recreation facilities such as
arenas and community centres

Satisfaction

Importance



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 19 

nor dissatisfied. These results are generally consistent with other communities we have 
surveyed as there are gaps in recreation and parks opportunities across each age 
group, particularly among adults, older adults, and seniors.  

Recreation and Parks Facility Priorities 

To understand the priorities for the provision of recreation and park facilities, 
respondents were asked to identify their support for spending additional public funds on 
various facility types. The top facility types were playgrounds (81%), nature trails (79%), 
parks and open space (76%), fitness centres (73%), soccer fields (69%), splash pads 
(69%), and spaces for youth (68%). With the exception of soccer fields, these top facility 
types reinforce respondents’ preference for unstructured and self-scheduled recreation 
activities.  

By contrast, survey respondents were most opposed to spending additional public funds 
on off-leash dog parks (24%), paved trails (20%), tennis courts (18%), skateboard parks 
(17%), and ball diamonds (16%), although there was more support than opposition for 
each of these items. A summary of results is illustrated in the following figure. 

Figure 7: Support for Spending Additional Public Funds on Improving and/or Developing Facilities 
(n= 87 – 92) 

 

Respondents were asked to rate their level of support with a number of statements 
related to the provision of recreation and park opportunities in the Township of Puslinch, 
the results of which are illustrated in the following figure. It is clear that recreation and 

81%

79%

76%

73%

69%

69%

68%

64%

62%

61%

60%

57%

56%

48%

48%

42%

42%

5%

6%

7%

14%

9%

13%

10%

15%

12%

9%

11%

16%

11%

18%

20%

24%

17%

Playgrounds

Nature Trails

Parks and Open Space

Fitness Centres

Soccer Fields

Splash Pads

Space for Youth (e.g., youth centre)

Community Halls

Gymnasiums

Space for Seniors (e.g., seniors' centre)

Basketball Courts (outdoor)

Baseball or Softball Diamonds

Community Gardens

Tennis Courts

Paved Trails

Off-Leash Dog Parks

Skateboard Parks

Support

Oppose



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 20 

parks facilities are very important to survey respondents. While respondents generally 
feel that the parks and facilities are well maintained, there may be opportunities to 
improve the number and distribution of parks in the Township. There was also some 
support for the provision of registered or drop-in programs offered by the Township. 

Figure 8: Level of Agreement with Statements about Recreation and Parks (n=91 – 92) 

 

Respondents also had an opportunity to submit any final comments regarding the 
provision of recreation and parks in the Township of Puslinch. A broad range of 
comments were received, primarily regarding the provision of recreation and park 
facilities. A number of respondents reported that there should be more trails and cycling 
lanes in the Township, as well as improving existing trails by maintaining trails and 
marking pathways. Many suggested that there is need for a splash pad and dog park. 
The need to maintain the Township’s ball diamonds and provide additional soccer fields 
(including lit fields) was also articulated. By contrast, other respondents indicated that 
there should be limited spending for new recreation and park facilities. Instead, 
respondents felt that Township residents should be utilizing recreation facilities provided 
by the City of Guelph. 

Respondents also provided comments related to improving local programming, such as 
the need to bring back hockey at the Optimist Recreation Centre (ORC). Some 
respondents also felt that local residents should have a greater priority in utilizing the 
gymnasium at the ORC.  

Profile of Survey Respondents 

The median age of survey respondents was 49 years, which is slightly higher compared 
to the median age reported in the 2011 Census (47.6 years), which is not unexpected 
as surveys are not typically completed by children. The average size of responding 
households was 3.4 persons, higher than the average household size identified by the 
2011 Census (2.9). An over-representation of families with children is often expected in 

76%

74%

64%

49%

48%

46%

The Township's recreation and parks facilities are
generally well maintained.

Recreation and parks should be a high priority for
Township Council.

The Township should offer recreation and parks
programs (registered or drop-in) for residents.

Your household is generally satisfied with the
geographic distribution of recreation facilities in the

Township.

There are sufficient parks and open spaces in your
area to meet your needs.

Your household is generally satisfied with the
geographic distribution of parks and open spaces

in the Township.



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 21 

these types of voluntary surveys, particularly as they may have a higher interest in 
recreation and parks activities and are more likely to respond to this survey. This 
assumption is supported by the following data. 

Table 3: Household Age Structure of Survey Respondents (n=90) 

Age Group  
Online 
Survey 

2011 Census 

Children (0 – 9)  20% 8% 

Youth (10 – 19)  9% 13% 

Younger Adults (20 – 34)  14% 12% 

Mature Adults (35 – 54) 30% 31% 

Older Adults (55 – 69) 21% 24% 

Seniors (70+) 6% 12% 

Total 100% 100% 

With respect to distribution, 45% of the respondents live north of Highway 401, east of 
Hanlon Parkway / Highway 6 North, in communities such as Aberfoyle and Arkell. 40% 
of respondents live south of Highway 401 in communities including Morriston and 
Puslinch Lake. 14% of respondents live in rural areas north of Highway 401, west of 
Hanlon Parkway / Highway 6 North.  

4.3 Stakeholder Survey 

A self-administered online survey oriented towards stakeholder groups (e.g., community 
associations, volunteer organizations, local agencies, partners, facility/park renters, etc.) 
was initiated in October 2014 to collect information regarding group participation, facility 
utilization, and future group needs, and more. A total of 10 surveys were completed and 
received from the groups listed below, followed by a summary of key findings. Additional 
information about each stakeholder group can be found in Appendix D. Interviews were 
also conducted with a number of these groups (see section 4.4).  

 Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association 

 Aberfoyle Parent-Child Place 

 Badenoch Community Centre Board 

 Cross Roads Memorial Church 

 Fergie Jenkins Baseball  

 Puslinch Minor Ball 

 Puslinch Minor Soccer Club 

 The Clarks of Tomfad 

 The Spiritual Assembly of the 
Baha’is of Puslinch 

 Whistle Stop Co-op Preschool 

Expanding Programs and Services 

Two-fifths (40%) of survey respondents expressed plans to expand the scope of their 
programs or services within the next three years, while the remaining three-fifths (60%) 
reported that there would be no change. Groups that identified plans for expansion 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 22 

included the Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association, Cross Roads Memorial Church, 
Puslinch Minor Soccer, and the Clarks of Tomfad.  

With the exception of the Clarks of Tomfad, a common constraint that was identified 
was the need for appropriate facility space. The Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association 
noted that while there is sufficient physical space at the Optimist Recreation Centre to 
increase the number of vendors, the arena floor pad is slippery and temporary walls are 
required to minimize cross winds and the weather elements. The Cross Roads 
Memorial Church noted that the basement of their facility is not accessible and 
volunteers are needed to assist with services and programs. The Puslinch Minor Soccer 
Club also identified that they are nearly at maximum capacity and require additional field 
space, preferably one that is lit.  

Improving Municipal Recreation Facilities 

Survey respondents identified a number of opportunities to improve municipal recreation 
facilities, several of which were mentioned above. A comment was also received to 
replace some of the cupboards in the Alf Hales room at the Puslinch Community 
Centre, although it is recognized that this issue has been acknowledged and a 
replacement program is already underway. Additional storage for large items in the Alf 
Hales room was also expressed.  

Locations of Play 

Eighty percent (80%) of respondents utilize municipal facilities in the Township. The 
Puslinch Community Centre was the most common facility used by responding 
organizations, followed by the Optimist Recreation Centre, ball diamonds, and soccer 
fields.  

Half of the responding stakeholders (50%) also utilize facilities in other communities; 
primarily in Guelph. The use of facilities in Guelph/Eramosa was also reported. The use 
of facilities in other communities is largely due to the fact that these organizations 
generally cater to participants across multiple municipalities. Sports groups including 
Puslinch Minor Ball and Puslinch Minor Soccer also reported participation in away 
games in adjacent communities. 

Providing New Recreation Facilities 

Only 20% of survey respondents identified the need for new municipal recreation 
facilities in the next five to ten years, while half of the groups (50%) reported that they 
did not and 30% were unsure. The desire for a baseball complex and field house as well 
as additional (and lit) soccer fields was expressed.  

Willingness to Contribute 

About one-third (30%) of responding groups reported that their organization would be 
willing to contribute to improving or developing new recreation facilities, while one-third 
identified that they were not and 40% were unsure. Options for participating in municipal 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 23 

projects included through partnerships (60%), fundraising (20%) and another form of 
contribution (20%) such as a personal donation. 

Inclusivity 

It was clear that responding stakeholders recognized the importance of providing 
inclusive programs and services by implementing mechanisms to remove participation 
barriers. Some groups reported that they provide free to low-cost programs, such as the 
Puslinch Minor Soccer Club, which has partnered with the Children’s Foundation of 
Guelph and Wellington to provide financial assistance to those in need. Other groups 
suggested that public transit from Guelph should be made available at the Puslinch 
Community Centre to allow those without access to a vehicle to travel between the 
Township and Guelph.  

Providing Additional Supports 

One-third (30%) of responding groups reported the need for additional supports from 
the Township. Requests included an annual grant, volunteers, and facility space for an 
office, mailbox, and storage. Two-fifths (40%) of responding groups indicated that they 
do not require additional supports and 30% were unsure. 

4.4 Focus Groups and Key Informant Interviews 

Several key informant interviews were undertaken with various community partners and 
stakeholders during November 2014 to provide an opportunity for organizations to 
speak candidly about a range of recreation and park topics. Subjects included facility 
utilization, areas for improvement, programming and service needs, opportunities for 
partnerships and funding, and more. Input received from these consultation sessions 
are confidential, although key directions have been integrated into subsequent sections 
of the Master Plan, as appropriate. Groups that participated in the focus groups and 
interviews included: 

 Aberfoyle Agricultural Society/Fall Fair 

 Aberfoyle Parent-Child Place Playgroup 

 Badenoch Community Centre Board 

 Duff’s Presbyterian Church 

 Fergie Jenkins Baseball 

 Optimist Club of Puslinch 

 Puslinch Lake Conservation Association 

 Puslinch Minor Soccer Club 

 Puslinch Minor Ball 

 Puslinch Men’s Senior Fastball 

 Puslinch Oldtimers Baseball 

 Puslinch Senior Ladies Baseball 

 Puslinch Tennis Club 

 Mini Lakes  

 Whistle Stop Co-op Preschool 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 24 

4.5 Public Open House and Public Meeting 

A Public Open House and Public Meeting were held on April 11th and 16th, 2015, 
respectively, to present the draft Recreation & Parks Master Plan to solicit initial 
feedback from the public. A total of 11 residents attended including representatives of 
local organizations and general members of the public. The feedback received was 
generally positive, with particular support for trails, a public tennis court, enhanced use 
of the Optimist Recreation Complex, and the continual need for public engagement. The 
Puslinch Minor Soccer Club indicated support for new soccer fields at the Puslinch 
Community Centre. Positive comments were also received regarding the splash pad as 
it provides an excellent opportunity to be used by students of Aberfoyle Public School, 
although concerns were expressed over its cost. Two pieces of subsequent 
correspondence from Township residents expressed concern over the possible removal 
of a lit ball diamond and support for additional cycling routes and outdoor recreation 
(possibly through the rehabilitation of former gravel pits).   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 25 

5. EXISTING ASSETS & PROVIDERS 

This section provides an inventory of existing recreation and park assets and programs 
found within the Township of Puslinch and surrounding area. The amenities and 
services described in this section includes those owned and operated by the Township 
of Puslinch and other community partners including the County, Conservation Authority, 
school board, and other providers. 

5.1 Municipal Recreation Facilities 

Puslinch Community Centre 

The Puslinch Community Centre is owned by the Township and functions as a hub of 
leisure activity for local and regional residents. Flanked by residential and natural open 
space, the Community Centre is located on the same lands as the Wellington County 
Library (Puslinch Branch), Puslinch Community Centre Park and Optimist Recreation 
Centre. Constructed in 1981, the Community Centre boasts a range of indoor and 
outdoor recreation opportunities. It contains a community hall that is available for 
weddings, banquets, and other large events. The hall, known as the Archie MacRobbie 
Room, has a capacity between 247 and 362 guests and is supported by an associated 
commercial kitchen, bar, and patio. A smaller meeting room, known as the Alf Hales 
Room, is also located within the Community Centre, which has a capacity of 40 to 70 
persons and is equipped with storage space. 

The facility is generally in excellent condition, with recent upgrades including a new 
accessible washroom and new hardwood floor in the main hall. Roof repairs were also 
recently completed to address a water leak issue. A building condition assessment 
undertaken in early 2014 identified approximately $354,750 in building upgrades and 
replacement of various building components including, but not limited to, electrical and 
mechanical equipment, roof panels, and windows and doors.  

Optimist Recreation Centre 

The Optimist Recreation Centre is located on the same lands as the Puslinch 
Community Centre and Wellington County Library (Puslinch Branch) and Puslinch 
Community Centre Park. Constructed in 2010, the Optimist Recreation Centre features 
a covered outdoor skating rink (20 metres by 43 metres) and a gymnasium (17 metres 
by 16 metres). The facility was constructed through funding provided by the Building 
Canada Fund and Optimist Club of Puslinch, totaling approximately $1.75 Million. An 
additional $350,000 was contributed from the Township. A small activity room 
complements the skating rink and gymnasium, in addition to four change rooms. These 
facilities can be used for a broad range of leisure activities including, but not limited to, 
recreational skating, weddings, banquets, fundraisers, roller skating, farmers’ markets, 
the Aberfoyle Fall Fair, and more. This facility is staffed by the Facility Operator and 
part-time employees, along with seasonal use of volunteers by the Optimist Club of 
Puslinch.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 26 

Badenoch Community Centre 

Located in Badenoch, the Badenoch Community Centre was a former school erected in 
1889, although the building has no heritage designation. This facility is owned by the 
Township and operated by a group of volunteers (the Badenoch Community Centre 
Board, which is not a formal board of Council or board of management) as a community 
hall suitable for weddings, banquets, meetings, and other small events. The Board is 
generally responsible for minor changes and day-to-day operations, while the Township 
is responsible for other major works. A practice ball diamond and swing set is located 
outside, in addition to parking for approximately 20 cars.  

The facility is generally in good condition and is equipped with a full kitchen and 
bathrooms, although the building is not accessible. The roof was also recently replaced 
in 2010. A wheelchair ramp flanks the east side of the building; however it is not built to 
code. The building also has a basement, although it is not currently utilized. A building 
condition assessment prepared in early 2014 identified several areas requiring attention 
including fire safety supplies, water infiltration repairs, water treatment equipment, light 
fixtures, and replacement of the furnace, heating oil tank, windows, doors, and hot water 
tank, as well as exterior wall rehabilitation. These projects are estimated to cost 
approximately $135,850. In addition to the improvements identified in the building 
condition report, a number of enhancement opportunities may exist including upgrading 
the building to ensure that it is accessible, improving outdoor amenities, and developing 
a trail connection to the Badenoch Tract to the west. 

5.2 Parks 

The Township provides approximately 22.2 hectares (54.9 acres) of active and passive 
parkland at nine sites. With 7,240 residents, the Township is providing a parkland 
service level of about 3.1 hectares per 1,000 residents. Moreover, other non-municipal 
parks are found in the Township from providers including Conservation Authorities, 
Wellington County, Upper Grand District School Board and private recreation and parks 
providers. The following is a description of the existing conditions and potential 
opportunities of some of the notable municipal and non-municipal parks available to 
residents. 

Aberfoyle Public School (School Board) 

The Aberfoyle Public School is located in Aberfoyle, approximately 200 metres from the 
Puslinch Community Centre. Located adjacent to a number of residential dwellings, 
residents have access to a number of outdoor recreation facilities available at the Public 
School including an intermediate soccer field, three practice ball diamonds, two 
basketball courts, and a playground and swing set. The soccer and ball fields are in 
poor condition and are not generally used by the community. The school also offers a 
gymnasium, which provides opportunities for community rentals under the Community 
Access to Schools initiatives.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 27 

Boreham Park 

Boreham Park is a small neighbourhood park located in Arkell. This park largely 
consists of open space, with the exception of a small slide and swing set with a sand 
base. A single bench, trash receptacle, and street light complement the playground. A 
drainage swale traverses through the park, which may pose an accessibility issue for 
some users. Future opportunities may exist to upgrade the playground with the addition 
of a border and new base fill material. Limited grass parking is available on site, 
although it is likely that this park is generally used by residents within walking distance.  

Badenoch Field 

Badenoch Field is located in Badenoch, approximately 350 metres west of the 
Badenoch Community Centre. Surrounded by mostly natural open space and 
agricultural lands, Badenoch Field offers one unlit full soccer field (formerly used as a 
ball diamond) and is supported by off-street parking, a permanent storage facility and 
portable washroom. Future opportunities may include the development of a trail 
connection to the Badenoch Trail, which is located east of Badenoch Field. 

Calvary Baptist Church Soccer Fields (Private) 

The Calvary Baptist Church Soccer Fields are located approximately 700 metres west 
of Arkell. The lands are owned by the Calvary Baptist Church and are maintained by the 
Township; however, a formal operating agreement does not currently exist. One full and 
two intermediate soccer fields exist at this location and are used by the Puslinch Minor 
Soccer Club and other groups, all of which are unlit. The fields are supported by ample 
parking with the associated Church, in addition to a portable washroom. No 
opportunities for improvement exist at this location given that the Township does not 
own the lands. Long-term availability of this site is unknown given that there is no formal 
agreement with the Church.  

Fox Run Park 

Fox Run Park is located north of Aberfoyle. This flag-shaped park is bordered by 
residential dwellings on all sides with extremely limited frontage along Fox Run Drive 
and Deer View Ridge. No amenities or facilities are available at this park and no 
signage exists identifying its location. As this park is land locked and largely serves as 
an extended backyard for neighbouring estate residential dwellings, this park may be 
suitable to naturalize or divest from the Township’s responsibilities.  

Morriston Historical Block Corner Park 

Morriston Historical Block is located in the west corner of Queen Street and Church 
Street, where the Old Morriston Town Hall once stood. According to the Clarks of 
Tomfad, a committee was formed in 1978 consisting of representatives of the Women’s 
Institute, community partners, and interested members of the public to create a park to 
remember the former Town Hall. The passive park is approximately 0.13 hectares (0.31 
acres) in size with picturesque vegetation, pathway, and seating. Limited opportunities 
are available at this site due to the small size of the park. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 28 

Morriston Meadows 

Morriston Meadows is located within the community of Morriston, surrounded by 
residential dwellings, open space, and commercial businesses. This active park offers 
an unlit adult softball diamond, a small practice diamond, basketball court, and a 
playground with a sand base, all of which are in generally good condition. Supporting 
amenities at this park include a permanent washroom, pavilion, and ample parking.  

Old Morriston Ball Field 

Old Morriston Ball Field is located in the community of Morriston, adjacent to residential 
dwellings and open space. Owned by the Township, this park has one lit softball 
diamond and batting cage with associated permanent washrooms, and limited grass 
parking and open space. The facilities are generally in good condition (with the 
exception of the washrooms), although potential opportunities for improvement include 
updating lighting and park signage. The Township’s long-term capital budget has 
allocated $50,000 to replace the light standards for 2016-17, which is subject to the 
outcome of this Master Plan. 

Puslinch Community Centre Park 

The Puslinch Community Centre Park is co-located with the community centre, Optimist 
Recreation Centre, and Puslinch Branch Library. As previously described, several 
passive and active outdoor recreation opportunities exist, including a tranquil 
ornamental garden provided in partnership by the Puslinch Horticultural Society. Active 
recreation facilities include one unlit intermediate soccer field, one lit softball diamond, 
horseshoe pits, playground, and three lit club tennis courts (public access restricted). A 
horse paddock and tractor pull area is also located at the rear of the Park, which is used 
during the Aberfoyle Fall Fair. The outdoor facilities are generally in good condition, 
although the Tennis Club has requested improvements. 

In 2012, the Township purchased 4 hectares (10 acres) of land immediately adjacent to 
the rear of the Puslinch Community Centre Park complex, with the intent of developing 
them for future recreation uses. These lands currently contain an open field and a 
wooded area along a tributary of Mill Creek. The development potential of the lands is 
limited due to the Core Greelands designation, current zoning (Natural Environment), 
location within the floodplain, and proximity to a wetland. Pre-consultation with the 
GRCA and County Planning and Development Department indicated that passive 
recreational uses would be permitted. A more active form of recreation, such as soccer 
fields and parking, would require an amendment to the Zoning By-Law and assurances 
that no infrastructure or paved parking would be located on the lands, nor any 
significant change in grading. 

In June 2012, the Township held a stakeholder group meeting to discuss options for the 
development of the newly acquired lands at the rear of the Park. Ideas generated from 
this session included a full size lit soccer field, walking track, parking, playground/picnic 
area, equestrian ring, outdoor pavilion, and skate park. A concept and master plan for 
the lands was subsequently developed, but has yet to be implemented. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 29 

Puslinch Lake Park (Private) 

A private park is located in the private community of Puslinch Lake. This neighbourhood 
park largely consists of open space that can support a range of passive leisure 
opportunities. Active recreation facilities include an unlit tennis court, basketball hoop, 
and playground, which are all in generally fair condition. An old baseball backstop is 
also located at this park. Given that the private park is not operated or maintained by 
the Township, opportunities for improvement are limited. 

Telfer Glen Park 

Telfer Glen Park is a small naturalized park in Morriston with generally thick vegetation. 
Located along Calfass Road south of Queen Street and north of Settlers Court, Telfer 
Glen Park is approximately 1.5 hectares (3.8 acres) in size and offers a naturalized trail 
loop. Limited opportunities are available given the naturalized state of the park. 

5.3 Trails 

Approximately 33.3 kilometres of natural off-road trails are located throughout the 
Township of Puslinch. This section provides a brief description of each trail located on 
lands owned by the Township, County of Wellington, and various Conservation 
Authorities. A select number of trails are also located on privately owned lands and 
others are maintained by the Guelph Hiking Trail Club. 

Badenoch Tract Trail 

As previously described, Badenoch Tract is situated between the Badenoch Community 
Centre to the east and Badenoch Field to the west. Owned and maintained by 
Wellington County, the 1 kilometre trail has a grass and dirt surface for a number of 
activities including walking, hiking, cross-country skiing, and mountain biking. The 
trailhead is located along Watson Road South, which has limited parking, park signage, 
and a wayfinding station, although the wayfinding sign is currently not in use. Given that 
the Township does not own or maintain the Badenoch Tract, there is limited opportunity 
for improvement, although options may exist to develop connections to the Tract from 
Badenoch Field and the Badenoch Community Centre. 

Lakeshore Lookout Trail 

The Lakeshore Lookout Trail is located at the Mountsberg Conservation Area, which 
straddles the border between Wellington County and Halton Region, and is owned and 
maintained by the Halton Region Conservation Authority. This admission-based 
Conservation Area provides several passive recreation activities including, but not 
limited to, hiking, bird watching, educational programs, and environmental events such 
as maple syrup harvesting demonstrations and wagon rides.  

The Conservation Area provides 16 kilometres of walking trails, although the Lakeshore 
Lookout Trail located within the Township measures approximately 5 kilometres, 
suitable for walking, hiking, cross-country skiing, and snow shoeing. Several amenities 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 30 

are available along the trail including rest stations, trash receptacles, and two lookout 
towers. A visitors centre, signage, parking, and washrooms are also available.  

Little Tract Trail 

Little Tract Trail is located in the rural area of the Township on the north side of 
Wellington Road 34 between Wellington Road 32 and 35. This trail is owned and 
maintained by Wellington County Forest, which provides over 8 kilometres of natural 
hiking trails that range between easy and moderate difficulty levels as there are a 
number of sloping areas along the walking route. The trail length, difficulty, and quality 
may vary throughout as there may be a number of informal hiking trails blazed by 
previous users. The trailhead is located along Wellington Road 34 with park signage 
and a wayfinding station, although the wayfinding station does not display any 
information about the trail. It is currently being utilized by the community as an 
informational bulletin board. A parking lot is also located at the trailhead, which can 
support a number of vehicles.  

Smith Side Trail 

Smith Side Trail (also known as Smith Property Loop) is located approximately one 
kilometre northwest of Arkell. This trail is owned by the Grand River Conservation Area 
(GRCA) and is maintained by the Guelph Hiking Trail Club. The trail has a natural 
surface with a moderate difficulty and measures approximately 3 kilometres in length. 
The trailhead is located along Watson Road South with park signage identifying the trail 
route, ownership, and permitted uses, which includes walking, cross country skiing, and 
mountain biking. Permitted uses include motorized vehicles, hunting, horseback riding, 
and camping. Signage is also available reminding users that all dogs should be on a 
leash. Road-side parking is also available at the trailhead.  

Speed River Trail 

The Speed River Trail was established through an agreement between the Guelph 
Hiking Trail Club and private land owners, which permits club members and the public 
to cross their lands for the purposes of walking or hiking. Located in the northwest 
corner of the Township of Puslinch, there are two segments of this trail. The first trail 
measures approximately 5 kilometres and is located between Wellington Road 32 and 
Townline Road, on the south side of the Speed River. The second segment measures 
approximately 4 kilometres and is located between Wellington Road 32 and Sideroad 
10 North, on the north side of Speed River. Given that this trail is located on privately 
owned lands, the trail route is unmarked and there may be variations in trail quality and 
difficulty. 

Starkey Hill Trail 

Starkey Hill Trail is located a short distance from Smith Side Trail and approximately 1.2 
kilometres east of Arkell. This trail was originally constructed by the Guelph Hiking Trail 
Club but it is now owned and managed by the GRCA. The trail has a natural surface, 
which measures approximately 4 kilometres in length. Some sections of the trail are 
uneven, offering users a more challenging hike that have a moderate difficulty level. The 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 31 

trailhead is located from Arkell Road, where there is ample parking, a park sign, and a 
wayfinding station that provides users with key information including a map of the 
walking route, native species, and rules for using the trail. Walking and hiking are the 
only activities permitted and any other activity, such as hunting and camping, are 
prohibited. This trail, however, does not have an address sign.  

Telfer Glen Park Trail 

The only trail owned and maintained by the Township of Puslinch is located at Telfer 
Glen Park in Morriston. This short trail loop measures approximately 270 metres in 
length and is located within a naturalized wooded area. Accessible from Calfass Road, 
this trail has a natural hiking surface with an easy to moderate difficulty. A park sign is 
located at the main trail access point; however, there is no wayfinding signage that 
identifies the trail route and other key information. Improvements can also be made to 
improve entrance visibility and vegetation clearing to widen the trail. Limited road-side 
parking is available along Calfass Road, although it is anticipated that this trail is used 
by local residents only.  

Quarry Trail 

Quarry Trail is owned and managed by the Hamilton Conservation Authority as part of 
the Fletcher Ecological Preserve. This unique trail is located in a former quarry, which 
has been rehabilitated since with an assortment of flora and fauna by the Conservation 
Authority in partnership with McMaster University. The trail measures approximately 3 
kilometres with a natural hiking surface. Given that the lands were formerly used as a 
quarry, the trail traverses through elevation changes with moderate difficulty. The trail is 
accessible from Gore Road and Concession Road 7, with parking available at each.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 32 

Figure 9: Parks & Facility Inventory Map, Township of Puslinch 

 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 33 

Figure 10: Parks & Facility Inventory Map, Aberfoyle 

 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 34 

Figure 11: Parks & Facility Inventory Map, Morriston 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 35 

5.4 Non-Municipal Facilities & Services 

In addition to the recreation facilities, parks, and trails described in the previous 
sections, there are several not-for-profit, non-municipal, and private organizations that 
provide a variety of community services. In smaller communities, these organizations 
are often relied upon for providing vital leisure services as municipal resources are often 
limited. As a result, it is imperative that the Township of Puslinch continue to foster 
relationships and support these organizations, where possible, by ensuring that the 
residents are aware of their presence and the services that they provide. In some 
cases, some form of resource sharing may already exist between the Township and 
these organizations as a number of groups may utilize Township facility space to 
conduct their programs, meetings, or events. 

A scan of community partners located in the Township, and those that provide services 
in the Township, are identified below, although this is not an exhaustive list. Detailed 
mandate or services that each organization provides is contained in Appendix E. 

Conservation Authorities 

 Conservation Halton 

 Grand River Conservation Authority 

 Hamilton Conservation Authority 

Community Service / Social Clubs 

 4 H Club Wellington 

 Aberfoyle Agricultural Society 

 Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association 

 Aberfoyle Parent-Child Association 

 Badenoch Community Centre Board 

 Big Brothers Big Sisters of Guelph 

 Clarks of Tomfad 

 Friends of Mill Creek 

 Gravel Watch Ontario 

 Guelph Community Health Centre 

 Guelph Hiking Club 

 Ontario Quarter Horse Association 

 Optimist Club of Puslinch 

 Puslinch Power Camp / YMCA-YWCA of Guelph 

 Puslinch Historical Society 

 Puslinch Junior Garden Club 

 Puslinch Lake Conservation Association 

 Puslinch Red Cross Society 

 Rotary Club of Guelph 

 Seniors’ Euchre Club 

 Square Dance Club 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 36 

 Twilights Dance Club 

Sports Groups 

 Intermediate Mens Fastball 

 Ladies Softball 

 Oldtimers Baseball 

 Puslinch Minor Baseball 

 Puslinch Minor Soccer Club 

 Puslinch Tennis Club 

Churches 

 Arkell United Church 

 Calvary Baptist Church 

 Cross Roads Church 

 Duff’s Presbyterian Church  

 Ellis Community Pioneer Chapel 

 Knox Presbyterian Church-Crieff 

 Mount Carmel-Zion United Church 

 Seventh Day Adventists Reform Movement 

 The Spiritual Assembly of the Baha’is of Puslinch 

Schools 

 Aberfoyle Public School (Aberfoyle) 

 Little Country School (Rural) 

 Scientists in School (Rural) 

 Whistle Stop Co-op Preschool 

Health and Fitness 

 Aberfoyle Yoga 

 Aberfoyle Family Chiropractic 

 Fitness After 50 

 Mango Tree Family Health Team 

 Santosha Yoga and Pilates Studio 

Other Providers (Commercial) 

 Badenoch Archery 

 Cherrylane Equestrian Centre 

 Club 6 Practice Golf 

 Copper County Foods 

 Cornerstone Equestrian Centre 

 Emerald Lake Trailer Resort and Water Park 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 37 

 Fletcher Creek Ecological Preserve 

 Havencrest Riding Academy 

 Irish Creek Stables 

 Kasachie Stables 

 Maple Grove Trailer Park 

 Mini Lakes 

 Puslinch Lake Golf Club 

 Victoria Park Valley Golf Club 

5.5 Parks and Recreation Amenities in Adjacent Communities 

Township residents enjoy access to a wide variety of recreation and park offerings in 
the adjacent communities of Guelph, Milton, Cambridge, and more. Many of these 
facilities and programs are more common in large urban communities that have the 
population and tax base to support them (e.g., indoor arenas, aquatic complexes, 
municipal recreation programming, etc.). The following table contains a summary of 
municipal recreation facilities available in Guelph, Cambridge, and Milton, three urban 
municipalities surrounding the Township, although this is not an exhaustive list. 
Resident access to these services is explored more fully in the following sections of this 
Plan.  

Table 4: Recreation Facilities in Guelph 

Guelph   

Centennial Arena  Single ice pad  

Centennial Pool  23 metre swimming pool  

Clair Road Emergency 
Services 

 Community room  

Evergreen Seniors 
Community Centre 

 Auditorium / Gymnasium 

 Board room 

 Dining room 

 4 Multi-purpose rooms 

 Rotunda / Lounge 

Exhibition Arena / Hall  Single ice pad  Hall 

Guelph Civic Museum  Children’s museum  

River Run Centre  2 Halls  Stage 

Sleeman Centre  Single ice pad  Private suite rental 

Victoria Road Recreation 
Centre 

 Single ice pad 

 50 metre swimming pool 

 25 metre swimming pool 

 Therapy pool 

 Conference room 

 3 Multi-purpose rooms 

West End Community 
Centre 

 Twin ice pads 

 Lap pool 

 Leisure pool 

 Therapy pool 

 Gymnasium  

 2 Multi-purpose rooms 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 38 

Guelph   

Outdoor Recreation 
Facilities 

 36 soccer field locations 

 34 ball diamond locations 

 11 tennis court locations 

 32 basketball court locations 

 83 playgrounds 

 70 kilometres of trails 

 9 splash pads 

 8 leash-free zones 

Table 5: Recreation Facilities in Cambridge 

Cambridge   

Allan Reuter Centre  Fitness centre / conditioning room  50+ Recreation Centre 

Com Dev Indoor Soccer 
Park 

 Indoor artificial turf  

David Durward Centre  Fitness centre / conditioning room  50+ Recreation Centre 

Dickson Centre  Single ice pad  

Duncan McIntosh Arena  Single ice pad  

Galt Arena Gardens  Single ice pad  

Hespeler Memorial Arena  Twin ice pads  

John Dolson  25 metre swimming pool  

Karl Homuth Arena  Single ice pad  

Preston Auditorium  Single ice pad  

W.G. Johnson Centre  23 metre swimming pool 

 Gymnasium 

 Fitness centre 

 50+ Recreation Centre 

William E. Pautler Centre  Fitness centre / conditioning room  50+ Recreation Centre 

Outdoor Recreation 
Facilities 

 36 soccer field locations 

 45 ball diamond locations 

 11 splash pads 

 1 skateboard park 

Table 6: Recreation Facilities in Milton 

Milton   

Boyne Community Hall  Hall  

Mattamy National Cycling 
Centre 

 Cycling track 

 Gymnasium 

 Walking track 

 Fitness centre 

 2 Meeting rooms 

 Event space 

 Ancillary services and shops 

Memorial Arena  Single ice pad  Hall 

Milton Centre for the Arts  Theatre 

 2 halls 

 3 multi-purpose rooms 

Milton Indoor Turf Centre  Indoor artificial turf  

Milton Leisure Centre  25 metre swimming pool 

 Therapy pool 

 Double gymnasium 

 Fitness centre / studio 

 2 multi-purpose rooms 

Milton Seniors Activity 
Centre 

 6 multi-purpose rooms  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 39 

Milton   

Milton Sports Centre  4 ice pads 

 25 metre swimming pool 

 Therapy pool 

 Double gymnasium 

 Walking track 

 7 multi-purpose rooms 

Nassagaweya Tennis 
Centre 

 Hall  Board room 

Nassagaweya Community 
Centre 

 Hall  

Tonelli Sports Centre  Single ice pad  2 multi-purpose rooms 

Outdoor Recreation 
Facilities 

 26 soccer field locations 

 15 ball diamond locations 

 6 tennis court locations 

 16 basketball courts 

 13 splash pads 

 1 skateboard park 

 57 playgrounds 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 40 

6. SERVICE DELIVERY ASSESSMENT 

This Section contains a review of the Township’s existing parks and recreation service 
delivery system, including considerations related to policies, customer service, fees, 
governance, and more. 

6.1 Township Roles & Responsibilities 

Responsibilities for parks and recreation services are split between the Township’s 
Public Works & Parks Department and Administration/Clerks Department. A primary 
function of the Township’s Public Works & Parks Department is to manage the 
operations of the Optimist Recreation Centre and local parks. The Administration/Clerks 
Department oversees the management of the Puslinch Community Centre, facility 
rentals, special events, policy development, and community liaison. The Township does 
not currently have a direct programming role, although it does offer free drop-in times at 
the ORC. 

The strength and success of the Township’s parks and recreation system lies in its ability 
to work in partnership with the community to provide its residents and visitors with high 
quality facilities, programs, and events. In recognizing and utilizing the assets available 
within the community, the Township is able to concentrate on its current role as a 
facilitator of parks and recreation spaces while benefitting from the expertise in parks and 
recreation programming that already exists amongst local residents and organizations. 
This requires collaboration between the Township, volunteers, non-profit providers, 
stakeholder agencies, and the private sector, with each entity delivering a key component 
of the parks and recreation system. Strengthening these collaborations through the 
implementation of a variety of proactive and thoughtful mechanisms should be a key point 
of emphasis for the Township moving forward. 

In terms of providing equitable service delivery, the Township’s role is to respond to the 
broad parks and recreation needs of the community. In activating this role, the following 
municipal service delivery responsibilities are proposed: 

 Understanding local demographics, community issues, and emerging needs and 
trends; 

 Ensuring that the Township’s community facilities are available, safe, affordable, 
and meet the needs of residents and community organizations; 

 Building and fostering relationships with community partners; 

 Playing a supporting role to community organizations, partners, and volunteer 
groups that are directly responsible for the delivery of programs and services; 

 Encouraging parks and recreation opportunities that are inclusive of all groups, 
regardless of background, orientation, and abilities; 

 Advancing parks and trail development through parkland dedication and 
conveyance of land for pathways through the land development process;  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 41 

 Ongoing staff training and development to provide exceptional customer service, 
compliance with legislative requirements, etc.; and 

 Engaging the community in meaningful dialogue through planning, decision-
making, and service delivery processes. 

Recommendation 

1. Continue to serve as a provider of space for parks and recreation opportunities 
within Puslinch by offering the community access to core indoor and outdoor 
facilities (through free use, rental, or other agreement). 

6.2 Programming 

The Township does not currently have a direct role in programming. Other service 
providers such as YMCA-YWCA of Guelph and community groups offer these 
opportunities, while the Township is primarily responsible for facility provision, rentals, 
and maintenance. This model is typical of most small rural communities, but increasing 
pressure to maximize facility utilization and improve the financial bottom line provides 
an opportunity to rationalize the Township’s role in program delivery. 

Several program providers serving people of all age groups currently exist in the 
Township and surrounding municipalities. A summary of local organizations and the 
programs they provide has been compiled and is provided in Section 5.4 and Appendix 
E of this Master Plan. This inventory represents a good starting point in maintaining an 
inventory of recreational opportunities available in the Township. It is recommended that 
the Township continue to improve this inventory in order to maintain an updated 
portfolio of recreation activities in the area. In addition, through activating the proposed 
community development role, the Township should have regular contact with various 
community partners (e.g., YMCA, Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph Public Health / in motion, 
Wellington County Library, Guelph/Wellington Volunteer Centre, Wellington County 
Social Services, Guelph Wellington Seniors Association, school boards, etc.) – either 
collectively (e.g., through committees, working groups, etc.) or individually – to identify 
potential opportunities for community-led programming and facility rentals, with an 
emphasis on low cost options for older adults/seniors and children/youth.  

In terms of programming, types of offerings vary widely from community to community 
across the province. The following are the most common categories: 

 Special events – typically free and open to all that wish to attend – are the most 
basic form of programming that is commonly offered amongst the municipal 
sector. The Township of Puslinch does not directly plan any special events, but 
does host several that are organized by local groups, such as the Aberfoyle Fall 
Fair, Winter Classic, and Canada Day. 

 Drop-in programming – open times during which free or low cost structured or 
unstructured activity takes place, often with little instruction and/or direct 
supervision – is becoming increasingly common as it is responsive to busy 
schedules and is often accepting of a wide range of skill levels. The Township of 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 42 

Puslinch offers drop-in times for sports such as “sticks and pucks” and basketball 
at the ORC. 

 Registered programs – those requiring advance sign-up and often led by a paid 
instructor (paid for partially or fully through a registration fee) – represent the 
most sophisticated form of programming. Registered programs may be one-time 
or a series of sessions and typically require a minimum participant threshold in 
order to run. The Township of Puslinch does not offer any registered programs, 
although some are managed by community groups that rent municipal facilities. 
Examples of registered programs offered in other municipalities include 
swimming and skating lessons, arts and dance classes, summer camps, and a 
wide range of special interest courses such as computers, photography, cooking, 
specific sports, and much more. 

Depending on the type of programming offered, the development of a municipal 
program function would come with it the need for additional staff resources, something 
in short supply in the Township. For example, registered programs for youth and/or 
older adults would require instructional and clerical support and would likely require 
ongoing municipal subsidies in order to encourage usage and maintain affordability to 
the user.  

Costs aside, the abundance of quality program opportunities in adjacent urban 
municipalities (particularly registered programs), combined with options offered by local 
volunteer organizations (e.g., sports groups, service clubs, etc.) and service providers, 
suggest that Township residents have reasonable access to a wide variety of program 
opportunities.  

Given this and the level of risk associated with registered programming, we cannot 
recommend that the Township take on a direct programming role at this time. Instead, 
where resources and availability allows, additional efforts may be taken to offer a 
growing complement of drop-in programs or times (particularly at the ORC gymnasium, 
which has a dedicated staff presence), as well as non-registered special or one-time 
events. As outlined in the previous section, the Township should also play a stronger 
role in encouraging and promoting the programs of those community service providers 
that utilize municipal facilities. 

In examining activity demands, it is important to note that the Township’s population 
base is growing (slowly), but also aging. The older adult and senior age groups will 
become more important markets over time due to the aging baby boomer demographic. 
Trends suggest that there are a growing number of older adults participating in active 
recreational activities (e.g., zumba, pole walking, dance, etc.), thereby creating new 
demands for expanded and emerging activities. 

In playing a supporting role in program delivery, the Township must work to facilitate 
and promote the provision of third-party active living, sport, and community activities in 
its facilities and parks. One opportunity to do so is through participation in “Guelph in 
motion”, a regional collaborative developed out of a partnership between Wellington 
County, Dufferin County, and the City of Guelph that aims to address physical inactivity 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 43 

among its communities. The goals of “in motion” are to: increase access to recreation; 
design communities that allow citizens to safely commute to and from work, school or 
play by walking or cycling; increase residents’ physical activity rates; and create policies 
to support residents being active. Although the Township of Puslinch is already a 
partner in the “in motion” initiative, greater participation in this program will assist in 
achieving the goals of this Master Plan. 

Recommendations 

2. Maintain an up-to-date inventory of recreation opportunities within the community 
(including a database of community groups and their contact information) to 
ensure that a full range of activities are available for all age groups. This 
database should be made accessible to local residents and serve to enhance 
awareness of local activities, programs, leagues, and events. 

3. Establish regular contact with various community partners (e.g., Public Health, 
Library, Social Services, Seniors Association, Volunteer Centre, YMCA, school 
boards, etc.) – either collectively (e.g., through committees, working groups, etc.) 
or individually – to identify potential opportunities for community-led programming 
and facility rentals, with an emphasis on low cost options for older adults/seniors 
and children/youth. 

4. Through municipal leadership, practices, policies, and resources, support 
opportunities for informal, unstructured, and inclusive active recreation 
experiences, including drop-in programs and non-registered special or one-time 
events (where resources and availability allow). 

5. Actively promote physical activity and healthy communities through participation 
in the Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph “in motion” initiative and similar programs. 

6.3 Community Development & Partnerships 

Community development involves building the capacity of local residents and 
community partners in order that they may work together to enhance the community, 
and in this case, the parks and recreation culture opportunities available for residents 
and visitors. It is through this collective attitude and cooperation that issues and gaps 
can be addressed and local expertise and assets emphasized. In Puslinch Township, 
this largely consists of a dedicated base of community organizations, service clubs, and 
volunteers, along with all of the resources (e.g., people power, fundraising capability, 
activity-specific skills and knowledge, etc.) that they possess.  

The role of the Township in community development should be one of coordination, with 
respect to both facilities and service delivery. In particular, it is recommended that the 
Township continue to serve as a provider of space for parks and recreation 
opportunities by offering the community access to core indoor and outdoor facilities 
(through rental or other agreement). The geographic distribution of the Township’s 
population and strategic location in close proximity to a number of other communities 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 44 

that offer a range of leisure opportunities also provide residents with variety and access 
to alternative providers.  

Partnerships are a key tool in the provision of parks and recreation opportunities in most 
municipalities. This is particularly true in the Township of Puslinch, where there is a 
focus of providing facility space and where municipal resources are limited. As 
mentioned, the Township currently works with a number of groups to facilitate facility 
access, as well as countless volunteer groups. These organizations offer a range of 
programs, facilities, and services that enhance their quality of life of Township residents. 

There are undoubtedly numerous organizations within the Township that may be good 
candidates for partnership, but care must be taken to ensure that these agreements are 
mutually beneficial. There are a number of criteria that must be considered prior to 
establishing a partnership with any entity (public, not-for-profit, private, etc.) wishing to 
introduce a new level of service with municipal assistance (e.g., a new facility or 
recreational program). At a minimum, the Township should consider:  

 First and foremost, that the proposed partnership is consistent with the municipal 
mandate and philosophies;  

 That there is a role for the Township to play in the provision of the program or 
service (e.g., facility provision, promotion, coordination, etc.); 

 Whether there is a quantifiable or justified need for the service in the community; 

 That the service can be sustainably accommodated within the Township’s long-
term capital and/or operating resources; 

 Whether the partner is sufficiently capable/qualified (e.g., financially, staffing, 
internal expertise, etc.) to be able to deliver the service over the long-term, and in 
compliance with legislated policies and municipal standards; 

 The level of risk (e.g., financial, liability, etc.) and how this will be managed by the 
partner or the Township; 

 Whether the partner can provide the service on a sole source basis; and 

 Agreeing upon terms, conditions, standards, and responsibilities for all parties 
involved. 

After partnerships are developed and agreements are formalized, it is important that the 
Township regularly meet with its partners to discuss successes and challenges of the 
partnership by revisiting the original agreement and, where necessary, strengthening 
the agreement to ensure that a dynamic process exists to respond to challenges and 
public preferences. For example, the Township could arrange annual or semi-annual 
meetings with partners to discuss not only the effectiveness of the agreements but also 
as a means to continually understand local trends, needs, and usage patterns.  

Recommendations 

6. Seek fundraising, partnership, and sponsorship opportunities that are consistent 
with the Township’s vision in order to reduce reliance on tax dollars in providing 
quality parks and recreation opportunities. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 45 

7. Build relationships with local religious institutions and adjacent municipalities to 
improve collaboration and ensure affordable access to facilities and programs for 
residents. 

6.4 Staffing & Volunteerism 

The Township has made a number of significant investments in the parks and 
recreation staffing complement in recent years. For example, the Township has added a 
full-time Facility Operator for the ORC, two part-time Facility Operators, and has 
elevated the Customer Service Representative to a full-time position. More recently, the 
Township transitioned an Equipment Operator position from seasonal to full-time.  

In addition to municipal staff, volunteers from the Optimist Club of Puslinch (equivalent 
to one full-time position) are available during the week in the winter to assist with 
operations at the Optimist Recreation Centre.  

Based on our review, there are four areas that require specific consideration relative to 
current and future staffing levels: (1) ORC daytime operations; (2) recreation 
management; (3) Township-wide facility maintenance responsibilities; and (4) growth-
related maintenance requirements. These matters are discussed below. 

While the Township has benefited from the volunteer services provided by the Optimist 
Club of Puslinch at the ORC, there are justified concerns with respect to liability, 
accountability, and shift coverage as the volunteers are not directly employed by the 
Township. Although the intentions of the Optimist Club are well placed, the potential 
liabilities associated with volunteer staffing, particularly where there is no immediate on-
site municipal supervision, are considerable. With a desire to enhance utilization of the 
ORC, it is recommended that the Township strongly consider a municipal position to 
oversee the daytime operation of the ORC (the facility is currently supervised by a 
facility operator during evenings through the winter). Opportunities to redeploy the 
volunteer resources to other areas (with appropriate municipal oversight) may be 
considered. 

There is currently a gap in the coordination of community recreation within the 
Township, particularly given the enhanced municipal role outlined in Section 6.1 relative 
to community development activities and policy development. As there is no senior 
administrative position dedicated solely to parks and recreation, these areas are 
generally addressed by the Deputy Clerk on an as-needed basis. An enhanced role in 
community development, drop-in and special event programming, and greater 
participation in the “in motion” program and related initiatives may require additional 
staff resources to make these a success. While a dedicated parks and recreation 
department or senior administrator are not recommended at this time, a part-time 
coordinator position would go a long way toward maximizing facility utilization and 
elevating the priority of recreation in the Township. Depending on how this role fits with 
other municipal requirements, there may be an opportunity to blend this role with the 
new position recommended for daytime supervision at the ORC.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 46 

It is also noted that there is currently no facility maintenance position responsible for 
municipal facilities and properties beyond the Optimist Recreation Centre. As these 
facilities age and require greater upkeep (including event set-up and takedown), this 
may be another area for the Township to address through additional staff resources. As 
this role extends beyond the scope of this Master Plan, consultation with other 
municipal departments is recommended to more fully explore this requirement. 

Lastly, as the Township continues to grow and demand for high quality facilities and 
services increase, additional job realignments and/or new positions may be required in 
the future to enhance organizational competency and effectiveness. For example, the 
Puslinch Community Centre Park expansion lands will require additional resources for 
maintenance; one option may be to elevate a part-time position to full-time to address 
these new responsibilities or to blend this with a Township-wide facility maintenance 
position.  

Special events and programs in the Township are dependent upon volunteers, which 
means that the demand for individuals to fill these positions is high. Traditionally, older 
adults have provided many volunteer hours, although there has been a drive in recent 
years to involve youth in volunteering through mandatory hours being required for 
graduation from Ontario secondary schools. There is still some concern across the 
province that as the population continues to age, there will be a shortage of volunteers if 
proactive solutions are not discovered and put into practice. Community development is 
the preferred approach in attempting to secure a long-term volunteer presence within 
the municipality; engaged residents are more likely to remain involved! 

Recognition of the achievements and efforts of volunteers is also of great importance as 
it can serve as incentive for involvement as well as aid in the retention of existing 
volunteers. The Township recently initiated a volunteer recognition program to show 
their appreciation for volunteers and the Township’s website promotes local volunteer 
opportunities offered by Wellington County. The County database of volunteers is an 
excellent tool to assist local community groups in identifying and matching volunteer 
needs. 

Recommendations 

8. Evaluate options to improve the existing municipal parks and recreation staffing 
model to enhance coordination, accountability, and transparency. This may 
include, but not be limited to, the following: 

a. The creation of a municipal position(s) to coordinate community 
development and recreation policy matters, as well as oversee the 
daytime operation of the ORC; and 

b. Consolidating part-time staff into full-time equivalents (or creating a new 
full-time position) to address growing Township-wide facility and park 
maintenance requirements.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 47 

6.5 Governance 

The Township recently completed a Committee Governance Review that examined the 
governance structure of several municipal committees, such as the Recreation 
Committee and Badenoch Community Centre Board.  

The Recreation Committee is currently responsible for: 

 advising Council on issues that affect all recreation facilities, parks, playing fields, 
playgrounds and community centre (including policy and fee schedules) 

 providing input to Council on the operating and capital budget 

 reviewing existing practices and policies and making recommendations to 
improve the delivery of services to the public 

 bringing forward and discussing concerns raised by the public that may affect the 
operation of the department 

 encouraging and assisting, where necessary, programs of recreation to meet the 
needs and interest of the community 

 reviewing revenue and expense reports 

While the Recreation Committee meets regularly, the length of its agendas are 
dependent upon key projects or issues. For example, the Committee played a large role 
in the planning of the Optimist Recreation Centre as well as this Master Plan. This 
Committee model is effective in many communities. 

A primary role of the Committee is to give a platform for public input on matters relating 
to parks and recreation. In addition, the Committee should assist in defining community 
needs, responding to leisure trends, reviewing policies and budgets, and advising on 
service delivery partnerships. The Committee members have the tools and skills 
necessary to activate this mandate, with support from Township staff. A concentrated 
effort needs to be made to elevate the Committee’s profile and to actively engage the 
community. 

Special projects and initiatives are excellent opportunities to utilize the varied skills and 
knowledge on the Committee. One potential task would be to develop an annual work 
plan identifying key projects and priorities, using this Master Plan as a guide. Within this 
context, it is recommended that the Township undertake a comprehensive review of the 
Recreation Committee’s terms of reference. 

The Badenoch Community Centre Board is responsible for the following: 

 advising Council on issues that affect the Badenoch Community Centre 
(including policy and fee schedules) 

 providing input to Council on the operating and capital budget 

 reviewing existing practices and policies and make recommendations to improve 
the delivery of services to the public 

 bringing forward and discussing concerns raised by taxpayers, users or staff that 
may affect the operation of the department 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 48 

As currently constituted, the Badenoch Community Centre Board operates with much 
autonomy from the Township and has taken over responsibilities for the management 
and operation of the Badenoch Community Centre, having hired a booking coordinator 
that is not a municipal employee. Procedurally, the Board (which has a sitting member 
of Township Council) does not report directly to Council like the Township’s other 
committees, but rather operates as a board of management. However, the Board is not 
incorporated and, therefore, is not subject to the same policies, procedures, and 
guidelines as not-for-profit corporations (requirements that are in place to protect all 
parties involved, including insurance coverage). While this arrangement has been cost-
effective for the Township, the current arrangement lacks the same accountability and 
transparency that other municipal operations enjoy and there are also concerns about 
the long-term viability of this model given the high level of commitment from a small 
number of members. It is recommended that the Township work with the Board to seek 
its incorporation as a not-for-profit entity responsible for the operation of the Badenoch 
Community Centre. Should this direction not be supported by the Board/Council, the 
Township may consider assuming the operational duties for this facility and absorb the 
Board’s mandate into that of the Recreation Committee.  

Recommendations 

9. Undertake a comprehensive review of the Recreation Committee’s terms of 
reference with consideration to the recommendations contained in this Master 
Plan. Seek ways to activate the Committee’s mandate through the development 
of an annual work plan identifying key projects and priorities. 

10. Work with the Badenoch Community Centre Board to seek its incorporation as a 
not-for-profit entity responsible for the operation of the Badenoch Community 
Centre. Should this direction not be supported by the Board/Council, the 
Township may consider assuming the operational duties for this facility and 
absorb the Board’s mandate into that of the Recreation Committee. 

6.6 Communication & Awareness 

Enhancing communication with the Township’s residents should be a high priority. By 
promoting the benefits of maintaining creative, healthy, and active lifestyles, a higher 
quality of life will be achieved. The Township’s recreation and parks system is 
supported by local and regional community partners, who also play a key role in 
educating the public and influencing the degree of active participation within the 
community. However, the availability and quality of leisure activities can be rendered 
ineffective if the public is unaware of the many opportunities that exist.  

At present, Township residents can access recreation and parks information through 
sources such as the Township’s website, Puslinch Pioneer, community organization 
advertisements and publications, roadside signs, and word-of-mouth. While this is a 
good start for promoting local opportunities, a lack of public awareness of facilities, 
activities, and services has been a longstanding issue for the Township (it was noted in 
the Township’s 1988 Leisure Service Delivery System Study). This is not uncommon in 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 49 

rural communities, where residents (and facilities/parks) are geographically dispersed 
and where word-of-mouth remains a preferred form of communication. However, as 
new forms of communication – such as the internet and social media – have become 
more established, more opportunities for raising awareness and reaching new 
audiences are emerging.  

It is recommended that the Township undertake a Communications and Branding 
Strategy to promote local parks and recreation opportunities. Such a strategy can take 
many forms to maximize outreach to residents and regional visitors, thereby enhancing 
utilization of facilities. One option involves the creation of a bi-annual community leisure 
guide, containing all things related to recreation and parks such as the location of parks, 
trails, and facilities, as well as the amenities within them, services provided by the 
Township and its community partners, volunteer opportunities, an events calendar, and 
more. The Puslinch Pioneer and County of Wellington currently provide some of this 
information; however, consolidating all recreation and parks-related information into a 
dedicated community leisure guide would demonstrate the Township’s commitment to 
provide high quality leisure experiences. The community leisure guide may also be 
supplemented with the distribution of digital newsletters containing key messages or 
discussions of current issues. The creation of consistent signage at all parks and 
facilities may also assist with building the Township’s recreation and parks brand, and is 
discussed in greater detail in section 8.4 of this Master Plan. 

Best practices suggest that the use of the internet (through Facebook, YouTube, 
Twitter, mobile applications, etc.) has become a primary medium for targeting the 
public. The use of technology is particularly effective for reaching younger 
demographics, although traditional means should continue to be utilized to remain 
inclusive of those who are less technologically-savvy. Extending the Township’s 
marketing mediums to include emerging technological and social media solutions can 
assist with reaching a broader range of residents. 

The Township recently completed an update to its website to improve its scope and 
usability. With respect to recreation and parks, online visitors may now find information 
about community facilities and parks and the amenities within them, as well as a 
recreation and leisure calendar for activities at the Optimist Recreation Centre. This is a 
positive step forward. 

It is also crucial for the public to be aware of the many ways for them to become 
engaged and provide feedback to decision-makers. The Township should provide 
opportunities to facilitate dialogue between groups (e.g., the Recreation Committee, 
community partners, and residents) through an annual forum (or a similar approach) in 
order to bolster communication and to promote a collaborative approach in service 
delivery. Additional engagement opportunities should also be provided prior to 
undertaking large community projects to solicit input from the public.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 50 

Recommendations 

11. Undertake a Communications & Branding Strategy to promote local parks and 
recreation opportunities. This Strategy may include: 

a. Publishing a bi-annual community leisure guide containing information 
relating to parks, trails, and recreation opportunities, as well as other 
services provided by the Township and its community partners; 

b. Exploring digital signage, social media, and emerging technologies to 
maximize awareness opportunities and outreach to wider audiences; and 

c. Township-wide signage to easily identify municipal assets and branding 
(logo, tag line, etc.) and to provide consistent messaging. 

12. Provide opportunities to facilitate dialogue between groups (e.g., Recreation 
Committee, community partners, and residents) through an annual forum (or 
similar approach) in order to bolster communication. Additional engagement 
opportunities should also be provided prior to undertaking large community 
projects to solicit input from the public. 

6.7 User Fees & Financial Assistance 

Recreational user fees can be relied upon to mitigate tax increases, particularly as 
some residents may not participate in certain activities. However, user fees can also 
create concerns relating to affordability and fairness, thereby negating the intrinsic 
benefits generated by subsidization. By allowing free community access to select 
activities at the Optimist Recreation Centre, the Township has recognized that 
recreation should be a subsidized service and that affordable community access is a 
priority. 

There are also several other free to low-cost leisure programs in the City of Guelph and 
Wellington County that are promoted through the Access to Recreation Guide. For 
lower-income individuals and families, details regarding subsidies offered in the Guelph-
Wellington area are also contained in this guide.  

Residents of the Township have benefited from competitively-priced facility rentals for 
some time, including the arena and gymnasium at the Optimist Recreation Centre. The 
Township also applies fees for ball diamonds and soccer fields based on per user 
charge (e.g., residents are charged $10 per player and non-residents pay an additional 
$15).  

The growing popularity of soccer has resulted in the need to revisit the Township’s 
soccer user fee structure to assist with offsetting increasing maintenance costs. Other 
municipalities have implemented a range of fee structures such as per player, per 
game, or per season. The most common fee structure amongst other area 
municipalities may be the pay per game model, with rental rates generally ranging from 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 51 

$20 to $80 for minor groups and $30 to $120 for adult groups, depending on the quality 
and amenity of the field. Forming an operating agreement with user groups or another 
third-party in order to shift maintenance responsibilities from the Township can also limit 
user fees increases. The simplicity and predictability of the participant-based charge are 
key advantages to the Township in maintaining this structure; however, there is also a 
need to establish an hourly charge for groups other than Puslinch Minor Soccer that 
may wish to utilize the fields.  

For ball diamonds, the Township offers an hourly charge for adult and non-resident ball 
groups, as well as a participant-based charge for minor ball participants. Other area 
municipalities apply varying rate structures, although the most common model is per 
game pricing generally ranging from $12 to $60 per game for minor groups and $30 to 
$70 for adult groups. The Township’s ball diamond rental rates are appropriate and do 
not appear to be a reason for the facilities being underutilized.  

The Township’s User Fees and Charges By-law identifies rental rates for various 
recreation facilities, but does not address circumstances for waiving or reducing the 
fees, leaving this to Council’s discretion. For the purposes of equity and transparency, 
the Township should establish a policy relating to special requests for fee waivers. 
Examples from other communities include: each affiliated community organization may 
receive one two-hour room rental free each year for an annual meeting; and non-profit 
youth-based groups may qualify for a discount for Monday to Friday daytime rentals. 

In terms of special funding and in-kind service requests, the Township occasionally 
provides one-time project-specific grants to community organizations to build or 
renovate facilities, provide equipment, or assist in the provision of specific events or 
activities. These grants are not based on a formal policy and are not guided by 
evaluation criteria. There is currently no ongoing annual subsidy available for local 
organizations; requests are heard and decided on by Municipal Council as they arise. 

By adopting a community development approach, it is appropriate for the Township to 
provide a community grant system (with an annual intake from a set pool of money 
within the Township’s budget) through which community organizations can apply for 
funds to: 

 offset start-up funds associated with a group or activity (but not ongoing 
operational costs); 

 to install, build, renovate, or upgrade smaller-scale parks or recreation facilities 
that are needed within the community; and/or  

 to assist with a special program or event that would not otherwise be financially 
viable but that provides a justifiable social or economic return to the Municipality 
as a whole. 

Note: We understand that the Township is seeking to put such a policy and 
mechanism in place in 2015. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 52 

There is typically an expectation that these grants be awarded on a cost-sharing basis, 
with the organization being required to fund a set portion of the cost themselves (e.g., 
through fundraising, user fees, etc.). Most applications would address project-specific or 
one-time projects; however, multi-year funding may also be considered. These grants 
should be based on published criteria that are aligned with the Township’s mandate.  
The grants are not intended to be used to offset rental fees for municipal facilities; 
affordability related to this component is best addressed through a fees and charges 
review and allocation policies. Depending on the needs of the community, the Township 
may consider reducing or increasing the grant allocation on a year-to-year basis, 
recognizing that the program is not intended to be used for major facility or park 
expenditures. 

These grants should be guided by a Community Funding Policy developed and 
implemented by the Township, with guidance from the Recreation Committee. This 
approach – which would set out an annual or bi-annual application process and 
evaluation criteria – is preferred over ad hoc decisions that are made in absence of 
municipal policy and an understanding of broader community needs. 

Recommendations 

13. Promote the use of external partners that provide subsidies for participation in 
recreational opportunities in order to mitigate financial barriers for low income 
households. 

14. Regularly assess rental fees and charges to ensure that they represent a fair and 
equitable balance between true costs and public benefits, are competitive in the 
broader regional market, and allow the Township to meet its financial goals. 

15. Establish an hourly charge for groups interested in renting the Township’s soccer 
fields (other than the local minor soccer association, which pays a fee per 
participant). 

16. Establish a policy to address special requests for fee waivers in an equitable and 
transparent manner. (e.g., each affiliated community organization may receive 
one two-hour room rental free each year for an annual meeting). 

17. Develop a Community Funding Policy and grant program to assist community 
organizations in implementing initiatives that are aligned with the Township’s 
goals and priorities (funding could go towards offsetting the cost of items such as 
materials, equipment, promotion, staffing/administration, etc.). There is an 
expectation that organizations would also be required to fund a portion of the 
cost themselves.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 53 

6.8 Policies & Procedures 

There is an increasing need for municipalities to ensure legislative compliance in all 
areas of operation. As these requirements can change from time to time, a staff 
member should be assigned to complete a full listing and ensure that all parks and 
recreation staff are aware of and are in compliance with applicable legislation. 

Additional and improved facilities in Puslinch are creating the need for greater 
complexity in Township operations. The Optimist Recreation Facility is a good example 
of a project that has brought about the need for many new policies and procedures. A 
focus must continue to be placed on creating policies to guide matters related to risk 
and liability management, health and safety for staff and facility users, government 
regulations, fiscal responsibility, inter-departmental coordination, and operating 
performance.  

Specifically, there is benefit in considering the establishment of a Facility Allocation 
Policy to establish scheduling procedures and booking priorities (e.g., residents v. non-
residents, non-profit v. commercial groups, youth v adult users, etc.). Furthermore, the 
Township does not currently have a policy to articulate the practices and procedures for 
the level and frequency of maintenance of the Township’s sports fields and parks. Such 
a policy may outline a preferred maintenance schedule that gives priority to sports fields 
(as opposed to open space areas) given that these spaces accommodate extensive use 
by sports groups.  

Tracking the number of users associated with sports groups and community 
organizations can assist in identifying facility utilization levels, key trends, changing 
demands, and allocation. Registration data is also commonly used to establish 
quantifiable provision targets to assist with identifying the level of need for municipal 
facilities (e.g., sports fields). It is recommended that the Township tracks annual 
registration data from minor sports organizations, including the number of non-
residents. This should be extended to adult participants and different types of groups, 
which may be achieved through recommended Facility Allocation Policy. 

Some of the Township’s recreation and parks-related practices and procedures are not 
formally documented and there is a need to preserve the managerial and operational 
knowledge established over years of experience and commitment. Clear direction for 
staff is needed to respond to community requests (e.g., booking and insurance 
requirements), to perform day-to-day operations, and to standardize various 
approaches. It is recommended that the Township conduct an annual review of all 
applicable parks and recreation policies and procedures to identify gaps and ensure that 
current policies and procedures are current, fair, and accurate to the parties involved. 

Recommendations 

18. Conduct an annual review of all applicable parks and recreation policies and 
procedures to identify gaps and ensure that current policies and procedures are 
current, fair, and accurate to the parties involved. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 54 

19. Develop a parks maintenance policy for sports fields and other park types. 

20. Develop a facility allocation policy to establish a priority ranking for facility and 
park scheduling, as well as scheduling procedures. 

21. Collect annual registration data from all organizations that use Township parks 
and facilities and monitor facility utilization to assist in tracking trends, changing 
demands, and allocation.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 55 

7. FACILITY NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

This Section evaluates the current supply of indoor and outdoor recreation facilities 
utilizing a combination of market driven targets and other Master Plan inputs to inform 
future facility needs. 

7.1 Methodology 

The current and future (to 2026 and beyond) needs for recreation facilities in the 
Township of Puslinch have been assessed using a blend of factors. In completing this 
task, the Township’s historic provision of leisure facilities has been assessed and gaps 
in geographic distribution have been identified. Public and municipal input has also 
been taken into account, as have local participation and utilization factors.  

To assist in deriving and supporting meaningful recommendations pertaining to 
recreation facilities, quantitative projections of current and future demand for facilities 
have been developed using "Puslinch-specific" facility provision targets, where 
applicable. The purpose of the targets is to provide a general guideline for determining 
facility needs based upon population and/or participation thresholds. Participant-based 
provision targets (e.g., one soccer field per “x” participants) are generally used for 
leisure activities that are primarily registration-driven, while population-based targets 
(e.g., one tennis court per “y” population) are applied to facilities that serve a broader 
cross-section of the community and/or are less structured in their use. The provision of 
some facilities is not driven by provision targets due to a wider variety of factors 
affecting provision and delivery. 

Although the focus of this Master Plan is the entire Township of Puslinch, the needs 
analysis also examines the geographic distribution of neighbourhood-level leisure 
opportunities to better assess proximity and accessibility to residents. Location, travel 
patterns, and historic service levels influence how local residents perceive the 
accessibility of recreation opportunities in the Township. Proximity is one of many 
factors that can increase one’s physical activity.  

Lastly, it is important to note that, given the size and composition of Puslinch, it is not 
feasible nor realistic for the Township to provide the same complement of facilities and 
services typically offered in large urban communities. For example, indoor aquatic 
facilities are one of the most sought after public facilities due to their ability to 
accommodate a wide range of ages, interests, and abilities. The Township does not 
currently provide any municipal indoor aquatic facilities; however, Township residents 
are within a 10 to 30 minute drive of several public indoor swimming facilities. Aquatic 
facilities are amongst the most expensive leisure facilities to operate and are seldom 
provided in smaller communities, particularly municipalities like the Township of 
Puslinch that have ready access to opportunities in adjacent communities. The 
Township’s rural charm and affordability are two of the key aspects that residents value, 
and these factors must continue to be balanced against new levels of service. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 56 

7.2 Ice Rinks 

Supply 

The Township does not have an indoor arena; however, a covered refrigerated outdoor 
ice pad is located at the Optimist Recreation Centre, translating into a service level of 
one ice pad per 7,240 residents. Built in 2010 with the assistance of the Optimist Club of 
Puslinch and senior government funding, the ice pad measures 20 metres by 43 metres 
(65 feet by 140 feet) and is accompanied by four change rooms.  

The primary uses of the Township’s ice pad are private rentals (e.g., hockey games, 
practices, birthday parties, etc.) during the winter and ball hockey during the summer. 
The Optimist Club of Puslinch also utilizes prime time ice during one weekend in 
February for the Winter Classic Weekend. Some non-prime time hours are utilized by 
the Aberfoyle Public School and the Township, which offers free drop-in skating 
sessions that are very popular among residents.  

Market Conditions 

Hockey and skating are traditional Canadian pastimes; however, their popularity has 
declined slightly in recent years due to the high cost to participate, concerns over safety, 
multi-culturalism, and the shift towards unorganized, self-structured recreation pursuits. 
Hockey Canada reports that since the 2008-09 season, participation in minor hockey 
has steadily declined over the past five years across Canada and Ontario6. Recreational 
skating – which is the focus of the ORC rink – remains a popular activity for those 
learning to skate or seeking an occasional leisure time pursuit. 

Outdoor rinks like the one in Puslinch provide neighbourhood-level programs and open 
skating/shinny opportunities and also help to foster community spirit through the various 
events. These facilities tend to have a shorter season and are subject to the elements, 
although the Township’s facility is covered and refrigerated, thereby extending its 
availability.  

Public Engagement 

The Master Plan’s online survey revealed that hockey, figure skating, or ice-skating 
were the most popular organized sports in Puslinch, with 45% of respondents having 
participated within the past 12 months. 14% of all respondents indicated that they 
participate in hockey/ringette in other municipalities. 23% of survey respondents also 
identified that they would like to see more hockey and recreational skating programs 
offered within the Township of Puslinch.  

Input received from the Community Launch Event also echoed the need for more 
hockey and recreational skating programs for both youth and adult users. In particular, 
there was a specific reference to reinstate the drop-in “sticks and pucks / shinny” 

                                            

6 Hockey Canada. Annual General Meeting Reports. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 57 

programs (note: the Township terminated a prior program due to various on-ice conflicts 
and has recently initiated a similar pilot program for specific age groups). 

Analysis 

In response to public demand, the Township recently initiated a Sticks and Pucks / 
Shinny pilot program beginning over the 2014 Christmas break, which provides children 
with designated times for drop-in hockey. Separate weekly drop-in Sticks and Pucks 
programs were announced for children ages 5 to 7, 8 to 12, and 13 to 17; the programs 
require adult supervision. 

A review of a typical ice schedule for the 2013/14 winter season reveals that the 
Township’s ice pad was operating at approximately two-thirds capacity (69%) during 
prime time hours.7 It is recognized, however, that the ice usage may fluctuate each 
week depending on rentals. As of February 2015, 30% of the facility’s ice time was 
allocated to public skating, sticks and pucks, and shinny hockey. There is capacity at 
the facility – predominantly daytime and late evening – to accommodate additional 
demand during all months of the year. As usage increases, it is suggested that the 
Township develop a Facility Allocation Policy to guide decisions relating to ice time 
priority and scheduling. 

In low growth rural communities, seldom are new arenas built where previously there 
were none. There are a number of reasons for this, with the primary being that arenas 
are rental-driven facilities that require substantial usage from minor sport associations. 
There are no minor hockey or figure skating associations in Puslinch, rather residents 
register with organizations in neighbouring urban communities.  

The City of Guelph is currently in the planning stages for the South End Community 
Centre, which is proposed to include two ice pads, among other leisure facilities. This 
facility will be located approximately six kilometres from Aberfoyle and less than 10 
kilometres from Morriston. It is anticipated that once completed, the South End 
Community Centre will satisfy needs for organized ice activities for residents living in the 
northern portion of the Township, many of which belong to Guelph’s minor ice sports 
associations. Given these considerations, together with the Township’s long-term 
growth forecast, the provision of an additional ice pad (or enclosed arena) is not 
recommended during this planning period.  

7.3 Gymnasiums 

Supply 

The Township provides one gymnasium at the Optimist Recreation Centre, equating to 
one gymnasium per 7,240 residents. The gymnasium measures 17 metres by 16 

                                            

7 Prime time hours are defined as 5 pm to 10 pm Monday to Friday and 9 am to 10 pm Saturday 
and Sunday. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 58 

metres (56 feet by 54 feet) and was developed along with the ice rink in partnership with 
the Optimist Club of Puslinch and senior government funding.  

There is also a gymnasium at the Aberfoyle Public School. There is no formal reciprocal 
use agreement between the Township and the school, although it is believed that the 
school gym is used by community members for various activities. 

Market Conditions 

Gymnasiums provide flexible space that can accommodate a broad range of indoor 
sports and activities. Most often, gymnasiums are used for active sports, such as 
basketball, volleyball, and floor hockey, but can also be used for active programming 
including aerobics, fitness, dance, and other activities that are compatible with a hard 
surface court. Municipalities may also utilize gymnasium space for other non-
recreational activities such as trade shows, large gatherings, and other events, although 
some activities are not compatible with certain floor types (as is the case at the ORC).  

Public Engagement 

62% of online survey respondents supported spending additional public funds on new or 
improved gymnasiums (12% oppose). Gymnasiums ranked ninth out of 17 facility types, 
suggesting that while there is modest support for additional spending on gymnasium 
facilities, there are other facilities that are higher in priority. The need for more youth-
oriented gymnasium programs (e.g., basketball and volleyball) and resident-priority 
gymnasium use was also expressed at the Community Launch Event.  

Analysis 

A review of a typical weekly schedule reveals that with a prime time utilization rate of 
51%8, the Optimist Recreation Centre gymnasium is moderately used. Non-prime time 
usage also exhibits low demand with a utilization rate of 25%. The gymnasium is used 
largely for birthday party rentals, private sports games, Parent and Tot groups, zumba 
classes, and open gym time for casual drop-in basketball games. During the summer, 
the gymnasium is used by the YMCA/YWCA Guelph for Puslinch Power Camp, a 
sports-based summer program. On occasion, a variety of non-recreational events and 
gatherings are also held in the gymnasium.  

Given the gymnasium’s modest usage levels, it can be expected that additional demand 
over the course of the next ten years can be accommodated within the existing 
gymnasium. Typical provision targets for municipal gymnasiums (excluding school 
gymnasiums) are in the range of one per 20,000 to 40,000 residents and the Township 
is well below this threshold. Moreover, the South End Community Centre in Guelph is 
proposed to include a double gymnasium that will accommodate a broad range of 

                                            

8 Prime time is generally defined as 5 pm to 10 pm during the week and 9 am to close during the 
weekend, exclusive of holidays, maintenance, and closures. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 59 

recreation activities. Although the two facilities will have different pricing and 
dimensions, the South End Community Centre may have a modest impact on the 
Township’s gymnasium. Emphasis should be placed on promoting the Optimist 
Recreation Centre gymnasium rather than providing a second such facility, with priority 
being given to local residents and active recreation rentals. 

7.4 Multi-Purpose Spaces 

Supply 

The Township currently has two community halls and one meeting room, each with 
varying capacities, which translates into one multi-purpose space per 2,413 residents. A 
community hall and meeting room are located at the Puslinch Community Centre, 
known as the Archie MacRobbie Room and Alf Hales Room, respectively. The 
MacRobbie Room is equipped with a full kitchen, stage, and outdoor area, and the 
meeting room boasts ample storage space. A second community hall is located at the 
Badenoch Community Centre, which was a former school and converted into a 
community facility in 1965. This stand-alone facility is operated by the Badenoch 
Community Centre Board and is equipped with a warming kitchen. 

Market Conditions 

Community halls were historically provided as single-purpose facilities for passive 
activities (such as gatherings and meetings). The Badenoch Community Centre is an 
excellent example of such a facility, which continues to serve local residents today. 
Today, the co-location of community spaces with complementary facilities has become 
the norm in the provision of modern recreation facilities, thus functioning as multi-
purpose spaces that accommodate a broader range of uses. These multi-purpose 
spaces can enhance cross-programming opportunities for public and private functions 
and achieve economies of scale in facility construction, maintenance, and/or 
management.  

Public Engagement 

The online community survey reported that 64% of respondents supported spending 
additional public funds on improving or developing new community halls, which ranked 
eighth out of 19 facility types. Local user groups indicated that they are generally 
satisfied with the community halls and meeting rooms in the Township. It was 
expressed that repairs to the storage cabinets in the Alf Hales meeting room were 
needed, although the Township is in the process of addressing this issue.  

Analysis 

A review of the Township’s booking schedules for the Puslinch Community Centre 
reveals that these spaces are generally well utilized, predominantly on Fridays and the 
weekend. Although the weekdays typically observe lower levels of utilization, this is 
common in these types of municipal facilities, particularly where there is no direct 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 60 

municipal programming function. Bookings at the Badenoch Community Centre are 
coordinated by a third-party and, thus, this information is not readily available. 

In a small rural municipality such as the Township of Puslinch, the presence of local 
facilities provides a great deal of community benefit and ensures that affordable and 
accessible venues are available. These benefits are evident by the high levels of 
satisfaction of local users. The Township’s multi-purpose spaces are meeting local 
needs, but have capacity to accommodate additional demand. Typical provision targets 
for municipal meeting and multi-purpose rooms vary widely, but are often in the range of 
one per 2,000 to 5,000 residents and the Township is well within this range. No new 
multi-purpose spaces are recommended during this planning period.  

Given the vital role that these facilities have in the Township, continued improvement 
and maintenance of these multi-purpose spaces should be a priority. In early 2014, the 
Township completed building condition assessments to evaluate the structural 
conditions of each facility. These reports identified a number of building elements 
requiring repair or replacement over the next fifteen years, together with estimated costs 
(summarized in the table below). 

Table 7: Total Capital Costs for Repairs and Replacement, by Building Component and Facility - 
2014 – 2029 

Building Component 
Puslinch  

Community Centre 
Badenoch  

Community Centre 

Structural $3,000 $10,000 

Roof $100,000 n/a 

Walls and Windows $140,000 $80,000 

Mechanical $45,000 $25,600 

Electrical $61,000 $19,000 

Fire and Safety $5,750 $1,250 

Total Uninflated (Inflated) $354,750 ($488,184) $135,850 ($158,422) 

Source: Township of Puslinch Building Condition Assessments 

Some of the aforementioned repairs and replacements have been considered in the 
Township’s long-term Capital Budget Forecast. The Township should continue to 
identify and prioritize necessary improvements to these multi-purpose spaces to ensure 
that they remain responsive to the needs of mainstream users. As the Township is 
responsible for major capital projects at the Badenoch Community Centre, meaningful 
dialogue with the Badenoch Community Centre Board is necessary to identify and 
carry-out required improvements, particularly with respect to barrier-free compliance. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 61 

The Township should also explore opportunities to increase utilization of its community 
spaces and consider options for promoting them for a diverse and flexible range of 
uses. Reorienting the Township’s single-use facilities to accommodate a wider variety of 
uses is important to their long-term sustainability. When assessing community halls – or 
any type of facility for that matter— consideration should be given to the following items: 

 Adaptable Design: Can the facility accommodate various current and future 
opportunities and can it serve the functional needs of numerous activities at one 
location? 

 Community Wellness: How does the facility benefit the health, wellbeing, and 
social development of the community? 

 Accessibility: Is the facility barrier-free and inclusive of all potential users? 

 Sustainability: Is the facility economically sustainable? 

 Geographic Coverage: How does the facility contribute to the geographic spread 
of facilities throughout the Township? 

Recommendation 

22. Prioritize improvements to the Puslinch Community Centre and Badenoch 
Community Centre and link projects to the Township’s long-term capital forecast.  

7.5 Older Adult Spaces 

Supply 

The Township does not provide any dedicated older adult spaces, such as seniors’ 
centres, but does accommodate a wide range of older adult programming in its facilities.  

It should also be noted that there is also a good supply of older adult facilities and 
programming opportunities in surrounding communities, including the Evergreen Seniors 
Centre in Guelph, although Puslinch residents may be required to pay non-resident fees 
for programs and rentals in some cases. 

Market Conditions 

Providing accessible leisure opportunities for older adults and seniors has become an 
increasingly important requirement due to the aging population of baby boomers, which 
make up a significant portion of the population. This is particularly relevant in Puslinch 
as the Township has a median age of 47.6 years, the highest in the County. Looking 
further into the future, the Ontario Ministry of Finance projections for Wellington County 
forecast that the number of County residents age 70 and older will more than double by 
2031, despite the entire population increasing by only 14%. 

Research has revealed a number of key trends in older adult participation in recreation. 
Today’s older adults are generally more physically active compared to previous 
generations and thus participate in active recreation activities longer in life, albeit at a 
reduced intensity. Popular activities typically sought by the aging baby boomers include 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 62 

swimming, fitness, pickleball, walking, lifelong learning, and other low impact sports. 
Traditional older adult and seniors activities (such as cards, curling, and carpet bowling) 
also remain popular. This age group is generally more active and wealthier than ever 
before. As a result, these characteristics drive growing expectations for municipalities 
and their community partners to provide high quality recreation opportunities to meet the 
increasingly diverse range of activities desired by older adults and seniors.  

Public Engagement 

The online community survey indicated that approximately 13% of respondents had one 
or more members of their household who participated in organized seniors programs. 
61% of respondents also supported spending additional public funds on improving or 
developing new seniors’ facilities, which ranked tenth out of 17 facility types. The online 
survey was representative of the proportion of older adults age 55 to 69, but seniors 
over the age of 70 were under-represented. 

The results of the online community survey may suggest that the demand for older adult 
space and activities is relatively low; however, comments were received at the 
Community Launch Event for more older adult activities such as board games, cards, 
movie nights, music, and discussion groups.  

Analysis 

Municipal facilities are heavily used for older adult-oriented activities. There are also a 
number of community organizations that provide senior-oriented opportunities through 
non-municipal spaces. For example, the Wellington County Library provides reading 
clubs, scrabble nights, and discussion groups, while Duff’s Church also provides some 
older adult programming. The Mini Lakes retirement community provides older adult 
programming for their members at their recreation hall under the direction of their Social 
Committee; Mini Lakes are considering the development of a new recreation hall as 
they have outgrown their existing space. It is recommended that the Township 
strengthen partnerships with these organizations to promote and raise awareness about 
the services they offer to older adults and seniors in the Township.  

With the Township’s proportion of residents age 55+ growing from 36% in 2011 to 
nearly 50% by 2031, there is a need to proactively plan for the needs of this 
demographic. Over time, the Township should coordinate with local partners to assess 
facility needs for older adults and identify ways to maximize use of existing municipal 
spaces. 

An important trend affecting older adults is the explosion of “pickleball”, a variation of 
the sports of tennis and badminton that can be played indoors or outdoors on surfaces 
that are roughly half the size of a tennis court (which would be well suited for the ORC 
gymnasium). Interest in pickleball – which is among the fastest growing sports in 
Canada – can be expected in the Township, although little interest has been expressed 
to date. The unstructured and unprogrammed nature of these sports may bode well for 
future participation as the sport can be accommodated within a busy lifestyle.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 63 

The provision of a dedicated older adult space was raised as an option for the Township 
to consider. However, the Township’s geographic size and dispersal of its population 
makes this a difficult and financially unsustainable proposition. The construction and 
operation of new recreation space can be costly (particularly for a smaller community), 
suggesting that the enhanced usage of an existing space may be a more feasible option, 
should demand exist. 

Recommendation 

23. Strengthen community partnerships and explore options for enhancing the use of 
existing municipal facilities for community-led programs and events for the 
Township’s growing older adult population.  

7.6 Youth Spaces 

Supply 

The Township does not currently provide any dedicated youth space, but does 
accommodate youth activities within its various facilities. 

Market Conditions 

The provision of engaging, interesting, and safe opportunities for youth is important in 
all communities. The facilitation of positive choices through the provision of spaces 
(both indoor and outdoor) is seen as a core component of healthy youth development. A 
lack of opportunities for social interaction and skill development can contribute to higher 
rates of physical inactivity, obesity, and involvement in unfavourable activities. The 
trends among youth participation have revealed a preference for unstructured pursuits 
compared to organized activities, promoting the emergence of drop-in youth activities in 
many communities. Although population projections by age group are unavailable for 
Puslinch, growth trends in the region suggest that this segment will remain relatively 
stable over time.  

Public Engagement 

The online community survey reported that 21% of respondents had one or more 
members of their household participate in preschool or children programs, while only 
9% of respondents had one or more members of their household participate in 
organized teen programs. Nevertheless, 68% of respondents also supported additional 
spending on improving or developing new spaces for youth, such as a youth centre. 
Requests were also received for a broader range of drop-in sports at the Optimist 
Recreation Centre such as power skating, drop-in hockey, basketball, and volleyball, 
particularly for youth under the age of 16. 

Analysis 

Although the Township does not provide any dedicated youth space (which is more 
commonly provided in larger urban communities), designated time is available at the 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 64 

Optimist Recreation Centre for free drop-in sports such as open gym time and “sticks 
and pucks” programs. There are also local and regional community partners that 
provide youth opportunities in Puslinch and surrounding municipalities, such as 
YMCA/YWCA Guelph, which utilizes the Optimist Recreation Centre to run a Puslinch 
Power Camp. The Puslinch Power Camp is a summer program attended by both local 
and regional youth to participate in a broad spectrum of indoor and outdoor recreation 
activities such as ball hockey, soccer, ultimate frisbee, cooking, photography, and arts.  

The Puslinch Library also provides youth-oriented programs such as reading clubs and 
activities that promote creativity and learning. Other community providers of youth 
programs include the 4-H Club, Big Brothers and Big Sisters of Guelph, and the 
Puslinch Youth Group (of the Duff’s Presbyterian Church).  

The Township should continue to emphasize youth accessibility within its facilities and, 
where possible, encourage and promote activities offered by youth service providers. 
While there does not appear to be sufficient demand at the present time, should a need 
arise, opportunities to establish a drop-in youth centre time/location may be considered 
in partnership with a viable provider. 

7.7 Fitness Centres 

Supply 

The Township of Puslinch does not currently provide any municipal fitness facilities, but 
is able to accommodate third-party fitness programs within its facilities. 

Market Conditions 

Access to fitness programs and opportunities has never been more important as 
mounting evidence reveals increased rates of physical inactivity and obesity. In addition 
to traditional fitness and aerobics, activities that promote active living and wellness are 
the fastest growing segments in the fitness industry. Active living and wellness are 
described as health-based and specialized programs such as yoga, pilates, Zumba, 
athletic training, physiotherapy, personal training, and more. The growth of active living 
and wellness is largely driven by the older adult and senior demographic, who seek low 
impact physical activities.  

Public Engagement 

The online survey undertaken for this Master Plan revealed that 56% of respondents 
participated in aerobics, fitness, or weight-training in the past 12 months, ranking third 
out of 19 leisure pursuits. 73% of respondents supported additional funding for the 
provision of fitness centres (14% opposed), ranking them fourth out of 17 facility types, 
suggesting that fitness centres are a fairly high priority. A suggestion for outdoor fitness 
programs was also received through the Community Launch Event. 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 65 

Analysis 

Equipment-based fitness facilities are traditionally provided by the private sector given 
their ability to provide a premium level of service and high quality facilities. For these 
reasons, smaller municipalities often elect not to enter this market and face competition 
from for-profit entities that can expend greater resources on the latest fitness equipment 
and offer a more comprehensive fitness experience. Those municipalities that decide to 
enter the market tend to provide basic fitness equipment and offer a more entry-level 
fitness experience, often in a turnkey environment. The provision of this type of facility is 
more affordable compared to the private sector, although a membership fee is typically 
imposed to assist with offsetting capital and operating costs. 

Although there are no municipally owned fitness facilities in the Township, there are a 
number of private fitness studios and programs, including Aberfoyle Yoga, Aberfoyle 
Family Chiropractic, Mango Tree Family Health Team, and Santosha Yoga and Pilates 
Studio. Fitness After 50 also provides private, in home fitness classes. Fitness 
programs are also available to members at the Mini Lakes community and zumba for 
seniors is offered by Duff’s Presbyterian Church. There are also several fitness 
providers located in Guelph and neighbouring communities. For example, Goodlife 
Fitness is located approximately four kilometres from Aberfoyle and eight kilometres 
from Morriston. The supply of fitness centres will further expand once the development 
of the new South End Community Centre is completed, which will include a new fitness 
centre. Given the presence of existing fitness providers in the Township and 
surrounding municipalities, it is not recommended that the Township enter into the 
equipment-based fitness market during this planning period.  

The Township of Puslinch currently offers the rental of municipal facilities for fitness 
programming. The Badenoch Community Centre is currently used once a week for 
pilates classes and the Optimist Recreation Centre is used for zumba classes. It is 
recommended that the Township continue to focus on promoting and facilitating active 
living and fitness programs at existing municipal facilities. 

7.8 Soccer Fields 

Supply 

The Township currently provides five unlit soccer fields – two adult fields and three 
intermediate fields. Each of these fields can be further subdivided into smaller mini 
fields to support simultaneous play. This supply includes one full field at Badenoch 
Field, one intermediate field at the Puslinch Community Centre, and three fields (one full 
and two intermediate) at the Calvary Baptist Church. This supply represents a service 
level of one soccer field per 1,448 residents. A sixth soccer field is also available at the 
Aberfoyle Public School; however, it is not utilized by the Puslinch Minor Soccer Club or 
the Township due to its lower quality. 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 66 

Market Conditions 

Soccer experienced tremendous growth during the 1990s when it overcame baseball 
and hockey as the most popular organized sport among Canada’s youth. Coupling this 
trend with the sport’s world-wide appeal, high fitness quotient, and low cost to 
participate, soccer fields are in high demand in most municipalities. 

After years of tremendous growth, the Ontario Soccer Association has witnessed 
declining enrolment in outdoor soccer since 2007. The South-West Regional Soccer 
Association (which includes the Puslinch Minor Soccer Club) reported that between 
2007 and 2013, participation declined by nearly 10%.  

The provision of appropriately sized soccer fields have also been a growing concern 
across the Province, partially due to the Long Term Player Development (LTPD) 
program that has been adopted by the Ontario Soccer Association. The LTPD program 
introduced a series of new rules, regulations, and standards to promote grassroots 
soccer programs and skill development, with less emphasis on playing games and 
scoring. Some of these changes will have a direct impact on the provision of soccer 
fields (e.g., field sizes), thus influencing the demand for field time.  

Public Engagement 

The online survey for the Master Plan identified that 29% of responding households had 
at least one household member who participated in soccer within the past 12 months, 
which ranked as the second most popular organized sport (after hockey / ice sports) in 
the survey. 69% of survey respondents also supported spending additional public funds 
on improving or developing new soccer fields, particularly lit soccer fields. Consultation 
with the Puslinch Minor Soccer Club revealed that additional soccer fields were needed 
in order to accommodate continued growth as it has been reported that the current 
supply of fields is nearing capacity. The Club reports that the ideal soccer field would be 
a full size field (11v11) with lights. Artificial turf would also be an option to extend the 
playing season. The Club feels that at least one new soccer field could be 
accommodated on the newly acquired lands adjacent to the Puslinch Community 
Centre.  

Analysis 

Puslinch Minor Soccer Club has reported steady and consistent growth in membership, 
increasing from 430 registered participants in 2011 to 484 players for 2014, fuelled 
partially by residential growth in south Guelph. The Soccer Club notes that a majority of 
their participants play in the U8 category (age 8 and under), which the Club 
accommodated by dividing larger fields into multiple smaller sections. The Club expects 
to have over 500 participants for 2015; however, they feel that the current availability of 
soccer fields is the biggest constraint to accommodating growth. 

A review of the Club’s schedule reveals a heavy reliance on the soccer fields at the 
Calvary Baptist Church. Time slots are booked at 90 minute increments, which allows 
for up to two games to be played per field each night based on new LTPD standards. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 67 

Bookings are held no later than 9 pm as there are no lit soccer fields in the Township. In 
addition, it is understood that adult soccer leagues commonly use the full size field at 
this location.  

Field quality at the Calvary Baptist Church is acceptable with the availability of 
supporting amenities including a portable washroom and on-site parking. However, 
concerns with respect to the long-term availability of these soccer fields have been 
identified as these fields are not municipally-owned. The Township is responsible for 
maintaining the lands for the Soccer Club; however, it is understood that no formal 
agreement exists between the Church and the Township. As a result, the Soccer Club is 
at risk of losing a key venue for games and practices should the Church elect to 
terminate this arrangement.  

As previously identified, the Minor Soccer Club reported 484 participants for the 2014 
season, translating into a service level of one field per 97 players. This service level is 
lower compared to communities with similar characteristics, which typically utilize a 
provision standard of one field for every 80 participants, which is the target 
recommended for Puslinch.  

Proportionally, of the 484 players identified by the Soccer Club for 2014, half the 
registrants are Township residents (242 players), while the remainder are Guelph 
residents. Assuming that this ratio and soccer participation rates remain steady (about 
20% of the population, ages 5 to 19), an interpolation of population projections (based 
on Ontario Ministry of Finance projections) suggests that by 2031, the Puslinch Soccer 
Club will have approximately 600 players. Despite recent growth in Club membership, 
the slowing growth of the youth age groups suggests that soccer registration will 
eventually plateau. 

The demand for local adult soccer teams remains largely unknown at this point (as does 
the demand for other field sports, such as rugby, lacrosse, etc.), but it can be expected 
that some additional demand will be generated. Applying this forecast to the 
recommended provision target of one unlit field per 80 participants suggests the long-
term need for 7.5 soccer fields, 2.5 more fields than what is presently available. Long-
term field needs should be evaluated through the monitoring of annual registration 
figures (and application of the recommended provision target), as well as regular 
communication with local soccer groups.  

A scan of available Township-owned parkland suggests that the Puslinch Community 
Centre Park expansion lands represent the only viable option for new soccer fields. This 
site would serve as an excellent location for new soccer fields to satisfy the need for 2.5 
additional fields during this planning period. One new lit full-size soccer field (11v11) 
and one smaller unlit soccer field (9v9) – an equivalent of 2.5 unlit fields as each lit field 
can accommodate 50% more use – at this location would complement the existing 
recreational uses at this park and would further enrich the Puslinch Community Centre 
and Optimist Recreation Centre as a destination leisure hub. The co-location of two new 
soccer fields with the existing field at this site would also enhance programming 
opportunities and simultaneous games, serving as an excellent location for hosting 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 68 

tournaments. The design of the new fields should also have regard for the new LTPD 
rules and regulations (e.g., dimensions, goal posts, etc.). A preliminary examination of 
the site suggests that these two fields would fit within the space, along with an 
allowance for parking, trails, and appropriate buffers. As recommended later in the 
study, a Park Master Plan should be prepared to more closely examine the layout and 
features of the entire park site. 

Recommendations 

24. Two soccer fields – one lit full-size soccer field (11v11) and one smaller unlit 
soccer field (9v9) – are recommended to be developed on the expansion lands of 
the Puslinch Community Centre Park.  

25. Be prepared to explore alternative options for providing soccer fields, should the 
Calvary Baptist Church elect to terminate the informal arrangement with the 
Township. 

7.9 Ball Diamonds 

Supply 

The Township maintains a total of four ball diamonds. Morriston Meadows Park has two 
unlit softball diamonds, one of which is smaller and more suitable for youth practices. 
Old Morriston Ball Field also has a lit diamond and the fourth diamond is located at the 
Puslinch Community Centre Park, which is also lit. Each lit diamond is equivalent to 1.5 
unlit diamonds due to its extended play opportunities. As a result, the Township’s 
effective supply is 5 diamonds, which translates into a service level of one ball diamond 
per 1,448 residents. There are also three ball diamonds at the Aberfoyle Public School; 
however, the quality and condition of these diamonds are not appropriate for league 
play. Batting cages are also found at the Old Morriston Ball Field and at the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park. 

Market Conditions 

Baseball in its various forms (fastball is predominantly played in Puslinch) has long 
been viewed as a sport in decline across Canada, driven by a number of factors 
including the worldwide appeal of soccer (particularly among children), slower game 
pace, and lower fitness quotient. According to Baseball Ontario, participation in this 
sport peaked in 2001 with 12,609 registered participants and declined to a low of 11,248 
players in 2007, prior to rebounding slightly to 11,856 players in 2012.  

Despite this trend, the popularity of baseball tends to remain strong in rural 
communities, although regional differences do exist. Compared to soccer and other field 
sports (which are generally youth-dominated), baseball and softball are adult-dominated 
sports, although groups have been attempting to enhance youth participation figures by 
promoting grassroots level opportunities, as has been the case in the Township. 
Locally, challenges with maintaining participation levels have been reported by Puslinch 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 69 

Minor Ball, who reported a slight decline in registration from 80 participants in 2013 to 
75 participants in 2014. 

Public Engagement 

The online community survey found that approximately one-quarter (26%) of 
households had at least one household member who participated in baseball or softball 
in the past 12 months, making it the third most popular team sport after hockey and 
soccer. 57% of survey respondents also supported spending additional public funds on 
new or improved ball diamonds, ranking them 12th out of 17 facility types. 

By contrast, the consultation process received some requests for improved (and 
additional) ball diamonds. Specific requests included new bleachers, better field lighting, 
new fencing, and improved infield maintenance. 

A desire for a baseball complex (Fergie Jenkins Baseball) was also expressed by a 
member of the public. The proponent’s vision for this facility is to serve not only local 
participants, but also to attract amateur ball players from across Ontario for tournaments 
and year-round training. This facility would include two youth and four adult diamonds, 
complemented by a large indoor fieldhouse (similar to the Royal Distributing Athletic 
Centre in Guelph/Eramosa), elevated indoor walking track, and restaurant. While a 
formal business plan has not been advanced, facility options for the ball complex were 
articulated, which included a Township-owned and maintained facility model with the 
proponent being responsible for operations.  

Analysis 

The Township’s ball diamonds are generally well used, with Old Morriston Ball Field 
being the primary venue among adult user groups. The ball diamonds at the Puslinch 
Community Centre and Morriston Meadows are also well used, although to a lesser 
extent.  

Consultation with local ball groups indicates that there were approximately 132 ball 
participants in 2014, consisting of 75 minor participants and 57 adult league players. 
These low levels of participation, particularly amongst youth, raise concerns about the 
long-term sustainability of the sport in the Township. Further, the predominant form of 
play in the Township (fastball) is not shared by all centres, further diluting the market. 

The current number of local participants translates into a service level of one ball 
diamond per 26 participants, which is well within the acceptable provision level as ball 
diamonds typically have a capacity of approximately 80 to 100 players each. It is 
recommended that the Township adopt the lower end of this standard (one diamond per 
80 players) to identify current and future diamond needs. 

The current number of ball participants represents about 6% of the Township’s youth 
population (ages 5 to 19) and 2% of the adult population (ages 20 to 54). Assuming that 
participation trends remain steady, an interpolation of population projections (based on 
Ontario Ministry of Finance projections) suggests that there will be approximately 150 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 70 

ball participants by 2031. The projected number of participants translates into a need for 
two ball diamonds, two less than what is currently provided. Based on the 
recommended provision target, the Township will not require any additional diamonds 
during this planning period. Long-term diamond needs should be evaluated through the 
monitoring of annual registration figures, as well as regular communication with local 
ball groups. 

It is recommended that the Township focus on enhancing selected ball diamonds to 
ensure that they remain responsive to the needs of local users. This should be 
undertaken in coordination with user groups to identify and prioritize improvements.  

Recognizing that there is an oversupply in ball diamonds, there may also be 
opportunities to repurpose under-utilized diamonds at some point in the future. For 
example, the ball diamond at the Puslinch Community Centre Park will soon require 
new light standards (a significant expense) and is located in the heart of a very busy 
park, where there is the potential for conflicts with several adjacent amenities (e.g., 
playground, ORC, etc.). Furthermore, access to the expansion lands at the rear of the 
park is likely to create additional traffic alongside the diamond, thereby creating 
additional safety concerns. The Township should consider re-purposing the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park ball diamond to alternate uses (e.g., splash pad, mini soccer 
field, improved pedestrian/vehicular circulation, etc.) to allow for improved flow and 
function within this park, while at the same time investing in other diamonds within the 
Township to ensure that they remain responsive to community needs. As discussed 
later in this section, a Park Master Plan is recommended to more closely examine this 
and other options for the park.  

Lastly, given the lack of demand for additional ball diamonds, together with modest local 
participation in the sport and low population growth, municipal involvement in the 
unsolicited proposal for the Fergie Jenkins baseball recreation complex is not 
recommended at this time. Although a recreation facility of this calibre would facilitate 
opportunities in sport tourism, the community benefits are limited and this facility would 
be subject to competition from facilities within the broader region (existing and future), 
placing an undue burden on the taxbase. While the proponent is welcome to present a 
more detailed business case to the Township, this type of facility is not a core service, 
even within larger urban communities. As the future outlook of local baseball 
participation is relatively weak, municipal resources should instead be geared towards 
higher priority areas that benefit a greater number of local residents. 

Recommendations 

26. Engage local ball user groups to identify and prioritize improvements to select 
municipal ball diamonds. 

27. Consider re-purposing the Puslinch Community Centre Park ball diamond to 
alternate uses (e.g., splash pad, mini soccer field, etc.) to allow for improved flow 
and function within this park.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 71 

7.10 Hard Surface Courts (Tennis, Basketball) 

Supply 

The Township provides three lit tennis courts at the Puslinch Community Centre Park, 
which represents a service level of one tennis court for every 2,413 residents. Public 
access to the courts is not available as the courts are operated by the Puslinch Tennis 
Club. Residents who wish to use this facility must become a club member.  

A full basketball court is located at Morriston Meadows Park, which is the Township’s 
only outdoor basketball court. In addition to this supply, an asphalt pad with a basketball 
hoop is located at the private Puslinch Lake Park and two full basketball courts are 
located at Aberfoyle Public School. 

Market Conditions 

Tennis and basketball courts are neighbourhood-level facilities, meaning that 
distribution is a key determinant in assessing current and future requirements. Trends in 
tennis suggest that interest has declined since its peak in the 1970s, but that there is a 
potential resurgence in participation from the aging baby boomer generation (a segment 
that makes up a significant portion of the Township’s population). Experience also 
suggests that interest in tennis varies greatly between municipalities and can be 
influenced by the existing level of service and demographic composition.  

Basketball maintains strong participation rates amongst youth. Demand for outdoor 
basketball courts has been found to be high in many communities as they are relatively 
low cost amenities that can be easily incorporated into local parks, thus allowing for 
easy access, and opportunities for spontaneous, informal play. Unlike tennis, however, 
basketball can simply be played at home to meet much of this demand.  

Public Engagement 

The online community survey found that both tennis and basketball are relatively 
unpopular sports in the Township. 7% of survey respondents indicated that there was at 
least one household member who participated in tennis in the past 12 months. Similarly, 
7% of survey respondents indicated that there was at least one household member who 
participated in basketball during the same period. 60% of respondents supported 
spending additional public funds on outdoor basketball courts and 48% supported 
additional spending on tennis courts. These facility types ranked 12th and 15th, 
respectively, out of 17 facility types, suggesting that there may be higher priorities for 
recreation facility provision.  

Despite the survey results, requests for more basketball courts were expressed by 
residents to ensure that sufficient recreation opportunities are available for local youth. 
One particular appeal was for a basketball court installation at Boreham Park due to the 
lack of recreation facilities in Arkell. Further, the Puslinch Tennis Club expressed 
interest in court improvements, noting that the third court has a severe slope and that 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 72 

the current location of the court is problematic due to road noise, wind, and sun 
orientation. 

Analysis 

The Township’s three tennis courts are operated by the Puslinch Tennis Club, which 
has maintained a steady membership of approximately 200 participants per year. 
Demand for the Club courts is partially driven by members living outside the Township. 
Typically, a provision target of one tennis court for every 5,000 residents is applied in 
communities similar to the Township. With a forecasted population of 9,920 by 2031, 
two tennis courts would be required; the Township is more than meeting this target at 
this time.  

With regard to the current condition of the tennis courts, there is little doubt that the third 
court (furthest from the road) is sloping due to soil stability issues. With that being said, 
the court is still playable, but does cause some level of nuisance, and may become 
worse over time. While the Club indicated a preference for rebuilding the courts (ideally 
at another location within the park), this would come at a significant expense with no 
promise of expanded usage or demand. Maintaining the courts at their existing location 
for the foreseeable future is the most prudent direction, with the Club undertaking 
improvements as needed in coordination with the Township (e.g., installation of wind 
and noise screening). Given the forecasted need for only two courts, the Club should 
also be approached to divest control of the third court (furthest from the road) and to 
convert this into a public court without controlled access in order to promote use for 
non-members. 

A provision target of one basketball court for every 800 youth (age 10-19) is 
recommended for the Township. With approximately 590 youth (2011 Census), this 
demographic makes up approximately 8% of the Township’s population. Based on 
County-wide population forecast percentages, the number of local youth ages 10 to 19 
is projected to grow to 685 by 2031, suggesting a need to maintain the existing 
basketball court at Morriston Meadows Park. Although the installation of a basketball 
court in Arkell’s Boreham Park may improve geographic distribution, the small size of 
this community and the potential conflict with neighbouring properties suggests that this 
would be a low priority for the Township. 

Recommendation 

28. Work with the Puslinch Tennis Club to facilitate improvements to the existing 
courts (e.g., installation of wind and noise screening) and to convert the third 
court (furthest from the road) into a public court without controlled access in order 
to promote use for non-members.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 73 

7.11 Splash Pads 

Supply 

The Township does not currently have a splash pad in its recreation facility inventory. 
An admission-based, non-municipal pool and splash pad is available at the Emerald 
Lake Trailer Resort and Waterpark. A second non-municipal pool is also located at Mini 
Lakes; however, it is available to members only.  

Market Conditions 

Splash pads are highly sought after amenities for young families seeking affordable and 
accessible opportunities to cool down on a hot summer day. They have proven to be 
more cost-effective than traditional pools to build and operate as they do not require 
staffing and can be easily integrated into most parks systems. Splash pads can be 
developed in a wide variety of designs with a range of different apparatuses that provide 
an enhanced aquatic experience for residents of all ages. The two main mechanical 
systems used for splash pads are: (1) a municipal system, which utilizes fresh municipal 
water; or (2) an environmentally friendly recirculation system that uses treated water. 
The latter would be the likely option for Puslinch. 

There are a number of recent examples of splash pad developments in nearby 
municipalities. For example: 

 The City of Guelph is currently in the process of constructing a new splash pad 
as a part of the master plan for the South End Community Park. The barrier-free 
design offers users unique interactive water play experiences and utilizes a 
water-saving, re-circulation system with a state-of-the-art ultraviolet water 
treatment system.  

 Scheduled to open in spring of 2015, the Township of Wilmot is constructing their 
first splash pad, which will be fully accessible and feature a recycling water 
system. At a cost of $334,000, the Township committed $100,000 to the project, 
with the remainder received through donations, fundraising, and $130,000 from 
the Province.  

 The Township of Wellesley also opened its first splash pad in 2011, which was 
made possible with the assistance of the Lions Club, volunteers, and donations, 
including a $75,000 grant from the Ontario Trillium Foundation. At a cost of 
approximately $260,000, the splash pad features a range of unique water 
features and a sophisticated water recycling system. The Township’s local 
service club is responsible for most of the costs associated with the splash pad’s 
operation.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 74 

Public Engagement 

Consultation with the public revealed that there was considerable support for the 
development of a water-based recreation facility. The online community survey found 
that 63% of respondents had at least one household member who participated in 
swimming within the past 12 months. As there are no municipal pools provided by the 
Township, it is likely that these activities were undertaken at private pools, locations 
outside the Township, or at a non-municipal provider. 69% of survey respondents also 
supported spending additional funds on improving or developing splash pads. 
Throughout the process, residents expressed their desire for a splash pad to be 
developed at the Puslinch Community Centre Park.  

Analysis 

Urban municipalities may utilize a per capita target to identify splash pad needs; 
however, this metric is not generally suitable for rural applications due to the geographic 
distribution of the population. A service area standard is also not practical for the 
Township given the capital investment required to provide this type of facility. As a 
result, the provision of splash pads should be determined based on the ability to satisfy 
local needs in the Township of Puslinch. Although there are non-municipal options in 
the Township, Mini Lakes is a members-only community and the Emerald Lake Trailer 
Resort and Waterpark is a premium level facility that is accessible by admission only. 
As a result, these venues will not appeal to all public users who are seeking low-cost 
leisure opportunities.  

The Puslinch Community Centre Park is the Township’s principal leisure hub located in 
the municipality’s primary settlement area. It is this site that residents and stakeholders 
identified as a suitable location for the Township’s first splash pad facility. Although they 
are more affordable than outdoor pools, splash pads require capital and operating 
funding that may prove to be challenging for small rural municipalities with limited 
resources, although this can be mitigated through partnerships and other means of 
offsetting municipal costs.  

Given the interest expressed by the public, it is recommended that the Township seek 
and engage a willing community partner to pursue the development and potential 
operation of a splash pad at the Puslinch Community Centre Park. Efforts should be 
made to pursue potential funding sources from senior levels of government as well as 
through a fundraising campaign – without outside funding, this project may not be 
feasible in the Township. Given the rural location of the park, a water recirculation 
system should be utilized in the absence of municipal services. The splash pad may 
need to be located within the established area of the park (necessitating the removal or 
relocation of an existing amenity, such as the ball diamond) given the development 
restrictions associated with the expansion lands; further consultation with the 
Conservation Authority is required in this regard.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 75 

Recommendation 

29. Seek and engage an interested community partner in the development and 
potential operation of a splash pad at the Puslinch Community Centre Park. 
Efforts should be made to pursue funding from senior levels of government and 
through a fundraising campaign. 

7.12 Playgrounds 

Supply 

Playgrounds are provided in three parks throughout the Township, with at least one in 
each settlement area, including Puslinch Community Centre Park, Morriston Meadows 
Park, and Boreham Park. This supply translates into a service level of one playground 
for every 2,413 residents or 193 children under the age of 10. Non-municipal 
playgrounds are also available at the Aberfoyle Public School and the Puslinch Lake 
Private Park. 

Market Conditions 

Playgrounds serve as neighbourhood-level amenities that can provide children with a 
wealth of opportunities that benefit early childhood development, such as fostering 
cognitive and social skills and physical activity. Playgrounds are typically found within 
residential areas and should generally be available within walking distances, without 
crossing major barriers such as major roads, railways, and water bodies.  

Playground design is guided by the Canadian Standards Association (CSA), which has 
established standards on children’s play spaces and equipment. These standards have 
driven the evolution of traditional playgrounds to creative play structures that feature 
softer materials in addition to unique designs, bright colours, and interactive 
components to stimulate the senses to provide an enhanced play experience. Some 
communities have also explored barrier-free playgrounds (or components of 
playgrounds) to remain inclusive of those with disabilities. It should be noted that the 
new built environment regulations of the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act 
will apply to playgrounds installed or redeveloped in 2016 and beyond. 

Public Engagement 

The popularity of playgrounds was evident in the public input received as a part of this 
process. The online community survey revealed that in the past 12 months, at least one 
member of 41% of responding households used playground equipment. Playgrounds 
were also identified as the highest priority in the Township, with 81% of survey 
respondents supporting additional public spending on improving or developing new 
playgrounds. Comments were received to replace the existing playground at the 
Puslinch Community Centre Park with a larger structure located away from the ball 
diamond and parking lot (safety concerns). Prior to undertaking this Master Plan, a 
brainstorming session was held with stakeholders to identify potential uses for the 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 76 

Puslinch Community Centre Park expansion – one of the ideas that was advanced was 
a new playground and picnic area. 

Analysis 

Playgrounds are highly desirable recreation facilities as they provide enormous benefits 
to the quality of life to growing families. As such, easily accessible playgrounds are 
essential and can be achieved by ensuring that they are located within 800 metres of all 
residential / settlement areas without crossing major barriers, which generally 
represents a 10 minute walking distance. It is recognized that in rural areas with a 
geographically dispersed population, it is not always possible to achieve complete 
coverage; however, it is recommended that at a minimum, key settlement areas be 
serviced as best as possible.  

Strict application of this service target reveals some small gaps in each of the 
Township’s main settlement areas. For example, residents in southeast Aberfoyle may 
experience challenges accessing the playground at Aberfoyle Public School as the 
sidewalk link along Brock Road South is fragmented. Further, there are small gaps west 
of Brock Road South in Morriston, in northwest Aberfoyle (north of Wellington Road 34 
and west of Brock Road South), and northeast Aberfoyle. However, these gap areas all 
have small populations and accessibility to existing play structures will be improved 
once the Highway 6 / Brock Road bypass is in place. 

Observations of existing Township playgrounds suggest that there is potential to 
upgrade Boreham Park to more modern and creative play equipment. Opportunities 
may also exist to relocate and enhance the playground (including barrier-free 
components) at the Puslinch Community Centre Park to be co-located with the 
recommended splash pad at this site to improve safety and cross-over appeal. The 
Township should continue to regularly inspect its playground structures to identify 
maintenance and repair needs on a regular basis, together with other parks and 
recreation equipment. 

Recommendations 

30. Assess opportunities to update and modernize the playground at Boreham Park 
and the Puslinch Community Centre Park with creative play equipment. 
Consideration should be given to relocating the playground at the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park (including barrier-free components) to complement the 
splash pad recommended in this Master Plan.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 77 

7.13 Skateboard Parks 

Supply 

The Township does not have any skateboard parks.  

Market Conditions 

Research has shown that youth are trending towards unstructured, unscheduled, and 
low-cost activities. Skateboarding checks all these boxes and has contributed to its 
sustained longevity to the point where it has become a core municipal service in many 
communities.  

Early skateboard parks were developed to provide users with a controlled environment 
with various components typically found in urban areas replicated for use by 
skateboarders; however, these sites were mostly located in undesirable areas and away 
from the public eye. Many communities have now embraced this activity through the 
provision of municipal skateboard parks that appeal to skateboarders, BMX riders, and 
in-line skaters. Often located at parks and community facilities, skateboard parks can 
take the form of various sizes that feature an array of components from a variation of 
skate bowls to simplified skate-zones. Skateboard parks can also be constructed from 
concrete or use modular components that can be moved.  

Public Engagement 

During past consultations for the expansion of the Puslinch Community Centre Park, 
some suggestions were made for the inclusion of a skateboard park. However, based 
on the Master Plan consultations, the demand for skateboarding is generally low in the 
Township. The online community survey reported that only 3% of respondents had at 
least one household member who participated in skateboarding in the past 12 months, 
ranking the lowest in participation out of 17 activities. Skateboarding also received the 
lowest level of support (42%) for spending additional public spending. Based on this 
data, it appears that Township youth are not particularly interested in skateboarding; 
although it is noted that youth were slightly under-represented the survey.  

Analysis 

Based on public input, there is currently insufficient demand to consider the 
development of a skateboard park. Looking to the future, it is important to consider the 
size of the local youth population (ages 10 to 19), which is expected to see only modest 
increases over the course of the planning period. Unless a local organization comes 
forward and is able to fully fund the development of a skate park, this should not be a 
priority for the Township at this time. 

In the event that the Township does consider providing a skateboard park, locations 
adjacent to recreation centres or within community parks are preferred as they provide 
access to other amenities and typically have both the visibility and necessary buffers to 
deter inappropriate behaviours and mitigate noise. Skateboard facilities should not be 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 78 

placed directly adjacent to playgrounds or splash pads. Input from local skaters is 
essential in the design of skateboard parks and also helps to create buy-in to the final 
product. 

7.14 Off-leash Dog Parks 

Supply 

The Township does not have any designated off-leash dog parks.  

Market Conditions 

With local by-laws regulating the use of leashes, dedicated off-leash areas provide pet 
owners with the opportunity to exercise and socialize dogs in a controlled area. Leash-
free parks should not be viewed as being facilities strictly for pets, but also venues for 
exercise and social interaction for residents with a common interest.  

Off-leash parks have proven to be quite successful in many municipalities, with larger 
urban areas often having several such facilities. Often, the need for dog parks in rural 
areas is lower since there are generally sufficient private open spaces available for 
dogs.  

Public Engagement 

Dog parks can be polarizing in some communities; in Puslinch, the online survey found 
low to moderate support (42%), but also some opposition 24% (the highest of all facility 
types). 

Analysis 

Based on public input, there is currently insufficient demand to consider the 
development of an off-leash dog park. Unless a local organization comes forward and is 
able to fully fund the development and maintenance of a dog park (many municipalities 
require that their dog parks be managed by an affiliated organization in order to act as 
park stewards), this should not be a priority for the Township at this time. 

In the event that the Township does consider the provision of an off-leash dog park, 
they should be aware that the selection of appropriate sites that are supported by 
residents is often the most significant challenge. The safety of other park users, 
setbacks from residential and environmentally sensitive areas, and the provision of 
amenities (e.g., parking, benches, waste containers, etc.) are important considerations 
in the design of leash-free parks. Most municipalities establish criteria for evaluating 
sites for future dog parks, with consideration of the following factors (at a minimum): 

 existing park locations, uses, and intensity 

 potential environmental impacts (environmentally sensitive features should be 
avoided) 

 sufficient land base (ideally a minimum of two hectares) 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 79 

 availability of on-site parking 

 ample buffers from adjacent land uses (particularly schools and residential 
areas) 

 accessibility via pathways and/or trails and roads 

7.15 Other Facilities 

From time to time, the Township may be approached to provide certain recreation 
facilities that are generally not within the scope of municipal services or were not 
considered in this Master Plan. As a result, the Township must be prepared to respond 
to future requests that may emerge for existing activities or facilities, or for those that 
evolve according to participation trends and preferences in recreation. When these 
requests are brought forward, the Township of Puslinch should cautiously evaluate the 
need for new opportunities, as some activities may be desired by only a small segment 
of the community. Focus should be placed on delivering a high quality recreation and 
parks system that appeals to a broad range of residents in order to maximize the 
benefits of the resources available.  

Nevertheless, the Township should remain open to considering opportunities that are 
not currently provided if legitimate requests are brought forward by individuals or 
community partners. It is recommended that these requests be supported by the 
appropriate justification for new services and facilities, and should include, but not be 
limited to, a proponent-led needs assessment and business plan, a statement of the 
organization’s capacity to support the request, a demonstration of project sustainability, 
evidence of community benefits, and a full risk analysis.  

Recommendation 

31. Evaluate requests for facilities and services not presently within the Township’s 
core mandate on a case-by-case basis. Unsolicited proposals should be 
supported by a proponent-led assessment that demonstrates the risks and 
benefits of the Township becoming involved in the provision of a non-core facility, 
as well as a business plan and funding strategy suitable to the Township.  

7.16 Puslinch Community Centre Park Expansion 

As indicated earlier, the Township has purchased 4 hectares (10 acres) of land 
immediately adjacent to the rear of the Puslinch Community Centre Park. This site is 
currently fallow farmland that is relatively flat. The lands are within a Core Greenlands 
designation in the County of Wellington Official Plan, which recognizes a floodplain 
associated with the Mill Creek tributary. Section 5.6.1 of the Official Plan permits a 
limited number of uses in this designation, such as passive uses, provided that certain 
criteria are met. It is stated that other uses permitted in the applicable adjacent or 
underlying designations may also be permitted. The Puslinch Community Centre Park is 
located within a Recreational designation, which permits a broad range of leisure uses. 
Given that the lands are regulated by the Grand River Conservation Area, however, 
consultation with this agency is required prior to any form of land alteration as certain 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 80 

planning approvals may be necessary depending on the ultimate uses proposed and 
their location on the site. At this point in time, it is anticipated that the lands cannot 
sustain any structures or paved parking lots, but could accommodate playing fields and 
passive recreation uses.  

Earlier in this section, a number of facility needs were recommended for further 
consideration for the Puslinch Community Centre Park (including both the existing park 
and expansion lands): 

 one new lit full-size soccer field (11v11) and one smaller unlit soccer field (9v9) 

 splash pad (with a structure containing the water recirculation system) 

 larger playground with barrier-free components 

 unpaved parking lot to serve the expansion lands 

 Club-led improvements to the existing tennis courts, including conversion of the 
third court to public use 

 potential re-purposing of the ball diamond to alternate uses (e.g., splash pad, 
mini soccer field, improved pedestrian/vehicular circulation, etc.)  

Aerial Photography of Puslinch Community Centre Park and Expansion Lands (2010) 

 
Source: County of Wellington Online Mapping, “Explore Wellington” 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 81 

On the last point, access to the expansion lands is likely to be gained through the 
existing park, which poses concerns related to safety and circulation within the site, as 
the main drive is located between the playground, Optimist Recreation Centre, and the 
ball diamond, with little room to spare. Although netting is in place for the ball diamond, 
it is not ideally located, it requires capital improvements, and there is a surplus of 
diamonds in the Township, all of which point to an opportunity to consider alternate 
uses for this portion of the park, such as improved pedestrian/vehicular circulation, 
splash pad, or mini soccer field. 

It is recommended that a Park Master Plan should be prepared to more closely examine 
the layout and features of the entire park site, including additional consultation with local 
stakeholder groups. The recommendations of this Recreation and Parks Master Plan 
should be used to guide the Park Master Plan process. 

Recommendations 

32. Develop a Master Plan for the Puslinch Community Centre Park to more closely 
examine the layout and features of the entire park site, including the expansion 
lands.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 82 

8. PARKS, OPEN SPACE & TRAILS 
ASSESSMENT 

This Section analyzes parks, open spaces, trail needs, and policy considerations. The 
Township’s current parkland and open space supply is examined in this section. The 
County of Wellington’s Official Plan outlines its support for the provision of public 
spaces, parks and open space as places within which healthy and active communities 
can be fostered, including guidelines for planning and parkland acquisition.  

8.1 Parkland Form & Function 

Parkland is a valuable component of the Township’s landscape and its presence 
enhances the quality of life for the community as a whole. These spaces can take many 
different forms, ranging from manicured parkettes and open spaces to large naturalized 
tracts of ecologically significant areas. Primary considerations for the parks system as a 
whole include (but are not limited to): 

 Planning the appropriate function and use for each park; 

 Achieving a satisfactory distribution of parkland to ensure that they are easily 
accessible and maintain the integrity of natural heritage systems; and 

 Maintaining a high degree of walkability and connectivity among parks through 
active transportation infrastructure, key linkages, etc. 

As such, it is important to incorporate parks planning through the municipal land use 
decision-making process. Land use planning in the Township is guided by the County of 
Wellington Official Plan, which contains broad policies regarding the provision and 
development of parkland. A review of Official Plan policies reveals the absence of a 
local parkland classification system, which is commonly used to assist communities in 
defining the functional hierarchy of a municipal parks and open space system. A 
classification hierarchy is essential in advancing the sustainable planning of active and 
passive forms of parkland by directing many aspects of park usage as defined through 
size, form, function and/or level of amenity. Moving forward, it is recommended that the 
Township of Puslinch consider the following parkland classification system in the 
development or redevelopment of parks and open spaces.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 83 

Table 8: Recommended Parkland Classification Hierarchy 

Park Type Amenities Service Level Size (Ha) 

Parkettes Sub-neighbourhood park lands 
located in residential areas that 
provide limited opportunities for 
passive recreation with supporting 
rest areas. 

Centrally located within 
residential areas. 

<0.5  

Neighbourhood 
Park 

Designed for small scale recreation 
activities and may include hard 
surface courts and a single sports 
field. Select portions may also be 
naturalized. 

Accessible by walking 
or cycling and centrally 
located to optimize 
visibility and safety of 
users. 

0.6 – 3.0 

Community 
Park 

Supports a range of recreation 
activities that serves the Township 
and surrounding communities such 
as major sports fields, open spaces, 
water features, and playgrounds. 
Select portions may also be 
naturalized. 

Located along main 
arterial roads, bicycle 
and pedestrian 
networks, and contains 
sufficient off-street 
parking. 

4.0+ 

Natural Parks Township owned lands that are 
predominantly naturalized or 
protected due to significant features. 
May also be used for passive 
recreation such as hiking. 

Located in areas with 
naturally significant 
features, wooded 
areas, and may consist 
of topographical 
variations. 

Varies 

 

Recommendation 

33. Utilize the Master Plan’s parkland classification hierarchy to guide the 
development or redevelopment of parks and open spaces according to park type, 
size, service level, and the amenities that they provide. 

8.2 Parkland Supply 

As illustrated in the table below, the Township of Puslinch owns and maintains 
approximately 22.2 hectares (54.9 acres) of developed and undeveloped parkland. In 
addition to these parks, residents benefit from a number of parks and open spaces 
provided at the Aberfoyle Public School, conservation areas, County Forests, and 
private parks.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 84 

Table 9: Municipal Supply of Parkland 

Municipal Parkland Area (Ha) 

Morriston Meadows 2.5 

Badenoch Field 2.2 

Puslinch Community Centre 
Park 

9.8 

Badenoch Community Centre 0.4 

Boreham Park 0.9 

Old Morriston Ball Field 2.5 

Fox Run Park 2.3 

Telfer Glen Park 1.5 

Historic Corner Block 0.1 

Total Parkland 22.2 

Service Level (population = 7,240) 3.1 ha / 1,000 
residents 

For the purposes of this assessment, focus is placed on the supply of municipally-
owned parkland as these are the only lands under the Township’s direct control, where 
the provision of access, safety, and appropriate amenities can be guaranteed. 
Notwithstanding this assessment, it is essential that the Township continue to 
collaborate with its community partners to maximize the benefits of providing accessible 
parks and open spaces.  

The County of Wellington Official Plan does not establish a minimum level of service 
with respect to parkland, although the Township’s current supply equates to 
approximately 3.1 hectares per 1,000 population based on a population of 7,240 
residents. Supplementing this inventory with the supply of non-municipal parkland and 
open spaces provided by community partners, Township residents are generally well 
served in this regard. It is recommended that the Township continue to maintain an 
accurate inventory of municipal parkland to ensure that residents’ needs are met. 

Parkland needs (discussed further in the next section) are not only a function of the total 
supply, but also of the distribution and functionality of the sites. For example, community 
parks that are capable of accommodating a broad range of activities are generally in 
demand, as are neighbourhood-level parks that provide close-to-home opportunities for 
young children. Passive parkland (e.g., woodlots, open space, etc.) are also desired, 
but need to be thoughtfully provided and managed. The majority of the Township’s 
parks are generally functioning well for their intended use. The most notable exception, 
however, is Fox Run Park, which lacks visibility, frontage, and amenities and thus 
serves as an extension to backyards for residents in the estate subdivision, while the 
Township pays for its maintenance. It is recommended that the Township consult with 
local residents and seek opportunities to naturalize or divest this parcel in order to 
reduce maintenance and carrying costs. Should this site be sold, any proceeds should 
be allocated to other park improvements or acquisitions. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 85 

Recommendation 

34. Consult with local residents and seek opportunities to naturalize or divest Fox 
Run Park in order to reduce maintenance and carrying costs. 

8.3 Parkland Needs & Acquisition Strategies 

Generally speaking, parkland service levels can vary dramatically between 
municipalities, but are typically provided at a minimum rate of 2.5 hectares per 1,000 
residents in urban/rural communities. Parkland provision targets are dependent on a 
number of factors such as distribution, non-municipal providers, urban density, local 
needs, and the types of existing parks and open spaces.  

It is recommended that the Township of Puslinch adopt a parkland service target of 3.0 
hectares per 1,000 residents, which is a similar target used in comparable 
municipalities and should generally be sufficient to meet the active recreational needs of 
local residents. This target should be applied to active parkland only, no open space 
lands and natural areas. Applying this target to the projected 2031 population 
(9,920 residents) suggests that the Township will need approximately 7.6 more 
hectares of active parkland by 2031.  

The optimum parkland development strategy is to focus on the provision of 
neighbourhood or community level parks with emphasis on enhancing geographic 
distribution and serving settlement areas that are poised for residential development 
(e.g., Aberfoyle and Morriston). Improving and enhancing existing parks to respond to 
new pressures and facility needs will also be a key point of emphasis moving forward.  

There are several provincial and municipal regulations, policies, and guidelines 
governing the acquisition and location of parkland. The County of Wellington Official 
Plan is one of these tools for implementation, which contains parkland acquisition 
policies guided by the Planning Act. Section 13.10 of the Official Plan identifies that 
local Councils may require the dedication of parkland in accordance with the Planning 
Act for all developments, redevelopment, or plans of subdivision. The Planning Act 
identifies that municipalities may require the conveyance of lands for park or other 
recreational purposes at a rate of 5% of land for residential (2% for commercial and/or 
industrial) or 1 hectare per 300 dwelling units proposed (note: Bill 73 is proposing to 
change the alternate requirement to 1 hectare per 500 units). Under certain 
requirements, Council may also require cash-in-lieu of parkland, to be used towards 
future acquisition or development of parkland within the Township. 

Section 13.10.2 of the Official Plan describes the locational criteria for evaluating 
potential lands for parkland dedication. It is identified that suitable municipal parkland 
shall be:  

 Land adjacent to established parks, schools, or storm water management ponds; 

 Land within easy walking distance of the residential area served; 

 Land located near the highest density residential areas; 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 86 

 Land with adequate street frontage to provide for visibility and safety; 

 Land that is level, regularly shaped and not susceptible to major flooding, poor 
drainage, or other environmental or physical conditions, which would interfere 
with their development or use for public recreation. 

In addition to these criteria, municipal parkland development shall be of an appropriate 
size and configuration to effectively utilize municipal resources and facilitate meaningful 
recreation activities. There are good examples (such as the expansion of the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park) and bad examples (such as Fox Run Park, with limited 
frontage and public utility) of parkland dedication in Puslinch and the Township needs to 
be thoughtful about the lands they acquire for future parkland.  

At a minimum, future park development should concentrate on providing neighbourhood 
level amenities; thus, the provision of parkettes (e.g., >0.5 ha) should be discouraged, 
unless there is a need to reconcile gap areas. In cases where the development is too 
small to result in a meaningful park parcel or where the immediate area already has 
suitable and unimpeded access to sufficient parkland, then the Township may consider 
accepting cash-in-lieu. 

Pursuant to the Planning Act, the Township may also accept undevelopable lands, 
storm water management areas, and woodlots for the purposes of passive recreation 
and educational uses, although these lands should not be considered part of the 
required parkland dedication (as per Section 13.10.4 of the Official Plan). Some 
residents also suggested that aggregate pits be rehabilitated for public recreational use; 
this option would require further investigation into sustainable funding for site 
development and long-term maintenance. 

Should there be a need to supplement parkland supplies beyond the mechanisms 
permitted by the Official Plan and Planning Act, there are a number of other park 
acquisition strategies that the Township may pursue, such as (but not limited to):  

 Municipal land purchase or lease; 

 Land exchanges or swaps, particularly if development is to occur in natural areas 
highly valued by the community; 

 Off-site conveyance of parkland; 

 Establishment of a Parks Foundation (e.g., community, corporate, or municipal 
donations towards parkland acquisition); 

 Reallocating surplus municipal lands to park use; and/or 

 Partnership/joint provision of lands with local partners.  

Recommendations 

35. Adopt a parkland service target of 3.0 hectares per 1,000 residents, which would 
require an additional 7.6 hectares of parkland by 2031 to serve growing 
settlement areas (e.g., Aberfoyle and Morriston) within the Township of Puslinch. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 87 

36. Continue to pursue the dedication of parkland and cash-in-lieu through the 
provisions of the Official Plan and Planning Act. 

37. Avoid developing or accepting active parkland parcels of less than 0.5 hectare in 
size unless the Township has determined that there is a need to fill a gap in 
parkland and other options are inadequate.  

38. Accepting undevelopable Open Space lands (e.g., storm water management 
ponds, woodlots, valley lands, floodplains, hazard lands, etc.) as part of the 
parkland dedication requirement is strongly discouraged. The Township may 
assume these lands through voluntary dedication or easement if appropriate. 

39. Where necessary, employ alternative acquisition tools to enhance future 
parkland opportunities to serve current and future residents. 

8.4 Parkland Design Considerations 

As the Township acquires or redevelops parkland, there are a number of key design 
features that should be considered to ensure that they are effective and functional. 
Emphasis should be placed on developing parks as vibrant destinations where 
residents and visitors can engage in meaningful experiences. This can be achieved 
through incorporating unique park designs that facilitate traditional activities and are 
flexible in accommodating informal and emerging pursuits.  

Ensuring that parks are inclusive and barrier free is also crucial to achieving the 
requirements of the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act. Other design 
features that should be considered include supporting amenities such as seating, 
shade, parking, connections to key destinations, and safety. In certain instances, 
environmental protection and naturalization should be sought to preserve sensitive 
spaces. The Township should also continue to encourage the organized and non-
programmed use of its parks and support its community partners in local beautification, 
environmental management, and stewardship – all of which are highly valued by 
communities. 

Signage is also an essential design feature that plays an important role in establishing a 
visual identity and communicating what amenities are available in the community. The 
Township of Puslinch does not currently have a signage programme within its parks and 
recreation facilities. By having consistent signage throughout the Township, a number of 
benefits are achieved, including: 

 Serving as an indicator of the quality of the local parks system as a whole. As a 
first impression, a high quality sign can lead people to perceive that the park is of 
high quality. 

 Communicating the corporate brand, carrying consistency throughout the 
Township, and promoting tourism. 

 Promoting awareness among all residents that are part of the larger Township, in 
addition to non-residents from adjacent municipalities. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 88 

 Informing residents and visitors of the location of public property, thereby 
avoiding confusion regarding access. 

 Developing a sense of place to create unique park experiences and foster 
aesthetic development, while improving wayfinding among residents and visitors. 

 Providing interpretive information connecting users to the park and encourage 
them to take an interest in their surroundings. 

A good sign is attractive, clearly designed with contrasting colours to enhance visual 
recognition, and has regard for its context and local surroundings. Signs should clearly 
state the name of park or facility, provide an address for emergency purposes, and/or 
state the name of the local organization that assisted with the development of the 
facility. Specific to signage on trails, the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act 
requires that any recreational trail must have signage at each trailhead that contains the 
trail length, surface type, average and minimum width, running and cross slope, and 
location of amenities. 

Recommendations 

40. Maintain a commitment to accessibility, safety, and comfort within the Township’s 
parks system through compliance with the Accessibility for Ontarians with 
Disabilities Act (AODA) and Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED) principles. In recognition of the Township’s aging population, greater 
attention should be paid to the development of amenities such as washrooms, 
shade, and benches/seating areas in parks and along trails. 

41. Establish a consistent signage design template and install at all parks, recreation 
facilities, and trail heads. 

8.5 Trail Network 

The Telfer Glen Park Trail is the only trail that is owned and maintained by the 
Township; this trail measures approximately 270 metres in length and provides users 
with a naturalized hiking route in the Morriston settlement area. In addition to this trail, 
approximately 33 kilometres of naturalized hiking trails are located throughout the rural 
area of the Township, such as the Badenoch Tract Trail, Lakeshore Lookout Trail, Little 
Tract Trail, Smith Side Trail, Speed River Trail, Starkey Hill Trail, and Quarry Trail. 
These trails are owned and maintained by various entities including Wellington County, 
Halton Region Conservation Authority, Grand River Conservation Authority, private 
property owners, and the Guelph Hiking Trail Club. There are park pathways and 
sidewalks located in the Township’s settlement areas.  

The importance of a connected trail network has never been greater as communities 
across the Province strive to promote healthier lifestyles given the lack of physical 
activity among Canadians. Trails are a cost-effective method to increasing physical 
activity levels and supporting positive interaction between the community and the 
natural environment to facilitate recreational activities and utilitarian purposes, by 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 89 

forming the link between destinations and in some cases, providing alternative 
transportation choices if trails are linked to key employment areas.  

Trails are among the most desirable features in a community and are often a key 
consideration in the home buying process. While trails can be enjoyed by all members 
of the community, studies show that there is a correlation between age and walking for 
leisure. As age increases, so too does the propensity to identify walking as the most 
common leisure activity. This is largely due to that fact the intensity of physical activity 
declines with age. Nevertheless, the provision of trails can be flexibly designed to 
accommodate a range of uses, regardless of age. 

The public input collected for this Master Plan aligns with national trends as the online 
survey ranked walking and hiking for leisure as the most common physical activity, with 
81% of respondents participating in the past 12 months. 89% of respondents felt that 
trails and pathways were important to their household. However, despite the importance 
of trails and pathways, only 31% of survey respondents were satisfied with the trails in 
the Township. This gap between importance and satisfaction suggests that there is a 
critical gap where expectations are not being met. This is further underscored by the 
79% of survey respondents that supported spending additional public funds on new or 
improved nature trails, which ranked as the second highest priority out of 17 facility 
types. 

In addition to the data collected from the online community survey, a number of 
comments were received from the public and stakeholders regarding the need for a 
network of multi-use trails that formed loops within parks as well as connections to key 
destinations. The need for additional promotion of trail locations was also expressed. 

The development of trails and cycling routes in the Township is guided by the 
Wellington County Active Transportation Master Plan (2012), which identifies potential 
on and off-road trail corridors throughout the County. A number of active transportation 
routes were proposed for the Township, including shared roadways, signed bicycle 
routes, paved shoulders along County roads, and off-road walking routes. The 
Township should support the recommendations contained in the Active Transportation 
Master Plan and consider potential partnerships with the County to enhance active 
transportation opportunities in the Township. Some of the key recommended trail routes 
in the Township of Puslinch included: 

 Developing an off-road trail loop at the Puslinch Community Centre in Aberfoyle 
and connecting Aberfoyle Public School to the Community Centre. 

 Completing the connection along Downey Road/Wellington Road 35 to 
Concession 4 and west to Townline road to connect south Guelph with Hespeler. 

 Creating a signed route connection in Morriston along Wellington Road 36. 

 Investigating the potential to develop an off-road trail loop on public lands in 
northeast Morriston. 

The County of Wellington Official Plan also provides a high level framework for 
enhancing the Township’s trails and pathways. Specifically, policies regarding the 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 90 

pedestrian facilities are contained in Section 12.2, which maintains that pedestrian 
facilities will be encouraged for recreation and utilitarian purposes. The Official Plan 
identifies that this will be achieved by: 

a) Requiring sidewalks in all new development within urban centres and 
encouraged in hamlets, where possible, 

b) Key destinations such as schools and convenience commercial uses will be 
centrally located in residential neighbourhoods and higher density residential will 
be encouraged along main streets to facilitate walkable atmosphere; 

c) Pedestrian friendly facilities such as pedestrian crossings, signalized 
intersections, curb cuts, pedestrian bridges and lighting, will be incorporated into 
community design practices to encourage walking, and 

d) Pedestrian trails, particularly those that re-use abandoned railway right-of-ways 
will be encouraged. 

Section 12.3 of the Official Plan contains policies that encourage cycling as recreational 
pastime and utilitarian purposes. This can be achieved by the (selected policies shown): 

a) Undertaking studies to determine the potential to provide bicycle lanes on 
roadways in urban centres, 

d) Supporting the development of recreational trails that allow for cycling, and 
e) Providing linkages between intensification areas and adjacent neighbourhoods, 

including dedicated land space for bicyclists on the major street network where 
practical and feasible.  

Of note, Subsection 51(25)(b) of the Ontario Planning Act, affecting the conveyance of 
land for pedestrian and bicycle pathways, was amended within the past few years. The 
Planning Act now allows for the dedication of land for “pedestrian pathways, bicycle 
pathways and public transit rights of way” as a condition of plan of subdivision approval, 
at the municipality’s discretion. While this provision does not affect parkland supplies (it 
is over and above the prescribed parkland dedication), it is a useful tool for the acquisition 
of linear corridors and trails that support and link parks and natural features. It is 
recommended that the Township consider the conveyance of land for pathways within 
new subdivisions, and that they encourage the County of Wellington to include this policy 
within its Official Plan.  

The Township’s 2010 Design Guidelines also supports the installation of sidewalks and 
bike racks (among other amenities) within villages, as well as bicycle lanes from Guelph 
to Aberfoyle. 

To enhance these policies, the Township should require developers to fund the 
construction of trails and connecting pathways that primarily serve the subject lands. 
Maintenance of trails becomes a municipal responsibility once assumed by the 
Township; therefore, appropriate municipal resourcing (e.g., staff, capital, etc.) is 
required to maintain these assets over the long-term. Guidelines should be established 
to articulate municipal trail development and maintenance standards that are congruent 
with AODA standards. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 91 

While the Official Plan contains appropriate direction for trails and pathways created 
through new development, a challenge for the Township is the creation of trails in areas 
where there are no active development applications, such as existing neighbourhoods. 
With residents seeking enhanced trail connectivity, it is incumbent upon the Township to 
work to expand the trail network, particularly by connecting destinations such as parks, 
schools, and commercial areas within its urban communities. The Wellington County 
Active Transportation Master Plan is an excellent first step toward achieving this goal. 
As part of the Plan’s implementation, it is recommended that the Township engage local 
service clubs and the public in a process to: (1) establish and/or confirm guidelines and 
responsibilities for trail development and maintenance; and (2) identify and/or confirm 
potential trail routes, implementation projects, and funding sources over a multi-year 
timeframe. The local adoption of guidelines for trails planning and development will be 
an important deliverable that can be used by staff to assess trail matters relative to 
development applications. Consideration may also be given to including conceptual trail 
routes within the Official Plan to create awareness and to allow for developers to reflect 
these intentions within their applications. 

Recommendations 

42. Seek opportunities to include trails and pathways (unpaved) within the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park (existing portion and/or expansion lands) through the 
recommended Park Master Plan process.  

43. Assign high priority to the creation and promotion of local active transportation 
routes and trail development identified in the Wellington County Active 
Transportation Master Plan, coordination of community efforts, and mechanisms 
afforded the Township through the development approvals process. 

44. Engage local service clubs and the public in a process to: (1) establish and/or 
confirm guidelines and responsibilities for trail development and maintenance; 
and (2) identify and/or confirm potential trail routes, implementation projects, and 
funding sources over a multi-year timeframe. 

45. Consider permitting the conveyance of land for pathways within new subdivisions 
(as permitted by Section 51 of the Planning Act). The Township should encourage 
the County of Wellington to include this policy within its Official Plan.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 92 

9. IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY 

This Section summarizes the action plans put forth within this Master Plan, along with 
their suggested priority and timing. A framework for reviewing and updating the Plan is 
also identified. 

9.1 Implementation Strategy 

Throughout the body of this Master Plan, recommendations have been identified at the 
end of each subsection or topic area. This is not intended to be a definitive list, as 
additional capital repairs, operating expenditures, and other initiatives outside the scope 
of this Plan may be identified and prioritized on a case-specific basis. By approving this 
Plan, the Township is not bound to implementing every recommendation or providing 
facilities/services in the order, amount, or timing indicated; rather, this Plan provides 
guidance on community priorities and sets a general course for meeting the needs as 
they are presently defined. It is expected that the Township of Puslinch will make 
decisions on individual projects and funding sources annually through the capital 
budget process. 

This implementation strategy provides guidance for ensuring that the most critical 
recommendations are dealt with in a timely fashion, while the less critical (yet important) 
recommendations are implemented over time. In addition, high level capital cost 
estimates for key recommendations have been identified in collaboration with the 
Township to ensure that local cost factors and standards are properly reflected. Annual 
operating costs for programs, services, and facilities (existing or recommended under 
this Plan) are not included in this analysis. It is expected that an analysis of operating 
budget implications and partnership options would be undertaken prior to approving any 
capital project and that sufficient annual operating funds would be allocated to any 
approved project. Identified cost implications are estimates for budgeting purposes only 
and have not been adjusted for inflation. 

The timing of the projects proposed in this Master Plan recognizes the need for phased 
implementation as some recommendations are based upon what is needed and not 
necessarily what is financially achievable by the Township at the present time. As such, 
the timing proposed for some recommendations may not align with the Township’s 
funding capacities as time goes by. As part of the annual budget process, this Plan will 
be reviewed to identify areas where the availability of resources may affect the timing of 
implementation.  

Determining priorities is an exercise that should be revisited each year prior to the 
Township’s capital and operating budget development exercise. Readjusting resource 
allocations is critical in a climate where base funding is not increasing substantially and 
resources need to be maximized in order to garner the greatest gain to the community.   



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 93 

In addition to funding availability, factors that might change priorities year to year may 
include: 

 capital lifecycle and considerations of safety; 

 legislation and mandated requirements; 

 changes to service standards; 

 public input and community interests; 

 emerging trends and changes in participation rates; 

 availability of alternate providers; and 

 socio-demographic changes and growth forecasts. 

The Township has limited resources and cannot afford to do everything that the 
community desires; this is one of the primary reasons for undertaking a Master Plan in 
the first place. Although the Township of Puslinch may be challenged in providing the 
appropriate financial resources to meet the Master Plan’s recommendations, the 
Township has an obligation to make every reasonable effort to implement these 
strategies through a variety of appropriate and acceptable means. The full 
implementation of this Plan will require the pursuit of development charges, grants, 
alternative funding, and the establishment of various partnerships and collaborations 
with community organizations, schools, agencies, and other partners.  

Recommendations 

46. Ensure that sufficient annual operating funds are allocated to approved capital 
projects. 

47. Continue to seek alternative funding sources (e.g., fundraising, sponsorships, 
grants, etc.) to supplement existing resources and to enable full implementation 
of the Master Plan. 

Priority is often, but not always, synonymous with timing – the higher the priority, the 
sooner the recommendation should be implemented. Priority has been determined 
based on an assessment of need, as identified throughout the planning process 
(including public engagement, trend and demographic analysis, assessments of 
facilities, parks, services, etc.). The size of the Township’s population and tax base 
restricts the resources that can be allocated to leisure facilities and services. In turn, 
meeting the widest range of needs possible through the efficient use of resources is 
paramount.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 94 

Within the tables that follow, the priority and timing of recommendations are organized 
into the following categories: 

Priority 

High Priority: Immediate attention is recommended during the timeframe 
recommended. 

Medium Priority: Attention is required when high priority recommendations have 
been initiated or completed, or when suitable partners have been identified for 
funding. 

Low Priority: Attention is required when high and medium priority 
recommendations have been initiated/completed. 

Timing 

Short-term: 2015 to 2018 

Longer-term: 2019 and beyond 

Ongoing: Best practices to be followed on a continual basis 

Note: In the following tables, the action plans are numbered according to the order in 
which they are presented in the body of the Master Plan. They are not listed in priority 
order. 

Implementation Strategy: Township of Puslinch Parks & Recreation Master Plan 

Service Delivery Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Township Roles & Responsibilities    

1. Continue to serve as a provider of space for 
parks and recreation opportunities within 
Puslinch by offering the community access to 
core indoor and outdoor facilities (through free 
use, rental, or other agreement). 

High Ongoing  

Programming    

2. Maintain an up-to-date inventory of recreation 
opportunities within the community (including a 
database of community groups and their contact 
information) to ensure that a full range of 
activities are available for all age groups. This 
database should be made accessible to local 
residents and serve to enhance awareness of 
local activities, programs, leagues, and events. 

Medium Ongoing  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 95 

Service Delivery Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

3. Establish regular contact with various community 
partners (e.g., Public Health, Library, Social 
Services, Seniors Association, Volunteer Centre, 
YMCA, school boards, etc.) – either collectively 
(e.g., through committees, working groups, etc.) 
or individually – to identify potential opportunities 
for community-led programming and facility 
rentals, with an emphasis on low cost options for 
older adults/seniors and children/youth. 

Medium Ongoing  

4. Through municipal leadership, practices, policies, 
and resources, support opportunities for informal, 
unstructured, and inclusive active recreation 
experiences, including drop-in programs and 
non-registered special or one-time events (where 
resources and availability allow). 

High Ongoing Potential 
operating cost 
implications due 
to additional 
events and drop-
in programs 

5. Actively promote physical activity and healthy 
communities through participation in the 
Wellington-Dufferin-Guelph “in motion” initiative 
and similar programs. 

High Ongoing  

Community Development & Partnerships    

6. Seek fundraising, partnership, and sponsorship 
opportunities that are consistent with the 
Township’s vision in order to reduce reliance on 
tax dollars in providing quality parks and 
recreation opportunities. 

High Ongoing  

7. Build relationships with local religious institutions 
and adjacent municipalities to improve 
collaboration and ensure affordable access to 
facilities and programs for residents. 

Low Ongoing  

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 96 

Service Delivery Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Staffing & Volunteerism    

8. Evaluate options to improve the existing municipal 
parks and recreation staffing model to enhance 
coordination, accountability, and transparency. 
This may include, but not be limited to, the 
following: 

a. The creation of a municipal position(s) to 
coordinate community development and 
recreation policy matters, as well as oversee 
the daytime operation of the ORC; and 

b. Consolidating part-time staff into full-time 
equivalents (or creating a new full-time 
position) to address growing Township-wide 
facility and park maintenance requirements. 

Medium Short-
term 

New staff will 
have operating 
cost implications 
– to be 
determined 
through further 
study 

Governance    

9. Undertake a comprehensive review of the 
Recreation Committee’s terms of reference with 
consideration to the recommendations contained 
in this Master Plan. Seek ways to activate the 
Committee’s mandate through the development of 
an annual work plan identifying key projects and 
priorities. 

Medium Short-
term 

 

10. Work with the Badenoch Community Centre Board 
to seek its incorporation as a not-for-profit entity 
responsible for the operation of the Badenoch 
Community Centre. Should this direction not be 
supported by the Board/Council, the Township 
may consider assuming the operational duties for 
this facility and absorb the Board’s mandate into 
that of the Recreation Committee. 

High Short-
term 

 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 97 

Service Delivery Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Communication & Awareness    

11. Undertake a Communications & Branding Strategy 
to promote local parks and recreation 
opportunities. This Strategy may include: 

a. Publishing a bi-annual community leisure 
guide containing information relating to parks, 
trails, and recreation opportunities, as well as 
other services provided by the Township and 
its community partners; 

b. Exploring digital signage, social media, and 
emerging technologies to maximize 
awareness opportunities and outreach to 
wider audiences; and 

c. Township-wide signage to easily identify 
municipal assets and branding (logo, tag line, 
etc.) and to provide consistent messaging. 

High Short-
term 

Initial and 
ongoing 
operating cost 
implications 
dependent on 
scope and scale 

12. Provide opportunities to facilitate dialogue 
between groups (e.g., Recreation Committee, 
community partners, and residents) through an 
annual forum (or similar approach) in order to 
bolster communication. Additional engagement 
opportunities should also be provided prior to 
undertaking large community projects to solicit 
input from the public. 

Medium Ongoing  

User Fees & Financial Assistance    

13. Promote the use of external partners that provide 
subsidies for participation in recreational 
opportunities in order to mitigate financial barriers 
for low income households. 

Medium Ongoing  

14. Regularly assess rental fees and charges to 
ensure that they represent a fair and equitable 
balance between true costs and public benefits, 
are competitive in the broader regional market, 
and allow the Township to meet its financial goals. 

Medium Ongoing  

15. Establish an hourly charge for groups interested in 
renting the Township’s soccer fields (other than 
the local minor soccer association, which pays a 
fee per participant). 

Medium Short-
term 

 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 98 

Service Delivery Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

16. Establish a policy to address special requests for 
fee waivers in an equitable and transparent 
manner. (e.g., each affiliated community 
organization may receive one two-hour room 
rental free each year for an annual meeting). 

Medium Short-
term 

 

17. Develop a Community Funding Policy and grant 
program to assist community organizations in 
implementing initiatives that are aligned with the 
Township’s goals and priorities (funding could go 
towards offsetting the cost of items such as 
materials, equipment, promotion, 
staffing/administration, etc.). There is an 
expectation that organizations would also be 
required to fund a portion of the cost themselves. 

High Short-
term 

Reallocation of 
existing 
expenditures – 
no net impact  

Policies & Procedures    

18. Conduct an annual review of all applicable parks 
and recreation policies and procedures to identify 
gaps and ensure that current policies and 
procedures are current, fair, and accurate to the 
parties involved. 

Medium Ongoing  

19. Develop a parks maintenance policy for sports 
fields and other park types. 

Low Longer-
term 

 

20. Develop a facility allocation policy to establish a 
priority ranking for facility and park scheduling, as 
well as scheduling procedures. 

Low Longer-
term 

 

21. Collect annual registration data from all 
organizations that use Township parks and 
facilities and monitor facility utilization to assist in 
tracking trends, changing demands, and 
allocation. 

Medium Ongoing  

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 99 

Facility Needs Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Multi-Purpose Spaces    

22. Prioritize improvements to the Puslinch 
Community Centre and Badenoch Community 
Centre and link projects to the Township’s long-
term capital forecast.  

Medium Ongoing Building 
Condition Audits 
identify costs of 
$354,750 (PCC) 
and $135,850 
(BCC) between 
2014 and 2029 

Older Adult Spaces    

23. Strengthen community partnerships and explore 
options for enhancing the use of existing municipal 
facilities for community-led programs and events 
for the Township’s growing older adult population.  

High Ongoing  

Soccer Fields    

24. Two soccer fields – one lit full-size soccer field 
(11v11) and one smaller unlit soccer field (9v9) – 
are recommended to be developed on the 
expansion lands of the Puslinch Community 
Centre Park.  

High Short-
term 

Estimated 
capital cost of 
$550,000 for two 
soccer fields and 
ancillary 
amenities 

25. Be prepared to explore alternative options for 
providing soccer fields, should the Calvary Baptist 
Church elect to terminate the informal 
arrangement with the Township. 

 

High Ongoing Potential capital 
cost implications 

Ball Diamonds    

26. Engage local ball user groups to identify and 
prioritize improvements to select municipal ball 
diamonds. 

Medium Short-
term 

Funding 
dependent upon 
identified 
priorities 

27. Consider re-purposing the Puslinch Community 
Centre Park ball diamond to alternate uses (e.g., 
splash pad, mini soccer field, etc.) to allow for 
improved flow and function within this park. 

Medium Short-
term 

Further input 
and/or study 
required 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 100 

Facility Needs Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Hard Surface Courts    

28. Work with the Puslinch Tennis Club to facilitate 
improvements to the existing courts (e.g., 
installation of wind and noise screening) and to 
convert the third court (furthest from the road) into 
a public court without controlled access in order to 
promote use for non-members. 

Low Longer-
term 

Estimated 
capital cost of 
$10,000 

Splash Pads    

29. Seek and engage an interested community 
partner in the development and potential operation 
of a splash pad at the Puslinch Community Centre 
Park. Efforts should be made to pursue funding 
from senior levels of government and through a 
fundraising campaign. 

Medium Short-
term 

Potential capital 
and/or operating 
cost implications, 
dependent upon 
arrangement and 
design (capital 
costs starting at 
$250,000) 

Playgrounds    

30. Assess opportunities to update and modernize the 
playground at Boreham Park and the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park with creative play 
equipment. Consideration should be given to 
relocating the playground at the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park (including barrier-free 
components) to complement the splash pad 
recommended in this Master Plan. 

Medium Short-
term 

Estimated 
capital cost of 
$50,000 - 
$200,000 per 
playground 

Other Facilities    

31. Evaluate requests for facilities and services not 
presently within the Township’s core mandate on 
a case-by-case basis. Unsolicited proposals 
should be supported by a proponent-led 
assessment that demonstrates the risks and 
benefits of the Township becoming involved in the 
provision of a non-core facility, as well as a 
business plan and funding strategy suitable to the 
Township.  

Low Ongoing  

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 101 

Facility Needs Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Puslinch Community Centre Park Expansion    

32. Develop a Master Plan for the Puslinch 
Community Centre Park to more closely examine 
the layout and features of the entire park site, 
including the expansion lands. 

High Short-
term 

Consultant / 
landscape 
architect –
$15,000 

 

Parks, Open Space & Trails Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Parkland Form & Function    

33. Utilize the Master Plan’s parkland classification 
hierarchy to guide the development or 
redevelopment of parks and open spaces 
according to park type, size, service level, and the 
amenities that they provide. 

High Ongoing  

Parkland Supply    

34. Consult with local residents and seek 
opportunities to naturalize or divest Fox Run Park 
in order to reduce maintenance and carrying 
costs. 

Low Longer-
term 

Potential cost 
savings 

Parkland Needs & Acquisition Strategies    

35. Adopt a parkland service target of 3.0 hectares 
per 1,000 residents, which would require an 
additional 7.6 hectares of parkland by 2031 to 
serve growing settlement areas (e.g., Aberfoyle 
and Morriston) within the Township of Puslinch. 

High Ongoing  

36. Continue to pursue the dedication of parkland and 
cash-in-lieu through the provisions of the Official 
Plan and Planning Act. 

High Ongoing  

37. Avoid developing or accepting active parkland 
parcels of less than 0.5 hectare in size unless the 
Township has determined that there is a need to 
fill a gap in parkland and other options are 
inadequate. 

High Ongoing  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 102 

Parks, Open Space & Trails Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

38. Accepting undevelopable Open Space lands (e.g., 
storm water management ponds, woodlots, valley 
lands, floodplains, hazard lands, etc.) as part of 
the parkland dedication requirement is strongly 
discouraged. The Township may assume these 
lands through voluntary dedication or easement if 
appropriate. 

High Ongoing  

39. Where necessary, employ alternative acquisition 
tools to enhance future parkland opportunities to 
serve current and future residents. 

Medium Ongoing  

Parkland Design Considerations    

40. Maintain a commitment to accessibility, safety, 
and comfort within the Township’s parks system 
through compliance with the Accessibility for 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) and Crime 
Prevention Through Environmental Design 
(CPTED) principles. In recognition of the 
Township’s aging population, greater attention 
should be paid to the development of amenities 
such as washrooms, shade, and benches/seating 
areas in parks and along trails. 

High Ongoing Minor capital 
cost implications 

41. Establish a consistent signage design template 
and install at all parks, recreation facilities, and 
trail heads. 

Medium Longer-
term 

Estimated 
capital cost of 
$1,500 to $2,000 
per sign 

Trail Network    

42. Seek opportunities to include trails and pathways 
(unpaved) within the Puslinch Community Centre 
Park (existing portion and/or expansion lands) 
through the recommended Park Master Plan 
process.  

High Short-
term 

Capital costs 
start at $120 per 
metre (source: 
Wellington 
County Active 
Transportation 
Master Plan) 

43. Assign high priority to the creation and promotion 
of local active transportation routes and trail 
development identified in the Wellington County 
Active Transportation Master Plan, coordination of 
community efforts, and mechanisms afforded the 
Township through the development approvals 
process. 

High Ongoing See 
implementation 
plan for the 
Wellington 
County Active 
Transportation 
Master Plan  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 103 

Parks, Open Space & Trails Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

44. Engage local service clubs and the public in a 
process to: (1) establish and/or confirm guidelines 
and responsibilities for trail development and 
maintenance; and (2) identify and/or confirm 
potential trail routes, implementation projects, and 
funding sources over a multi-year timeframe. 

High Short-
term 

 

45. Consider permitting the conveyance of land for 
pathways within new subdivisions (as permitted by 
Section 51 of the Planning Act). The Township 
should encourage the County of Wellington to 
include this policy within its Official Plan. 

Medium Short-
term 

 

 

Implementation Recommendations Priority Timing Considerations 

Implementation Strategy    

46. Ensure that sufficient annual operating funds are 
allocated to approved capital projects. 

High Ongoing  

47. Continue to seek alternative funding sources (e.g., 
fundraising, sponsorships, grants, etc.) to 
supplement existing resources and to enable full 
implementation of the Master Plan. 

High Ongoing  

Monitoring and Updating the Master Pan    

48. Implement a system for the regular 
implementation, monitoring, and review of the 
Master Plan.  

High Short-
term 

 

49. Reconfirm the direction, priorities and 
accomplishments of the Master Plan in 2020. 
Undertake a complete review and update of the 
Master Plan in the year 2025. 

High Longer-
term 

Consultant: 
$60,000 (2025) 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 104 

9.2 Monitoring and Updating the Master Plan 

The Township of Puslinch should regularly review and assess, and periodically revise 
the recommendations of the Parks and Recreation Master Plan in order to ensure that 
they remain reflective of local conditions and responsive to the changing needs of the 
community. This will require monitoring of activity patterns, tracking user satisfaction 
levels, consistent dialogue with community organizations, annual reporting on 
implementation and short-term work plans, and undertaking a detailed ten-year update 
to the Plan. Through these mechanisms – or as a result of other internal or external 
factors – adjustment of resource allocations and priorities identified in this Plan may be 
required. 

Reviewing the Plan requires a commitment from all staff involved in the delivery of parks 
and recreation services, Council, and the public. An appropriate time for this is prior to 
the annual budgeting process. The following steps may be used to conduct an annual 
review of the Master Plan: 

 review of the past year (recommendations implemented, capital projects 
undertaken, success/failure of new and existing initiatives, changes in 
participation levels, issues arising from the public and community groups, etc.); 

 identification of issues impacting the coming year (anticipated financial and 
operational constraints, political pressures, etc.); 

 cursory review of the Plan for direction regarding its recommendations; 

 preparation of a staff report to indicate prioritization of short term projects and 
determination of which projects should be implemented in the coming year based 
upon criteria established by staff (e.g., financial limitations, community input, 
partnership/funding potential, etc.); 

 communication to staff and Council regarding the status of projects, criteria used 
to prioritize projects, and projects to be implemented in the coming year; and 

 budget requests/revisions as necessary. 

Recommendations 

48. Implement a system for the regular implementation, monitoring, and review of the 
Master Plan.  

49. Reconfirm the direction, priorities and accomplishments of the Master Plan in 
2020. Undertake a complete review and update of the Master Plan in the year 
2025. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 105 

9.3 Estimated Recreation Facility Costs 

The following table provides a high level estimate of capital costs for the construction or 
replacement of recreation facilities discussed in this Master Plan. These estimates 
should be interpreted with caution as there are many variables that may impact costs, 
including (but not limited to) regional pricing, economies of scale achieved through 
multi-use facility development, design quality and construction methods, specifications, 
equipment, terrain, materials, and inflation. These estimates are construction costs only 
and exclude consulting and design fees, contingency, and supporting amenities such as 
landscaping, parking, and other ancillary services (e.g., washrooms and concessions). 

Facility Type Estimated Capital Cost 

Arenas $12 - $15 million for a twin-pad arena 

Gymnasiums $1.5 - $2 million 

Fitness Facilities Starting at $1 million 

Soccer Fields $100,000 - $250,000 (add up to $175,000 for lights) 

Ball Diamonds $200,00 - $350,000 (add up $175,000 for lights) 

Tennis Courts $70,000 per pair (up to $50,000 for lights) 

Multi-Use Courts $10,000 - $50,000 

Pickleball Courts $35,000 a pair (up to $20,000 for lights) 

Skateboard Parks $100,000 - $500,000 

Splash Pads Starting at $250,000 

Playgrounds $50,000 - $200,000 
 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 106 

Appendix A – Background Document Review 

A number of documents that were pertinent to the development of the Recreation & 
Parks Master Plan was received and reviewed. This section summarizes each of these 
documents. 

A Study of the Leisure Service Delivery System in Puslinch Township (1988) 

The Leisure Service Delivery System Study was prepared in 1988 by a group of 
students from the University of Guelph. The purpose of this study was to provide the 
Recreation Committee with future directions to meet the present and future leisure 
needs of its residents. Several key areas for improvement were identified including the 
mandate of the Recreation Committee; policy and procedures development; 
communication; and, identifying and meeting needs. Recommendations for various 
recreation and parks activities and facilities were also identified, in addition to an 
inventory of leisure assets, and local community groups and service providers. 

County of Wellington Official Plan (2011) & OPA 81 (2013) 

Growth in the Township of Puslinch is guided by the Wellington County Official Plan, 
which provides direction on matters relating to the physical development within the 
County over a 20 year period. A five-year review was most recently completed in 2013 
(referred to as Official Plan Amendment 81). 

With respect to population growth, the County Official Plan indicates that by 2031, the 
Township of Puslinch will reach 9,920. A breakdown of population growth by Census 
year is contained in the table below. 

Table 10: Population Forecast, Township of Puslinch 

 2011 2016 2021 2026 2031 

Population 7,490 8,130 8,720 9,320 9,920 

Policies regarding public spaces, parks, and open space are contained in Section 4.11, 
which maintains that the County will promote healthy, active communities by: 

 Planning public roads, streets and facilities to be safe, meet the needs of 
pedestrians, and facilitate pedestrian and non-motorized movement, including, 
but not limited to, walking and cycling 

 Providing a full range and equitable distribution of publicly-accessible built and 
natural settings for recreation, including facilities, parklands, open space areas, 
trail, and where practical and appropriate, water-based resources 

 Providing opportunities for public access to shorelines 

 Considering the impacts of planning decisions on parks, agreement forests and 
conservation areas. 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 107 

2014 Development Charges Background Study 

The 2014 Development Charges Background Study identifies new development 
charges and policies for the Township of Puslinch. As expressed in the Development 
Charges Act, municipalities may impose development charges against land to pay for 
increased capital costs required due to the increased needs for services arising from 
development. The services included in the development charges for the Township of 
Puslinch include roads infrastructure, fire protection, outdoor and indoor recreation, and 
other administrative services.  

The Development Charges Background Study identified a current population estimate of 
7,240 persons. The Township’s population is expected to reach approximately 8,564 by 
2024 and 9,808 by 2034, resulting in an increase of 1,324 and 2,568 persons, 
respectively, over the 10-year and 20-year forecast periods, excluding undercount. In 
accordance with forecast demand and available land supply, the 2014 Development 
Charges Background Study allocated housing growth over the 20-year forecast period. 
Aberfoyle and Morriston are slated to receive 6% and 4% of new housing growth, 
respectively, with the difference occurring in rural areas (90%).  

With respect to existing parkland, the Background Study indicates that the Township of 
Puslinch has approximately 17.8 hectares (44 acres) of developed parkland, including 
the new Puslinch Community Centre lands. In addition, the Township provides 3,288 
square metres (35,395 square feet) of indoor recreation facility space. Ten vehicles and 
machinery items were also reported. 

Approximately $192,000 in capital costs have been forecasted over the next 10 year 
period, allocated towards parkland ($100,000), playground ($50,000), trail development 
($37,000), and park vehicle lease ($5,000). Applying the existing reserve balance 
($28,990) and statutory 10% deduction ($19,200), the net growth-related capital costs 
for parks and recreation services over the next ten years is approximately $143,810. 

Wellington County Active Transportation Plan (2012) 

The Wellington County Active Transportation Plan is a long-term pedestrian and cycling 
strategy to encourage utilitarian and recreational travel across the entire County. This 
Plan assists the County and local municipalities in providing planning and transportation 
guidance with respect to on and off-road trails and active transportation corridors within 
the County. The Vision for this Active Transportation Plan is described as to “creative 
and improve opportunities through the County for active recreation and active 
transportation”. Objectives included, but were not limited to, existing the current state of 
trails and active transportation in the County, recommended a network of active 
transportation routes, new policies, design guidelines and standards, promotional 
strategy, and financial and priority considerations through a phased action plan.  

The Plan recommends nearly 755 kilometres of active routes throughout the County. 
With respect to the Township of Puslinch, the recommended priority routes are 
described below, followed by a summary map of all proposed routes in the Township. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 108 

 Develop an off-road trail loop at the Puslinch Community Centre in Aberfoyle and 
connect Aberfoyle Public School to the Community Centre. 

 Complete the connection along Downey Road/Wellington Road 35 to Concession 
4 and west to Townline Road to connect south Guelph with Hespeler. 

 Create a signed route connection in Morriston along Wellington Road 36. 

 Investigate the potential to develop an off-road trail loop on public lands in 
northeast Morriston. 

 Investigate reinstatement of Stroy’s Bridge as a trail connection and part of the 
main side loops in southwest Wellington. 

Figure 12: Proposed Active Transportation and Trail Routes, Township of Puslinch 

 

Building Conditions Assessment – Puslinch Community Centre (2014) 

A building conditions assessment for the Puslinch Community Centre was prepared in 
for the Township, which examined several structural elements of the building including 
the structure, roof, walls and windows, mechanical, electrical, fire and safety. Several 
recommendations were made over a 15 year period (2029). The assessment concluded 
that the structure is generally in good condition with no anticipated structural remedial 
works required in the next 15 years, although it was recommended that the loose 
boards in the decorative architectural element at the front of the building be repaired. 
The roof is also in good condition after repairs to the roof were completed in 2013 to 
address roof leaks; however, it was noted that the roof is nearing the end of its life 
expectancy. As such, replacement of the roofing panels was recommended. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 109 

The walls, windows, and doors were described as in fair condition, with requirements for 
a wall rehabilitation program and windows and doors replacement program 
recommended within the next 15 years. Several pieces of mechanical equipment were 
also recommended for replacement within the next ten years, including, but not limited 
to, the gas furnace, hot water tank, and condenser unit. In addition, replacement of 
electrical items included electrical panels, interior and exterior lighting were advanced. A 
summary of total estimated capital costs to undertake repairs and replacement of the 
recommended items are summarized in the following table. 

Figure 13: Capital Costs for Repairs and Replacement, Puslinch Community Centre - 2014 – 2029  

Building Component Total Capital Costs 

Structural $3,000 

Roof $100,000 

Walls and Windows $140,000 

Mechanical $45,000 

Electrical $61,000 

Fire and Safety $5,750 

Total Uninflated (Inflated) $354,750 ($488,184) 

Building Conditions Assessment – Badenoch Community Centre (2014) 

A building conditions assessment for the Badenoch Community Centre was prepared 
for the Township, which examined several structural elements of the building including 
the structure, roof, walls and windows, mechanical, electrical, fire and safety. Several 
recommendations were made over a 15 year period (2029). The assessment concluded 
that although there was no structural remedial work required within the next 15 years, 
repairs were recommended to stop water infiltration into the basement. The roof was 
generally in good condition as it was recently replaced in 2010.  

The walls, windows, and doors were described as in fair condition, with requirements for 
a wall rehabilitation program and windows and doors replacement program 
recommended within the next 15 years. A number of mechanical equipment pieces 
were identified for replacement including the oil fired furnace unit, heating oil tank, 
fixtures, water treatment equipment, and more. Replacement of interior and exterior 
light fixtures were also identified, in addition to new smoke alarms, existing lighting, and 
basement fire extinguisher. A summary of total estimated capital costs to undertake 
repairs and replacement of the recommended items are summarized in the following 
table. 

Figure 14: Capital Costs for Repairs and Replacement, Badenoch Community Centre - 2014 – 2029  

Building Component Total Capital Costs 

Structural $10,000 

Roof n/a 

Walls and Windows $80,000 

Mechanical $25,600 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 110 

Building Component Total Capital Costs 

Electrical $19,000 

Fire and Safety $1,250 

Total Uninflated (Inflated) $135,850 ($158,422) 

Township of Puslinch Partnership Agreements (Various) 

Smaller municipalities with limited resources often rely on local and regional community 
partners to assist with delivering vital recreation and parks facilities, programs, and 
services. Some of the relevant agreements and collaborations that currently exist 
between the Township and community partners include the following: 

Agreements  

 The Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association uses the ice rink at the Optimist 
Recreation Centre for the Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market 

 YMCA/YWCA Guelph holds a Puslinch Power Camp during the summer at 
the Optimist Recreation Centre 

 The Whistle Stop Co-Operative Inc. operate a children’s daycare at the 
Puslinch Community Centre 

 Aberfoyle Parent-Child Place (Playgroup) operate a drop-in weekly playgroup 
for children and parents at the Puslinch Community Centre 

 The Badenoch Community Centre Board operate the Badenoch Community 
Centre 

Recreation & Parks Collaborations  

 The Puslinch Soccer Club uses the soccer fields at Aberfoyle Park and 
Badenoch Field  

 The Puslinch Tennis Club use the tennis courts at Aberfoyle Park 

 The Optimist Club of Puslinch provides volunteers for maintenance of ice and 
supervision of skating, use of facilities for meetings and events  

 The Aberfoyle Public School uses Aberfoyle Park for various track events, the 
Puslinch Community Centre for chess tournament and Grade 8 graduation, 
and the ice rink at the Optimist Recreation Centre for winter skating 

 Calvary Baptist Church – no formal agreement, soccer pitches are used by 
Puslinch Soccer Club and grounds are maintained by Township  

Township of Puslinch Multi-Year Accessibility Plan (2011) 

The Township adopted the County of Wellington Facility Accessibility Design Manual 
(FADM). The Manual addresses accessibility requirements for the design and 
construction of new facilities, as well as the retrofit, alteration, and addition to existing 
facilities. It incorporates the belief in universal design, which recognizes the broad 
diversity of people who use Township facilities. The Township will continue to ensure 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 111 

that all future construction and major renovation projects comply with the FADM and/or 
the AODA Accessible Built Environment Standard, whichever is more stringent. 

The Township has recently completed (or plans to complete) the following accessibility 
improvements to recreation buildings and open spaces: 

 The Optimist Recreation Centre (2010) – Accessible features included within new 
construction 

 Puslinch Community Centre building (2012/2013) – Accessible washrooms 
installed 

 Puslinch Community Centre grounds (2016) – Fully accessible play area for 
children 

 Puslinch Community Centre building (2018) – Kitchen and bar area renovation to 
include lowering of countertops for wheelchair access 

 Badenoch Community Centre (3-year phased project beginning in 2019) – 
Accessible washrooms and doorways, lowering of kitchen countertop for 
wheelchair access, ramp installed at front of building, front door widened and 
automatic door opener installed 

Puslinch Design Guidelines (2010) 

The Puslinch Design Guidelines were developed to direct community design and protect 
the rural character of the Township. The design guidelines were crafted to achieve three 
design principles, which were based upon specific design objectives contained in the 
Official Plan, key settlement areas, and the design team. Design principles included: 
enhancing the streetscape; promoting quality and development; and respecting 
established character. Some of the relevant design guidelines identified in this 
document include: 

 Provide roadside bicycle route on paved shoulder of Brock Road (WR 46) to 
support cycling as a means of travel and recreation. 

 Place a priority on community centre property, which houses the key institutional 
and recreational uses serving the Township. A professionally designed entrance 
incorporating banners, directional signage, etc. and enhanced landscaping along 
the property frontage would improve visibility and profile of the property. 

 Consider improvements to the Historic Corner Block at the northwest corner of 
Queen Street and Church Street to improve visibility, profile and use of this public 
park. 

 Provide bicycle parking facilities for customers and staff. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 112 

Appendix B – Community Launch Event 

The section summarizes the input received from the Community Launch Event that was 
held at the Optimist Recreation Centre, concurrently with the Aberfoyle Farmers’ 
Market, on October 4, 2014 to introduce the Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Q1. What I like most about the Township of Puslinch is… 

 Sense of community (3) 

 Rural atmosphere (2) 

 Open spaces 

Q2. In 20 years, I want the Township of Puslinch to be… 

 Independent 

 Separate from larger communities such as Guelph and Hamilton 

Q3. How can we improve local recreation facilities? 

 Splash pad (2) 

 Ensure that facilities are easy to get to and are accessible 

 Raise awareness of recreation facilities to encourage use 

 Build more sidewalks and maintain them 

 More recreation facilities at the Badenoch Community Centre  

 Older adult centre  

 Improve access to the ORC for local residents 

Q4. How can we improve programs and activities? 

 Activities for older adults and seniors (2) 

 More programs at the ORC 

 Power skating programs at the ORC 

 More activities for youth 

 More community involvement events 

 Have older adults instruct or teach a program 

 Board games, cards, movies, music, discussion groups 

 Bring back hockey and drop-in 

 More program options for all age groups 

 Basketball and volleyball programs for adults 

 Scheduled programs  

 Promote adult and youth fitness programs  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 113 

Q5. How can we improve local parks? 

 Convert old quarries into parks or campgrounds 

 Splash pads 

Q6. How can we improve local trails? 

 Raise awareness of trails in the Township (2) 

 Limit quarry growth 

 Stop people from hunting in Conservation Areas 

Q7. The Township recently purchased the land behind the Puslinch Community 
Centre – what outdoor amenities should we consider for this land? 

 Trails for walking or cycling (6) 

 Splash pad (3) 

 Running track for public and school use 

 Gardens or naturalized lands 

 Leash free dog park 

 Soccer fields 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 114 

Appendix C – Online Survey Summary 

To assist with the preparation of the Master Plan, an online survey was available 
between the months of August and October 2014. A total of 98 surveys were completed 
and analyzed. The following is a summary of the input received. 

1. In the past 12 months, which of the following activities have you or anyone in your 
household participated in? By participation, we mean situations where you or a 
member of your household actively participate (which does not include attending an 
event or watching others), either at home or in public. 

Activity # % Activity # % 

Walking or Hiking for Leisure 77 81% Volleyball 9 9% 

Swimming 60 63% Organized Teen Programs 9 9% 

Aerobics, Fitness or Weight-training 53 56% Basketball 7 7% 

Hockey, Figure Skating, or Ice Skating 43 45% Tennis 7 7% 

Dog Walking (on and off leash) 43 45% Skateboarding 3 3% 

Cycling or Mountain Biking 39 41% Other Responses 

Use of Playground Equipment 39 41% Aquafit / Hydrotherapy 1 1% 

Soccer 28 29% Archery 1 1% 

Running or Jogging 25 26% Bowling 1 1% 

Baseball or Softball 25 26% Canoeing 1 1% 

Pre-School or Children Programs 20 21% Dance 1 1% 

Gymnastics 12 13% Golf 1 1% 

Organized Seniors Programs 12 13% Roller Derby 1 1% 

Curling 10 11% Triathlon  1 1% 

   Total Respondents  95  

2. Where does your household primarily participate in recreation and parks activities? 

Activity # % Activity # % 

At home 44 46% Church or religious institution 5 5% 

Municipal park or facility provided by the 
Township of Puslinch 

38 40% Other Responses 

Municipal park or facility outside the Township 
of Puslinch 

37 39% Golf Courses 1 1% 

Private club 20 21% Various trails  1 1% 

Conservation Area 18 19% YMCA 1 1% 

School 9 9% Total Respondents  96   

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 115 

3. Are you and members of your household able to participate in recreation and parks 
activities as often as you would like?  

 # % 

Yes 46 47% 

No 47 48% 

Don’t Know 5 5% 

Total 98 100% 

4. Why are you and members of your household not able to participate in recreation 
and parks activities as often as you would like?  

Barrier # % 

Lack of personal time / Too busy 26 57% 

Lack of desired facilities or programs 25 54% 

Lack of information / Unaware of 
opportunities 8 17% 

Program not offered at a convenient time 7 15% 

Lack of transportation / Facility too far 
away 

7 15% 

Lack of money / Too expensive 6 13% 

Health problems / Disability / Age 3 7% 

Lack of Child Care 1 2% 

Language / Cultural Barrier 0 0% 

Don’t Know 0 0% 

Total Respondents  46  

5. Generally, what proportion of your recreation and parks needs are met within the 
Township of Puslinch? 

 # % 

All 5 5% 

Most 11 11% 

About Half 31 32% 

Some 44 45% 

None 4 4% 

Don't Know 3 3% 

Total 98 100% 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 116 

6. What activities do your or members of your household typically participate in outside 
of the Township of Puslinch? 

Activity # % Activity # % 

Swimming 33 38% Basketball  2 2% 

Fitness, aerobics, weight-training  22 25% Dance  2 2% 

Walking / Running / Hiking  20 23% Gymnastics 2 2% 

Hockey / Ringette  14 16% Indoor soccer 2 2% 

Baseball / Softball  10 11% Ball hockey 1 1% 

Cycling 9 10% Boot Camp 1 1% 

Golf 6 7% Bowling 1 1% 

Soccer 5 6% Camping 1 1% 

Curling 4 5% Cheer 1 1% 

Organized children’s activities 
and early years drop-in 4 5% Horseback riding 1 1% 

Aquafit  3 3% Roller Derby 1 1% 

Playground  3 3% Tennis 1 1% 

Skateboarding 3 3% Volleyball 1 1% 

   Total 87 100% 

7. Why does your household participate in these activities outside of the Township of 
Puslinch? 

 # % 

Closer to work or school 5 6% 

Closer to other activities or shopping 7 8% 

Facility/program is not available in the Township 70 84% 

Facility/program not available at the preferred time 5 6% 

“Connected” to other community / Used to live there 9 11% 

Quality of facility/program is superior 14 17% 

Less expensive 4 5% 

Tournaments / Special events / Travel teams 5 6% 

Don’t Know 0 0% 

Other Responses 

Walking group or walking dog 1 1% 

Total Respondents  83  

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 117 

8. Are there any recreation and parks activities that you or members of your household 
would like to see offered in the Township that are not currently available? 

 # % 

Yes 61 63% 

No 16 16% 

Don’t Know 20 21% 

Total 97 100% 

9. What activities would you like to see offered? 

Activity # % Activity # % 

Swimming  23 38% Summer camps  2 3% 

Hockey / Recreational skating programs  14 23% Volleyball 2 3% 

Hiking trails  11 18% Badminton 1 2% 

Aerobics / Fitness / Weight-training 8 13% Ball hockey 1 2% 

Splash Pad 7 11% Camping 1 2% 

Cycling lanes and bike trails 6 10% Curling 1 2% 

Off-leash dog park 5 8% Dance 1 2% 

More organized programs for 
adults/teens/children 

4 7% Indoor soccer 1 2% 

Organized sports and leagues for adults 4 7% Indoor walking 1 2% 

Senior activities 3 5% Marital arts 1 2% 

Soccer 3 5% Playground (in Fox Run) 1 2% 

Basketball 2 3% Tennis Courts 1 2% 

Skateboarding 2 3% Total 61 100% 

10. In your opinion, which of the following organizations should provide these new 
programs/activities? 

 # % 

Township of Puslinch 26 43% 

Community / volunteer organization 10 17% 

Private sector 5 8% 

A combination of the above providers 40 67% 

Don't know 2 3% 

Other Responses 

GRCA 1 2% 

County/Province 1 2% 

Total 60 100% 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 118 

11. In general, how important are the following items to your household? 

 Not at all 
Important / 

Not Important 

Neither 
Important or 

Not Important 

Important / 
Very 

Important 

Don’t 
Know 

Total 

 # % # % # % # % # % 

Trails and Pathways 4 5% 6 7% 78 89% 0 0% 88 100% 

Outdoor Recreation facilities such 
as sports fields and playgrounds 

7 8% 6 7% 79 86% 0 0% 92 100% 

Passive Parks that preserve 
natural areas and open space 

6 7% 11 12% 71 79% 2 2% 90 100% 

Indoor Recreation facilities such 
as arenas and community centres 

8 9% 17 18% 67 73% 0 0% 92 100% 

12. Thinking about those facilities that currently exist in the Township of Puslinch, what 
is your level of satisfaction with the following? 

 Not at all 
Satisfied / 

Not Satisfied 

Neither 
Satisfied or 

Not Satisfied 

Satisfied / 
Very 

Satisfied 

Don’t 
Know 

Total 

 # % # % # % # % # % 

Trails and Pathways 29 32% 28 31% 28 31% 5 6% 90 100% 

Outdoor Recreation facilities such 
as sports fields and playgrounds 

17 18% 18 20% 55 60% 2 2% 92 100% 

Passive Parks that preserve 
natural areas and open space 

18 20% 32 35% 34 37% 7 8% 91 100% 

Indoor Recreation facilities such 
as arenas and community centres 

13 14% 24 26% 51 55% 4 4% 92 100% 

13. What is your level of satisfaction with the recreation and parks opportunities in the 
Township of Puslinch for the following age groups? 

 Not at all 
Satisfied / 

Not Satisfied 

Neither 
Satisfied or 

Not Satisfied 

Satisfied / 
Very 

Satisfied 

Don’t 
Know 

Total 

 # % # % # % # % # % 

Children (0-12 years) 19 22% 18 21% 30 34% 20 23% 87 100% 

Teens (13-18 years) 22 26% 28 33% 25 29% 10 12% 85 100% 

Older Adults and Seniors (55+) 22 26% 23 27% 14 16% 27 31% 86 100% 

Adults (19-54 years) 16 19% 25 30% 12 14% 30 36% 83 100% 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 119 

14. To what degree do you oppose or support the Township spending additional public 
funds on the following types of facilities? 

 Strongly 
Oppose / 
Oppose 

Neither 
Oppose or 

Support 

Strongly 
Support / 
Support 

Don’t 
Know 

Total 

 # % # % # % # % # % 

Playgrounds 5 5% 12 13% 74 81% 0 0% 91 100% 

Nature Trails 5 6% 14 16% 70 79% 0 0% 89 100% 

Parks and Open Space 6 7% 15 17% 68 76% 1 1% 90 100% 

Fitness Centres 12 14% 12 14% 64 73% 0 0% 88 100% 

Soccer Fields 8 9% 20 22% 62 69% 0 0% 90 100% 

Splash Pads 12 13% 15 17% 62 69% 1 1% 90 100% 

Space for Youth 9 10% 18 20% 60 68% 1 1% 88 100% 

Community Halls 14 15% 19 21% 58 64% 0 0% 91 100% 

Gymnasiums 11 12% 23 26% 56 62% 0 0% 90 100% 

Space for Seniors  8 9% 25 28% 54 61% 2 2% 89 100% 

Basketball Courts (outdoor) 10 11% 24 28% 52 60% 1 1% 87 100% 

Baseball or Softball Diamonds 15 16% 25 27% 52 57% 0 0% 92 100% 

Community Gardens 10 11% 29 33% 50 56% 0 0% 89 100% 

Tennis Courts 16 18% 30 34% 43 48% 0 0% 89 100% 

Paved Trails 18 20% 28 32% 42 48% 0 0% 88 100% 

Off-Leash Dog Parks 22 24% 28 31% 38 42% 2 2% 90 100% 

Skateboard Parks 15 17% 34 39% 37 42% 2 2% 88 100% 

15. Please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements. 

 Strongly 
Disagree / 
Disagree 

Neither 
Agree or 
Disagree 

Strongly 
Agree / 
Agree 

Don’t 
Know 

Total 

 # % # % # % # % # % 

The Township's recreation and 
parks facilities are generally 
well maintained. 

4 4% 15 16% 69 76% 3 3% 91 100% 

Recreation and parks should 
be a high priority for Township 
Council. 

6 7% 18 20% 68 74% 0 0% 92 100% 

The Township should offer 
recreation and parks programs 
(registered or drop-in) for 
residents. 

9 10% 23 25% 59 64% 1 1% 92 100% 

Your household is generally 
satisfied with the geographic 
distribution of recreation 
facilities in the Township. 

18 20% 25 27% 45 49% 3 3% 91 100% 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 120 

 Strongly 
Disagree / 
Disagree 

Neither 
Agree or 
Disagree 

Strongly 
Agree / 
Agree 

Don’t 
Know 

Total 

 # % # % # % # % # % 

There are sufficient parks and 
open spaces in your area to 
meet your needs. 

25 28% 22 24% 43 48% 0 0% 90 100% 

Your household is generally 
satisfied with the geographic 
distribution of parks and open 
spaces in the Township. 

14 16% 33 37% 41 46% 2 2% 90 100% 

16. Please provide any additional comments you may have regarding recreation and 
parks in the Township of Puslinch. 

The results of this question have not been summarized due to the open ended nature of this 
question; however, they have been considered in the needs assessment phase of this Master 
Plan. 

17. How many people, including yourself, live in your household? 

Number of Persons # % 

1 4 4% 

2 30 33% 

3 14 15% 

4 22 24% 

5 12 13% 

6 8 9% 

7 or more 1 1% 

Total 91 100% 

Average Household Size 3.4  

18. Please indicate the total number of persons within your household that fall into the 
following age categories. 

 # % 

Under 10 years 60 20% 

10-19 years 28 9% 

20-34 years 43 14% 

35-54 years 90 30% 

55-69 years 64 21% 

70 years and over 19 6% 

Total 304 100% 

19. In what year were you born? 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 121 

 # % 

Prior to 1944 (70 years or older) 6 8% 

1944 to 1958 (55 to 69 years old) 22 28% 

1959 to 1978 (35 to 54 years old) 39 49% 

1979 to 1994 (20 to 34 years old) 12 15% 

After 1994 (19 years or younger) 1 1% 

Total 80 100% 

Median Age 49.5  

20. In 2013, what was your household’s total annual income before taxes? 

 # % 

Under $20,000 1 1% 

Between $20,000 and $39,999 2 2% 

Between $40,000 and $59,999 9 10% 

Between $60,000 and $79,999 12 13% 

Between $80,000 and $99,999 6 7% 

$100,000 or more 32 36% 

Don’t Know/Prefer Not to Disclose 27 30% 

Total 89 100% 

21. Are you a resident of the Township of Puslinch? 

 # % 

Yes 89 95% 

No 4 4% 

Don’t Know 1 1% 

Total 94 100% 

22. You indicated that you are not a resident of the Township of Puslinch. In what 
municipality do you reside? 

 # % 

Guelph 3 75% 

Wellington North 1 25% 

Total 4 100% 

  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 122 

23. In which part of the Township do you live? 

 # % 

North of Highway 401 and east of Hanlon Parkway / Highway 6 North (e.g., Aberfoyle, 
Arkell) 

39 45% 

North of Highway 401 and west of Hanlon Parkway / Highway 6 North 12 14% 

South of Highway 401 (e.g., Morriston, Puslinch Lake) 35 40% 

Don't Know  1 1% 

Total 87 100% 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 123 

Appendix D – Stakeholder Survey Summary 

A self-administered online survey oriented towards stakeholder groups (e.g., community 
associations, volunteer organizations, local agencies, partners, facility/park renters, etc.) 
was initiated in October 2014 to collect information regarding group participation, facility 
utilization, and future group needs, and more. This section summarizes the input 
received from each stakeholder that completed the survey. 

Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association 

The Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market Association was incorporated in 2010 and is responsible 
for organizing and operating the Aberfoyle Farmers’ Market, which is a seasonal, 
producer-based farmers’ market that supports local farmers and small businesses, 
artisans, and community organizations, and draws over 800 persons per week. This 
market is held on every Saturday between May and October, on the arena floor at the 
Optimist Recreation Centre. 

Over the next five years, the Association hopes to expand their services by increasing 
the number of vendors, and while the arena floor has the capacity to accommodate this 
growth, the Association identified that the space can be improved to better suit their 
needs. As a result, a number of improvements to the arena floor space were identified 
to enhance safety and user friendliness such as curtains around the floor to shield the 
market from the weather, drop down electrical outlets, warming or covering the concrete 
floor to prevent moisture, and locating the potable water near the sink for improved 
access. The Association also suggested that the Township should coordinate with the 
City of Guelph to extend the bus route towards Aberfoyle to provide easier access to the 
market. This is particularly important given that many of the visitors to the market are 
residents of Guelph. 

Aberfoyle Parent-Child Place 

The Aberfoyle Parent-Child Place is a free, two-hour, drop-in program for children under 
the age of six and their care takers. This program focuses on child development through 
creative play and fosters social interaction between children as well as parents. The 
group reported about 170 users (children and parents combined) for 2014 and indicated 
that participation has fluctuated over the past three years due to the drop-in nature of 
the program. It is estimated that approximately two-thirds of participants are Township 
residents, while the remainder are residents of south Guelph.  

The group uses the Puslinch Community Centre and reported that repairs are needed to 
the storage cupboards. Storage for larger items was also expressed. When the group is 
not utilizing this facility, they reported using other facilities in Guelph, including parks, 
churches, and schools. The group’s most pressing concern is the availability of funding 
to continue providing this program. This is a concern given that the program is being 
offered at no cost. Funding is currently provided by the County of Wellington; however, 
it was noted that funding was recently reduced.  



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 124 

Badenoch Community Centre Board 

The Badenoch Community Centre Board was established in 1965 and is responsible for 
operating the Badenoch Community Centre with assistance from the Township of 
Puslinch. The organization provided limited information about the group’s future needs 
but did indicate that they do not plan to expand the scope of their programs or services. 
The group also does not anticipate the need for new parks or recreation facilities over 
the next five years; however, the group indicated that their organization can benefit from 
additional funding from the Township.  

Cross Roads Memorial Church 

Cross Roads Memorial Church was founded in 1962 with a vision to bring local help to 
the community and Christian hope to the Township and surrounding municipalities. 
Several programs and services are provided by the Church including Sunday worship, 
Sunday school, bible study, drop-in play group, meals, counseling, recreational 
activities, and volunteer services. 

Over the next five years, the group intends to expand their program offerings, although 
expansion is limited by physical constraints given that the lower level of the church is 
not wheelchair accessible. The ability to attract, train, and retain volunteers is also a 
factor. The church also utilizes the Puslinch Community Centre and did not identify any 
areas of improvement as it currently meets their needs. The church indicated that they 
are unsure whether or not there is a need for a new recreational facility; although it was 
expressed that they would be open to a potential partnership with the Township should 
an opportunity be presented. Further, the church identified that it has 3 acres of 
undeveloped lands with an opportunity to develop a new community space, should it be 
determined that one is necessary. 

Fergie Jenkins Baseball 

Fergie Jenkins Baseball is a new ball organization with a proposal to establish a new 
baseball complex to help develop players of all skill levels to serve the Township of 
Puslinch and surrounding municipalities. Organizers of the group envision that this 
complex would offer up to three full size ball diamonds, a multi-use field, and an indoor 
field house that can accommodate both teams and community rentals. The organization 
feels that the Township is a prime location within proximity to several large communities 
who are looking for one location to accommodate all their ball needs.  

Puslinch Minor Ball 

Puslinch Minor Ball offers junior level baseball to Township of Puslinch, south Guelph, 
and Cambridge players. The group indicates that there are currently 75 registered 
participants (two-thirds are Township residents), which is a slight decline from the 
previous year of 80 participants. A broad range of leagues are offered including t-ball, 
three pitch, atom, squirt, peewee, bantam, midget, and junior. Over the next five years, 
the group does not intend to expand the current scope of programming. The group 
indicated that they utilize the ball diamond at Morriston Meadows and mentioned that 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 125 

there is currently nothing that can be done to improve this facility as it is well 
maintained. The group also travels often for ball games, utilizing ball diamonds in 
Guelph/Eramosa, Erin, Wellington North, North Perth, and other rural communities.  

Puslinch Minor Soccer Club 

The Puslinch Minor Soccer Club was founded in 1995 to achieve three objectives – to 
promote, develop, and administer the game of outdoor soccer; to develop character by 
promoting physical, social, and leadership skills in the players and emphasis in 
concepts such as sportsmanship, team spirit, and respect for others; and to strive to 
promote the interests of soccer in the community, recognizing the players as a priority. 
The Club currently utilizes the soccer fields at the Calvary Baptist Church and Puslinch 
Community Centre Park. The Club plays and participates in winter training in adjacent 
communities, including Guelph/Eramosa and Guelph.  

The Club has consistently grown over the past three years from 430 players in 2012 to 
484 players for 2014 (half of whom are Township residents). The Club expressed hopes 
of expanding their programs; however, they indicated that they are nearing maximum 
capacity and limited field space. It was identified that more soccer fields in the Township 
are needed to alleviate concerns, with one being lit. The Club identified that they would 
be open to contribute funding or consider partnerships with the Township in the delivery 
of new recreation facilities, should it be required. Other Township supports that would 
benefit the Club include a mail box, and space for an office and storage.  

The Clarks of Tomfad 

The Clarks of Tomfad was established in 1995 by two individuals to track events, 
families, and individuals in the Township of Puslinch. The group currently operates a 
website where users can visit to retrieve and gain a wealth of knowledge on the history 
of the Township dating back to the 1800s. The group also sells a hardcopy book, which 
is available at the Township Hall. No major needs were identified with respect to the 
provision of recreation and parks; however the group indicated that the greatest concern 
was the availability of funding to remain current with technology in order to continue 
producing online materials.  

The Spiritual Assembly of the Baha’is of Puslinch 

Created in 1979, the Spiritual Assembly of the Baha’is of Puslinch is a faith-based 
organization dedicated to worshiping the Baha’i Faith, a global religion whose purpose 
is to bring about a new society that will unite the peoples of the world. This organization 
has 12 members that serve the Township of Puslinch in devotion gatherings and the 
study of Baha’i scriptures. This organization utilizes the Puslinch Community Centre and 
did not identify any opportunities for improvement as the facility generally meets their 
needs. Praise was expressed towards the facility’s accessibility features, as a number 
of members are seniors with mobility issues. Access to a new facility or additional 
supports from the Township is not required over the foreseeable future for the 
organization. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 126 

Whistle Stop Co-op Preschool 

Whistle Stop Co-op Preschool was formed in 1987 to provide a place for children and 
parents from the Township and surrounding area to come together in a stimulating, 
social, and creative learning environment. This organization provides children of all 
abilities with an opportunity to develop their physical, social, and cognitive abilities 
through play. Educational programs for parents are also available. There are 
approximately 16 active participants currently registered with the program, although only 
7 children are residents of the Township. A majority of children are from the south 
Guelph area. The Co-op currently use the small multi-purpose room at the Puslinch 
Community Centre and indicated that repairs and locks to the storage cupboards are 
needed. The group also uses the Aberfoyle Public School. 



TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
Recreation & Parks Master Plan 

Page 127 

Appendix E – Inventory of Parks, Trails, 
Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities, and 
Services 

 



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Park Name Aberfoyle Public School 
Grounds

Badenoch Community 
Centre Badenoch Field Boreham Park Calvary Baptist Church 

Soccer Fields Fox Run Park Historic Corner Block Park Morriston Meadows Old Morriston Ball Field Puslinch Community 
Centre Park Puslinch Lake Private Park Telfer Glen Park

Park Type Public School Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park N/A/ Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park Neighbourhood Park

Associated 
Facilities Public School Gymnasium

Open Space, Ball Diamond, 
Swing Set, Badenoch 

Community Centre
N/A N/A Calvary Baptist Church N/A N/A N/A N/A

Puslinch Community Centre, 
Optimist Community Centre, 
Wellington County Library - 

Puslinch Branch

N/A N/A

Land Area 1.8 hectares (4.5 acres) 0.4 hectares (1.0 acres) 2.2 hectares (5.5 acres) 0.9 hectares (2.1 acres) 9.26 hectares (22.8 acres) 2.3 hectares (5.7 acres) 0.13 hectares (0.31 acres) 2.5 hectares (6.1 acres) 2.5 hectares (6.1 acres) 9.8 hectares (24.1 acres) 0.9 hectares (2.2 acres) 1.5 hectares (3.8 acres)

Ownership Upper Grand District School 
Board Township Township Township Calvary Baptist Church Township Township Township Township Township Private Township

Operating 
Agreement N/A

Operated by the Badenoch 
Community Centre Board 

(No formal agreement)
N/A N/A

Township maintains the 
lands but a formal use 

agreement currently does not 
exist

N/A N/A N/A N/A Puslinch Tennis Club 
operate the tennis courts

Privately owned and 
operated N/A

Community Aberfoyle Badenoch Badenoch Arkell Arkell Aberfoyle Morriston Morriston Morriston Aberfoyle Puslinch Lake Morriston

Municipal Address 16 Old Brock Road 4217 Watson Road South 4227 Weston Road South Boreham Drive 454 Arkell Road Deer View Ridge Queen Street Currie Drive Main Street 23 Brock Road South McCormicks Lane Private Calfass Road

Longitude and 
Latitude 
Coordinates

80°8'51.15"W  
43°28'20.503"N 

80°4'35.129"W  
43°28'16.83"N 

80°4'52.629"W  
43°28'26.076"N 

80°10'20.681"W  
43°32'17.236"N 

80°10'48.626"W  
43°31'46.46"N 

80°9'21.902"W  
43°29'2.284"N 

80°6'57.033"W  
43°26'49.383"N 

80°7'1.286"W  
43°27'0.837"N 

80°6'46.534"W  
43°26'56.751"N 80°9'6.6"W  43°28'14.742"N 80°15'58.715"W  

43°24'46.52"N 
80°7'21.347"W  
43°26'48.711"N 

Adjacent Land Uses Residential, Agricultural Agricultural, Natural 
Environment

Agricultural, Natural 
Environment Residential, Agricultural Residential, Agricultural Residential Residential Residential, Natural 

Environment, Commercial Residential, Agricultural Residential, Natural 
Environment Residential Residential

Soccer Fields 1 intermediate field in poor 
condition N/A 1 full unlit - adult N/A 2 intermediate unlit, 1 adult 

unlit N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 full unlit - intermediate N/A N/A

Baseball Diamonds 3 practice diamonds 1 practice diamond N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 Unlit - Adult, 1 practice 
diamond 1 lit softball 1 lit adult softball N/A N/A

Tennis Courts N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 lit - operated by the Club 
with no public access. 1 unlit tennis court N/A

Basketball Hoops 2 Full courts - asphalt, unlit N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 Full court - ashphalt, unlit N/A N/A 1 basketball hoop N/A

Ice Rinks N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
1 Covered outdoor ice rink 

with four change rooms 
140'x65'

N/A N/A

Playgrounds 1 junior playground and 
swing set Swing set only N/A 1 slide and swing set, sand 

base with no border N/A N/A N/A 1 playground (junior and 
senior) - sand base N/A 1 playground (junior and 

senior) 1 playground N/A

Horseshoe Pits N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 5 horse shoe pits N/A N/A

Pavillions N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 small pavilion N/A N/A N/A N/A

Community 
Gardens N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Ornamental Community 
Garden provided by the 

Horticultural Society
N/A N/A

Other Features N/A Open space Small storage building 1 bench, trash receptical, 
street light N/A N/A N/A N/A Batting cage, open space Batting cage, Horse 

paddock, tractor pull area N/A N/A

Washrooms N/A N/A Portable washroom N/A Portable washrooms N/A N/A Yes - concrete building in 
good condition Permanent

Available at the Puslinch 
Community Centre and 

Optimist Recreation Centre 
via exterior access

N/A N/A

Parking Off street Off street Grass On street Off street On street On street Off street Limited off street Limited off street N/A On street

General Condition Fair

Practice diamond is in 
adquate condition for 
practice and casual 

community play.

Good Poor-Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Fair

Accessibility Partially accessible Partially accessible Partially accessible Partially accessible, Deep 
swalves through the park

Partially accessible with 
some uneven grass areas Partially accessible Accessible None Partially accessible Fully accessible Partially accessible Not accessible

Opportunities for a trail along 
Mill Creek to the north but a 
destination or connection is 
unknown at this point. Trail 
development may require 

additional parking.

No park sign or address. 
Could support additional 
facilities but must remain 

cognizant of adjacent 
residences

Limited opportunity, no park 
signage

Old lighting structures, no 
park signage

NOTES

CONDITION / 
DESIGN

AMENITIES

GENERAL

LOCATION



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Trail Name Badenoch Tract Trail
Lakeshore Lookout Trail 

(Mountsberg Conservation 
Area)

Little Tract Trail Smith Side Trail Speed River Trail Starkey Hill Trail Telfer Glen Park Trail Quarry Trail (Fletchers Creek 
Ecological Preserve)

Trail Type Natural Trail Natural Trail Natural Trail Natural Trail Natural Trail Natural Trail Natural Trail Natural Trail

Associated Facilities N/A Visitors Centre N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Trail Length 1 Kilometre 5 kilometres 8 kilometres 3 kilometres 9 kilometres 4 kilometres 270 metres 3 kilometres

Ownership Wellington County Halton Region Conservation 
Authority Wellington County GRCA Private GRCA Township Hamilton Conservation Authority

Operating Agreement N/A N/A N/A Maintained by the Guelph Hiking 
Trail Club Guelph Hiking Trail Club N/A N/A N/A

Community Badenoch Rural Rural Rural Rural Rural Morriston Rural

Municipal Address 4223 Watson Road South 2259 Milburough Line 6710 County Road 34 0624 Watson Road South N/A Arkell Road Calfass Road Concession Road 7

Longitude and Latitude 
Coordinates 80°4'48.308"W  43°28'22.611"N 80°2'51.185"W  43°27'58.356"N 80°10'57.608"W  43°32'56.499"N 80°10'54.24"W  43°32'56.946"N 

80°17'40.499"W  
43°27'34.524"N, 

80°15'35.305"W  43°29'40.35"N  
80°9'22.813"W  43°32'42.094"N 80°7'17.039"W  43°26'46.227"N 80°7'13.786"W  43°24'50.181"N 

Difficulty Easy Moderate Easy to Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate

Adjacent Land Uses
Agricultural, Natural 

Environment, Parks (soccer 
fields)

Natural Environment Agricultural, Natural Environment Agricultural, Natural Environment Agricultural, Natural 
Environment, Residential Agricultural, Natural Environment Residential, Agricultural Agricultural, Natural Environment

Trail Surface Natural, Grass Natural Natural Natural Natural Natural Natural Natural Trail

Permitted Uses Walking, Hiking, Cross County 
Skiing, Mountain Biking

Walking, Hiking, Cross Country 
Skiing, Snow Shoeing Walking Walking, Hiking, Cross County 

Skiing, Mountain Biking Walking, Hiking Walking, Hiking Walking, Hiking Walking, Hiking

Signage
Park sign and wayfinding station, 
although the wayfinding sign is 

not in use.
Park sign and wayfinding station

Park sign and wayfinding station, 
although the wayfinding sign is 

not in use.
Park sign and wayfinding station None Park sign and wayfinding station Park sign but no wayfinding Park sign

Benches N/A Yes N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Other Features N/A Trash receptacles, rest areas, 
lookout tower Trash receptacle Trash receptacle N/A Trash receptacle N/A N/A

Washrooms No Yes N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Parking Limited granular parking (approx. 
2 spaces) Granular parking Limited granular parking (approx. 

12 spaces)
Road-side paved shoulder 

(approx. 5 spaces) Road-side Granular parking (approx. 20 
spaces) Road-side Granular Parking

General Condition Good Good Good Good N/A Good Average Good

Accessibility N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Given that this trail is located on 
privately owned lands, the 

walking route is unmarked and 
the quality may vary

No address sign
Cycling prohibited No address or park signageNOTES

GENERAL

LOCATION

AMENITIES

CONDITION / 
DESIGN



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Facility Name Badenoch Community Centre Optimist Recreation Centre Puslinch Community Centre

Facility Type Community Centre Recreation Centre Community Centre

Associated Facilities Open Space, Ball Diamond, Swing Set Community Park, Community Centre, 
Wellington County Library - Puslinch Branch

Puslinch Community Centre Park, Recreation 
Centre, Wellington County Library - Puslinch 

Branch

Facility Area 139 sqm (1,500 sqft) excluding basement 1,821 sqm (19,600 sqft) 657 sqm (7,071 sqft)

Land Area 0.4 ha (1.0 ac) See PCC 9.8 ha (24.10 ac)

Ownership Township Township Township

Operating Agreement Badenoch Community Centre Board Optimist Club of Puslinch Whistle Stop Day Care, Puslinch Tennis Club

Community Badenoch Aberfoyle Aberfoyle

Municipal Address 4217 Watson Road South 23 Brock Road South 23 Brock Road South

Longitude and Latitude 
Coordinates 80°4'35.129"W  43°28'16.83"N 80°9'4.755"W  43°28'16.266"N 80°9'6.103"W  43°28'17.547"N 

Adjacent Land Uses Agricultural, Natural Environment Natural Environment, Residential Natural Environment, Residential

Ice Pad No 20 metres by 43 metres
(65 feet x 140 feet) No

Gymnasium No
17 metres by 16 metres 

(56 feet by 54 feet) with two change rooms 
shared with the ice rink (Capacity: 249 - 373)

No

Hall / Auditorium Yes
(Capacity: 73 - 108) No Yes

(Capacity: 247 - 362)

Activity / Meeting Room No Small activity room Yes
(Capacity: 40 - 70)

Kitchen Full Kitchen Fridge only Full Kitchen

Bar No No Yes

Washrooms Yes Yes Yes

Parking Gravel, Limited to 15 - 20 spaces On-site, Asphalt On-site, Asphalt

HVAC No A/C Yes Yes

Year Built 1889 2010-2011 1981, 2013 update

General Condition Very Good Excellent Good

Accessibility Exterior ramp not up to code Fully accessible Fully accessible

Planned Capital 
Improvements

Washroom exhaust fan, fire safety supplies, water 
infiltration repairs, oil furnace and heating oil tank 

replacement, window and door replacement, 
exterior wall rehabilitation, hot water tank 

replacement, water treatment equipment, light 
fixtures - 

$136,850 between 2014-2024

Splash Pad (2018) - $60,000

Replacement Value (value 
incl. land, parking, 
landscaping, etc.)

$505,725
($531,011)

$5,957,442
($6,255,315)

$910,502
($956,027)

Operating Costs (2013) $2,250 $166,625 $530,800

Operating Revenue (2013) n/a $73,000 $75,000

Operating Subsidy (2013) $93,625 $455,800

Service Providers / Users Badenoch Community Centre Board Optimist Club of Puslinch Whistle Stop Day Care, Puslinch Tennis Club

Primary Programs Weddings, Banquets, Meetings, Community Hall 
events

Recreational skating, gymnasium sports, 
birthdays, farmer's market, meetings, social 

events

Childrens day care, Weddings, Banquets, Hall 
events, Meetings, Tennis, Soccer, Softball, 

Aberfoyle Fall Fair, Aberfoyle Farmers' Market

Former school building with no heritage 
designation. The facility does have a basement 

that is currently not in use.

Covered outdoor ice rink is also used for the 
Township's Aberfoyle Farmer's Market New accessible washroom added in 2013NOTES

GENERAL

LOCATION

CONDITION / 
DESIGN

CAPITAL/ 
OPERATING

USAGE 
PROFILE

AMENITIES



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Group Name Location Mandate / Purpose Membership Fees (HST excluded; 
specific programs and services offered 
by organizations may be subject to 
additional fees)

Primary Activities, Programs, Recreational Faciltiies Target Market Municipal Facilities Used

Conservation Authority
Conservation Halton 2259 Milburough Line, 

Campbellville
Manages over 1,000 square kilometres of natural resources, including the Lake 
Ontario shoreline and Niagara Escarpment.

$50 / Individual
$42.50 / Senior
$115 / Family
$97.75 / Senior Family

Grand River Conservation Authority 119 Jennings Road, 
Brantford

Manages the Grand River watershed, which includes 6,800 square kilometres of 
water and other natural resources on behalf of 39 municipalities.

$110.62 / Individual Agricultural education and awareness
Aberfoyle Fall Fair

Hamilton Conservation Authority 838 Mineral Springs Road, 
Dundas

Responsible for managing 568 square kilometres of watershed area. $105.00 / Per Car
$79.00 / Senior Car

Community Service / Social Club

4 H Club Wellington 111 Main Street North, 
Rockwood

A youth-serving organization dedicated to provide education through 
experience. Members gain valuable skills in communication, leadership, 
critical thinking, and goal setting. These skills are achieved through 
participating in several key areas of programming that are centred 
around four key pillars - Community Engagement & Communication, 
Environment & Healthy Living, Science & Technology; and Sustainable 
Agriculture and Food Security.

$95 / Year / Resident
$115 / Year / Non-resident

Skills Club
Sheep Club
Square Dancing Club

Township of Puslinch, 
Hamilton, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo

Location of programs and activities 
varies.
Valens Community Centre in 
Hamilton.

Aberfoyle Agricultural Society 7 Clair Road West, 
Guelph

To raise awareness of, and to improve the quality agriculture, home 
crafts, and the rural lifestyle, by presenting an annual Fall Fair to exhibit 
livestock, produce, crafts, pets, and equipment. 

N/A Aberfoyle Fall Fair Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph, Cambridge, 
Kitchener, Waterloo

Puslinch Community Centre and 
Optimist Recreation Centre

Aberfoyle Farmers' Market 
Association

23 Brock Road South, 
Puslinch

To enhance the local economy while showcasing local artisans, small 
businesses, and community organizations by organizing and operating a 
weekly farmers' market between May and October.

N/A Aberfoyle Farmers' Market Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph

Optimist Recreation Centre

Aberfoyle Parent-Child Place 23 Brock Road South, 
Puslinch

A free, two-hour, drop-in program for children and their care takers to 
interact, socialize, and develop essential skills in a safe environment.

N/A Parent-Child drop-in program Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph

Puslinch Community Centre

Badenoch Community Centre 
Board

4217 Watson Road 
South, Puslinch

To manage and operate the day-to-day activities of the Badenoch 
Community Centre

N/A Manage and operate the Badenoch Community 
Centre

Township of Puslinch Badenoch Community Centre

Big Brothers Big Sisters of 
Guelph

2G - 155 Suffolk Street 
West, Guelph

To provide preventative mentoring programs to children and youth in 
Guelph and surrounding areas.

N/A Children and youth mentoring
Volunteering

Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph, Guelph/Eramosa

Clarks of Tomfad N/A To document the history of the Township of Puslinch including, but not 
limited to, Council meetings, geneology, families, events, and more.

N/A Document the history of the Township of Puslinch Township of Puslinch n/a

Emerald Lake Trailer Resort and 
Waterpark

7248 Gore Road, Puslinch A family destination for RVs, camping, and day trips. Camp rentals vary
$14 / Person for waterpark (<3 years free)
$7 / Persons 65+

Seasonal trailer sites
Overnight RV and camp sites
Furnished cabin rentals
Waterpark 
2 Playgrounds
Picnics and pavilions space
Event hall

Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton

Friends of Mill Creek 7404 Wellington Road 
34, Aberfoyle

Volunteer community organization that supports landowners in 
rehabilitating Mill Creek.

N/A In-stream and bank clean up
Trail and stream rehabilitation 

Township of Puslinch Puslinch Community Centre, 
Puslinch Fire Hall

Gravel Watch Ontario Lawson Park Ltd, Box 
15, RR1, Freelton

To act in the interest o residents and communities to protect the health, 
safety, quality of life of Ontarians, and the natural environment in matters 
that relate to aggregate resources.

Free for Non-voting member
$20 / Year / Voting individual
$50 / Year / Voting individual

Monitor aggregate resource activity Wellington County, 
Hamilton-Wentworth 
Region

Puslinch Community Centre

Guelph Community Health 
Centre

176 Wyndham Street 
North, Guelph

To work with the community to provide innovative programs and 
services. We believe that a person's health is determined by social, 
environmental, economic, mental, and physical well-being. We commit to 
working with and meeting the needs of people who may find it hard to 
access health care.

N/A Registered and drop-in Children's programs
Fitness programs
Health care
Social and outreach assistance

Aberfoyle and surrounding 
area

Puslinch Community Centre



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Group Name Location Mandate / Purpose Membership Fees (HST excluded; 
specific programs and services offered 
by organizations may be subject to 
additional fees)

Primary Activities, Programs, Recreational Faciltiies Target Market Municipal Facilities Used

Guleph Hiking Trails Club Guelph A volunteer organization that builds and maintains trails from Cambridge 
to Limehouse, and from Guelph to West Montrose. 

$25 / Year
$100 / 5 Years

Build and maintain trails
Group hikes
Puslish newsletters and trail maps
Social events

Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph, Cambridge, 
Kitchener, Waterloo

Township of Puslinch trails

Mini Lakes 7541 Wellington Road 34, 
Comp 93, Puslinch

A resident owned and managed community in a park-like setting. Recreational 
amenities include a recreation hall, library, bocce courts, horseshoe pits, outdoor 
swimming pool, alotment gardens, and fishing.

Social events Township of Puslinch

Ontario Quarter Horse 
Association

n/a To promote the American Quarter Horse through horse shows, clinics, 
trail rides, friendship, and fellowship among members. To educate and 
encourage quarter horse ownership and participation.

$16 - $575 Quarter Horse shows and events
Trail rides

Wellington County Puslinch Community Centre

Optimist Club of Puslinch 7404 Wellington Road 
34, Aberfoyle

Chartered by Optimist International, Optimist Club of Puslinch strives to 
improve our community to be a better place for the our citizens. The 
purpose of the Optimist Club is to promote an active interest in civic 
affairs; to inspire respect for the law; to promote patriotism and work for 
international accord and friendship among all people; to aid and 
encourage the development of youth in the belief that giving of one's self 
in service to others will advance the well-being of man, his community, 
and the world.

N/A Scholarship awards
Euchre club
Fundraisers
Social events

Puslinch Community Centre

Puslinch Historical Society 29 Brock Road South, 
Aberfoyle

To bring people with an interest in heritage of the Township of Puslinch 
together and to promote interest in and the study of the heritage of the 
Township.

$10 / Person
$15 / Family

Gather and publish historical information and 
resources
Public education programs

Township of Puslinch The Historical Society meets at the 
Puslinch Library Branch.

Puslinch Lake Conservation 
Association

Information not available This group's primary purpose is to clean up Puslinch Lake with the assistiance of 
other organizations and agencies including the Township of Puslinch, Grand 
River Conservation Authority, and Ministry of Natural Resources.

Information not available Cleaning up Puslinch Lake by coordinating dredging 
efforts with supporting organizations and agencies.

Information not available None

Puslinch Power Camp / YMCA - 
YWCA of Guelph

130 Woodland Glen 
Drive, Guleph

A camp provided in collaboration between the YMCA-YWCA Guelph and 
the Township of Puslinch, Puslinch Power Camp offers a range of 
programs for boys and girls between the ages of 6 and 12. Participants 
are bussed to the Optimist Recreation Centre, although they can be 
dropped off directly. These programs are designed to provide skill 
development, fitness training, goal setting, nutrition, wellness, and focus 
on team building.

$170 / Week
$35 / Extended care

Girl Power
Kulinary Kids
Sports (ball hockey, volleyball, ultimate frisbee, 
soccer)
Photo Voices
Try the Arts
Y Workout
Guest speakers

Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph

Optimist Recreation Centre
Aberfoyle Park

Puslinch Red Cross Society 29 Brock Road South, 
Aberfoyle

A non-profit, humanitarian organization dedicated to helping Canadians, 
as well as the most vulnerable throughout the world.

N/A Fundraising
Programs and training for injury prevention, water 
safety, first aid, disaster management, boating, 
swim safety, abuse, and home care

Township of Puslinch The Society holds training 
sessions and programs at the 
Puslinch Library Branch.

Rotary Club of Guelph 135 Ferguson Street, 
Guelph

An organization dedicated to community service, building friendships, 
learning skills, exchanging ideas and perspectives, advancing education, 
learning about new cultures, and supporting local projects. 

N/A Supporting local organizations, causes, and 
projects
Social events
Scholarship programs

Township of Puslinch, 
Guelph

The Club uses the Puslinch 
Community Centre for events and 
a holds a number of Adopt-a-Road 
events in the Township.

Seniors' Euchre Club 23 Brock Road South. 
Puslinch

Friendly euchre card games. None Euchre card games Township of Puslinch Puslinch Community Centre



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Group Name Location Mandate / Purpose Membership Fees (HST excluded; 
specific programs and services offered 
by organizations may be subject to 
additional fees)

Primary Activities, Programs, Recreational Faciltiies Target Market Municipal Facilities Used

Sports Groups
Intermediate Mens Fastball Township Diamonds To provide local intermediate softball for adult men Mens baseball

Social activities
Township of Puslinch, Guelph Township Diamonds

Ladies Softball Township Diamonds To provide local intermediate softball for adult women Womens softball
Social activities

Township of Puslinch, Guelph Township Diamonds

Oldtimers Baseball Township Diamonds To provide local baseball for mature and older adult men $9 / Resident
$25 / Non-Resident

Mens baseball
Social activities

Township of Puslinch, Guelph Township Diamonds

Puslinch Minor Baseball Township Diamonds To provide local youth with minor softball opportunities. $10 / Resident
$25 / Non-resident

Minor softball Township of Puslinch, Guelph Township Diamonds

Puslinch Minor Soccer Club Township and Calvary 
Baptist Chruch soccer fields

1. To promote, develop and administer the game of outdoor soccer
2. To develop character by promoting physical, social and leadership skills in the 
players and emphasis will be placed on concepts such as team spirit, 
sportsmanship, respect for officials and each other
3. The Club will strive to promote and develop the best interests of the game of 
soccer within the community, while recognizing that the player is the first priority  

$10 / Resident
$25 / Non-resident

Minor soccer Township of Puslinch, Guelph Township and Calvary Baptist Chruch 
soccer fields

Puslinch Tennis Club 23 Brock Road South. 
Puslinch

To promote the game of tennis $10 / Resident
$25 / Non-resident

Township of Puslinch, Guelph Puslinch Community Centre tennis 
courts

Church
Arkell United Church 600 Arkell Road, Arkell A church that aspires to live out its faith in Jesus in an open, inclusive way. Weekly worship services and education

Bible studies
Breakfast and Lunches
Afternoon games
Children's program and nursery

Township of Puslinch, Guelph n/a

Calvary Baptist Church 454 Arkell Road, Arkell To live lives as faithful followers of Jesus Christ. Weekly worship service in English and Mandarin
Bible studies
Children's program and camps
Social gatherings and trips
Global missions

Township of Puslinch, Guelph n/a

Cross Roads Church 4614 Wellington Road 32, 
Puslinch

Spiritual enrichment in christianity. Weekly worship service
Children's program and nursery
Family programs

Township of Puslinch, Guelph n/a

Duff's Presbyterian Church 319 Brock Road South, 
Puslinch

To demonstrate fellowship in a friendly, welcome, and caring way for all. To 
support missions both locally and world wide. To be challenged and nurtured by 
worship and preaching. To offer opportunities for faith and expression and 
nurture. To be challenged by God's call for us to recognize we are managers, 
and not owners of our resources.

Weekly worship service
Choir and music
Pot Luck Luncheons
Children's programs and childcare
Puslinch Youth Group
Gym night at the ORC
Seniors fitness
Room rentals

Township of Puslinch, Guelph n/a

Ellis Community Pioneer Chapel 6705 Ellis Road, Puslinch Built in 1861, Ellis Chapel is a historical site that was restored in 1963 to be used 
as a place of worship and reflection. The Chapel can also be used for weddings, 
baptisms, and christenings. 

Worship service, Chapel rental Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo

n/a

Knox Presbyterian Church - Crieff 
Congregation

n/a

Mount Carmel-Zion United Church 22 Victoria Street, Morriston To unite all ages, newcomers, and old timers in active and commited service to 
God. 

Weekly worship service, Breakfast and luncheons, Food 
drives, Outreach programs, Children's program and 
nursery

Township of Puslinch n/a

Seventh Day Adventist Reform 
Movement East

3997 Highway 6, Puslinch International protestant Christian denomination that observes the seventh day 
sabbath from Friday sunset to Saturday sunset. Teaches certain fundamental 
beliefs which, together with scriptural references upon which these beliefs are 
based.

Weekly worship service, Bible study, Children program 
and nursery, 

Township of Puslinch n/a

The Spiritual Assembly of the 
Bahá'is of Puslinch

18 Badenoch Street, 
Morriston

A group of individuals who are members of the Bahá'I Faith, a global religion 
whose purpose is to bring about a new society that will unite the peoples of the 
world.

Devotion gatherings
Study of the Bahá'I writings

Township of Puslinch n/a

Schools
Aberfoyle Public School 16 Old Brock Road, 

Puslinch
A part of the Upper Grand River District School Board, Aberfoyle Public School is 
a rural public school for children in Kindergarten to Grad 8.

School for children K-8
Support for local events and community organizations

Aberfoyle and surrounding 
area

Puslinch Community Centre

Scientists in School 31B Queen Street, 
Morriston

An organization dedicated to providing a broad range of science-related learning 
opportunities to students K-8 in Ontario and Alberta and to encourage future 
careers in the field of science.

Workshops and classroo resources for a range of 
science-related fields including technology, math, 
environmental stewardship, and engineering

Students K-8 in Ontario and 
Alberta



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Group Name Location Mandate / Purpose Membership Fees (HST excluded; 
specific programs and services offered 
by organizations may be subject to 
additional fees)

Primary Activities, Programs, Recreational Faciltiies Target Market Municipal Facilities Used

The Little Country School 
(Montessori School)

7377 Calfass Road South, 
Puslinch

To provide Montessori enriched preschool programs and elementary school up 
to Grade 3 by combining indoor learning with interactions with farm animals.

Montessori School for children from Junior kindergarten 
to Elementary
After School Care

Township of Puslinch, 
Cambridge, Campbellville, 
Freelton

Whistle Stop Co-op Preschool 23 Brock Road South, 
Puslinch

To provide an opportunity for children and parents from the local community and 
surrounding area to join together in a stimulating, social and creative learning 
environment for their children.

$12 / Child / Half-day
$14.50 / Child / After school program

Child development programs
Special needs programs
Parent education

Township of Puslinch, South 
Guelph, Cambridge

Puslinch Community Centre

Health / Fitness
Aberfoyle Yoga Gilmour Road, Aberfoyle To provide fitness classes based on a Vinyasa style of yoga. $150 / 11 week program

$15 / Drop-in
Registered and drop-in yoga

Aberfoyle Family Chiropractic 32 Brock Road North, 
Aberfoyle

To provide chiropractic health care and education. Chiropractic adjustments Township of Puslinch, 
Cambridge, Guelph, 
Kitchener, Waterloo

Fitness After 50 n/a Personal home training. Personal Training - $120-$350
Group Training - $80-$200

Personal and group fitness and training Township of Puslinch, 
Cambridge, Guelph, 
Kitchener, Waterloo

Mango Tree Family Health Team 23 Brock Road North, 
Guelph

To provide high quality family medical care by an experienced caring team n/a Urgent, routine, and periodic care.
Well babies
Prenatal care
Dietrician
Mental Wellness

Township of Puslinch, 
Cambridge, Guelph, 
Kitchener, Waterloo

Pilates 4217 Watson Road South, 
Badenoch

To provide a low impact, high result movement exercise programs in the 
Township.

$154 / 14 Classes Pilaties exercise classes Township of Puslinch Badenoch Community Centre

Santosha Yoga and Pilaties Studio 843 Watson Road South, 
Arkell

To provide fitness instruction through a traditional Hatha yoga style, as well as 
pilates. 

$30 / 3 Classes Yoga and pilates Township of Puslinch

Library & Museums
Wellington County Library - 
Puslinch Branch

29 Brock Road South, 
Puslinch

To enhance the knowledge, skills, enterprise, and enjoyment of the people of 
Wellington County through the provision of high quality library service.

$15/ Hour
$50 / Half-day
$100 / Full day
$120 / Full Day / Non-resident

Borrowing materials
Online resources
Reading programs and events (e.g., book clubs, art 
classes, story time, special guests, etc.)
Room rentals

Wellington County

Wellington County Museum & 
Archives

535 Wellington County 
Road 18, Fergus

A National Historic Site and one of the oldest remaining House of Industry in 
Canada, the Museum & Archives serves as a cultural centre for historical 
education and artistic interest in Wellington County. 

General admission based on donations
Fees vary by program and event

Exhibitions and festivals
Historical tours
Drop-in historical and art workshops
Archive room (microfilm reader/printer and other online 
resources)
Room rentals

Wellington County



Township of Puslinch Recreation Parks Master Plan
Appendix E - Inventory of Parks, Trails, Municipal and Non-Municipal Facilities and Services

Group Name Location Mandate / Purpose Membership Fees (HST excluded; 
specific programs and services offered 
by organizations may be subject to 
additional fees)

Primary Activities, Programs, Recreational Faciltiies Target Market Municipal Facilities Used

Other Providers (Commercial)
Badenoch Archery 15 Badenoch Street, 

Morriston
To provide the sale of archery products, supplies, and accessories. Archery products, supplies, and accessories Township of Puslinch, Guelph

Cherrylane Equestrian Centre 4145 Ontario Road 6, 
Puslinch RR2

To produce hay and to provide high quality equestrian riding lessons. Instructional indoor and outdoor riding 
Production of hay

Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton

Club 6 Practice Golf 4560 Concession 7, Guelph To provide golfers of all skill levels with a venue to practice the game of golf. 

N/A

Driving range
Mini putt
Sand and chipping practice
Golf academy/lessons
Resturant

Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton

Copper County Foods 3-1277 Bridge Street, New 
Dundee

To provide frozen home-style soups, entrees, and desserts to your doorstep. Home food delivery Halton, Peel, Etobicoke, 
Guelph, Kitchener, Waterloo, 
Cambridge, Hamilton, 
Brandford, York, Caledon, 
Bolton, Simcoe, Grey Bruce, 
Barrie, Orillia

Cornerstone Equestrian Centre 7827 Wellington Road 36, 
Moffat

To provide a fun, family oriented and safe atmosphere for people of all ages and 
skill levels to learn horseback riding.

Recreational and competition level riding lessons Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton

Fletcher Creek Ecological Preserve Concession Road 7, 
Puslinch

Owned by the Hamilton Conservation Authority, this ecological preserve was a 
former quarry that was abandonded and rehabilitated as a wetland. In addition to 
the re-introduction of native plant and animal species, a trail system with 
interpretive panels is also located on the lands.

Walking Trail
Ecological Preserve

Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton N/A

Havencrest Riding Academy 4272 Watson Road, 
Puslinch

To pass on the ideals of true horsemanship to our students and to prepare them 
to enjoy future success at any level of the sport. Whether they wish to pursue an 
Olympic dream or enjoy a life with horses as a hobby, Havencrest strives to 
equip it's students with a strong foundation to become compassionate 
equestrians with proper habits and skills.

Horse riding lessons Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton

Irish Creek Stables RR 22 Station Preston, 
Cambridge

To offer lessons for beginners to advanced riders in the three Olympic disiplines 
(dressage, stadium jumping, and cross country) known as Eventing. We also 
offer off site hacks, special events, and horse shows. Indoor and outdoor board 
is also available, as well as offering entry and pre-training level courses, which 
includes water drops and ditches.

N/A

Horse boarding
Hores lessons
Horse shows and events

Township of Puslinch, Guelph, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Milton

Kasachie Stables 4726 Wellington Road 32, 
Puslinch

To enrich people's lives through horses and our farm, which includes an indoor 
arena, outdoor sand ring, dressage grass arena, tracks, and trails.

Horse boarding
Hores lessons

Township of Puslinch, 
Kitchener, Waterloo, 
Cambridge, Guelph, Stratford

Maple Grove Trailer Park 1488 Concession 11 West, 
Flamborough

A trailer park that offers a relaxed and family atmosphere for seasonal campers. Seasonal trailer sites
Outdoor pool
Playground
Basketball court
Hiking trails
Fishing pond
Horseshoe pit
Event hall
Passive open space

Township of Puslinch, 
Hamilton

Puslinch Lake Golf Club 6527 Ellis Road, Cambridge A 18 hole par 70 golf course designed to challenge players of all skill levels. $1,650 / Full individual membership
$2,575 / Full couples membership
$1,960 / Full parent-child membership
$500 / Junior membership
$1,235 / Weekday membership
$1,900 / Weekday couples membership

18-hole golf
Golf events

Township of Puslinch, 
Cambridge, Kitchener, 
Waterloo, Guelph

Victoria Park Valley Golf Club 7660 Maltby Road, Puslinch 27 hole golf course - 9 holes in each of the Pines, Valleys, and Lakes Varies Golf lessons, leagues, and clinics
Tournaments









 Committee of Adjustment Meeting 
April 14, 2015 

7:00 pm 
Council Chambers, Aberfoyle 

MINUTES 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 
John Sepulis, Chair 
Dianne Paron 
Councilor Ken Roth 
Robin Wayne 
Dennis O’Connor 

OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE:  
Kelly Patzer – Development Coordinator 
Sarah Wilhelm – County of Wellington 
Jeff Buisman 
Andy Day 
Anne Meunier 
Steve Milligan 
Kathy White 
Kevin Johnson 
Tim Galusz 

1.  OPENING REMARKS 
• The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm. The Chair welcomed the gallery 

2. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 
• None 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
• Moved by Robin Wayne, Seconded by Ken Roth 
• That the minutes of the Tuesday February 10, 2015 Committee of Adjustment 

Meeting are hereby adopted. 
CARRIED 

4. COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT – Applications for Minor Variance 
4(a) Minor Variance Application D13/MEU – Anne Meunier – Property described as 

Plan 380, Lots 25 & 26 PT, municipally known as 24 Lakeside Drive, Township of 
Puslinch 
Requesting relief from provisions of Zoning By-law #19/85, as amended, to permit: 

1. a 7.5 metre setback from a warm watercourse for a proposed dwelling; 
2. a 5.3 metre setback from a warm watercourse for a proposed deck; and 
3. a proposed deck to have a 2.5 metre projection into the required front yard, 

To accommodate a proposed dwelling and deck. 

• Kelly Patzer summarized the application that the owner was demolishing and 
rebuilding a house on an increased footprint that extended further into the 
rear of the property towards the road, which triggered the requirement to 
receive relief from the by-law, but the foundation footprint along the lake side 
was remaining the same. 

• Kelly Patzer noted that no objections were received from circulated agencies 
or the Public, the application meets the four tests of a minor variance and 
Township Staff has no objection to the approval of the application 



 2 

• Anne Meunier and Steve Milligan, of 24 Lakeside Drive, explained the 
application history of the building to the committee. Anne Meunier stated that 
the existing cottage was built in 1930 with no insulation or electricity, and has 
an old wood furnace. She wishes to build on the footprint, but increase it 
slightly. All well locations were investigated, and everything has been 
completed professionally.  

• Anne Meunier confirmed the application has been approved by the GRCA. 

• Steve Milligan noted the location of the dwelling is being dictated as well by 
the existing wood burning stove that is too large to relocate, but a historic part 
of the house that is going to be a design feature. 

• Robin Wayne noted there is plenty of room to move the house back and the 
deck on the lake side of the house is in the lake 

• Tim Galusz, 23 Lakeside Drive, noted his house is 23 feet away and he is 
concerned that if a basement is constructed, it may affect his shallow well in 
his basement.  

• Tim Galusz also noted that the driveway shown on the survey may go through 
lights that he has put on the right-of-way 

• Ken Roth noted that Lakeside Drive is a private road where the Township 
does not have any jurisdiction. 

Moved by Ken Roth and Seconded by Dianne Paron, 
In the matter of Section 45(1) of the Planning Act, as amended, and Comprehensive 
Zoning By-law 19/85 as amended, and an application for a minor variance 
requesting permission to allow: 
1. A 7.5 metre setback from the Natural Environment Zone for a proposed 

dwelling, whereas Section 3(25.a), Setbacks from the Natural Environment 
Zone, of the by-law requires a 30 metre setback for a dwelling from the 
Natural Environment Zone 

2. A 2.5 metre projection into the required front yard for proposed deck whereas 
Section 3.23(a)(iv), 

That the application is Approved. 
CARRIED 

4(b)  Minor Variance Application D13/DAY – Andrew & Anne Day – Property described 
as Part of Lot 26, Concession Gore, 4071 Sideroad 25 S, Township of Puslinch. 

Requesting Relief from provisions of Zoning By-Law #19/85, as amended, to permit 
a maximum gross floor area of 150 sq. m (1615 sq. ft.) to account for the second 
floor within the proposed building. 

• Kelly Patzer summarized the application, that Zoning By-law 42/14 was 
passed with a maximum floor area of 100 sq. m. (1,076 sq. ft.) with a 
maximum height of 8.5 m (27.1 ft). At Building Permit stage it was noted the 
designed second floor loft area exceeded the maximum permitted floor area 
of the by-law. Through discussions with the consultant it was determined that 
it was an oversight that by-law was written with the maximum gross floor area 
of just the footprint, and excluded the planned second floor loft. 

• Kelly Patzer noted that no objections were received from circulated agencies 
or the Public, the application meets the four tests of a minor variance and 
Township Staff has no objection to the approval of the application. 

• Jeff Buisman, Van Harten Surveying noted that the footprint envisioned does 
not change, the minor variance will just allow for the second floor and noted 
there are no other changes. 

• Ken Roth noted no residential uses are permitted within the accessory 
building.  

Moved by Dianne Paron and Seconded by Dennis O’Connor, 



 3 

In the matter of Section 45 (1) of the Planning Act, as amended, and Comprehensive 
Zoning By-law 19/85 as amended, and an application for a minor variance 
requesting permission to allow: 
A maximum gross floor area of 150 sq. m (1615 sq. ft.) to account for the second 
floor within the proposed building whereas Section 5.4(eee), Agricultural (A-57) 
Zone, of the by-law permits a maximum gross floor area of 100 sq. m. (1076 sq. ft.) 
for a professional office 
That the application is Approved. 

CARRIED 
5. FUTURE MEETINGS  

• Tuesday May 12, 2015 

6. AJOURNMENT 
• The Committee of Adjustment meeting adjourned at 7:25 p.m. 



Planning & Development Advisory Committee Meeting 
April 14, 2015 

7:00 pm 
Council Chambers, Aberfoyle 

MINUTES 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 
John Sepulis, Chair 
Dianne Paron 
Councilor Ken Roth 
Robin Wayne 
Dennis O’Connor 

OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE:  
Kelly Patzer – Development Coordinator 
Sarah Wilhelm – County of Wellington 
Jeff Buisman 
Andy Day 
Anne Meunier 
Tim Galusz 
Steve Milligan 
Kathy White 
Kevin Johnson 

1.  OPENING REMARKS 
• The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm.  

2 - 5 COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT 
See April 14, 2015 Committee of Adjustment Minutes 

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 

6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
• Moved by Ken Roth, Seconded by Robin Wayne 
• That the minutes of the Tuesday February 10, 2015 Planning & Development 

Advisory Committee Meeting are hereby adopted. 
CARRIED 

7. ZONING BY-LAW AMENDMENTS 

7(a) D14/FER – 0 McLean Road W Zoning Amendment to permit a land use change 
from Agricultural to Industrial.  

• Moved by Dianne Paron, Seconded by Dennis O’Connor 
• No comments 

CARRIED 

8. LAND DIVISION  
8(a) Severance Application B20/15 (D10/HAG) – Eric & Barbara Hagens. Property 

described as Part Lot 16, Concession 9, municipally known as 7667 Maltby Rd E 

 Proposed 0.4 hectare vacant land rural residential severance with 56 metre frontage. 
Retained parcel is 8.8 hectares with 84.1 metre frontage, with existing residential 
dwelling 

• Moved by Robin Wayne, Seconded by Ken Roth that the following comments be 
forwarded to County of Wellington Land Division Committee: 

• Review suitability of the driveway due to steep grade on proposed lot 



 2 

• Note the existing driveway that crosses the proposed parcel 
CARRIED 

8(b) Severance Application B21/15 (D10/LIG) – Brian & Sharilyn Light, Property 
described as Part Lot 5, Concession 2, municipally known as 4396 Wellington Rd 32 

 Proposed severance is 0.78 hectares with 71 m frontage, vacant land for proposed 
rural residential use. 

 Retained parcel is 10 hectares with 125 m frontage on WR 32 and 260 m frontage 
on Ellis Rd, existing and proposed rural residential use with existing dwelling and 
shed 

• Moved by Dianne Paron, Seconded by Dennis O’Connor that the following 
comments be forwarded to the County of Wellington land Division Committee: 

• Consider an alternate location for the proposed parcel at the north end of 
Wellington Road 32 in order to preserve the actively farmed Secondary 
Agricultural Lands 

CARRIED 

8(c) Severance Application B22/15 (D10/DIM) – Paul & Brigitte Dimock, Property 
described as Part Lot 16, Concession 10, municipally known as 7815 Maltby RdE 

 Proposed severance is 70m frontage x 77 metres = 0.5 hectares, vacant land for 
proposed rural residential use. 

 Retained parcel is 37.2 hectares with 993m frontage on Maltby Road and 77 m 
frontage on Concession 11 Road, existing and proposed rural residential and 
agricultural use with existing dwelling and garage  

• Moved by Dennis O’Connor, Seconded by Dianne Paron that the following 
comments be forwarded to the County of Wellington land Division Committee:

• Consider and alternate location for a parcel, off Maltby Road, as to not 
negatively impact the existing farmed Agricultural lands which are located 
where the severed lot is proposed. This will minimize the reduction of actively 
farmed agricultural lands 

• Confirm the location of the existing septic bed, so it is not located on the 
severed parcel. 

CARRIED 

OTHER MATTERS 
• Kathy White made go forward meeting suggestions to the committee including 

sound volumes and presentation/visual ideas  
9. CLOSED MEETING 

• No matters 

12. FUTURE MEETINGS  
• May 12, 2015, 7:00 p.m. 

13. AJOURNMENT 
• Moved by Ken Roth and Seconded by Robin Wayne. 
• The meeting adjourned at 7:54 p.m. 

CARRIED 


	2015 05 20 - Council Agenda
	2015 05 06 - Council Regular Meeting Minutes
	Notice -  Community Improvement Plan - Survey
	Communications 
	Item 6.1(a)
	Item 6.1(b)
	Item 6.2(a)
	Item 6.3(a)
	Item 6.4(a)
	Item 6.5(a)
	Item 6.6(a)
	Item 6.6(b)
	Item 6.7(a)
	Item 6.8(a)

	Intergovernmental Items
	IG #1
	IG#2
	IG#3
	IG#4
	IG#5
	IG#6
	IG#7
	IG#8
	IG#9

	FIN-2015-022 - 2015 Final Tax Levy and Rates
	Financials 
	Item 8.2(b)(i)
	Item 8.2(b)(ii)
	Item 8.2(b)(iii)
	Item 8.2(b)(iv)

	FIN-2015-021 - 2015 Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction-Waiver Policy
	Chief Building Official Report - April 2015
	Item 8.4(b) - Report - PD2016-16 County of Wellington Comments on Provincial Planning Initiatives
	Item 8.4(c) - Wellington County Comment Minimum Distance Standards - May 12, 2015
	PD-2015-009 - Public Meeting - Public Meeting - Rezoning Application - Adriaan & Brenda Demmers
	PD-2015-010 - Public Meeting - Rezoning Application File D14DRS and County of of Wellington Draft Plan of Subdivision 23T-10004- DRS Developments Inc.
	Report PW-2015-001 - Tender Results for the 2015 Annual Road Rehabilitation and Culvert Upgrades
	Report PW-2015-002 - 2015 Capital Budget - Funding for Additional Projects
	REC-2015-004 - 2015 Township of Puslinch Recreation and Parks Master Plan
	Recreation and Parks Master Plan - Final May 2015

	Notices of Motion 
	Item 9(a)
	Item 9(b)

	Committee Minutes 
	2015 04 14 - Committee of Adjustment Minutes
	2015 04 14 - Planning and Development Committee Minutes




